OCCURRENCE OF PATHOGENIC *LEGIONELLA* AND AMOEBAE SPP. FROM SOURCE (GROUNDWATER) TO EXPOSURE (TAPS AND COOLING TOWERS) IN A COMPLEX WATER SYSTEM

By

Alshae' Ravelle Logan Jackson

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Microbiology and Molecular Genetics - Doctor of Philosophy

ABSTRACT

OCCURRENCE OF PATHOGENIC *LEGIONELLA* AND AMOEBAE SPP. FROM SOURCE (GROUNDWATER) TO EXPOSURE (TAPS AND COOLING TOWERS) IN A COMPLEX WATER SYSTEM

By

Alshae' Ravelle Logan Jackson

Legionella species are gram-negative bacteria that are known to cause a severe lung infection, which is known as Legionnaires' Disease and a less severe illness called Pontiac Fever. Legionella species can be aerosolized from showers, faucets, cooling towers, and decorative fountains. Once aerosolized, individuals can contract both diseases via inhalation of these pathogenic bacteria. Legionnaires Disease is of particular concern because the incidence of Legionnaires Disease is rising in the United States. Chapter one will review known information about specific Legionella species associated with human disease. The discussion will focus on the history of Legionnaires Disease, the taxonomy of Legionella species, specific pathogens associated with the disease, epidemiology cases of the disease, and environmental occurrence in premise plumbing systems. Chapter two will confirm that Legionella species associated with human disease are present in different types of buildings from the influent to the taps, all utilizing the same water system. I will also compare physiochemical parameters (water temperature, turbidity, pH, conductivity, and residual chlorine) that affect the concentrations and species of Legionella in cold and hot water taps. Chapter three will demonstrate that water age plays a role in the occurrence and concentration of *Legionella* species in the water distribution and premise plumbing system. In this chapter, I present data on the concentration of Legionella spp. in the influent and effluent of the reservoir, two buildings, and cooling towers. Examining Legionella species throughout the MSU campus from the water source to the taps, and the

cooling towers provide a wholistic view of the MSU water system. Chapter four will confirm the co-occurrence of pathogenic *Legionella* species and *Acanthamoeba* spp. *Naegleria fowleri* in the drinking water supply system on the MSU campus. I show that *Naegleria fowleri* co-occurs with *Legionella bozemanii* and *Legionella longbeachae* in two buildings (F and ERC) on the MSU campus. In chapter five, I conclude by addressing future research trajectories needed to better understand how to manage the risk from the various other pathogenic *Legionella* species besides the primary water-related bacterium, *L. pneumophila*. In addition, there is a critical need to develop better methods for the detection of *Legionella* species in water systems to improve primary prevention strategies instead of reactive approaches. A proactive approach of monitoring for specific *Legionella* species in a building water system is the best approach to control Legionnaires' disease outbreaks in large buildings.

Copyright by ALSHAE' RAVELLE LOGAN JACKSON 2020 To my husband and four children

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

It is nearly impossible to properly thank each person that has contributed to my success at Michigan State University in a reasonable amount of space—that means I would have to write another dissertation to fully thank everyone. This great accomplishment was not achieved alone; thus, I have to acknowledge with great gratitude a few key people that were particularly helpful to me on this daunting, well worth it journey.

First and foremost, to my advisor, Dr. Joan B. Rose. I am extremely thankful for the opportunity that you gave me to do research in your laboratory; I absolutely love investigating *Legionella* in drinking water supply systems. I truly thank you for accepting me for me, having patience with me, and meeting me where I was. When I came to your lab, I was broken into pieces, and your unwavering guidance, insight, and encouragement motivated and helped me reach my goal. Your feedback and suggestions made me rise to the challenge, and I thank you. I thank you for all the feedback and will always remember all the suggestions to become a better writer and scientist. You believed in me, and I honestly cannot thank you enough. Also, thank you for giving me the opportunity to go to the Water Institute summer school in Waterloo, Canada; I now have a passport because of this trip. Lastly, many thanks for reading over my emails and for your letters of recommendation. I could not have asked for a better mentor; you are truly the definition of what a mentor should be. This would not have been possible without you! Thank you, Joan, for a second chance!

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to Drs. Edward Walker, Ashley Shade, and Bjoern Hamberger for also giving me a second chance by agreeing to be on my committee.

vi

Thank you all for your knowledge and helpful suggestions. I could not have asked for a better set of people to help me through this tough journey.

I'd also like to thank the Microbiology and Molecular Genetics Department. Thanks, Drs. Christopher Waters, Claire Vielle, and Victor DiRita for your guidance and support throughout my time here at MSU. A very special thanks go to Donna Koslowsky for rooting for me from the very start of my graduate career. Thanks so much for listening, supporting, and encouraging me at my weakest points.

I would like to acknowledge the financial support from the United States Environmental Protection Agency— Right Sizing Tomorrow's Water Systems for Efficiency, Sustainability, and Public Health. I also would like to thank the Dissertation Completion Award, MSU Alliance for Graduate Education and the Professoriate (AGEP), and the Charles Drew Science Scholars for their financial support; these awards allowed me to have a social life here in East Lansing.

To the Rose gang, past and present, thank you. You all have taught me so much and challenged me to improve the quality of my research. I feel fortunate to share lab and office space with such wonderful people. I finally have a sense of inclusion at MSU.

To my church family, Lansing Church of God in Christ, thank you all for the prayers and emotional support.

To my ma and granny. Thank you both for your financial and emotional support. Thanks for supporting my children, my travel to Canada, and much more. I am lucky to have you both. I love you!

To Denae, Daniel, Dalan, and Daniil. I went through so much so that I can provide a better life for you all. I set the foundation so that you all can have a promising future. I am your trailblazer. I did this for you all. I love you, my children!

vii

And finally, I would be nowhere without my husband, Danny! Thank you for supporting me throughout my entire "school journey." You have been by my side since 2008, when I was just a "little girl" getting a bachelor's degree. And now we have created a large family. I thank you for taking care of our children when I had to go to school (early or late), deadlines to meet, and meetings to attend. You are the definition of a super-husband. It was you that got me through each milestone. You were definitely rooting for me from the very start. You always pushed me to keep going in the midst of my trying times. You saw it all, the tears, the frustration, and my mental breakdowns. I really went through a lot to obtain a quality education, and you never gave up on me. We weathered the storm together. Thank you for it all! I love you so much!

LIST OF FIGURES xiv CHAPTER ONE 1 LEGIONELLA SPECIES IN A DRINKING WATER SUPPLY SYSTEM 1 1.1 Introduction 2 1.2 History of Legionella pneumophila 6 1.3 Taxonomy of Legionella 13 1.4 Epidemiology 18 1.4.1 Disease Incident Rate of Legionella neumophila in the 21st Century 19 1.4.2 Mode of Transmission of Legionella 20 1.4.3 Waterborne Outbreaks of Legionnaires' Disease 22 1.4.4 Diagnosis 25 1.4.5 Treatment and Antibiotic Resistance of Legionella 36 1.5 Ecology of Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems 38 1.5.1 Legionella and Distribution and Premise Plumbing Systems 43 1.5.3 Legionella and Amoebae 44 1.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae 44 1.6.5 A Colorie, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 47 1.6.2 Effect of Nater Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise Plumbing Systems 51 1.6.3 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 51 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems<	LIST OF TABLES	ix
CHAPTER ONE 1 LEGIONELLA SPECIES IN A DRINKING WATER SUPPLY SYSTEM 1 1.1 Introduction 2 1.2 History of Legionella pneumophila 6 1.3 Taxonomy of Legionella neumophila 13 1.4 Epidemiology 18 1.4.1 Disease Incident Rate of Legionella neumophila in the 21st Century 19 1.4.2 Mode of Transmission of Legionella 20 1.4.3 Waterborne Outbreaks of Legionnaires' Disease 22 1.4.4 Diagnosis 25 1.4.5 Treatment and Antibiotic Resistance of Legionella 30 1.4.6 Prevention 36 1.5 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems 38 1.5.1 Legionella and Mother Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.5 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.5 Legionella and Amoebae 44 1.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella pneumophila in Premise Plumbing Systems 46 1.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 47 1.6.2 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise Plumbing Systems 48 1.6.3 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbi	LIST OF FIGURES	xiv
LEGIONELLA SPECIES IN A DRINKING WATER SUPPLY SYSTEM 1 1.1 Introduction 2 1.2 History of Legionella pneumophila 6 1.3 Taxonomy of Legionella pneumophila 13 1.4 Epidemiology 13 1.4.1 Disease Incident Rate of Legionella pneumophila in the 21st Century 19 1.4.2 Mode of Transmission of Legionella 20 1.4.3 Waterborne Outbreaks of Legionnaires' Disease 22 1.4.4 Diagnosis 25 1.4.5 Treatment and Antibiotic Resistance of Legionella 30 1.4.6 Prevention 36 1.5 Ecology of Legionella meumophila occurrence in water systems 38 1.5.1 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems 38 1.5.2 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae 44 1.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 47 1.6.2 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 47 1.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise Plumbing Systems 47 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 51	CHAPTER ONE	1
1.1 Introduction 2 1.2 History of Legionella pneumophila 6 1.3 Taxonomy of Legionella 13 1.4 Epidemiology 13 1.4 Epidemiology 18 1.4.1 Disease Incident Rate of Legionella pneumophila in the 21st Century 19 1.4.2 Mode of Transmission of Legionella 20 1.4.3 Waterborne Outbreaks of Legionnaires' Disease 22 1.4.4 Diagnosis 25 1.4.5 Treatment and Antibiotic Resistance of Legionella 30 1.4.6 Prevention 36 1.5 Ecology of Legionella 38 1.5.1 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems 38 1.5.2 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae 44 1.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 47 1.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 47 1.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise Plumbing Systems 48 1.6.3 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 51 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Gr	LEGIONELLA SPECIES IN A DRINKING WATER SUPPLY SYSTEM	1
1.2 History of Legionella pneumophila 6 1.3 Taxonomy of Legionella 13 1.4 Epidemiology 18 1.4.1 Disease Incident Rate of Legionella pneumophila in the 21st Century 19 1.4.2 Mode of Transmission of Legionella 20 1.4.3 Waterborne Outbreaks of Legionnaires' Disease 22 1.4.4 Diagnosis 25 1.4.5 Treatment and Antibiotic Resistance of Legionella 30 1.4.6 Prevention 36 1.5.1 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems 38 1.5.1 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems 38 1.5.2 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae 44 1.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae 44 1.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella 71 1.6.2 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 47 1.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise Plumbing Systems 48 1.6.3 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe Material on Legionella neumo	1.1 Introduction	2
1.3 Taxonomy of Legionella 13 1.4 Epidemiology 18 1.4.1 Disease Incident Rate of Legionella pneumophila in the 21st Century 19 1.4.2 Mode of Transmission of Legionella 20 1.4.3 Waterborne Outbreaks of Legionnaires' Disease 22 1.4.4 Diagnosis 25 1.4.5 Treatment and Antibiotic Resistance of Legionella 30 1.4.6 Prevention 36 1.5 Ecology of Legionella 38 1.5.1 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems 38 1.5.2 Legionella Biofilms in Distribution and Premise Plumbing Systems 43 1.5.3 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella 46 1.6.1 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella 47 1.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 47 1.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise Plumbing Systems 48 1.6.3 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 51 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 51 1.6.5 A Com	1.2 History of Legionella pneumophila	6
1.4 Epidemiology 18 1.4.1 Disease Incident Rate of Legionella pneumophila in the 21st Century 19 1.4.2 Mode of Transmission of Legionella 20 1.4.3 Waterborne Outbreaks of Legionnaires' Disease 22 1.4.4 Diagnosis 25 1.4.5 Treatment and Antibiotic Resistance of Legionella 30 1.4.6 Prevention 36 1.5 Ecology of Legionella 38 1.5.1 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems 38 1.5.2 Legionella and Cher Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.5.4 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae 44 1.6.5 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella 46 1.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 47 1.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 49 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila 51 1.7.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe Material on Legionella neumophila 51 <td>1.3 Taxonomy of Legionella</td> <td>. 13</td>	1.3 Taxonomy of Legionella	. 13
1.4.1 Disease Incident Rate of Legionella pneumophila in the 21st Century 19 1.4.2 Mode of Transmission of Legionella 20 1.4.3 Waterborne Outbreaks of Legionnaires' Disease 22 1.4.4 Diagnosis 25 1.4.5 Treatment and Antibiotic Resistance of Legionella 30 1.4.6 Prevention 36 1.5 Ecology of Legionella 38 1.5.1 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems 38 1.5.2 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae 44 1.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae 44 1.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella 77 1.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 47 1.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 48 1.6.3 Effect of Vater Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise 51 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.7 Risk Assessment	1.4 Epidemiology	. 18
1.4.2 Mode of Transmission of Legionella 20 1.4.3 Waterborne Outbreaks of Legionnaires' Disease 22 1.4.4 Diagnosis. 25 1.4.5 Treatment and Antibiotic Resistance of Legionella 30 1.4.6 Prevention 36 1.5 Ecology of Legionella 38 1.5.1 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems 38 1.5.2 Legionella Biofilms in Distribution and Premise Plumbing Systems 43 1.5.3 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella 46 1.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 47 1.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 48 1.6.3 Effect of Vater Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise Plumbing 49 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.7.6 KA Assessment of Legionella 51 1.7.1 Hazard Identification 54 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment. 65 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth 6	1.4.1 Disease Incident Rate of Legionella pneumophila in the 21st Century	. 19
1.4.3 Waterborne Outbreaks of Legionnaires' Disease 22 1.4.4 Diagnosis 25 1.4.5 Treatment and Antibiotic Resistance of Legionella 30 1.4.6 Prevention 36 1.5 Ecology of Legionella 38 1.5.1 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems 38 1.5.2 Legionella Biofilms in Distribution and Premise Plumbing Systems 43 1.5.3 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae 44 1.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella 46 1.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 47 1.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 48 1.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise Plumbing 51 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.7.1 Hazard Identification 51 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment 65 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impac	1.4.2 Mode of Transmission of Legionella	. 20
1.4.4 Diagnosis.251.4.5 Treatment and Antibiotic Resistance of Legionella301.4.6 Prevention36 1.5 Ecology of Legionella 381.5.1 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems381.5.2 Legionella Biofilms in Distribution and Premise Plumbing Systems431.5.3 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm441.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae441.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella <i>pneumophila</i> in Premise Plumbing Systems461.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems471.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems481.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise Plumbing Systems491.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems511.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe Material on Legionella pneumophila511.7.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe Material on Legionella pneumophila511.7.7 Eisk Assessment of Legionella511.7.1 Hazard Identification541.7.2 Exposure Assessment651.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth68	1.4.3 Waterborne Outbreaks of Legionnaires' Disease	. 22
1.4.5 Treatment and Antibiotic Resistance of Legionella 30 1.4.6 Prevention 36 1.5 Ecology of Legionella 38 1.5.1 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems 38 1.5.2 Legionella Biofilms in Distribution and Premise Plumbing Systems 43 1.5.3 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella 46 1.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 47 1.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 48 1.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise 49 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella 51 1.7.1 Hazard Identification 54 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment 65 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth 68	1.4.4 Diagnosis	. 25
1.4.6 Prevention 36 1.5 Ecology of Legionella 38 1.5.1 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems 38 1.5.2 Legionella Biofilms in Distribution and Premise Plumbing Systems 43 1.5.3 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae 44 1.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella 46 1.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 47 1.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 48 1.6.3 Effect of Vater Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise 49 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 49 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.7.1 Hazard Identification 54 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment 54 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth 68	1.4.5 Treatment and Antibiotic Resistance of Legionella	. 30
1.5 Ecology of Legionella 38 1.5.1 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems 38 1.5.2 Legionella Biofilms in Distribution and Premise Plumbing Systems 43 1.5.3 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae 44 1.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella 46 1.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 47 1.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 48 1.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise 49 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.7.1 Hazard Identification 54 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment 54 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth 65	1.4.6 Prevention	. 36
1.5.1 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems 38 1.5.2 Legionella Biofilms in Distribution and Premise Plumbing Systems 43 1.5.3 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae 44 1.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella 44 1.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 46 1.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 47 1.6.2 Effect of Vater Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise 48 1.6.3 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 59 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella 51 1.7.1 Hazard Identification 54 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment. 65 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth 68	1.5 Ecology of Legionella	. 38
1.5.2 Legionella Biofilms in Distribution and Premise Plumbing Systems 43 1.5.3 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae 44 1.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella 44 1.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 46 1.6.1 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 47 1.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 48 1.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise 49 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella 51 1.7.1 Hazard Identification 54 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment 65 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth 68	1.5.1 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems	. 38
1.5.3 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm 44 1.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae 44 1.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella 46 <i>pneumophila</i> in Premise Plumbing Systems 46 1.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 47 1.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 48 1.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise 49 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella 51 1.7.1 Hazard Identification 54 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment. 65 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth 68	1.5.2 Legionella Biofilms in Distribution and Premise Plumbing Systems	. 43
1.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae441.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella46 <i>pneumophila</i> in Premise Plumbing Systems461.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing47Systems471.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing481.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise491.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing511.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe51Material on Legionella pneumophila511.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella531.7.1 Hazard Identification541.7.2 Exposure Assessment651.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth68	1.5.3 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm	. 44
1.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionella pneumophila in Premise Plumbing Systems 46 1.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 47 1.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 48 1.6.3 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 48 1.6.4 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise Plumbing Systems 49 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe Material on Legionella pneumophila 51 1.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella 53 1.7.1 Hazard Identification 54 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment 65 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth 68	1.5.4 <i>Legionella</i> and Amoebae	. 44
pneumophila in Premise Plumbing Systems461.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems471.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems481.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise Plumbing Systems491.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems511.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe Material on Legionella pneumophila511.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella531.7.1 Hazard Identification541.7.2 Exposure Assessment651.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth68	1.6 Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on Legionel	lla
1.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 47 1.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 48 1.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise 48 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 49 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella 53 1.7.1 Hazard Identification 54 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment 65 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth 68	pneumophila in Premise Plumbing Systems	. 46
Systems471.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing481.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise491.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing511.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe511.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe511.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella531.7.1 Hazard Identification541.7.2 Exposure Assessment.651.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth68	1.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on <i>Legionella pneumophila</i> Growth in Premise Plumbir	ng
1.6.2 Effect of Temperature on Legionella pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 48 1.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise 49 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe 51 1.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella 53 1.7.1 Hazard Identification 54 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment 65 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth 68	Systems	. 47
1.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise Plumbing Systems	1.6.2 Effect of Temperature on <i>Legionella pneumophila</i> Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems	48
Plumbing Systems 49 1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe Material on Legionella pneumophila 51 1.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella 53 1.7.1 Hazard Identification 54 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment. 65 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth 68	1.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on Legionella pneumophila in Premise	. 40
1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on Legionella Pneumophila Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe Material on Legionella pneumophila 51 1.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella 53 1.7.1 Hazard Identification 54 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment. 65 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth 68	Plumbing Systems	49
Systems 51 1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe Material on Legionella pneumophila 51 1.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella 53 1.7.1 Hazard Identification 54 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment. 65 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth 68	1.6.4 Effect of Pine Material on Legionella Pneumonhila Growth in Premise Plumbing	
1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe Material on Legionella pneumophila 51 1.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella 53 1.7.1 Hazard Identification 54 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment 65 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth	Systems	51
Material on Legionella pneumophila 51 1.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella 53 1.7.1 Hazard Identification 54 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment. 65 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth 68	1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pi	ne
1.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella531.7.1 Hazard Identification541.7.2 Exposure Assessment651.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth68	Material on Legionella pneumonhila	51
1.7.1 Hazard Identification 54 1.7.2 Exposure Assessment. 65 1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth 68	1.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella	. 53
1.7.2 Exposure Assessment	1.7.1 Hazard Identification	54
1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth 68	1.7.2 Exposure Assessment	. 65
	1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting <i>Legionella</i> Growth	. 68
1.7.4 Water Stagnation	1.7.4 Water Stagnation	. 69
1.7.5 Water Age	1.7.5 Water Age	. 70
1.7.6 Risk Estimates via Various Routes of Exposure	1.7.6 Risk Estimates via Various Routes of Exposure	. 70
1.7.7 Human Exposure via Cooling Towers	1.7.7 Human Exposure via Cooling Towers	.73
1.7.8 Detection Methods	1.7.8 Detection Methods	. 74
1.8 Current Understanding of <i>Legionella</i>	1.8 Current Understanding of Legionella	. 77

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER TWO	80
ENUMERATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF FIVE PATHOGENIC	
LEGIONELLA SPECIES FROM LARGE RESEARCH AND EDUCATIONAL	
BUILDINGS	80
2.1 Abstract	81
2.2 Significance of Importance	82
2.3 Introduction	82
2.4 Materials and Methods	86
2.4.1 Site Location and Sampling	86
2.4.2 Chemical-Physical Analysis	89
2.4.3 Microbiological Analysis	89
2.4.4 Water Sample Processing and DNA Extraction	89
2.4.5 Molecular Analysis	90
2.4.6 DNA Extraction and Quantitative Detection of Legionella Droplet DigitalTM PCR.	90
2.4.7 Statistical Analysis	94
2.5 Results	94
2.5.1 Characterization and Concentrations of Legionella 23S rRNA and Five Pathogenic	;
Legionella Species	94
2.5.2 Five Legionella Species Detected in the Influent and Tap Water Samples in Five	
Different Buildings	97
2.5.3 Legionella Species in Cold Compared to Hot Taps	98
2.5.4 Comparison of Five Target Legionella Species in Summer and Winter	99
2.5.5 Chemical-Physical Water Quality	101
2.5.6 Relationship Between the Presence of Legionella and Water Quality Parameters	107
2.6 Discussion	108
2.7 Conclusions	114
CHAPTER THREE	115
THE OCCURRENCE OF 5 PATHOGENIC <i>LEGIONELLA</i> SPECIES FROM SOURC	E
(GROUNDWATER) TO EXPOSURE (TAPS AND COOLING TOWERS) IN A	
COMPLEX WATER SYSTEM	115
3.1 Abstract	116
3.2 Introduction	116
3.3 Materials and Methods	119
3.3.1 Site Location and Sampling	119
3.3.2 Chemical-Physical and Microbiological Analysis	120
3.3.3 Water Sample Processing, DNA Extraction, and Molecular Analysis	120
3.3.4 DNA Extraction and Quantitative Detection of <i>Legionella</i> Droplet Digital PCR	120
3.3.5 Statistical Analysis	121
3.4 Results	122
3.4.1 Characterization and Concentrations of <i>Legionella</i> 23S rRNA and Five Pathogenic	;
Legionella Species	122
3.4.2. Detection of 23S rRNA and Five Legionella Species from Groundwater Source to	the
taps in the Buildings, to the Cooling Towers	123
3.4.3 Water Quality Parameters	130
3.4.4 Relationship of <i>Legionella</i> 23S to Water Quality Parameters	132

3.5 Discussion
3.5.1 Identification and Quantification of Total Legionella (23S rRNA) and Five Pathogenia
Species from Source to Exposure Sites
3.5.2 Legionella spp. (23S rRNA) and water age
3.5.3 Correlation Between Legionella spp. and Water Quality Parameters
3.6 Conclusions
CHAPTER FOUR
CO-OCCURRENCE OF FIVE PATHOGENIC LEGIONELLA SPP. AND TWO
AMOEBAE SPP. IN A COMPLETE DRINKING WATER SYSTEM AND COOLING
TOWERS
4.1 Abstract
4.2 Introduction
4.3 Materials and Methods14
4.3.1 Sampling
4.3.2 Chemical and Physical Analyses
4.3.3 Molecular Analysis of Acanthamoeba spp., Naegleria fowleri, and Legionella spp. 148
4.3.4 Statistical Analysis
4.4 Results
4.5 Discussion
4.6 Conclusion
CHAPTER FIVE
CONCLUSION
5.1 Limitations and Future Directions16.
BIBLIOGRAPHY

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.3. Taxonomy of Disease Relevant Legionella Species 17
Table 1.3.1. Legionella pneumophila Identification of Serogroups
Table 1.4.3. Legionnaires' Disease Outbreak in the United States 24
Table 1.4.5. Antibiotic Resistance of Legionella Species in Various Water Types 34
Table 1.7.1.1. Legionella anisa Isolated from Humans Samples in the United States Since the Identification of the Genus, Legionella
Table 1.7.1.2. Legionella longbeachae Isolated from Humans Samples in the United States Since the Identification of the Genus, Legionella
Table 1.7.1.3. Legionella micdadei Isolated from Humans Samples in the United States Since the Identification of the Genus, Legionella
Table 1.7.1.4. Legionella bozemanii Isolated from Humans Samples in the United States Since the Identification of the Genus, Legionella
Table 1.7.2. Examples of Pathogenic <i>Legionella</i> Species Distributed in the Water Source and the Built Environment
Table 1.7.6. Example Studies Focusing on Risk Assessment at Point of Use 73
Table 1.8. Research on Groundwater and Legionella. Abbreviations: GW, Groundwater; SW,Surface Water; DWDS, Drinking Water Distribution System; SG1, Serogroup 1; DW, DrinkingWater
Table 2.4.1. Building and Sampling Site Information for Summer (August 13th and 27th andSeptember 4th, 2018) and Winter (January 7th, 8th ,9th ,14th and 15th, 2019). The Buildings areListed Based on Their Increasing of Distance from the Water Source
Table 2.4.6 Primers and Probes for Target Legionella Species 93
Table 2.5.1. Presence and Concentrations of Five Pathogenic Legionella Strains in 37 WaterSamples Collected in Five Buildings During Summer (August 13 & 27 and September 04, 2018)and Winter (January 7th, 8th ,9th ,14th and 15th, 2019)95
Table 2.5.2. Chemical-Physical and Microbial Data for Influents and Composite Tap WaterSamples August 13th, 27th and September 4th, 2018103

Table 2.5.3. Chemical-Physical and Microbial Data for Influents and Composite Tap WaterSamples January 7th, 8th, 9th 14th and 15th, 2019106
Table 2.6. Presence of Pathogenic Legionella Species at the Taps
Table 3.4.2. Legionella Species in the Reservoir (Influent and Effluent), Influent, Cold- and Hot-water Taps of Buildings Fa, ERC and the Cooling Towers (CT)
Table 3.4.3 Water Quality Parameters of the Reservoir (Influent and Effluent), the Buildings (Faand ERC), and the Cooling Towers
Table 3.5.1. Legionella spp. in Raw Water, Treated Water, Tap Water, and Cooling Towers.Labeled Source Acronyms (*) Indicate Concentration Data Not Shown
Table 4.3.3. Free-living Amoebae Primers and Probes
Table 4.4.1. The Occurrence of Two Amoebae spp. in 42 Water Samples Collected from theReservoir, Buildings, and Cooling Towers. The Water Age in Res_In (4.5), Res_EF (3.4), Fa (9.2),ERC (20.8), and CT (?)
Table 4.4.2. Chi-squared Test Between Acanthamoeba spp. and Legionella anisa in 42 Water Samples 153
Table 4.4.3. Chi-squared Test Between Naegleria fowleri and Legionella micdadei in 42 Water Samples 154
Table 4.4.4. Chi-squared Test Between Naegleria fowleri and Legionella bozemanii in 42 Water Samples 154
Table 4.4.5. Chi-squared Test Between Naegleria fowleri and Legionella pneumophila in 42Water Samples155

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.2. Legionella pneumophila History Timeline 8
Figure 1.5.1. The Ecology of Legionella spp
Figure 1.6.5. Combined Effects on the Amplification of <i>Legionella</i> spp53
Figure 2.5.3. Presence of <i>L. bozemanii</i> and <i>L. longbeachae</i> in Cold- and Hot-water Taps in the Five Buildings in the Winter Samples. Bars Reflect All Measurements Collected at Each Tap. Dashed Line Represents the Detection Limit (1.3 Log10 GC/100 mL). Samples With No Signal are Reported as the Detection Limit
Figure 2.5.4. <i>Legionella</i> Species in All Water Samples Collected During Summer and Winter Sampling Events. For the Summer and Winter, the N Values are the Number of Samples in Which the Species were Detected
Figure 2.5.5. Correlation Between Three Water Quality Parameters (Chlorine, Conductivity, and Turbidity) and <i>Legionella</i> spp. 23S rRNA During January 7th, 8th ,9th ,14th and 15th, 2019 Sampling Event. The Color Coding for Each Building is as Follows: Green: F; Red: BPS; Orange: M; Blue: FH; Purple: ERC
Figure 2.6. <i>Legionella</i> spp. (23S rRNA) Concentrations at the Influent and the Tap During Both Seasons. A) Summer, Influent N=1 (error bars are indicative of technical replicate), Taps N=2. B) Winter, Influent N= 1 (error bars are indicative of technical replicate), Taps N=2. The Asterisks (***) Below Represent the Significance for F Tap vs FH Tap; P=0.0001
Figure 3.4.1. Legionella in All Water Samples Collected in Summer (August and September) of 2019
Figure 3.4.2. Comparison of <i>Legionella</i> spp. (23S rRNA) in the Reservoir (Influent and Effluent), Buildings: F and ERC, and the Cooling Towers. The Water Age (hrs) in Res_In (4.5), Res_EF (3.4), Fa (9.2), ERC (20.8), and CT (?)
Figure 3.4.4. Correlation Between 4 Water Quality Parameters (HPCs, pH, temperature and turbidity) and <i>Legionella</i> spp. 23S rRNA. The Color Coding for Each Building is as Follows: Green: Fa; Purple: ERC
Figure 4.4.1. Principal Component Analysis (PCA) Biplot Showing the Clustering of the Data According to the Water Sampling Sites. Each Data Point Represents Each Species from a Particular Sampling Site (the observation). Samples from Five Sampling Locations, Color-coded Based on Sampling Location

Figure 4.4.2. Pearson Correlation Analyses Between Two Amoeba spp. and Four Pathogenic Legionella spp. in 42 Water Samples 156
Figure 4.4.3. Pearson Correlation Matrix of Amoebae and <i>Legionella</i> spp. in Buildings Fa and ERC and Cooling Towers, Separately
Figure 4.4.4. Two Legionella spp. (L. micdadei and L. bozemanii) May Be Dependent on Naegleria fowleri in Buildings Fa and ERC 158
Figure 5.1. A Schematic Linking Point of Use to Human Exposure

CHAPTER ONE

LEGIONELLA SPECIES IN A DRINKING WATER SUPPLY SYSTEM

1.1 Introduction

In 1968, an epidemic of an unknown etiology occurred in a health department located in Pontiac, Michigan (Glick et al., 1978). Health care workers experienced fever, headaches, muscle ache, and sometimes asthenia (Glick et al., 1978). It was not until eight years later that Pontiac Fever (PF) was traced back to the newly established bacterium *Legionella pneumophila* (*L. pneumophila*) (described below) (McDade et al., 1979).

Legionella pneumophila was established after a large outbreak (~221 infected) in 1976 among members of the American Legion and in individuals who were near the defective cooling tower (Brenner et al., 1979; Fraser et al., 1977). The people who were ill suffered from a lower respiratory infection. In 1977, this pneumonia became known as Legionnaires Disease (LD) (McDade et al., 1977). *Legionella pneumophila* was the etiological agent responsible for LD (Frasser et al., 1977).

In 1978, LD and PF were both referred to as legionellosis (Fraser et al., 1977). Legionellosis presents with two clinical features: Legionnaires' Disease (LD), a severe lung infection, while PF is a mild self-limiting disease (McDade et al., 1979; Fraser et al., 1977). Thus, the rest of the dissertation will soley focus on LD.

Legionella species are gram-negative bacteria. Currently, at least 61 species and 70 serogroups of *Legionella* have been characterized, and approximately half of these species are associated with human disease (Cunha and Cunha, 2016). Five species, such as *L. pneumophila*, *L. anisa*, *L. bozemanii*, *L. micdadei*, and *L. longbeachae*, are responsible for the majority of the LD cases (Yu et al., 2002). However, *L. pneumophila* is the most common pathogenic species responsible for the majority (~90) of LD (Yu et al., 2002). *Legionella pneumophila* is subcategorized into 16 serogroups (Brenner et al., 1979). Of the 16 serogroups, *L. pneumophila*

serogroups 1 (sg1) is associated with 88.2% of the cases confirmed by culture (Yu et al., 2002; Beauté, 2017). Given that the urinary antigen test only detects *L. pneumophila* sg1, the percentage of confirmed cases could simply be due to a diagnostic bias (Hackman et al., 1996; Fields et al., 2002; Jarraud et al., 2013; Byrne et al., 2018).

Legionnaires Disease cases are rising in the United States (US [MacIntyre et al., 2018]). In one year alone (2018), there were ~10,000 cases of LD reported to health officials (CDC, 2018). Scientific data indicates that the majority (<95%) of the LD cases are sporadic—with regional differences, and outbreak cases account for ~5 of the cases (Farnham et al., 2014; MacIntyre et al., 2018; Sopena et al., 2007; Hicks et al., 2011). Although outbreak cases only account for a small percentage, these cases receive most of the attention because the cases are associated with hotels, resorts, cruise ships, hospitals, and nursing facilities (Hlavsa et al., 2018; Beaute et al., 2019; Papadakis et al., 2018). It is also interesting to note that the majority of outbreak cases of LD usually presents with a seasonal pattern (summer and fall) due to the use of cooling towers, (Smith et al., 2019; Fitzhenry et al., 2017; Lucas et al., 2018; Quinn et al., 2015; Watkins et al., 2015; Smith et al., 2015) but cases can occur year-round (Schumacher et al., 2020). Nevertheless, the exposure sites for sporadic cases are rarely ever identified (Stout et al., 1992). Sporadic cases are underreported to public health officials (Benin et al., 2002), and this is because the milder cases go undetected and occur in a non-outbreak setting (two or more individuals exposed to *Legionella* in the same place and get the LD around the same time). Usually, sporadic cases are identified retrospectively, and these cases can occur in residential homes or hospital water systems (Sopena et al., 2007; Stout et al., 1992).

Legionella species are widespread in the aquatic environment. More specifically, *Legionella* species survive in a variety of natural environments such as surface water (Lesnik et al., 2016),

groundwater (Brooks et al., 2004; Costa et al., 2005), rivers (Huang et al., 2017), and lakes (Zhang et al., 2018). Apart from natural environments, *Legionella* can survive, colonize and proliferate within engineered water systems such as taps (Donohue et al., 2014; Donohue et al., 2019; Barna et al., 2016; Byrne et al., 2018), air conditioners (Al-Matawah et al., 2015; Nakanishi et al., 2019; Zeng et al., 2019; Gong et al., 2017; Llewellyn et al., 2017; Lin et al., 2009), showers (Collins et al., 2017; Donohue et al., 2019; Barton et al., 2017; Rhoads et al., 2016; Farhat et al., 2012), and cooling towers (Llewellyn et al., 2017; Lucas et al., 2018; Quinn et al., 2015; Watkins et al., 2015; Smith et al., 2015).

Legionella species survive and multiply in biofilms and free-living amoebae within engineered water systems (Valster et al., 2009; Barker et al., 1993; Shaheen et al., 2019), such as commercial buildings, air conditioners, and cooling towers (Scheikl et al., 2016; Tsao et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2019). Very specific free-living amoebae-, such as *Acanthamoeba* spp, and Naegleria fowleri (Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010; Valster et al., 2009; Barker et al., 1993) serve as protection to L. pneumophila against disinfection residual in drinking water systems (Casini et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2019; Cervero-Aragó et al., 2015). The amplification of *L. pneumophila* in aquatic environments (listed above) depends on the availability of amoebae and the environmental conditions (Buse and Ashbolt 2011; Shaheen et al., 2019). For example, Acanthamoeba spp. interact with L. pneumophila at lower water temperatures (<20), while Naegleria fowleri interaction occurs at higher water temperatures (>20) (Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010; Valster et al., 2009; Buse and Ashbolt 2011). Nevertheless, Naegleria fowleri and Acanthamoeba spp. have been shown to alter L. pneumophila biological properties. For example, once L. pneumophila is free in its environment from amoebae, there is a higher capacity of virulence, and antibiotic resistance as a result of horizontal gene transfer from

amoebae to *Legionella* (Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010; Kuiper et al., 2004; Barker et al. 1993; Cirillo et al. 1994).

Factors that are associated with the growth *Legionella* species in building water systems are warm water temperature, inadequate disinfectant levels, water stagnation, and increased water age (Shaheen et al., 2019; Rhoads et al., 2016; Besic et al., 2017; Ambrose et al., 2020; Totaro et al., 2018). The amplification of *Legionella* is mostly detected in the hot-water pipe (Donohue et al., 2019; Valcina et al., 2019; Bollin et al., 1985; Hrubá et al., 2009; Borella et al., 2004; Bédard et al., 2019; Totaro et al., 2017; Rhoads et al., 2016; Brazeau and Edwards, 2013; Baron et al., 2014; Ditommaso et al., 2010), while the cold-water pipe serves as a survival site for these species (de Moulin et al., 1988; Donohue et al., 2014; Donohue et al., 2019; Lesnik et al., 2016; Valcina et al., 2015; Konishi et al., 2006; Katz and Hammel), hence why the occurrence and the detection of *Legionella* are usually higher in the hot-water taps (Donohue et al., 2014; Peter and Routledge et al., 2018; Totaro et al., 2017; Rhoads et al., 2016; Toyosada et al., 2017; Proctor et al., 2017).

The mere detection of *Legionella* species in the building water system does not constitute a risk. *Legionella* occurs in bulk-water (Lesnik et al., 2016, Whiley et al., 2017; Farhat et al., 2012; Donohue et al., 2014; De Giglio et al., 2019; Shen et al., 2015; Ishizaki et al., 2016), biofilms (Deines et al., 2010; Yu et al., 2010; Shaheen et al., 2019; Falkinham et al., 2015; Buse et al., 2019; Buse et al., 2017; Lu et al., 2014), and in aerosols (Bollin et al., 1985a; Ishimatsu et al., 2001; Nguyen et al., 2006; Dutil et al., 2007; Zmirou-Navier et al., 2007; Chang et al., 2010). However, the risk of infection is by inhaling aerosols containing *Legionella* species (Davis et al., 1982; Breiman and Hrwitz, 1987; Wright et al., 2003; Baskerville et al., 1983; Kishimoto et al.,

1979). Furthermore, the risk of infection depends on the infectious dose, strain infectivity, and the host (Armstrong and Haas, 2007; Ashbolt et al., 2015; Bollin et al., 1985). A quantitative microbial risk assessment estimated that *Legionella* containing aerosols requires 10₆ CFU/L viable cells to be infectious (Ashbolt et al., 2015). Once aerosolized, there has to be a disseminator. Cooling towers, showerheads, faucets, and decorative fountains disperse *Legionella* containing aerosols (Bollin et al., 1985a; Ishimatsu et al., 2001; Nguyen et al., 2006; Dutil et al., 2007; Zmirou-Navier et al., 2007; Chang et al., 2010). Thus, the aerosolization of *Legionella* is a public health concern.

The current consensus is that LD cases are underdiagnosed and under-reported. There needs to be an improved diagnostic test for the detection of pathogenic *Legionella* species that are known to cause disease in all patients who presents with pneumonia, regardless of the degree of the case (mild or severe). Also, there needs to be an improved understanding of the epidemiology of LD— this will enhance the primary source of infection of LD and improve risk evaluation. A monitoring scheme is needed to understand the ecology of pathogenic *Legionella* species. Understanding the ecology will give knowledge about the risks of disease from pathogenic *Legionella* species.

1.2 History of Legionella pneumophila

In 1947 *L. Pneumophilia* was initially described as a "rickettsia-like organism," which was named OLDA (McDade et al., 1979). This organism was isolated from a sick guinea pig that had been inoculated with the blood of a patient with a respiratory illness. During this time, *L. pneumophila* did not grow on bacteriological media; thus, the microbiological and clinical aspects of the LD and PF were unknown.

An outbreak occurred in 1968, affecting several people working in the Health Department in Pontiac, Michigan, who experienced flu-like symptoms and a fever (Glick et al., 1978). The Michigan Health Department analyzed blood samples from these workers. They found that ~144 people experienced fever, headache, muscle ache, and malaise (Glick et al., 1978). However, during this time, they did not know the cause until after the identification of *L*. *pneumophila*. The disease was later linked to *L. pneumophila* (described below) and named PF. The name PF was coined after an upper respiratory illness affected many people in Pontiac, Michigan (Glick et al., 1978).

The beginning of the discovery of bacteria, *Legionella*, did not surface until there was a pneumonia outbreak that occurred twenty-nine years later. In 1976, an outbreak occurred at an American Veterans' convention in Philadelphia (Fraser et al., 1977) this disease was later named LD. Legionnaires' disease is a pneumonic (lower) respiratory infection. *Legionella*, the bacterium, was given its name by Joseph McDade, at the time a CDC microbiologist, after this fatal outbreak with 221 individuals ill, of which 34 died (Fraser et al., 1977). *Legionella pneumophila* is the first typed bacterial species of this genus, named for presence in the lung, where it was identified as the cause of pneumonia. The source of this pathogen was traced back to the hotel environment – more specifically, the cooling tower. Figure 1.2 shows the history of this disease, the genus, and the culture technology that ensued to isolate and study the bacteria.

Figure 1.2. Legionella pneumophila History Timeline



In the late summer of 1976 (August and September), Joseph McDade investigated the clinical aspects of LD. Guinea pigs were experimentally inoculated with lung tissue from infected humans to determine the gram stain of the tissue, but the process to classify the bacteria was challenging (McDade et al., 1979; Katz and Hammel, 1982). After many trials and errors, *Legionella* was identified with Gimenez stain, which was developed for Rickettsiae (Janssen and Kedlund, 1981). Following the isolation procedure, a sera-antibody analysis was performed. An antibody response to what was referred to as the "newly isolated bacterium" *L. pneumophila* was found in the sera of the Philadelphia patients by using the indirect immunofluorescence technique (Hindahl et al., 1986; Gabay et al., 1985).

The cause of the PF illness was now identified in 1977 when CDC researchers isolated *L*. *pneumophilia* sg1 from previously frozen guinea pig's lung tissue experimentally exposed to human blood samples from the outbreak in Pontiac, Michigan (Kaufmann et al., 1981; Glick et al., 1978). A faulty air-conditioning system was implicated as the source (Glick et al., 1978; Friedman et al., 1987). Moreover, in 1977, the sporadic case of LD was identified as the same species and serogroup as the PF bacterium (McDade et al., 1979). A year later, LD and PF were both referred to as legionellosis (Fraser et al., 1977).

Legionella pneumophilia was named as the pathogenic gram-negative bacterium in 1979 (McDade et al., 1977). DNA hybridization determined the DNA relatedness of the OLDA isolate (named a "rickettsia-like" organism) to the Philadelphia strain; McDade demonstrated that these two strains were 90% related (McDade et al., 1977). These two organisms reacted similarly in serologic tests. Both organisms were confirmed by culturing with charcoal-yeast extract agar, enriched Mueller-Hinton agar, and F-G agar (McDade et al., 1977). The charcoal-yeast extract was developed in 1979 (Feeley et al., 1979); this extract was a primary isolation medium for *L*.

pneumophila for two years. In 1981, a new selective media was developed; buffered charcoalyeast extract, which remains the medium of choice in research and clinical laboratories (Pasculle, et al. 1980; Edelstein et al., 1981).

In 1981, *L. pneumophila* was first discovered in surface water (Fliermans et al., 1981) and groundwater in 1989 (Bornstein et al., 1989). Fliermans et al., 1981 analyzed 23 lakes for the presence of *Legionella*; specifically, *L. pneumophila* sg1 was detected in pond waters at concentrations ranging from 2.7 x 10s to 9.6 x 106 CFU/L by colonies grown on the charcoal-yeast extract. Additionally, *L. pneumophila* was detected in a hot spring spa by culturing the water sample onto buffered charcoal yeast extract agar; *L. pneumophila* sg1 concentrations ranged from 103 to 105 CFU/L (Bornstein et al., 1989).

Following the first LD outbreak in 1976, a three-year extensive study of plumbing systems in Kingston Spain hospitals was described. In 1984, *L. pneumophilia* was isolated from rubber washers in shower fittings, and experimentally the growth of *L. pneumophilia* in water in contact with the same rubber material was demonstrated (Colbourne et al., 1984). This research coined the association of *L. pneumophilia* within premise plumbing (Colbourne et al., 1984). A year later, the first plumbing-related outbreak associated with *L. pneumophilia* was described in the United States (Parry et al., 1985).

Other *Legionella* species have been identified and implicated with legionellosis, such as *L. micdadei*, causing Lochgoilhead fever (Pasculle et al., 1979, Goldberg et al., 1989), and *L. bozemanae* (Brenner et al., 1980), and *L. longbeachae* (McKinney et al., 1981). An additional species of *Legionella* associated with pneumonia, *L. anisa*, was isolated from drinking water and a cooling tower in 1985 (Gorman et al., 1985). However *L. pneumophila* covers the majority of LD. *Legionella pneumophila* currently comprises 16 serogroups, of which sg1 is the most

frequently encountered (Aurell et a., 2003; Yu et al., 2002; Helbig et al., 2002; Beer et al., 2015; Shachor-Meyouhas et al., 2010; Cheng et al., 2012; Haupt et al., 2012).

Legionnaires Disease has been on the rise in the United States (US) since the early 2000s. During 2001- 2008, *Legionella* represented 33% of all water-related outbreak etiologies (Craun, 2012). From 2011- 2014, *Legionella* was responsible for 57% of the waterborne outbreaks in the US (Dooling et al., 2015; Benedict et al., 2017).

Legionella remains a paramount public health concern and common source of waterborne disease (Bartlett et al., 2011). For 2016 data, more than 6100 cases of LD were reported to the CDC (CDC, 2016). US insurers estimate their annual payouts for LD hospitalizations alone are at approximately \$433 million per year (Collier et al., 2012). *Legionella pneumophila* sg1 is the primary cause of diagnosed LD in the US, accounting for 90% of LD pneumonia cases and deaths (Beer et al., 2015; Lai et al., 2010; Shachor-Meyouhas et al. 2010; Cheng et al. 2012; Haupt et al. 2012; Jarraud et al., 2013; Yu et al., 2002). The fatality rate of *L. pneumophila* sg1 ranges from 5% to 30% (Dominguez et al., 2009).

The mode of transmission for *Legionella* is mainly through contaminated water supplies that, when aerosolized, can result in infection of the lower respiratory tract of humans, most commonly those who are more susceptible to disease. Susceptible individuals include those who are 65 years or older, current or former smokers, and pre-existing illnesses. (Parry et al., 1985; Costa et al., 2010; Haupt et al., 2012; Montagna et al., 2016).

Although endemic to many freshwater environments, such as lakes and streams, these sources of exposure are not considered to be a public health-related issue. In natural aquatic habitats, *Legionella* species are likely in insufficient quantities $(1.1 \times 10_3 \text{ cells liter }_1)$ and/or not aerosolized (Brooks et al., 2004; Wullings et al., 2011) to cause disease. The major risk of

exposure to humans relates to human-made water distribution systems capable of producing aerosolized droplets (Ashbolt et al., 2015; Craun et al., 2010). Exposure sites, such as sinks, showers, hot tubs, plumbing systems, and cooling towers are sources of where contaminated water can be aerosolized (Bollin et al., 1985; Demirjian et al., 2015; Farhat et al., 2012; Donohue et al., 2014). Contaminated cooling towers have been implicated in major outbreaks (Fitzhenry et al., 2017; Thornley et al., 2017; Quinn et al., 2015), including the seminal finding of LD as a water-related disease at the 1976 annual convention of the American Legion, that resulted in more than 200 people infected, of whom 34 died (Fraser et al., 1977). Cooling towers, which were first patented in 1918 by Frederik van Iterson and Gerard Kuypers, (F.K.T. Van and Kuypers, G. August 1916.) absorb and remove heat through water evaporation, but both the warmer temperature of water in cooling towers, especially during summer and the resulting mist from these towers' present risks for *Legionella* growth and dispersal respectively.

The abundance of *Legionella* species in the natural environment has been reported to range from $1.1 \times 10_3$ cells liter–1 in groundwater to $7.8 \times 10_5$ cells liter–1 in surface water in the Netherlands (Wullings et al., 2006). The detection of *Legionella* spp. in the source (groundwater or surface water) shapes the detection of *Legionella* in the drinking water supply system (Wullings et al., 2006; Barna et al., 2016). The maximum concentration of *L. pneumophila* found in a groundwater sample was 8 x 10² CFU/L in North America (Brooks et al., 2004) while it was $1.9 \times 10_6$ CFU/L in surface water in a comparative study in Norway (Olsen et al., 2010). Another study analyzed the presence of *Legionella* species in groundwater and examined 374 isolates over seven years (Costa et al., 2005). *Legionella pneumophila*, *L. oakridgensis*, *L. sainthelensi*, and *L. londiniensis* were identified by fatty acid methyl ester, and concentrations ranged from 3 X 10² – 2.4 X 10⁴ CFU/L (Costa et al., 2005). Using phylogenetic analysis of 16S rRNA

sequences, *L. lytica, L. londiniensis, L. rowbothamii, L. drozanski, L. fallonii,* have been detected in surface water, while *L. steigerwaltii, L, micdadei, L. fairfieldensis, L. adelaidensis* were identified in groundwater (Wullings et al., 2006). Five years later, Wullings et al., 2011 analyzed the diversity of *Legionella* species in two drinking water distribution systems that were supplied with groundwater and detected *L. bozemanae, L. pneumophila, L. donaldsonii, L. yabuuchiae, L. anisa, L. lytica, L. worsleinsis, and L. adelaidensis* by cloning and sequencing. The concentrations of *Legionella* species in unchlorinated drinking water supplies (raw water, and distribution system) ranged from 2.9 x 102 to 2.5 x 103 cells liter-1 (Wullings et al., 2011). These studies suggest that the water source is a contributor to the presence of *Legionella* species in the drinking water distribution and plumbing systems.

1.3 Taxonomy of Legionella

Legionella belongs to the Phylum Proteobacteria, the Class Gammaproteobacteria, and the order Legionellales (Graells et al., 2018; Garrity et al. 2005). Gammaproteobacteria have more identified genera and the number of species (181/755, respectively) than any other proteobacterial class (Kersters et al., 2006). There is not any obvious characteristic that distinguishes Gammaproteobacteria from these other classes; the majority of Gammaproteobacteria are either symbiotic or parasitic bacteria of vertebrate and invertebrate species (Kersters et al., 2006). The order, Legionellales, comprises two families, including *Legionella* and *Coxiella* (Graells et al., 2018; Garrity et al. 2005). The genus, *Legionella*, has ~61 species and three subspecies and 70 serogroups (Wilkinson et al., 1987; Jaeger et al., 1988; Khodr et al., 2016; Vaccaro et al., 2016). And half the species of *Legionella* are associated with human disease (Burillo et al., 2017; Muder and Victor, 2002; Fields et al., 2002). There are 16 serogroups of *Legionella pneumophila*, and two in *L. bozemanii*, and *L. longbeachae*, and one serogroup in each of the remaining species (Thacker et al., 1985; Totaro et al., 2017; Li et al., 2015; McDade et al., 1977; Lindsay et al., 2012; Fragou et al., 2012; Leoni et al., 2005; Negrón-Alvíra et al., 1988; Doebbeling et al., 1989; Gorman, 1985 Dilger et al., 2017; Koide et al., 1991; Sanchez et al., 2013) (Table 1.3). Of these *Legionella* species and serogroups that have been characterized there are five species (Table 1.3) that make up most of the incidence of LD (Yu et al., 2002). And *L. pneumophila* sg1 appears to be the most virulent strain causing the majority of disease (described below).

The rest of the taxonomy discussion will focus on L. pneumophila. Legionella pneumophila is divided into 16 serogroups, which are based on the structure of its lipopolysaccharide (outer membrane). The serogroups of *L. pneumophila* were first discovered in 1979 (Wilkinson et al., 1979). Wilkinson et al., 1979, identified four serogroups (1-4) by indirect immunofluorescent-antibody test. Serogroups 5 (England et al., 1980) and 6 (McKinney et al., 1980) were identified by a single indirect fluorescent antibody test. Serogroup 7 was later determined by an immunoglobin test (Bibb et al., 1983). Serogroup 8 was identified by direct fluorescent antibody, and immune-electrophoresis tests (Bissett and Lindquist, 1983) and sg9 was determined by a slide agglutination test (Edelstein et al., 1984). Serogroup 10 and 11 were identified by a direct immunofluorescence assay, and a slide agglutination test (Meenhorst et al., 1985; Thacker et al., 1986). Serogroup 12 was identified by indirect fluorescent-antibody and tube agglutination test (Thacker et al., 1987). Serogroup 13 and 14 were determined by slide agglutination test (Lindquist et al., 1988; Benson et al., 1988). Serogroup 15 was determined by direct fluorescent antibody test (Brenner et al., 1988). Serogroup 16 was identified by targeting the mip gene and later confirmed by DNA sequencing (Ratcliff et al., 1988). Different

serological tests identified *L. pneumophila* serogroups 1-15, and a genetic analysis identified serogroup 16 (Table 1.3.1).

Legionella pneumophila sg1 is the leading cause of diagnosed water-related disease, and it is the only serogroup that is clinically detected by the urinary antigen test (Beer et al., 2015; Mercante and Winchell, 2015; Fields et al., 2002; Jarraud et al., 2013; Byrne et al., 2018). The fact that there are no specific DNA molecular or urinary antigen tests to detect serogroups 2-16, (Benitez and Winchell, 2013; Hackman et al., 1996; Kazandjian et al., 1997) this underestimates the true burden of LD.

Sequence-based typing (SBT) is used to determine the genetic diversity within or between strains of *Legionella* (Galli et al. 2008; Fragou et al., 2012; Zhan and Zhu, 2018; Qin et al., 2014; Lévesque et al., 2016). In particular, sequence-based typing distinguishes between the different sequence types, which is defined by the DNA sequence of seven genomic loci. These seven chromosomal alleles are *flaA*, *pile*, *asd*, *mip*, *mompS*, *proA*, *and neuA*. The combination and the concentration of these virulence genes (listed above) are the major factor causing pathogenicity of *L. pneumophila* sg1 (Byrne et al., 2018).

Legionella pneumophila sg1 has been shown to have different characteristics than serogroups 2-16. *Legionella pneumophila* sg1 may be more pathogenic, due to its genetic diversity (Cazalet et al., 2008; Merault et al., 2011; David et al., 2017), and this serogroup could be better adapted in humans than the other serogroups. In addition to its genetic diversity, the composition of *L. pneumophila* sg1 lipopolysaccharide O-antigen is hydrophobic (Zähringer et al., 1995); this may enable this serogroup to resist killing of the alternate complement pathway (an innate component of the human immune system [Khan et al., 2013]). For example, the hydrophobicity in the lipopolysaccharide O-antigen could help *L. pneumophila* survival in the

lungs by evading toxic lysosomes (Fernandez-Moreira et al., 2006). Such characteristics make *L*. *pneumophila* sg1 a major public health concern.

DNA relatedness is increasingly becoming the basis of classification for bacterial taxonomy (Gupta and Sharma, 2015). For example, a recent report showed that *L. pneumophila* sg1 isolates from puddles and soil were genetically close compared to clinical isolates (Kanatani et al., 2013).

<i>Legionella</i> Species	Genome Size Mb	No. of Serogroups	Serogroup mostly associates with disease (% of disease)	Specific Diagnostic Test	Exposure Sites and Site of Isolation in humans	Ref
L. pneumophila	3.4	16	1 (90)	Yes (Urinary Antigen Test)	Hot water system; Cooling towers; Lung tissue from Human	Totaro et al., 2017; Li et et al., 2015; McDade and R. E. Weaver, 1977
L. longbeachae	4.1	2	Unknown (3.9)	No	Soil; Tap water and cooling tower; Transtracheal aspirate	Lindsay et al., 2012; Fragou et al., 2012; R. Porrschen, 1980
L micdadei	3.3	1	Unknown (0.9)	No	Tap water; Cooling Tower; Lung Tissue	Leoni et al., 2005; Negrón-Alvíra et al., 1988; Doebbeling et al., 1989
L. bozemanii	4.1	2	Unknown (2.4)	No	Tap water; Cooling tower; Lung tissue	Fragou et al., 2012; Negrón-Alvíra et al., 1988
L. anisa	4.5	1	Unknown (0.9)	No	Hot water; Cooling towers; Lung Tissue	G.W. Gorman, 1985 Dilger et al., 2017; Koide et al., 1991; Sanchez et al., 2013

Serogroups	Identification	Health Risk	Ref	
1	Serological Test	Yes	Wilkinson et al., 1979	
2-15	Serological Test	Unknown	Wilkinson et al., 1979; England et al., 1980; McKinney et al., 1980; Bibb et al., 1983; Bissett et al., 1983; Edelstein et al., 1984; Meenhorst et al., 1985; Thacker et al., 1986; Lindquist et al., 1988; Benson et al., 1988; Brenner et al., 1988	
16	Genetic Test	Unknown	known Ratcliff et al., 1988	

 Table 1.3.1. Legionella pneumophila Identification of Serogroups

1.4 Epidemiology

Legionnaires' Disease incident rate has increased significantly in the United States since the early 2000s (Garrison et al., 2016; Falconi et al., 2018; Adams et al., 2016). According to the Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, the incidence of reported LD cases are higher in the warmer seasons (summer and early fall) comparative to the colder seasons (winter and spring) (Falconi et al., 2018; Simmering et al., 2017; Beaute et al., 2017; Garrison et al., 2016; Gleason et al., 2016; Dooling et al., 2015; McClung et al., 2017; Soda et al., 2017; Adams et al., 2016). Legionnaires' Disease also shows geographical and demographical patterns. Geographically, California, New York, and Ohio states had higher reported LD cases reported in 2014-2015 (Garrison et al., 2016; Dooling et al., 2015; McClung et al., 2017; Soda et al., 2017; Adams et al., 2016).

Demographically, the incidence of LD increases with individuals older than 50 years of age, and among males (Garrison et al., 2016; Dooling et al., 2015; McClung et al., 2017; Soda et al., 2017). Underlying conditions such as smoking, diabetes, immune-compromised, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and chemotherapy increases a person's risk for acquiring LD (Costa et al., 2010; Haupt et al., 2012; Montagna et al., 2016). Unfortunately, there is no real

"control" of LD, it is, however, preventable by maintaining the building water systems to reduce the risk of *Legionella* growth.

Legionnaires' Disease is a type of pneumonia associated with engineered water systems (taps, cooling towers, hot tubs) and has four classifications: nosocomial, travel-related, community-acquired or sporadic (Fitzhenry et al., 2017; Garrison et al., 2016; Dooling et al., 2015; McClung et al., 2017; Soda et al., 2017; Adams et al., 2016; Fields et al., 2002). In 2015, the case fatality rate increased (25%) among patients with healthcare-associated LD (Soda et al., 2017), whereas the case-fatality in community-acquired infection was lower (10%) (Soda et al., 2017). Although the focus has been on nosocomial, and travel-associated outbreaks, it is thought that majority of cases are sporadic, community-acquired (Chen et al., 2012; Che et al., 2008; Adams et al., 2016; McClung et al., 2017; Shah et al., 2018). The sporadic cases are rarely ever identified.

1.4.1 Disease Incident Rate of Legionella pneumophila in the 21st Century

In the United States, there is an increasing trend of LD (Shah et al., 2018). The National Notifiable Diseases Surveillance System received LD cases reported from 52 jurisdictions from 2000 to 2015, and there were 49,930 confirmed cases (Shah et al., 2018). During those years, the incidence of legionellosis increased from 0.42 to 1.89 cases per 100,000 individuals (Shah et al., 2018). In 2014, there were 5,166 confirmed LD cases and increased to 6,079 cases in 2015 (Shah et al., 2018). Cases identified during 2014-2015 through Active Bacterial Core surveillance showed that the frequency was in persons 50 years or older, and 65% of patients were male (Dooling et al., 2015). The primary underlying condition was a consequence of smoking (38%) (Che et al., 2018; Straus et al., 1996; Bagaitkar et al., 2008; Marston et al., 1994; Farnham et al., 2014). The secondary reason was diabetic individuals (30%), followed by chronic obstructive

pulmonary disease (16%), immune compromise (14%) and former smokers (14%) (Shah et al., 2018; Farnham et al., 2014; Campese et al., 2011). Legionnaires' Disease continues to increase significantly. For example, in the years 2017 and 2018, there were approximately 7500 and 10,000 cases reported in the United States, respectively (CDC, 2018). However, these estimated number (~7500 and 10,000) does not represent the actual incidence rate since LD is underdiagnosed (Spiegelman et al., 2020; Cassell et al., 2019; Priest et al., 2019; Spiegelman et al., 2020; Kleinberg and Antony, 2019).

1.4.2 Mode of Transmission of Legionella

The mode of transmission for *Legionella* spp. occurs from inhalation of aerosols carrying the bacteria or aspiration of water with the bacteria (Armstrong and Haas, 2007; Hines et al., 2014; Davis et al., 1982; Blatt et al., 1993; Venezia et al., 1994). Inhalation of *Legionella*-contained aerosols is the primary mode of transmission (Hines et al., 2014; Azuma et al., 2013; Davis et al., 1982; Schoen and Ashbolt, 2011; Breiman et al., 1990). After *Legionella* spp. grows in the water systems, it then must be aerosolized and inhaled to cause disease (Perkins et al., 2009; Gargano et al., 2017; Falkinham et al., 2015; Kwaik et al., 1998; Schoen and Ashbolt, 2011).

Legionella pneumophila grows in devices and locations in a building's water system that can cause a mist (Perkins et al., 2009; Schoen and Ashbolt, 2011). These include showers, humidifiers, mist machines, air conditioning systems, wastewater treatment plant, thermal springs faucets, hot tubs, water fountains, and cooling towers (Tyndall et al., 1989; Tyndall et al., 1995; Woo et al., 1992; Donohue et al., 2014; Hamilton et al., 2018; Llewellyn et al., 2017; Al-Matawah et al., 2015; Collins et al., 2017; Sharaby et al., 2019). Cooling towers are notorious for the spread of aerosolized water droplets containing *L. pneumophila* (Walser et al., 2014; Weiss et

al., 2017; Fitzhenry et al., 2017). A Gaussian dispersion model estimated that the cooling system disperses aerosols over long distances—at least six kilometers (Nguyen et al., 2006; Ferre et al., 2009; Marrão et al., 1993); this explains the community-acquired outbreaks that are increasing in the United States.

Other modes of transmission can occur from contaminated environmental sources through the aspiration of fluids. Franzin et al., 2001 reported the first nosocomial case of contracting *L. pneumophila* sg1 via aspiration in a neonate from a water birth in the hospital. In 2014, there was another case of a neonatal infection from *L. pneumophila* via aspiration from a water birth (Fritschel et al., 2015). In this particular case, however, the infant was delivered at a midwife facility, and the water came directly from a private borehole well (Fritschel et al., 2015). Unfortunately, the baby died after 19 days of suffering in the hospital (Fritschel et al., 2015). There are many other ways to contract *Legionella* via aspiration, such as nasogastric tube use, water fountains, ice and ice machines, and pools (Blatt et al., 1993; Hosein et al., 2005; Squier et al., 2000; Venezia et al., 1994; Marrie et al., 1991). While there has been extensive research on the transmission of *Legionella* via aspiration, the devices that harbor these bacteria are not routinely monitored so as to examine ways to prevent its growth in the built environment.

Soil is another alternative form of transmitting *Legionella* species, which have been shown to persist in soil (Wallis and Robinson, 2005; Steele et al., 1990; Schalk et al., 2014; van Heijnsbergen et al., 2016; Travis et al., 2012; Whiley and Bentham, 2011; Casati et al., 2009). Joung et al., 2017 suggested that the mode of exposure of *Legionella* from soil could be aerosolized after a rainfall event. Another mode of exposure could be through ingestion (eating or drinking) after gardening before cleaning of the hands (Plouffe et al., 1986; O'connor et al., 2007). Although potting soil is a confirmed source of *Legionella* amplification, it is not well-
understood if *Legionella* in natural soil can lead to disease (Wallis and Robinson, 2005; Heijnsbergen et al., 2014).

1.4.3 Waterborne Outbreaks of Legionnaires' Disease

The most recent LD outbreak information from CDC was published in 2017, and the surveillance data was for 2013-2014 (Benedict et al., 2017). During 2013-2014, 24 outbreaks were reported, accounting for 130 cases, 109 hospitalizations, and 13 deaths (Benedict et al., 2017). Because national data is lacking beyond the year of 2014, the following paragraph will focus on LD cases from 2015 to present that has been reported in the literature.

Major outbreaks have been associated with large buildings and exposure to showers, fountains, plumbing systems, and cooling towers (Petzold et al. 2017; Beer et al., 2015; Weiss et al., 2017; Walser et al., 2014; Lucas et al., 2018; Smith et al., 2019; Sánchez-Busó et al., 2015; Francois Watkins et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2015; Fitzhenry et al., 2017; Garrison et al., 2016; Hampton et al., 2016; Quinn et al., 2015). Table 1.4.3 shows the number of cases of LD that occurred in the United States. In August 2015, a large outbreak occurred at a California State Prison and there were fourteen cases and no deaths. The source of exposure was a cooling tower (Lucas et al., 2018). In the summer of 2015, there were a total of four separate LD outbreaks in two different states, Ohio and New York (Fitzhenry et al., 2017; Quinn et al., 2015). In Ohio, there was one outbreak with 39 cases and 17 deaths in two cities (Bronx and Queens) (Fitzhenry et al., 2017).

The cooling towers were the site of exposure for Ohio and New York (Quinn et al., 2015; Fitzhenry et al., 2017). Potable water within buildings is another common exposure site. Legionnaires' Disease outbreak has occurred in hospitals and hotels (Francois Watkins et al.,

2017; Smith et al., 2015). A well-known-LD outbreak occurred in Flint, Michigan (Smith et al., 2019). During this (Flint, MI) outbreak, there were 87 cases and 12 deaths. The exposure sites were from cooling towers, the potable water source in residents and hospitals (Smith et al., 2019) (Table 1.4.3).

Cases	Deaths	Location	Month of occurrence	Environmental Source of exposure	Ref
64	0	California	August	Cooling towers	Lucas et al., 2018
39	6	Ohio	July	Cooling towers	Quinn et al., 2015
138	16	New York	July-Aug	Cooling towers	Fitzhenry et al., 2017
15	1	New York	Sep-Oct	Cooling towers	Fitzhenry et al., 2017
16	0	New York	April-Jun	Housing complex potable water system	Fitzhenry et al., 2017
10	0	Alabama	March-June	Hospital potable water system	Francois Watkins et al., 2017
87	12	Michigan	July	Hospital and residential potable water system, and cooling towers	Smith et al., 2019
11	3	Illinois	August	Hotel fountain	Smith et al., 2015

Table 1.4.3. Legionnaires' Disease Outbreak in the United States

Legionnaires' Disease outbreaks have been associated with water system deficiencies at the treatment level, such as inadequate disinfection, improper maintenance (Benedict et al., 2017; Garrison et al., 2016; Brunkard et al., 2011; Beer et al., 2015; Craun et al., 2010). Other issues can occur in the water main, such as breaks in the piping system (Garrison et al., 2016; Waak et al., 2018; Rhoads et al., 2017; Craun et al., 2010) and in the premise plumbing, which can have a lower disinfectant residual (Craun et al., 2010; Lu et al., 2014; Hull et al., 2017).

1.4.4 Diagnosis

Isolation of *L. pneumophila* from lung tissue and pleural fluid is a necessary procedure for identifying LD (Maiwald et al., 1998; Oliverio et al., 1991). In many outbreaks, the goal is to identify and compare the clinical and environmental isolate (Kozak-Muiznieks et al., 2014; Byrne et al., 2018; Kozak et al., 2009). The primary diagnostic method used to detect LD is the urinary antigen test (UAT) (Couturier et al., 2014; Souche et al., 2020; Muyldermans et al., 2020; Como et al., 2019; Badoux et al., 2020). The UAT is a rapid test, which detects outbreaks and sporadic cases of LD caused by *L. pneumophila* sg1 (Mojtahedi et al., 2019; Hicks and Garrison, 2012; Chen et al., 2015; Garrison et al., 2014). The UAT sensitivity and specificity for *L. pneumophila* sg1 range from 70-90% and 95-100%, respectively, by using an ELISA test and a rapid immunochromatographic test (Domínguez et al., 1999; Mercante and Winchell, 2015; Badoux et al., 2001; Diederen and Peeters, 2007). However, the reported incidence is likely to be underestimated because the UAT only detects *L. pneumophila* sg1 (Hicks and Garrison, 2012; Spiegelman et al., 2020; Cassell et al., 2019; Priest et al., 2019; Spiegelman et al., 2020; Cassell et al., 2019).

The culture technique is referred to as the 'gold standard' method; this can be used for environmental and clinical samples (Chen et al., 2015; Morrill et al., 1990; Lee et al., 1993). The

culture of sputum specimens from LD patients is vital to confirm the case (Mizrahi et al., 2017; Botelho-Nevers, 2016). The medium used is buffered charcoal-yeast extract agar enriched with α -ketoglutarate to determine if the genus (*Legionella*) is present regardless of the species or serogroup (Edelstein, 1981). This media was first established to support the growth of *L. pneumophila* (Warren and Miller, 1979). *Legionella pneumophila* collected from sputum samples takes three to five days to grow (Warren and Miller, 1979; Zahran et al., 2018). But it may take longer to grow other *Legionella* species (Lee et al., 1993; Lucas et al., 2011). The sensitivity of the culture method is 81%, and the specificity is 99% (Vickers et al., 1994; Lindsay et al., 2004).

Direct fluorescent antibody staining is a rapid test (2-4 hours) to determine *Legionella* spp. in cultures, respiratory secretions, patient tissue and environmental samples (Finkelstein et al., 1993; Edelstein et al., 1987; Bahl et al., 1997; Ramirez and Summersgill, 1994; Yamamoto et al., 1993; Hayden et al., 2001; Bibb et al., 1984). The genus-specific monoclonal antibody, immunoglobulin G2a (2125), recognizes the 60-kDa heat shock protein of all *Legionella* spp. (Steinmetz et al., 1992). Monoclonal antibodies (MAB2 and MAB3/1) detect *L. pneumophila* sg1 (Dournon et al., 1988; Kozak et al., 2009; Francois-Watkins et al., 2017). Monoclonal antibody 2 and 3/1 recognizes the lipopolysaccharide epitope (encoded by the lag1-gene) in *L. pneumophila* sg1 (Helbig et al., 1995; Lück et al., 2001; Gosselin et al., 2011; Kozak et al., 2009). Specific polyclonal antibodies detect other human-associated *Legionella* species (Lebrun et al., 1986; Aurell et al., 2004; Edelstein and Edelstein, 1989). Fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-labeled *Legionella* polyclonal antibodies were used for the selective detection of *L. pneumophila* sg 1 to 6, *L. bozemanii, L. micdadei,* and *L. longbeachae* in clinical and environmental samples (Vickers et al., 1990; Palmer et al., 1993; Edelstein et al., 1981; Tang et

al., 1984; Cercenado et al., 1987). For example, anti-*L. pneumophila* and anti-*L. bozemanii* (FITC) conjugated polyclonal IgG rabbit antibodies were used to detect *L. pneumophila* in tap water (Keserue et al., 2012; Füchslin et al., 2010) and *L. bozemanii* in lung aspirate of a patient with pneumonia (Tang et al., 1984). Two polyclonal conjugates were utilized to detect *L. pneumophila* in hot and cold storage tank water (Vickers et al., 1990).

The detection of *L. pneumophila* sg1 using monoclonal antibodies has a specificity that ranges from ~94% and sensitivity that ranges from 11 - 40% (Vickers et al., 1990; Lindsay et al., 2004; Hayden et al., 2001; She et al., 2007; Edelstein et al., 1980). There is some cross-reactivity with other species using polyclonal antibodies (Vickers et al., 1990; Palmer et al., 1993; Edelstein and Edelstein, 1989). The sensitivity of monoclonal antibody and the cross-reactivity using polyclonal antibodies are the reasons the direct fluorescent antibody staining method is rarely used to diagnose LD (She et al., 2007; Reller et al., 2003; Mercante and Winchell, 2015).

The serological test detects antibodies (IgA, IgG, and IgM) against *Legionella* spp. in patient serum. However, the disadvantage of serological testing is the inability to distinguish between *Legionella* species and serogroups (Wilkinson et al., 1979a; Wilkinson et al., 1983; Harrison et al., 1987; Helbig et al., 1997; Ditommaso et al., 2008). Serology testing has declined because this test cross-react with other bacteria (Boswell et al., 1996; Musso and Raoult, 1997) and this takes time to indicate whether a patient has LD (Monforte et al., 1988; Benz-Lemoine et al., 1991; Reller et al., 2003; Simonsen et al., 2015).

Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) is a molecular diagnostic tool with the possibility to detect all known species of *Legionella* in respiratory and environmental samples. The most common gene to identify *Legionella* at the genus level is 16S or 23S, conserved gene (Templeton et al., 2003; Cloud et al., 2000; Hayden et al., 2001; Jonas et al., 1995; Rantakokko-Jalava and

Jalava, 2001; Reischl et al., 2002; Wellinghausen et al., 2001; Yong et al., 2010; Nazarian et al., 2008; Nazarian et al., 2008; Herpers et al., 2003; Templeton et al., 2003; van der Zee et al., 2002). On the species level, *Legionella pneumophila* is determined by a macrophage inhibitor protein (*mip*), which is a virulent gene, which enables entry of the bacterium into various amoebae species and human macrophages (Ratcliff et al., 1998; Phin et al., 2014; Ballard et al., 2000; Nazarian et al., 2008; Hayden et al., 2001; Kessler et al., 1993; Koide et al., 1995; Lindsay et al., 1994; Murdoch et al., 1996; Ratcliff et al., 1998; Wellinghausen et al., 2001). The mip gene specifically detects L. pneumophila (Nazarian et al., 2008; Templeton et al., 2003; Wilson et al., 2003). The *wzm* gene encodes for the lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis (Cazalet et al., 2008; Mérault et al., 2011). The wzm gene specifically detects L. pneumophila sg1 (Cazalet et al., 2008; Mérault et al., 2011; Benitez and Winchell, 2013; Mentasti et al., 2015; Mentasti et al., 2017; Collins et al., 2015; Toplitsch et al., 2018). However, there are no primer sets to distinguish among L. pneumophila serogroups 2-14 (Katsiaflaka et al., 2016); thus, when utilizing a PCR based method, these serogroups (2-14) are categorized into one group (Benitez and Winchell, 2013; Merault et al., 2011).

Currently, there is a new PCR multiplex assay that targets other key *Legionella* spp., that are associated with LD, such as *L. longbeachae*, *L. micdadei*, *L. anisa*, and *L. bozemanii* (Cross et al., 2016). This assay targets the 23S-5S intergenic spacer region for all *Legionella* species, (Cross et al., 2016; Grattard et al., 2006; Robinson et al., 1996; Campocasso et al., 2012) and five uniquely 5' hydrolysis probes were designed within this region for the specific detection of *L. pneumophila*, *L. longbeachae*, *L. micdadei*, *L. anisa*, and *L. bozemanii* by qPCR (Cross et al., 2016). The sensitivity and specificity for multiplexing all five species ranged from 92-100%

(Cross et al., 2016). This assay has been shown to accurately identify *L. longbeachae*, *L. micdadei*, *L. anisa*, *and L. bozemanii* in clinical and environmental samples (Cross et al., 2016).

Referral and research laboratories take advantage of PCR based methods such as Real-Time PCR and LightCycler PCR for the detection of *Legionella* in environmental (water from cooling towers, rivers, and hot tubs) and clinical samples (sputum, BAL fluid, serum, and urine) (Merault et al., 2011; Hayden et al., 2011; Cross et al.,2016; Botelho-Nevers et al., 2016; Ricci et al., 2018). Although referral laboratories use PCR-based methods, digital droplet PCR has not been used for epidemiology purposes to compare *Legionella* strains in the suspected environment to clinical specimens.

One academic laboratory quantified *Legionella* DNA certified reference material utilizing digital droplet PCR (Baume et al., 2019). Baume et al., 2019 suggested that digital droplet PCR can be useful for reference material as it estimated a value (9,089,730 GU/5uL) that was consistent with a slight degradation of the *Legionella* certified reference material DNA. The previously reported value of the *Legionella* certified reference material DNA from 2009 was 10,627,646 GU/5uL by qPCR (Baume et al., 2019). Digital droplet PCR is a technique that is accurate and precise.

Digital droplet PCR (ddPCRTM) is an absolute quantification and is more specific than qPCR methods (Gobert et al., 2018). To utilize qPCR, a standard curve must be constructed for the PCR threshold (Green and Sambrook, 2018; Kuypers and Jerome, 2017; Conte et al., 2018). Digital droplet PCR forfeits this need and is more effective in detecting rare DNA targets in environmental and clinical samples (Xue et al., 2018; Doi et al., 2015; Li et al., 2018; Wood et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2017).

1.4.5 Treatment and Antibiotic Resistance of Legionella

Unfortunately, the treatment of LD occurs before diagnosis. The antibiotic therapy includes treatment with fluoroquinolones (ciprofloxacin, moxifloxacin, levofloxacin) and macrolides (doxycycline, rifampicin, trimethoprim, sulfamethoxazole, and azithromycin) (Postma et al., 2015; Wunderink and Yin, 2016; Grau et al., 2006; Epping et al., 2010; Sabrià et al., 2005; Vandewalle-Capo et al., 2017; Fraser et al., 1978; Garcia-Vidal et al., 2017; Griffin et al., 2010). In some cases, treatment may be necessary for up to 3 weeks (Amsden, 2005).

Internationally, there has been research on the presence of antibiotic resistance genes in the drinking water system (Xi et al., 2009; Bergeron et al., 2015; Bergeron et al., 2017; Subbarram et al., 2017; Al Sulami et al., 2013; Sharaby et al., 2019; Sikora et al., 2017; Graells et al., 2018; Rahimi and Vesal, 2017; Xiong et al., 2016; Jia et al., 2019), but the antibiotic-resistant profile of *L. pneumophila* in the US has yet to be investigated.

A study reported the antibiotic profile (azithromycin, clarithromycin, erythromycin, doxycycline, moxifloxacin, cefuroxime, cephalexin, amoxicillin, vancomycin, and clavulanate) on *Legionella* spp. from several different water sources such as lakes, ponds, rivers, and water tanks (Subbarram et al., 2017). Out of four hundred water samples, *L. pneumophila* (320/400), *L. micdadei* (24/400), *L. bozemanii* (20/400), *L. feeleii* (20/400), and *L. dumoffii* (8/400) was isolated from 80, 7, 6, 5 and 2%, respectively (Subbarram et al., 2017). The isolation rate of antibiotic resistance was not clearly described, but out of five *Legionella* species, two *Legionella* species were resistant to antibiotics (Subbarram et al., 2017). The disc diffusion test revealed that *L. pneumophila* was resistant to azithromycin, clarithromycin, erythromycin, doxycycline, moxifloxacin, cefuroxime, cephalexin; while amoxicillin, vancomycin, and clavulanate inhibited the growth of *L. pneumophila* (Subbarram et al., 2017). *Legionella feeleii* was only resistant to

amoxicillin and sensitive to azithromycin, clarithromycin, erythromycin, doxycycline, moxifloxacin, cefuroxime, cephalexin, vancomycin, and clavulanate (Subbarram et al., 2017) (Table 1.4.5).

Al Sulami et al., 2013 investigated the antibiotic susceptibility of *L. pneumophila* isolated from a drinking water supply system in Iraq. Al Sulami et al., 2013 collected 49 water samples from different phases of the water treatment plant, influent (13), precipitation tanks (13), filtration tanks (10) and effluents (13), 127 tap water from 18 districts, and 46 samples from five reverse osmosis plant suppliers (water tanks). Ten isolates (eight isolates were sg1, and 2 were sg 2-15) of *L pneumophila* were tested for antibiotic sensitivity to doxycycline, erythromycin, streptomycin, gentamicin, chloramphenicol, and ampicillin by stoke disk diffusion method. *Legionella pneumophila* sg1 isolates were 83% (6/8) resistance to ampicillin, 37.5% (3/8) to erythromycin, and 50% (4/8) to chloramphenicol and gentamicin; all isolates were 100% (8/8) sensitive to doxycycline. *Legionella pneumophila* sg2-15 isolates were 75% (1.5/2) resistant to ampicillin, 100% (2/2) sensitive to doxycycline, erythromycin, and streptomycin, 50% (1/2) sensitive to chloramphenicol and gentamicin (Al Sulami et al., 2013) (Table 1.4.5).

Twenty-eight isolates in Poland were evaluated for antibiotic resistance; the water samples were collected from a drinking water system in several large buildings, such as hospitals, sanatoriums, hotels, and other public buildings (Sikora et al., 2017). *Legionella pneumophila* isolates were sg1-14, which 16 of them were from serogroup 1. Sikora et al., 2017 showed that *L. pneumophila* sg2-14 isolated from a sanatorium showed resistance to azithromycin. The susceptibility E-test indicated that all *L. pneumophila* isolates (sg1-14) were susceptible to ciprofloxacin and rifampicin (Sikora et al., 2017). A study a year later isolated *L. pneumophila* sg2 -14 from hot water systems (taps, showers, and water heaters) and from a

cooling tower in a Barcelona hospital (Graells et al., 2018). The environmental isolates were pulsotyped, by pulse-field gel electrophoresis, and these isolates were grouped into five pulsotypes (Graells et al., 2018). Disk diffusion and E-test showed the antibiotic profile (Graells et al., 2018). Levofloxacin and azithromycin were the two antibiotics that inhibited the growth of all five pulsotyped environmental isolates of *L. pneumophila* (Graells et al., 2018) (Table 1.4.5). Though both papers discussed the susceptibility of L. pneumophila sg2-14, the results were different. One study indicated that L. pneumophila was resistant to azithromycin, while azithromycin inhibited its growth in another study. Thus, this suggests that ecological factors play a role in the development and spread of antibiotic resistance of *L. pneumophila*. If environmental factors truly shape the antibiotic resistance (ABR) of *L. pneumophila*, the environmental and clinical isolates should have a similar ABR profile. Rahimi and Vesal, 2017 received respiratory samples from hospitalized patients suffering a respiratory tract infection. The respiratory samples were cultured, and out of the 250 samples collected, 11% (27/250) of the isolates were positive for L. pneumophila (Rahimi and Vesal., 2017). Legionella pneumophila positive samples were confirmed by lepA gene-specific PCR testing (Rahimi and Vesal, 2017). Disk diffusion susceptibility test showed that 81.48 (22/27), 77.77 (21/27), 51.85 (14/27), 48.14% (13/27) of the L. pneumophila isolates were resistant to ciprofloxacin, erythromycin, clarithromycin, and moxifloxacin, respectively (Rahimi and Vesal, 2017). Sharaby et al., 2019, evaluated 12 clinical samples for antibiotic resistance to ciprofloxacin, moxifloxacin levofloxacin, tigecycline, doxycycline, azithromycin, erythromycin, clarithromycin, sulfamethoxazole, and rifampicin. Clinical strains of L. pneumophila isolated from sputum samples from hospitalized pneumonia patients were more resistant to doxycycline (Sharaby et al., 2019). The isolation percentage of antibiotic resistance was not described (Sharaby et al.,

2019) (Table 1.4.5). The antibiotic resistance of *Legionella* strains depends on the geographical location, and this means that the environmental and clinical isolates may have a different resistance profile. Thus, knowing the antibiotic resistance profile by geographical location is imperative for antibiotic therapy.

Location	Water Types	No. of isolates	<i>Legionella</i> species	Antibiotic Resistance	Ref
N/A	Lakes, ponds, rivers and water tanks	N/A	L. pneumophila, L. feelei	azithromycin, clarithromycin, erythromycin, doxycycline, moxifloxacin, cefuroxime, cephalexin (amoxicillin,)	Subbarram et al., 2017
Iraq	Drinking water supply system	10	L. pneumophila sg1, sg 2-14	ampicillin, erythromycin chloramphenicol and gentamicin (ampicillin)	Al Sulami et al., 2013
Israel	Drinking water distribution system	12	L. pneumophila	ciprofloxacin, tigecycline, clarithromycin, rifampicin and sulfamethoxazole	Sharaby et al., 2019
Poland	Drinking water system	28	L. pneumophila sg1, sg2-14	azithromycin	Sikora et al., 2017
Barcelona	hot water systems (taps, showers, and water heaters) and from a cooling tower	42	L. pneumophila sg2 -14	-	Graells et al., 2018
Macau and Guangzhou	Water fountains and cooling towers of public facilities (hotels, schools, and shopping malls)	60	L. pneumophila, L. rubrilucens, L. gormanii, L. shakespearei, L. feeleii, L. wadsworthii, L. quateirensis	-	Xiong et al., 2016
China	hot springs, cooling tower, and from pipeline water	37	Legionella pneumophila sg1	azithromycin	Jia et al., 2019

Table 1.4.5. Antibiotic Resistance of Legionella Species in Various Water Types

Dashed line (-) means no antibiotic resistance found.

Barker et al., 1995 studied the antimicrobial susceptibility of L. pneumophila grown in human macrophages and Acanthamoeba polyphaga. Barker et al., 1995 grew L. pneumophila on buffered charcoal-yeast extract agar and then inoculated isolate in yeast extract broth. For intracellular amoebic and human macrophage growth, they separately co-cultured Acanthamoeba polyphaga and U937 cells with L. pneumophila (Barker et al., 1995). After both co-culture assays, they released intracellularly Legionella pneumophila cells by vortexing for one minute and harvested from the suspension by centrifugation (Barker et al., 1995). They determined if intracellular grown L. pneumophila was more resistant to erythromycin, ciprofloxacin, and rifampin (Barker et al., 1995). Legionella pneumophila grown in vitro were sensitive to ciprofloxacin and rifampicin but showed resistance after growing inside of U937 (macrophage cell line) and Acanthamoeba polyphaga (amoeba) (Barker et al., 1995). From these results, Barker et al., 1995 hypothesized that intraphagocytic (macrophages and amoeba) growth induces the antibiotic-resistant phenotype of L. pneumophila. Amoeba and macrophage-grown L. pneumophila cells alter the surface composition (proteins, lipopolysaccharides, and fatty acid content) of the organism, and this phenotype is not seen in-vitro grown L. pneumophila cells (Barker et al., 1993; Barker et al., 1995; Anwar et al., 1990; Abu Kwaik et al., 1993). The changes in the surface properties of L. pneumophila causes alterations in the ability of antibiotic molecules to cross the cell surface (Anwar et al., 1990; Brown et al., 1990; Barker et al., 1995). Overall, the data suggest that L. pneumophila has become resistant to antibiotics as a consequence of residing inside macrophages and amoeba. An environmental study of L. pneumophila antibiotic profile could be beneficial for understanding the distribution of resistance and susceptibility of various strains geographically in the US.

1.4.6 Prevention

Unfortunately, there is not a vaccine for legionellosis, and currently, there are no EPA regulations specifically for monitoring or controlling *Legionella* in drinking water supplies (Lu et al., 2015). The key to preventing LD is through educating building owners and managers to maintain the building water systems to reduce the risk of the growth and spread of *Legionella* (Ambrose et al., 2020; Lu et al., 2015; Pierre et al., 2019; Valcina et al., 2019; David et al., 2018). At the federal level, there are two federal agencies with different guidelines and recommendations to prevent the accumulation of *Legionella* in the building water systems. The Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2018) recommends that all health care facilities maintain a high suspicion (which includes routine sampling) for health-care-associated LD. The CDC also suggests that buildings such as retirement homes, hotels, apartments, or buildings with ten stories or more have a water management plan for hot and cold-water systems. The Environmental Protection Agency has set the maximum contaminant level goal for *Legionella* at zero, but the *Safe Drinking Water Act* does not have an explicit control for this bacterium (EPA, 2018).

The state-level also lacks guidelines and recommendations for monitoring and controlling *L. pneumophila* in the drinking water system. In the state of Michigan, LD increased in 2014 and 2015 in Genesee County (Shah et al., 2018). The Michigan Department of Human and Health Services, the Genesee County Health Department, and Genesee County Medical Society are collaborating to build a better surveillance program to detect and track LD cases (Michigan Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). The Michigan Health Department of Human and Health Services distributed a toolkit from CDC to building managers and local health departments statewide (Michigan Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). The CDC

toolkit does the following i. Helps building leaders develop a water management plan, ii. Identifies areas in the premises that contribute to *Legionella* regrowth, iii. Addresses how to decrease that risk of potential *Legionella* growth, like areas where water stagnation may occur, or changes in water quality (lower disinfectant residuals, increase turbidity [CDC, 2018]).

Genesee County has also provided its residents with additional Legionellosis preventative measures (Michigan Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). They recommend that the showerheads are cleaned regularly and soaked with bleached and water for at least two hours regularly. Genesee County also suggests that the water in humidifiers, nebulizers, or water heaters are to be maintained in the resident by manually cleaning the inside of humidifier per the manufacturer's instructions (Michigan Department of Health and Human Services, 2018).

At the local level, ASHRAE standard 188-2018 Legionellosis: Risk Management for Building Water Systems is the only North American accredited standard. ASHRAE 188-2018 is a voluntary standard, which means this consensus guides without regulatory authority unless incorporated into local building codes (ASHRAE, 2018). This standard was created by a committee of people from different backgrounds such as, "water treatment practitioners, plumbing specialists, hospital and health-care officials, CDC staff, filtration providers, and regulatory experts" (Root, 2018). This standard applies to a wide range of building types and adapted by the CDC into the CDC toolkit (CDC, 2018). Both ASHRAE and CDC have seven recommendations within the water management plan for *Legionella* control; create a water safety management team, describe the water system and cooling tower, identify risk, decide where to apply control limit, corrective actions, verification and validation, and documentation. It may or may not include the monitoring for *Legionella* in the water systems (CDC, 2018; ASHRAE, 2018).

1.5 Ecology of Legionella

Legionella ecology is relatively complex. *Legionella*'s natural niche are rivers, streams, groundwater, and thermally polluted waters (Lesnik et al., 2016, Whiley et al., 2017; Farhat et al., 2012; Donohue et al., 2014; De Giglio et al., 2019; Shen et al., 2015; Ishizaki et al., 2016) as well as engineered systems including cooling towers, air conditioners, (Nakanishi et al., 2019; Zeng et al., 2019; Gong et al., 2017; Llewellyn et al., 2017; Lin et al., 2009) hot tubs, hot tap water lines and showers (Donohue et al., 2019; Barton et al., 2017; Collins et al., 2017; Rhoads et al., 2016; Farhat et al., 2012). In the US, *Legionella* has been isolated from 67 bodies of water, with temperatures ranging from 5.7°C to 63°C (Fliermans., 1996). Experimentally, the optimal temperature for *Legionella* growth is between 25-45°C (Bedard et al., 2015; Konishi et al., 2006; Katz and Hammel, 1987) but will die off at 70°C (Cervero-Aragó et al., 2019).

1.5.1 Legionella and Legionella pneumophila occurrence in water systems

Groundwater serves as one of the natural reservoirs for *Legionella* (Mapili et al., 2020; De Giglio et al., 2019; Costa et al., 2005; Blackburn et al., 2004; Brooks et al., 2004). *Legionella pneumophila* has been detected in groundwater samples tested in the US(King et al., 2016; Mapili et al., 2020), and internationally (Wullings and van der Kooij, 2006; Wullings et al., 2011; Brooks et al., 2004; Costa et al., 2005; Riffard et al., 2001). In the US, the detection of *L. pneumophila* ranges from 1.1 MPN and 4.74 MPN per mL. In Canada, *Legionella* ranged in density (Riffard et al., 2001). Twelve samples from several different groundwaters were between $1\times102-8.4\times104$ CFU/L (Riffard et al., 2001). Another study in Canada showed that the occurrence of *Legionella* in both warm and cold groundwater samples varied in concentration from 102 to 105 CFU/L (Brooks et al., 2004). The frequency and density of *L. pneumophila* in groundwater wells were dependent on the location, whether the well was treated or untreated (Lieberman et al. 1994 & Craun et al., 2010). Twenty-one percent (6/29) of the sampling sites were positive for *L. pneumophila* in untreated wells (Lieberman et al. 1994). In contrast, *L. pneumophila* was undetected in a treatment plant, using groundwater as the water source (Wullings et al., 2011).

Legionella has been shown to multiply on filters inside the drinking water treatment plants (Li et al., 2017; Lin et al., 2014; Hou et al., 2018; Zanacic et al., 2017; Gomes et al., 2020). During the treatment process, *Legionella* species accumulated on the biological activated (BAC) filtration, increasing in BAC effluents. After the BAC step, chlorine disinfection eliminated *Legionella* species from the drinking water before being distributed to the public (Li et al., 2017). Another study examined the concentrations of *Legionella* species in the biofilm, and the water samples throughout the different stages of treatment (Lin et al., 2014). Legionella levels decreased to 4.45 log copies g-1 in the biofilm sample but increased to 6.37 log copies g-1 after chlorine disinfection in the water sample (Lin et al., 2014). After secondary treatment in drinking water treatment plants (DWTP), Legionella spp. have been present in water samples (Lin et al., 2014; Hou et al., 2018; Gomes et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2019; Hull et al., 2017). King et al., 2016 collected 25 samples from several drinking water treatment plants in the US, and L. pneumophila was found in 4% (1/25) of treated water samples by qPCR. Ji et al., 2015 collected 60, 54, 59, 60, and 59 water samples from five drinking water treatment plants. Legionella spp. was also detected in four out of five water treatment plants in the eastern part of the U.S. by Illumina sequencing (Ji et al., 2015). The percentage of Legionella spp. detected in A, B, C, and E drinking water treatment plants were 1.7, 7.4, 78.0, and 13.6%, respectively (Ji et al., 2015).

Water distribution systems are also sites where L. pneumophila may grow and persist (Jjemba et al., 2010; Perrin et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2019; Waak et al., 2018; Ji et al., 2015; Stout et al., 1985). Legionella pneumophila was detected at a low frequency in six different locations at the same distribution system in a metropolitan area in the U.S. (Lu et al., 2016). A higher concentration of Legionella species was detected at distal sites relative to the point of entry of the drinking water distribution system (Lu et al., 2016). Legionella spp. were detected in 57% (23/41) of the samples at a concentration of 85 CE/L-1 by qPCR analysis (Lu et al., 2016). In Virginia, 69% (20/29) of Legionella species and less than 13.7% (4/29) of L. pneumophila occurrence was observed in a drinking water distribution system (Wang et al., 2012). In a drinking water distribution system in Florida, the occurrence of *Legionella* spp. and *L*. pneumophila was 100% (15/15) and 20% (3/15), respectively (Wang et al., 2012). In Virginia, the concentrations of Legionella spp. were 2.3 X 103 GC/ mL, while in Florida, the concentration was lower, 759.6 GC/ mL (Wang et al., 2012). The concentration of L. pneumophila was 13.7 and 219.4 GC/ mL in Virginia and Florida, respectively (Wang et al., 2012). These concentrations were quantified by qPCR (Wang et al., 2012). Though the concentration of Legionella diminishes after treatment (chlorine), some species (including L. pneumophila) persist (Wang et al., 2014). The type of disinfectant was not mentioned in Lu et al., 2015 study, but chlorine was utilized in Virginia and Florida with concentrations of 2.21 and 2.15 mg/L, respectively (Wang et al., 2012). Although L. pneumophila has occurred in the drinking water supply system, the concentrations found are relatively low; this implies that the treatment is effective to some degree. For example, tap water under a chlorinated distribution system in Minneapolis U.S. showed no detection of Legionella pneumophila (Waak et al., 2018).

Legionella pneumophila can grow in the influent water pipe (water entering into the building). So far, there has only been one study to examine the influent water pipe in a building (Rhoads et al., 2016). *Legionella pneumophila* was below the quantification limit (qPCR) in the influent in a healthcare facility (Rhoads et al., 2016), which used monochloramine as their type of disinfection (Rhoads et al., 2016).

Concerning points of use, Legionella spp. are present in faucets (cold and hot), showers, decorative fountains, and whirlpool spas (Valcina et al., 2019; Tachibana et al., 2013; Haupt et al., 2012; Thomas et al., 2014; Collins et al., 2017). The detection frequency and concentration of *Legionella* spp. in cold water samples suggest that this environment is only conducive for its survival (Donohue et al., 2014; Donohue et al., 2019; Lesnik et al., 2016; Valcina et al., 2019). In contrast, Legionella spp. are frequently detected in hot-water samples, and the concentrations are higher, this suggests that this water temperature serves as a site for the amplification of these species (Valcina et al., 2019; Bollin et al., 1985; Hrubá et al., 2009; Borella et al., 2004; Bédard et al., 2019; Totaro et al., 2017; Rhoads et al., 2016; Brazeau and Edwards, 2013; Baron et al., 2014; Ditommaso et al., 2010; Donohue et al., 2019). Thus, the rest of the paragraph will focus on the characterization of *Legionella* in hot water samples (hot-water heaters, taps, etc.). Surveying hot water systems, L. pneumophila increases in concentration in water temperature around 30-35°C but decreases at 50-60°C (Hrubá et al., 2009). Legionella species were detected and quantified at the bottom of the water heater at a healthcare facility at high concentrations (>1500 gene copies per mL) (Rhoads et al., 2016). Recirculation tanks increase Legionella growth by having lower levels of disinfectant residual and water temperatures generally set at 49°C (Brazeau et al., 2013). Legionella pneumophila was positive in 37% (116/299) of samples tested in the recirculation loop, and 12% (27/299) were positive at distal sites of the loop

(Ditommaso et al., 2010). Baron et al., 2014 surveyed and collected hot water from five new faucet filters and five sinks at a cancer center in Northwestern Pennsylvania. The presence of *L. pneumophila* sg1 in the faucet filter was sporadic and was recovered from 1 site. In contrast, *L. pneumophila* was seen at every sink tested, and the quantification ranged from 1-10 CFU/mL to 1,150 CFU/mL (Baron et al., 2014). A study investigated the prevalence of *Legionella* spp. by culture and qPCR in household showers (Collins et al., 2017). *Legionella* spp. and *L. pneumophila* sg1 were detected in 8% (8/99) and 2% (2/99) of showers, respectively (Collins et al., 2017).

Other hot water exposure sites, such as cooling towers, serves as a major source for the amplification of *Legionella* species (Paranjape et al., 2019; García-Fulgueiras et al., 2003; Bentham, 1993; Llewellyn et al., 2017; Farhat et al., 2018; Li et al., 2015; Baudart et al., 2015; Scheikl et al., 2016; Gong et al., 2017; Canals et al., 2015). Li et al., 2015 tested 22 industrial cooling towers, and 36% (91/255) of 255 water samples tested were *Legionella*-positive. The concentrations ranged from 100 to 88,000 CFU/L (Li et al., 2015). From the identified/isolated colonies, there was a range of serogroups present, Sg1, Sg6, Sg5, Sg8, Sg3, and Sg9, with sg1 being the most prevalent and sg9 being the least abundant (Li et al., 2015). Figure 1.5.1 shows the fate of *Legionella* in the environment. As described above, *Legionella* species are present in the natural environment and enters the drinking water treatment plant by the surviving chemical disinfectants and can enter the premise plumbing and cooling tower systems. *Legionella* enters the wastewater treatment plant from daily use (toilet flushing, shower, handwashing, etc.) in the building, and the cycle repeats itself.

Figure 1.5.1. The Ecology of *Legionella* spp.



1.5.2 Legionella Biofilms in Distribution and Premise Plumbing Systems

Biofilms are ubiquitous within drinking water distribution, and premise plumbing (Deines et al., 2010; Yu et al., 2010; Shaheen et al., 2019; Falkinham et al., 2015; Buse et al., 2019; Buse et al., 2017; Lu et al., 2014). The water distribution and the premise plumbing systems have a wide range of physiochemical parameters that impacts the proliferation of *Legionella* (Garner et al., 2018; Shaheen et al., 2019, Van der Kooij et al., 2016). Lower hot (warm) water temperatures are a contributing factor to the formation of biofilms (Rhoades et al., 2016). The nutrients, pipe material, and optimal water temperatures (25- 45°C) in both systems (distribution and premise) provide a favorable condition for biofilms (Buse et al., 2019; Shaheen et al., 2019; Lu et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2014; van der Kooij et al., 2005; Schwartz et al., 2003; Waak et al., 2018; De Filippis et al., 2018). *Legionella* growth in the premise depends on their association with biofilms (Shaheen et al., 2019). An experimental approach showed that inoculation of *L. pneumophila* onto biofilm reactors, which were managed at 20°C, *L. pneumophila* can persist for up to 4 months in uPVC-grown drinking water biofilms (Buse et al., 2013b). *Legionella pneumophila* has also been shown to persist on the walls of a water tank (Lin et al., 2014). Though, biofilms developed in the distribution and premise plumbing systems, the bacterial biofilm composition differ between pipe material (Moritz et al., 2010, Valster et al., 2010, Messi et al., 2011). In drinking water systems, copper and uPVC are commonly used; this influences the biofilm growth in chlorinated systems, reaching up to log 6–7 cm-2 cells of bacterial growth (Morvay et al., 2011). Thus, it is crucial to understand how the pipe material can influence the re-growth of *L. pneumophila* in the premise, as it has been shown experimentally to colonize copper surfaces more effectively and shed from the biofilm at a higher frequency and duration compared to uPVC surfaces (Buse et al., 2013).

1.5.3 Legionella and Other Bacteria in the Biofilm

Several different bacteria shape the microbial community in premise plumbing. The most abundant bacterial classes of biofilms in the drinking water distribution are *Alpha-, Beta-*, and *Gamma-proteobacteria* (De Sotto et al., 2020; Garner et al., 2019; Fish et al., 2017). The most abundant species prevalent in the bacterial biofilm are *Acinetobacter, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Mycobacterium avium complex, E.coli, staphylococcus aureus, Aeromonas, Enterococcus, and Klebsiella* (September et al., 2004; Mahapatra et al., 2015). The occurrence of these biofilms increases the resistance of the bacteria, including *Legionella* spp. to disinfection in the whole drinking water supply system (Fish et al., 2018; Hollinger et al., 2014).

1.5.4 Legionella and Amoebae

Legionella growth in the premise depends on their association with amoeba hosts (Kuiper et al., 2004; Lau and Ashbolt, 2009; Valster et al., 2011; Buse and Ashbolt, 2011; Shaheen et al.,

2019). Naturally-occurring amoeba facilitates the growth and transportation of *Legionella* in their aquatic environments (Kuiper et al., 2004; Swanson and Hammer, 2010). The density of *Legionella* supposedly depends on the concentration and the composition of amoebae present (Buse and Ashbolt, 2011). *Legionella pneumophila* grows inside of amoebae and can survive unfavorable aquatic environment conditions such as the presence of chemical disinfectants, regularly used to treat water in engineered water systems (Hsu et al., 2015; Kwaik et al. 1998; Marciano-Cabral 2004; Declerck 2010; Valster et al., 2009). Besides surviving inside of amoebae, *Legionella* also replicates before being released into its aquatic environment (Muchesa et al., 2017; Barker et al. 1993; Cirillo et al. 1994). Once *L.pneumophila* is free in its environment from amoebae, there is altered properties, a higher capacity of virulence, and antibiotic resistance as a result of horizontal gene transfer (Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010; Barker et al. 1993; Cirillo et al. 1994).

Legionella and *Acanthamoeba* spp, *Naegleria fowleri*, and *Hartmannella vermiformis* are present in the same aquatic environments (Wang et al., 2012; Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010; Jjemba et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2019; Delafont et al., 2013). Lasheras et al., 2006 surveyed a hospital water distribution system and detected amoebae in 69% (73/106) of samples assessed and 87% (58/67) were *Legionella* species-positive samples. *Legionella pneumophila, Acanthamoeba* spp. *and Hartmanella vermiformis* have been isolated from taps, distribution water (Thomas and Ashbolt, 2011; Wang et al., 2012; Delafont et al., 2013; Lu et al., 2016) reservoirs and water treatment plants (Garcia et al., 2013; Valcina et al., 2019). In an experimental system, Anand et al., 1983 showed that *Legionella* is engulfed into amebae cells at 20°C, which is a suitable condition for *Legionella* multiplication in *Acanthamoeba palesinensis*, but at 35°C *Legionella* lyses the amoeba cell, releasing *Legionella* into the environment. An

environmental study many years later, surveyed two chlormianted drinking water distribution systems in Virginia and Florida during the spring and fall and demonstrated that *Hartmanella vermiformis* was more abundant than *Acanthamoeba* spp. in both samples, indicating that its abundance is relative to lower ambient temperature (Wang et al., 2012). Wang et al., 2012 and Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010 found a seasonal trend of the co-occurrence between amoebae and *Legionella* species. *Acanthamoeba* spp. was detected in hotter climates (summer season), and the concentration was relatively low (Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2012), while *Hartmanella vermiformis* (Wang et al., 2012) and *Naegleria fowleri* were frequently detected and the concentrations were more abundant (Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010). Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010 suggested that there is a seasonal relationship driving the interaction of *Legionella* specific amoebae. *Legionella* species co-exist with *Acanthamoeba castellanii, Acanthamoeba polyphaga, Hartmannella vermiformis*, and *Naegleria fowleri* (Dobrowsky et al., 2016 & Coşkun et al., 2013) in the drinking water supply system (Valcina et al., 2019; Muchesa et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2019).

1.6 Effect of Residual Chlorine, Temperature, Water Stagnation, and Pipe Material on *Legionella pneumophila* in Premise Plumbing Systems

Drinking water treatment plants use chlorine as one of the secondary disinfectants to inhibit the growth of microbial material (EPA, 2017). However, disinfectant residuals decay in the premise relative to the drinking water treatment plant and the water distribution systems (Bédard et al., 2018; Charron et al., 2015; Prévost et al., 1997). Water age (water residence time) is another favorable growth condition for *L. pneumophila* (Rhoads et al., 2016; Masters et al., 2015; Ambrose et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2012; Hull et al., 2017, Wang et al., 2014, Wang et al., 2015, Rhoads et al., 2020). In the case of increased water age, when the water reaches the tap, the water temperature increases in the cold-water tap and decreases in the hot-water taps (Zlatanovic et al., 2017; Moerman et al., 2014; Agudelo-Vera et al., 2020; Bédard et al., 2019). Water stagnation (water sitting in the pipes—as a direct result of low water usage patterns) significantly influence the growth of *L. pneumophila* in premise plumbing (Buse et al., 2019; Totaro et al., 2017; Ji et al., 2015; Rhoads et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2020). Pipe materials also influences the proliferation of *L. pneumophila* in premise plumbing (Proctor et al., 2017; Ji et al., 2015; Learbuch et al., 2019; Völker et al., 2016; Paniagua et al., 2020). Collectively, chlorine residual, water age, water stagnation, and pipe material are factors favoring growth of *L. pneumophila* in premise plumbing in premise plumbing the tal., 2020).

1.6.1 Effect of Residual Chlorine on *Legionella pneumophila* Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems

Chlorine is a common practice to control and prevent *L. pneumophila* amplification in drinking water systems of large buildings (EPA, 2017). The residual goal for free chlorine in the distribution systems should be between 0.2 to 0.5 mg/L (Zahran et al., 2018; Daley et al., 2017). Although free chlorine at 0.5 mg/L inactivates *L. pneumophila* in a laboratory setting (Cervero-Arago et al., 2015), this organism can still survive within the premise despite chlorine residuals (Buse et al., 2019; Donohue et al., 2019; Cervero-Arago et al., 2015; Pierre et al., 2019; Totaro et al., 2017; Lu et al., 2017; Marchesi et al., 2016). For example, *Legionella* spp. were detected in 29.8% (60/201) of hot water samples with a concentration of 3.0×102 CFU liter-1 (Marchesi et al., 2016). *Legionella pneumophila* colonized 85% of the hot water samples with residual chlorine ranging from 0.3 to 0.5 mg/L (Marchesi et al., 2016). The concentrations of *L. pneumophila* ranged from 102 to 103 (Marchesi et al., 2016).

The rising number of LD outbreaks causes concern that chlorine is not very effective in removing *L. pneumophila* from premise plumbing systems (Berjeaud et al., 2016; Declerck, 2010; Zahran et al., 2018; Rafiee et al., 2014; Hlavsa et al., 2018). Considering amoebae and biofilms serve as protection to *L. pneumophila* against chlorine disinfection in water system (Hsu et al., 2015; Kwaik et al. 1998; Marciano-Cabral 2004; Declerck 2010; Valster et al., 2009), another alternative disinfectant method should be used to eradicate its colonization throughout the whole drinking water system.

1.6.2 Effect of Temperature on *Legionella pneumophila* Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems

Water temperature is a critical factor that can increase the risk of *L. pneumophila* growth in the premise. *Legionella pneumophila* can survive in cold water temperatures for extended periods (Rogers et al., 1994; Donohue et al., 2014; Donohue et al., 2019; Lesnik et al., 2016; Valcina et al., 2019), by entering a low metabolic state (Söderberg and Cianciotto, 2010). And when environmental conditions become favorable, *L. pneumophila* will replicate (Valcina et al., 2019; Bollin et al., 1985; Hrubá et al., 2009; Borella et al., 2004; Bédard et al., 2019; Totaro et al., 2017; Rhoads et al., 2016; Brazeau and Edwards, 2013; Baron et al., 2014; Ditommaso et al., 2010; Donohue et al., 2019). As stated above, the optimal water temperature for *L.pneumophila* ranges between 25–45°C (Falkinham et al., 2015; Hrubá et al., 2009).

Water temperatures set higher than 60°C is an essential procedure for disinfecting *L. pneumophila* in engineered water systems (Stout et al., 1998; Chang et al., 2007). In a controlled experiment, Proctor et al., 2017 demonstrated how various temperatures in simulated water heaters affect the growth of *L. pneumophila*. As the temperature increased from 41°C to 45, 49, and 53°C, *L. pneumophila* gene copies decreased (Proctor et al., 2017). A surveillance

study was conducted on houses with hot water storage tanks and recirculation of hot water (Mathys et al., 2008). The range of the water heaters was 50-70°C, and the points of use (taps, etc.) water temperature ranged from 47-51°C (Mathys et al., 2008). In the recirculating hot-water tap, the concentration of *Legionella* ranged from 387-100,000 CFU/100 mL (Mathys et al., 2008). *Legionella pneumophila* positive samples accounted for 93.9% (375/400), and 71.8% (287/400) belonged to *L. pneumophila* sg1, but the exact concentrations of the species and serogroup were not disclosed (Mathys et al., 2008). Because water temperatures are lower in distal sites (Rhoads et al., 2015; Rhoads et al., 2016), it is a good practice to set the water heater temperature above 60°C to ensure water temperatures are higher than 55°C by the time the water reaches the points of use [Arvand et al., 2011; Blanc et al., 2005]). Setting the temperature in the water heater at 60°C can be effective in reducing the percentage of *Legionella* positive samples (Arvand et al., 2011; Blanc et al., 2005).

1.6.3 Effect of Water Stagnation and Water Age on *Legionella pneumophila* in Premise Plumbing Systems

Water stagnation is defined as water that sits for a long duration of time, which could be several hours to some days (Buse et al., 2019; Totaro et al., 2017; Ji et al., 2015; Rhoads et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2020; Rhoads et al., 2016; Bédard et al., 2018; Lipphaus et al., 2014). Stagnant water supports the growth of *Legionella pneumophila* (Fisher-Hoch et al., 1982; Tobin et al., 1981; Ciesielski et al., 1984; Rhoads et al., 2016). As water sits in a piping system, the disinfectant residual will dissipate over time, this allows *Legionella* to build up in the premise plumbing (Rhoads et al., 2016; Jjemba et al., 2010; Buse et al., 2019). No flow or low flow of water in pipes create dead legs, are ecological niches for *Legionella* growth (Liu et al., 2006; Totaro et al., 2017; Darelid et al., 2002). For example, stagnated water for 8hrs a day

influenced *Legionella* spp. (Ji et al., 2015). Areas with dead-legs and low use taps played a role in the colonization of *Legionella* spp. in a large hospital building (Gavaldà et al., 2019). The hot water system was sampled monthly for over eight years (Gavaldà et al., 2019). When water was infrequently used the percentage of positive samples and the concentration of *Legionella* spp. was more significant than the areas with frequently used water (Gavaldà et al., 2019). For example, when water was used daily, the percentage of *Legionella* positive samples was 54% (34/62), with 74% (46/62) of the water samples with a concentration below 10₃ CFU/L (Gavaldà et al., 2019). When water was not used daily, the percentage of *Legionella* positive samples was 75% (65/86), with 40% of the water samples with a concentration greater than 10₃ CFU/L (Gavaldà et al., 2019). This same trend was also seen when the hospital was renovated, creating dead legs (Gavaldà et al., 2019). Forty-six percent (15/32) of *Legionella* positive samples reached a concentration greater than 10₃ CFU/L. In contrast, when parts of the hospital were not renewed, 68% (80/116) of the *Legionella* positive samples was lower than 10₃ CFU/L (Gavaldà et al., 2019).

Water age (hydraulic retention time) is defined by the distance in which the water travels from the treatment plant to the points of use (Tinker et al., 2013), and this can vary from building to building. For example, the hydraulic retention time for a conventional house was ~one day, and for an office suite, it was ~1-6 months (30 to 180 days) (Rhoads et al., 2016). The concentration of *Legionella* spp. in the office was 4.58 Log10 GC/ mL, whereas, in the conventional house, it was not detected (Rhoads et al., 2016). Thus, there is evidence that increases water age influences *Legionella* pneumophila regrowth at the building level (premise-plumbing), which is downstream of the municipal level (distribution system water age).

1.6.4 Effect of Pipe Material on *Legionella Pneumophila* Growth in Premise Plumbing Systems

Different pipe material can influence the build-up of *Legionella* in premise plumbing (Proctor et al., 2017; Niedeveld et al., 1986; Rogers et al., 1994; Buse et al., 2014; Gião et al., 2015; van der Kooij et al., 2002; Learbuch et al., 2019; Schoenen et al., 1988). For example, L. pneumophila can significantly proliferate in cast iron pipes (van der Lugt et al., 2017), while the growth is intermediate in plastic piping (Buse et al., 2014; Gião et al., 2015; van der Kooij et al., 2002). In contrast, copper piping is the least favorable pipe condition for its regrowth (Rogers et al., 1994; Learbuch et al., 2019; Schoenen et al., 1988). Proctor et al., 2017 showed that copper reduces the growth of *L. pneumophila*, and cross-linked polyethylene (PEX) pipes (plastic material) significantly supported its proliferation. When copper was experimentally used, the relative abundance of L. pneumophila on the first day was 3.0 Log10 GC/ mL. By the end of the experiment (300 days), it was no longer detected (Proctor et al., 2017). When PEX was used, however, the concentration of L. pneumophila was 4.5 Log10 GC/ mL, and this remained the same throughout the experiment (Proctor et al., 2017). Copper has also resulted in less biofilm growth than plastic pipe materials (Proctor et al., 2018; van der Kooij et al., 2017). Overall, L. pneumophila growth is diminished when copper is used.

1.6.5 A Combined Effect of Chlorine, Temperature, Water Age, Water Stagnation and Pipe Material on *Legionella pneumophila*

A combination of environmental factors influences the regrowth of *Legionella pneumophila* in a water system (Proctor et al., 2017; Rhoads et al., 2016; Lehtola et al., 2005). Water age, pipe material, and disinfectant residuals interact with each other to produce different physiochemical conditions and ecological niches. Thus, the following paragraphs will focus on

the combined effects of chlorine, temperature, water age, water stagnation, and pipe material, and the combination affects *Legionella pneumophila*.

Chlorine decay is affected by many factors such as water temperature, water stagnation, water age, and pipe materials (metal or plastic) (Rhoads et al., 2016; Zheng et al., 2015; Lu et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2008; Zhang and Edwards, 2009; Liu et al., 2013; Nguyen et al., 2012). Rhoads et al., 2016 showed that the rapid rate of residual chlorine in premise plumbing was due to increased water age. Wang et al., 2012 also examined how water age influenced the residual chlorine. As the water aged, the chlorinated simulated distribution system decayed (Wang et al., 2012). Another effect on residual chlorine is copper. For example, copper interacts with dissolved organic matter in water and from this interaction, copper lowers the disinfection residual (Lehtola et al., 2005; Zheng et al., 2015; Lu et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2008; Zhang and Edwards, 2009; Liu et al., 2013; Nguyen et al., 2012). The combined effect of increased water age and copper pipe material are factors that decrease residual chlorine, and this combined effect leads to an increased *Legionella pneumophila* in water (Rhoads et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2012) (Figure 1.6.5).

Proctor et al., 2017 showed that temperature and pipe material influenced *L*. *pneumophila*. At a constant temperature (32°C), copper pipe material decreased *Legionella pneumophila* gene copies, while PEX pipe material increased its concentration (Proctor et al., 2017). *Legionella pneumophila* gene copies significantly increased when the water temperature was near its optimal range (41°C) with PEX pipes (Proctor et al., 2017). Thus, temperature and pipe material were the most effective factors affecting the growth of *L. pneumophila* (Proctor et al., 2017).

Figure 1.6.5. Combined Effects on the Amplification of *Legionella* spp.



1.7 Risk Assessment of Legionella

Legionnaires' Disease is significantly rising in the United States (Shah et al., 2018), and this is of significant concern to public health authorities and building owners, particularly hospitals. The rise in outbreaks has led to *Legionella* control guidelines from four federal agencies; CDC, EPA, OSHA, and VHA (Parr et al., 2015). These agencies provide guidance and recommendations to prevent the accumulation of *Legionella* in the building water systems but are not federally regulated. The American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air-Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE) standard 188-2018 Legionellosis: Risk Management for Building Water Systems is the only North American accredited standard (Root, 2018). However, ASHRAE is voluntary, which means a consensus approach guides implementation without regulatory authority unless incorporated into local building codes (Cotruvo et al., 2019). Yet the success of these management strategies to decrease the growth of *Legionella* has not been well documented to date. Risk assessment models are now developing for *Legionella* (Armstrong and Haas, 2008; Ahmed et al., 2010; Azuma et al., 2013; Hamilton et al., 2018; Hamilton et al., 2019; Sharaby et al., 2019; Prasad et al., 2017; Volker et al., 2016; Perinel et al., 2018; Storey et al., 2004; Pourchez et al., 2017). The focus has been on hazard identification assessment, but the exposure to address the public health risk from these bacteria has come with the most uncertainties.

1.7.1 Hazard Identification

Legionella bacteria are free-living organisms that grow in aquatic sources and also exist as intracellular organisms of freshwater amoebae (Richards et al., 2013). Legionnaires Disease is a type of pneumonia that can be severe. As describe in the introduction, LD is caused primarily by L. pneumophila, but other pathogenic Legionella species also can cause this disease. This disease affects susceptible individuals after water-related environmental aerosol exposures. Various issues are surrounding community-acquired LD. For example, the other Legionella species associated with human disease are not as well studied (Table 1.7.1.1 to 1.7.1.4) (Vaccro et al., 2016, Potts et al., 2013; Waldron et al., 2015; Siegel et al., 2010; Neiderud et al., 2013; Gobin et al., 2009; Murdoch and Chambers, 2000; Buchbinder et al., 2004; Muder and Yu, 2002). Another issue is the variability in the virulence characteristics within individual species; L. pneumophila sg1 is responsible for 70-90% of the documented cases of human disease (Brady and Sundareshan, 2018), while Legionella anisa infectivity is seen as rare (Mee-Marquet et al., 2006, Fallon and Stack, 1990). Clinical laboratories are limited in the diagnosis of nonpneumophila infections; this creates a diagnostic bias that exists in the reported cases because of the widely used urinary antigen test, which only recognizes L. pneumophila sg1 (Mercante and Winchell, 2015).

Tables 1.7.1.1 to 1.7.1.4 describe the documented cases *for Legionella anisa, Legionella longbeachae, Legionella micdadei,* and *Legionella bozemanii.*

The first case of LD caused by *Legionella anisa* in the US occurred in 1986 (Thacker et al., 1990). These documented cases are likely underestimated as *L. anisa* has been isolated from potable waters and a cooling tower since 1980 (Gorman et al., 1985). During the summer of 1986, there was a sporadic case of LD caused by *Legionella anisa*; this bacterium was detected from a diabetic patient. *Legionella anisa* was identified by a slide agglutination test (Table 1.7.1.1). Since the first documented case, *Legionella anisa* has since accounted for several LD cases (McNally et al., 2000; Yu et al., 2002; Sanchez et al., 2013). During these instances, the source of infection was unknown.

Table 1.7.1.1. Legionella anisa. Isolated from Humans Samples in the United States Since the Identification of the Genus, Legionella

Year	Peak Month	Case	Host Risk Factors	Isolation Type	Detection Method	Ref
1986	July	Sporadic	Unknown; Diabetes	Bronchoalveol ar lavage specimen of a non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus patient	Slide Agglutinin Test	Thacker et al., 1990
1992 - 1993	March	Retrospectiv e Serological Survey	Unknown; 4 cases were detected from patients with community acquired patients	Acute and convalescent sera collected from patients	Indirect immunoflu o- rescence Antibody Assay	McNall y et al., 2000
1980 - 2001	Not Specifie d	Retrospectiv e Survey of Sporadic Cases	Unknown; cases were detected from patients with community acquired patients	Respiratory Tract Specimens	Culture	Yu et al., 2002
2013	June	Retrospectiv e Detection of a Sporadic Case	Stage IV angioimmunoblast ic T-cell lymphoma	Lung Tissue	16S rRNA Gene Sequencing and Culture	Sanche z et al., 2013

In the United States, there have been documented cases of *Legionella longbeachae* infections since the early 1980s (Table 1.7.1.2). Four patients in different geographical locations were diagnosed during a similar time frame (McKinney et al., 1981), and later that year, there was another sporadic case from a pneumonia patient (Bibb et al., 1981). To date, the most recent report of *L. longbeachae* infection occurred in 2000 (Duchin et al., 2000). The cases listed in Table 1.7.1.2 are likely to be underestimated — factors explaining this is a lack of surveillance and diagnostic tools.
Table 1.7.1.2. Legionella longbeachae Isolated from Humans Samples in the United States Since the Identification of the Genus, Legionella

Year	Peak Month	Case	Host Risk Factors	Isolation Type	Detection Method	Ref
1981	Not Specified	Sporadic Case	Unknown	Respiratory Tract Specimens	Culture Method	McKinney et al., 1981
1981	June-July	Sporadic Case	Diabetes Mellitus; Heart Disease, Failure	Postmortem Lung Tissue of a Pneumonia Patient	Culture Method	Bibb et al., 1981
2000	May- June	Sporadic Case	Unknown	Patients Sputum	Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism Typing	Duchin et al., 2000

One year after the first outbreak of *L. pneumophila, L. micdadei* was identified by causing infections (Doebbeling et al., 1989). Table 1.7.1.3 details the hospital-acquired outbreaks of LD caused by *L. micdadei* (Pasculle et al., 1979; Myerowitz et al., 1979; Cordes et al., 1981; Harrington et al., 1996; Knirsch et al., 2000). *Legionella micdadei* also causes sporadic infections, and these cases (Table 1.7.1.3) have been documented since 1980 (Pasculle et al., 1980; Schwebke et al., 1990; Halberstam et al., 1992; Abernathy-Carver et al., 1994; Koch et al., 1997; Johnson and Huseby, 1997; Ernest 1998; Nzerue and Gowda, 2001; Fukuta et al., 2012; Waldron et al., 2015; Lachant and Prasad, 2015). *Legionella micdadei* is most commonly isolated from human specimens (Table 1.7.1.3). The most recent documented sporadic cases occurred in 2015 (Waldron et al., 2015; Lachant and Prasad, 2015), and its identity is still falsely identified (Waldron et al., 2015).

Table 1.7.1.3. Legionella micdadei Isolated from Humans Samples in the United States Since the Identification of the Genus, Legionella

Year	Peak Month	Case	Host Risk Factors	Isolation Type	Detection Method	Ref
1977- 1988	June- January	Outbreak	10/16 Cases were renal transplant recipients. Other cases were cancer patients (lung, breast and bladder)	Lung Tissue or Pleural Fluid	Retrospectively identified by Culture Method and DFA	Doebbeling et al., 1989
1978	October – December	Outbreak	Renal Transplant	6 Samples of Lung Tissues	Retrospectively identified by Direct Fluorescent- Antibody (DFA) Presumptively identified by DFA First studied by histologic sections of lung- biopsy	Cordes et al., 1981; Thomason et al., 1980 & Rogers et al., 1979
1979	Not Specified	Outbreak	8 Renal Transplant Patients	Lung Tissues	Culture Method & DNA Hybridization Serologic studies with an indirect fluorescent- antibody technique	Pasculle et al., 1979 & Myerowitz et al., 1979

Table 1.7.1.3. (cont'd)

198 0	Not Specifie d	Sporadic	Not Specified; Associated with human disease	Lung Tissues	Culture Method, Cellular Fatty Acid Composition, Antigenic reactivity, & Genetic Homology	Pasculle et al., 1980
199 0	June- August	Sporadic	Acute lymphocytic leukemia & Chronic myelogenous leukemia	Lung Tissue	DFA	Schwebke et al., 1990
199 2	Not Specifie d	Sporadic	Hepatosplenomeg aly	Chest Tube Specimen Collection	DFA	Halbersta m et al., 1992
199 4	Not Specifie d	Sporadic	Asthma	bronchoscopy specimen collection	Culture Method	Abernath y-Carver et al., 1994
199 5	June	Nosocomi al Outbreak	Renal and Cardiac Transplant Patients, Lacked Environmental Surveillance	Bronchoscopy	Retrospective ly identified by serologic testing or Culture Method	Knirsch et al., 2000
199 6	Not Specifie d	Outbreak at a bone marrow transplant center	Different Underlying Disease	Not Specified	DFA	Harringto n et al., 1996
199 7	Not Specifie d	Sporadic	Lupus Erythematosus AIDS	bronchoalveol ar lavage	Culture Method & DFA	Koch et al., 1997 & Johnson and Huseby, 1997

1998	Not Specified	Sporadic	type II diabetes mellitus	Surgical and bronchoscopy specimens	Culture Method & Serogrouping	Ernest 1998
2001	Not Specified	Sporadic	HIV	Broncho alveolar lavage specimen cultures	Culture Method	Nzerue and Gowda, 2001
2012	Not Specified	Sporadic	Systemic lupus erythematosus and antiphospholipid syndrome	Valve Tissue from Brain abscess	Polymerase Chain Reaction of 16S rRNA & Silver Stain	Fukuta et al., 2012
2015	Not Specified	Sporadic	Kaposi's sarcoma (KS) and precursor T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia with concurrent myelodysplastic syndrome; Hepatitis, ulcerative colitis, primary sclerosing cholangitis, and cirrhosis Patient	Lung Biopsy Tissue Collected from the patient; CT Guided Biopsy	Polymerase Chain Reaction of16S rRNA and Culture Method	Waldron et al., 2015; Lachant and Prasad, 2015

Table 1.7.1.3. (cont'd)

Legionella bozemanii is known to cause pneumonia and lung abscesses. In the documented cases detailed below (Table 1.7.1.4), L. bozemanii was described in nine sporadic cases (Bozeman et al., 1968; Thomason et al., 1979; Sober et al., 1983, Parker et al., 1983; Strampfer et al., 1986 & Brettman et al., 1986; Jaeger et al., 1988; Taylor and Albrecht 1995; Harris et al., 1998 & Miller et al., 2007) and one nosocomial outbreak (Parry et al., 1985). An environmental-water source was the cause of infection in 4 cases, three occurred from being in direct contact with L. bozemanii in its natural environment, such as freshwater or swamp water (Bozeman et al., 1968; Thomason et al., 1979; Sobel et al., 1983), and one case from an engineered water system, such as drinking water (Parry et al., 1985). The three environmental exposure cases mentioned above were from an individual's scuba diving or submerging in water. Two of the individuals did not have any underlying conditions before being infected with L. bozemanii (Bozeman et al., 1968; Sobel et al., 1983). Unfortunately, one of the healthy hosts was unable to fight off the disease due to the bacterium being unidentified and treated improperly (Bozeman et al., 1968). The outcome of the healthy patient, mentioned previously, later died (Bozeman et al., 1968). Prompt treatment with the correct antibiotics (macrolides and quinolones) cures LD if diagnosed accurately.

Table 1.7.1.4. Legionella bozemanii Isolated from Humans Samples in the United States Since the Identification of the Genus, Legionella

Year	Peak Month	Case	Host Risk Factors	Isolation Type	Detection Method	Ref
1968	Summer	Sporadic	No underlying condition	Lung Tissue	Unidentified	Bozeman et al., 1968
1979	Not Specified	Sporadic	Submersion Leukemia	Lung Tissue	Culture Method	Thomason et al., 1979
1983	June	Sporadic	No Underlying Condition	Lung Tissue	Culture Method & Indirect FA	Sobel et al., 1983
1983	Not Specified	Sporadic	Systemic lupus erythematosus	Sputum specimens	DFA	Parker et al., 1983
1983-	October-	Noscomial	Lymphoma &	Sputum	Culture	Parry et
1986	Not Specified	Sporadic	Leukopenia; Lymphoma	Not Specified	Culture Method	Strampfer et al.,1986 & Brettman et al., 1986
1985	July- August	Sporadic	Diabetes	Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid	DFA & Culture Method	Jaeger et al., 1988
1995	Not Specified	Sporadic	Hepatitis	Broncho alveolar lavage fluid and pleural fluid	Culture Method & DFA	Taylor and Albrecht 1995
1997	Not Specified	Sporadic	AIDS	Broncho alveolar lavage fluid	Culture Method	Harris et al., 1998
2007	Not Specified	Sporadic	cavitary pulmonary disease	Pulmonary Abscess Fluid	Culture Method, PCR & DNA Sequencing	Miller et al., 2007

1.7.2 Exposure Assessment

As described above in section 1.6, many factors (physiochemical) promote the growth of *Legionella*, it is critical to understand the ecological impacts on *Legionella* growth within complex premise plumbing, and how the growth of *Legionella* from the water storage tank is transported to exposure sites. The piping systems leading from the water storage tank to the distribution system, then to the taps, may allow the growth of the bacteria to certain concentrations associated with the risk of infection after it is released to aerosols. A better-described *Legionella* exposure assessment is needed, and the information could be developed into a useful tool to assess the potential exposure of all *Legionella* species, either by inhalation of aerosolized *Legionella* water droplets or aspiration of drinking *Legionella* contaminated water, from common water uses.

While there is information on percent positives of *L. bozemanii*, and *L. micdadei* in a groundwater source, water treatment plant, distribution system, and exposure sites there is no concentration data on these species (De Giglio et al., 2019; Wullings et al., 2011; Wullings and van der Kooij, 2006; Dobrowsky et al., 2016; Patterson et al., 1997; Dilger et al., 2017; Chochlakis et al., 2013; Collins et al., 2017; Gorman et al., 1985; Marrie et al., 1994; Guan et al., 2012; Thornley et al., 2017). For example, *L. bozemanii*, and *L. micdadei* were nested together, and the concentration was reported as one entity (De Giglio et al., 2019; Wullings et al., 2011; Wullings and van der Kooij, 2006; Dobrowsky et al., 2017; Gorman et al., 1985; Marrie et al., 1997; Dilger et al., 2011; Wullings and van der Kooij, 2006; Dobrowsky et al., 2017; Gorman et al., 1985; Marrie et al., 1997; Dilger et al., 2017; Chochlakis et al., 2013; Collins et al., 2017; Gorman et al., 1985; Marrie et al., 1997; Dilger et al., 2017; Chochlakis et al., 2013; Collins et al., 2017; Gorman et al., 1985; Marrie et al., 1994). Various studies used various methods such as sequencing, agglutination test, and qPCR to identify *L. bozemanii*, and *L. micdadei* (De Giglio et al., 2019; Wullings et al., 2011; Wullings and van der Kooij, 2006; Dobrowsky et al., 2016; Patterson et al., 1997; Dilger et al., 2017; Chochlakis et al., 2013; Collins et al., 2017; Gorman et al., 1985; Marrie et al., 1994).

Chochlakis et al., 2013; Collins et al., 2017; Gorman et al., 1985; Marrie et al., 1994; Guan et al., 2012). *Legionella longbeachae* was identified from an "aquatic environment," but the exact environment was not disclosed (Saint and Hot, 1999). Nevertheless, the concentration was 4000 CFU/L (Saint and Hot, 1999). *Legionella anisa* was isolated from a hospital in France, and the concentration was 170-180 CFU/mL (Mee-Marquet et al., 2006) (Table 1.7.2). Overall, *Legionella* species that cause LD have not been characterized by the occurrence and concentration.

Table 1.7.2. Examples of Pathogenic Legionella Species Distributed in the Water Source and the Built Environment

Organism in Each	Concentration	Country Species	Reference	
vvalet System	Croundy	Tuentineu		
	Grounu	water Source		
<i>Legionella</i> spp.	300-50000 CFU/L	Italy	De Giglio et al., 2019;	
L. pneumophila	100 CFU/L	United States	Brooks et al., 2004; De Giglio et al., 2019	
,	Treated water (Post	t water treatment pla	nt)	
T . 1	1100-17000			
Legionella spp.	CE/L	Netherlands	wullings et al., 2006	
L. pneumophila	290 CE/L	Netherlands	Wullings et al., 2011	
	Distribu	ition System		
T · 11	78,000 copies	United States and	W. 1 / 1 2010	
Legionella spp.	cm-2	Norway	Waak et al., 2018	
L. pneumophila	3000 GC/L	Paris	Perrin et al., 2019	
	Expo	osure Site		
	(Shower, Taps,	, or Cooling Tower)		
Legionella spp.	100,000 CFU/L	Greece	Papadakis et al. 2018	
L. anisa	4000 CFU/L	France	Mee-Marquet et al., 2006	
L. pneumophila	13,000 CFU/L	Netherlands	Walraven et al., 2016	
	170-180			
L. longbeachae sg1	CFU/mL	New Zealand	Saint and Hot, 1999	

Each species could vary in occurrence and concentration within a drinking water system, and their virulence characteristics could also differ within individual species, but there are very little data that have addressed this. There is emerging information that suggests that the internalization of L. pneumophila into Acanthamoeba castellanii enhances virulence (Barker et al. 1993; Cirillo et al. 1994). Legionella species also are able to persist in drinking water facilities, distribution systems, and within the different premise plumbing systems because of the intracellular forms in protozoan symbionts and ability to colonize biofilms (Bertelli et al., 2018; Rasch et al., 2016; Shaheen et al., 2019; Lu et al., 2015; Dupuy et al., 2011; Buse et al., 2017. Resistance to chlorine disinfection has also been noted (Buse et al., 2019; Canals et al., 2015; Cooper and Hanlon, 2010; Storey et al., 2004; Thomas et al., 2004). Chlorine disinfection residual, as a secondary water treatment standard, may become ineffective downstream in the premise plumbing system (Vargas et al., 2019; Wang et a., 2014; Zheng et al., 2015; Sheikhi et al., 2014; Al-Jasser, 2007). Once the water reaches downstream into the premise plumbing system, biofilms can also travel with the bulk water due to hydraulic pressures (Tsvetanova, 2019; Chan et al., 2019; Fish et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2018). Hydraulic pressures dislodge the biofilms from the pipe surface upstream (distribution system), causing a release of *Legionella* spp. into the drinking water (Jjemba et al., 2015; Makris et al., 2013; Ingerson-Mahar et al., 2013; Douterelo et al., 2013; Pinto et al., 2012).

1.7.3 Ecological Factors Impacting Legionella Growth

As mentioned above, at least two critical environmental factors that increase the risk of LD, are the biofilm and free-living amoebae associated-*Legionella* species. *Legionella* spp. can colonize the distribution systems, faucets, showerheads, and solid surfaces of cooling towers, and in these environments form biofilms. The biofilm is composed of *Legionella* spp., *Pseudomonas*

spp., (Moritz et al., 2010; Stewart et al., 2012; Mampel et al., 2006; Vervaeren et al., 2006) *Mycobacterium, E. coli, Klebsiella* spp., and other organisms such as free-living protozoa (amoebae) (Bagh et al., 2004, Wingender and Flemming, 2004, Payment and Robertson, 2004, Rakic et al., 2012). The specific species of amoeba and their relative abundance also help to determine the growth of *Legionella* spp. within the biofilm (Abu Khweek and Amer, 2018, Stewart et al., 2012; Mampel et al., 2006; Vervaeren et al., 2006; Guerrieri et al., 2008). The rate of biofilm growth also correlates with the physicochemical properties of the water, such as temperature, pH, hardness, organic materials, nutrients, residual disinfection concentrations, and heavy metals (Rakic et al., 2012; Oder et al., 2015; Buse et al., 2017; Lu et al., 2017; Gião et al., 2010; Abdel-Nour et al., 2013).

Water temperatures (20-45C), increased water age, the presence of sediments, and declined water usage promote the growth of *Legionella* species in the water supply system (Qin et al., 2017; Flemming et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2014; Lu et al., 2015; Stout et al., 1985; Stout et al., 1985). Water flow velocity, corrosion of distribution system pipes, and pipe fittings also promote the growth of *Legionella* (Rakic et al., 2012; Lu et al., 2014; Stewart et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2006; Rhoads et al., 2017; Ward et al., 2010; Halabi et al., 2001).

1.7.4 Water Stagnation

Within commercial buildings, the water becomes stagnant in some pipes (faucet and floor dependent) throughout the day, depending on use (Rhoads et al., 2016). When water sits, the stagnated areas in the piping system support biofilm growth, and the water temperature increase (Buse et al., 2019; Sing and Coogan, 2005; Liu et al., 2006; Stout et al., 1985) thus affecting the bacterial growth. Also, as water sits in a piping system, the disinfectant residual will dissipate

over time, this also allows *Legionella* to grow in the premise plumbing (Tesauro et al., 2010; Lu et al., 2014).

1.7.5 Water Age

Stagnation is also related to water age, which is the time the water spends in pipes (distribution and premise plumbing) post-treatment. The most significant contributors to water age are the size of the drinking water system and the storage design. Drinking water systems are designed in such a way to accommodate future water needs; thus, these systems are made with large pipes and storage facilities (Lu et al., 2014; Peter and Routledge, 2018; Lu et al., 2015; Qin et al., 201). Water storage tanks have significant impacts on water quality, such as chemical and biological issues (Lu et al., 2014; Peter and Routledge, 2018; Lu et al., 2015; Qin et al., 201) with oversized storage facilities resulting in longer detention times, loss of chlorine residual, and other water quality concerns (Peter and Routledge, 2018; Lu et al., 2014 and Lu et al., 2015). Water age contributes to water quality deterioration by the interaction of pipe and/or tank material and water/chemical reactions (natural organic material and chlorine) (EPA, 2002). Rhoads et al., 2016 showed that water age impacts the chemical (corrosion of pipe materials) and bacteriological (microbial growth) quality of drinking water in building plumbing systems. A water system with a high-water age significantly decays disinfectant residuals in premise plumbing systems (Rhoads et al., 2016). The concentration of *Legionella* spp. was higher in buildings with a high-water age (Rhoads et al., 2016).

1.7.6 Risk Estimates via Various Routes of Exposure

Quantitative Microbial Risk Assessment (QMRA) has been used to estimate risks of LD, where the computed calculation has corresponded to the actual risk associated with exposure to *Legionella*-contained-aerosols from contaminated whirlpools and spas (Armstrong and Haas,

2007). Armstrong and Haas, 2007 used guinea pig models to represent the human dose-response models for *L. pneumophila* exposure from concentrations found in spas and showed that the mortality projections from the exponential model indicated one in 10,000 risks at a retained dose of approximately one CFU.

Another QMRA predicted LD risk associated with exposure to *Legionella* aerosols from contaminated residential bathrooms (Azuma et al., 2013). QMRA was adequate to calculate a LD outbreak that sporadically occurred in bathrooms in condominiums (Azuma et al., 2013). Based on the inhalation exposure model, the infectivity and mortality risk levels yearly were 1 in 100 and 1 in 100,000, respectively (Azuma et al., 2013) (Table 1.7.6).

Several studies have aimed to develop a *Legionella* quantitative risk assessment analysis for reclaimed water aerosols (Hamilton et al., 2018), potable and non-potable uses of roofharvested rainwater (Hamilton et al., 2017; Ahmed et al., 2010), spa outbreaks (Armstrong and Haas, 2007; Armstrong et al., 2007), distribution water systems (Storey et al., 2004), indoor residential water uses (Hamilton et al., 2019), recreational and garden areas of hotels (Papadakis et al., 2018), greywater reuse (Blanky et al., 2017), municipal drinking water (Kool et al., 1999) and a drinking water supply system (Sharaby et al., 2019).

Hamilton et al., 2018 presented a Legionnaires' Disease QMRA model to explore the exposure risks of *Legionella* in water systems that use reclaimed water for toilet flushing and cooling towers. Multiple toilet types were analyzed, and the toilet flushing annual infection risks ranged from $4.08 \times 10{-4}$ to $2.72 \times 10{-2}$ CFU/L for culture-based and $2.23 \times 10{-2}$ to $7.41 \times 10{-1}$ GC/L for qPCR (Hamilton et al., 2018), but the clinical severity infection (CSI) risks for either technique did not exceed those values. The CSI risks were estimated at $4.60 \times 10{-7}$ to $2.58 \times 10{-5}$ CFU/L for culture and $2.70 \times 10{-5}$ to $1.38 \times 10{-3}$ GC/L for qPCR. The second factor

that affected the outcomes of the infection risk models was the cooling tower circulating water flow rate, followed by the dose-response parameter, and cooling tower drift efficiency (Hamilton et al., 2018). Hamilton et al., 2018 suggested that the annual infection risk level should be set to 1 in 10,000 people for cooling towers (Table 1.7.6).

Another study surveyed three toilet faucets and two showerheads in Israel for three years to detect the prevalence of *Legionella* (Sharaby et al., 2019). Sharaby et al., 2019 utilized a disease burden measurement (Disability-Adjusted Life Years index) to express the data. Their results revealed that the annual risk levels for toilet faucets were 5.52×10^{-4} DALY'S per person per year, and the showers were 2.37×10^{-3} DALY'S per person per year. The risk levels increased from June to December and decreased towards the end of December to March due to the changes in *Legionella* concentrations. QMRA results revealed that the summer months were the highest seasonal infection risk values for both faucets, 8.09×10^{-4} DALY'S per person per year and showers, 2.75×10^{-3} DALY'S per person per year (Table 1.7.6). Overall, Sharaby et al., 2019 concluded that faucets and showers associated with *Legionella* contamination possess a higher infection risk in the summer and autumn months.

Storey et al., 2004 has assessed the risk of *L. erythya* and *L. pneumophila* from a laboratory-scale distribution system. Storey et al., 2004 evaluated the efficacy of disinfection methods (chlorine and thermal) against *Legionella* spp. Total chlorine residuals of 2 mg/L reduced the risk of infection by 2.5 logs relative to 5 mg/L of free chlorine. Thermal disinfection at 80°C was the most effective means of reducing (8-log reduction) risk from *L. erythya* and *L. pneumophila* (Storey et al., 2004). Although risk models have been developed for *Legionella*, a model that accurately describes *Legionella* within premise plumbing is currently lacking

T-11.17(E1. C	(A	Deline of Her
Table 1./.0.	Example S	lucies Focus	ing on Kisk	Assessment at	Point of Use

Aerosol Exposure Pathway and Exposure Duration	Exposed Population	Measurement Method	Infection Risk	Ref
Toilet Flushing; 1-5 Min/Flush	Residential	Culture EMA-qPCR qPCR	4.08 x 10-4 CFU/L 5.69 x 10-2 GC/L 2.23 x 10-2 GC/L	Hamilton et al., 2018
Bathtub; 21 min	Residential	Culture	2.0 x 10-3 CFU/100mL	Azuma et al., 2013
Shower; 18.3 exposure events/yr	Residential	qPCR	3.0 x 10-2 to 8.6 x 10-2 GC/L	Ahmed et al., 2010
Hosing; 5.2 exposure events/yr	Residential	qPCR	1.8 x 10-2 to 5.1 x 10-2 GC/L	Ahmed et al., 2010
Toilets; 2 min 48 sec/wk Showers; 49 min/wk	College campus area	Culture	8.09 x 10-4 2.75 x 10-3 CFU/L	Sharaby et al., 2019

1.7.7 Human Exposure via Cooling Towers

The largest LD outbreaks have been associated with cooling towers with 213 to ~800 cases (Fitzhenry et al., 2017; Garcia et al., 2003; Shivaji et al., 2014; Levesque et al., 2012; Bennett et al., 2014; Castilla et al., 2008; Weiss et al., 2017). In the United States, 62% of LD cases occur during the summer, when commercial air conditioning systems associated with cooling towers are most needed for the warmer weather (MMWR, 2011). An estimated 28% of sporadic LD documented cases are caused by emissions from cooling towers (Fitzhenry et al., 2017; Bhopal et al., 1991). In a cooling tower associated with an outbreak, the reported numbers of *Legionella* exceed 1000 CFU/mL (Fitzhenry et al., 2017).

There are various guidelines and regulations for the control of microorganisms in cooling tower systems. For example, in 2016, New York City and the State of New York created an ordinance (10 New York Codes of Rules and Regulations Part 4 "Protection against Legionella") to decrease the contamination of *Legionella* in cooling towers (New York State Department of Health). These regulations require the building owner to register the cooling tower, routine sample (every three months) for *Legionella*, monitor physiochemical and microbial parameters three times per week and follow the ASHRAE 188 standard. Concerning routine sampling, a sample result above 10s to 106 CFU/L from cooling towers is indicative of amplification; in this case, remediation needs to take place (American Industrial Hygiene Association, 2015). Cooling towers are widely used devices, which produce large volumes of aerosols that can disseminate over long distances (Ferré et al., 2009; Türetgen et al., 2005). Therefore, it is critical to identify the cooling towers that are contaminated with *Legionella*; this will help mitigate the exposure pathway and the number of people exposed.

1.7.8 Detection Methods

The sample collection depends on the environmental source. For drinking water systems and cooling towers, water samples are collected using sodium thiosulfate (1 ml of 10% sodium thiosulfate per 1L) to neutralize chlorine residuals. For drinking water, 1-1L of water should be collected from the faucet into a sterile bottle, and the sample should be processed from the concentrate. One of the sites of collected into a sterile bottle, and the sample collected make-up water. One 1L of bulk water should be collected into a sterile bottle, and the sample can be processed directly after sample collection (CDC, 2019).

The requirement for sample processing depends on the properties of the environmental source. The microbial composition in drinking water systems is less complex than cooling

towers. Thus, the sample techniques are different (Joly et al., 2006; Steele et al., 1990). For drinking water systems, the samples have to be ultra-filtered to concentrate the water to ensure that the microbial material will be detected. In comparison, samples from cooling towers require heat treatment (50°C) to reduce the microbial composition and abundance (Bopp et al., 1981; Leoni and Legnani 2001; Robers et al., 1987).

The culture technique is the 'gold standard' for the detection of *Legionella* spp. The most commonly used media is the Buffered Charcoal Yeast Extract (BCYE) Agar for the growth of *Legionella* spp. and it is made up of many supplements, amino acids, and trace elements (Pine et al., 1979; Reeves et al., 1981; Warren and Miller, 1979; Feeley et al.; 1979; Pendland et al., 1997; Roberts et al., 1987; Ta et al., 1995). The specific additions are L-Cysteine (essential amino acid for *Legionella* spp.), activated charcoal (decompose the toxic hydrogen periodxide), Ferric Pyrophosphate (iron source), 0.1% a-ketoglutarate monopotassium salt (stimulate *Legionella* growth), vancomycin, polymyxin B and cycloheximide (antimicrobial molecules to reduce the growth of competing bacteria). However, buffered charcoal yeast extract was designed to detect *L. pneumophila* samples; for that reason, this occasionally gives false-negative results for other *Legionella* species, for ex: *L. micdadei* and *L. longbeachae* (de Bruin et al., 2018). But the addition of albumin (1%) enhances the recovery and growth of some species (Morrill et al., 1990).

For the detection of *Legionella* spp., the environmental water samples go through an acid shock to reduce the interference of microbial flora before culturing (Bopp et al., 1981). After processing of the sample, (as described above), it is then diluted into an HCl-KCl buffer (pH 2.2) and incubated for 15 minutes; it is then placed into a 5% CO₂ incubator at 35°C for three to five days.

Cultivation is the primary approach for environmental surveillance; however, the rates of recovery of *Legionella* spp. using culture methods are low (Villaria et al., 1998). The presence of the viable but non-culturable *Legionella* spp., and the growth of other microorganisms, which inhibits the growth of *Legionella* spp. (Bopp et al., 1981; Shih and Lin, 2006), create barriers to the enumeration of *Legionella*. spp. When culturable, the slow growth rate of *Legionella* leads to plate overgrowth by competing organisms (with a rapid generation time). These challenges (described previously) creates a consequence of reporting false negatives for sporadic, or an outbreak case/s. Furthermore, the reduction of *Legionella* spp. (by competing bacteria) can lead to underreporting of the concentration of these species (Alary and Joly, 1992; Bopp et al., 1981; Steele, 1990).

Polymerase Chain Reaction methods (qPCR and ddPCR) are rapid, sensitive and specific for all known strains of *Legionella* when using 5S, 16S 18S, or 23S rRNA primers in environmental and clinical samples (Joly et al., 2006; Behets et al., 2007; Dusserre et al., 2008; Wellinghausen et al., 2001; Yaradou et al., 2007; Gruas et al., 2014; Merault et al., 2011; Benitez et al., 2013). PCR -based methods can detect *Legionella* cells in a viable non-culturable state, low levels of target DNA, and cells living within amoebae (Ng et al., 1997; Bates et al., 2000; Ditommaso et al., 2014).

Concerning PCR-based methods, researchers' have developed ways to detect viable cells using intercalating dyes: propidium monoazide (PMA) and ethidium monazide (EMA) (Chang et al., 2010; Ditommaso et al., 2014; Ditommaso et al., 2015; Ditommaso et al., 2016). Pretreatment with PMA and EMA enables amplification of viable cells, and when exposed to light, these dyes bind to DNA that is not protected by a cell membrane; thereby preventing the amplification of this form (dead cells) of DNA (Chang et al., 2010; Delgado et al., 2009; Nocker

et al., 2006; Chiao et al., 2014; Fittipaldi et al., 2011). Thus, the enumeration of DNA is from intact, viable DNA (Flekna et al., 2007; Kobayashi et al., 2009).

Several researchers have utilized the viability PCR technique. Propidium monoazideqPCR using the 5S rRNA gene of total *Legionella* spp. detected this genus in 100% (86/86) of the dental unit water line and tap samples, while the culture method only detected 7% (6/86) of the samples (Ditommaso et al., 2016). The concentration of the positive samples using PCR ranged from 10² to 10⁶ GU/L, whereas the concentration of the culture-positive samples was mostly 10² CFU/L, but one water sample was 10³ CFU/L (Ditommaso et al., 2016). Studies mentioned above demonstrated that viability PCR eliminated the background noise of dead cells and VBNC just by including PMA and EMA treatment.

The rate of recovery *Legionella* in previous studies varied depending on the analytical method used. When using the culture method, the detection of *Legionella* is generally always lower (Ditommaso et al., 2016). Whereas, when utilizing a PCR-based method, there is a 100% detection rate of the samples for *Legionella* spp. (Ditommaso et al., 2014; Ditommaso et al., 2016).

1.8 Current Understanding of Legionella

Since the discovery of *Legionella pneumophila* in 1977, the majority of LD cases have been found outside North America (Beaute et al., 2017; Garrison et al., 2016). However, the primary source of outbreaks of the waterborne disease of *Legionella* is not well understood. Recent reports suggest there to be sources other than cooling towers. In 2015, in New Jersey, there was an outbreak of *Legionella*, but there were not any cooling towers to explain the in potable water (Cohn et al., 2015). A *Legionella* outbreak in Flint, Michigan was also linked to

drinking water, as this outbreak resulted from corrosion in the distribution system (Schkwake et al., 2016).

There has been limited research done on the occurrence of *Legionella* in a drinking water supply system served by groundwater (Valcina et al., 2019). There is an assumption that systems served by groundwaters will have fewer *Legionella* species. Table 1.8 shows the current research that has been done on *Legionella* spp. (genus level) or specifically *L. pneumophila* from a groundwater source, yet, there is still a critical need to investigate various pathogenic *Legionella* species such as *L. bozemanii*, *L. anisa*, *L. micdadei*, and *L. longbeachae*—as they also cause LD. Thus, we aim to investigate the species the covers the most incidence of LD by exploring the microbial content in a complete drinking water supply system served by a groundwater source in the US.

Table 1.8 Research on Groundwater and *Legionella*. Abbreviations: GW, Groundwater; SW. Surface Water; DWDS, Drinking Water Distribution System; SG1. Serogroup 1; DW, Drinking Water

Research Results	Survey	Year	Location	Reference
Compared GW to Municipal and GW contains pathogenic bacteria	Survey	2018	USA	Richards et al., 2018
Microbial communities in water samples are different among service areas within DWDS	Survey	2018	USA	Gomez-Alvarez et al., 2018
Found a new automated system to reduce variability over long periods of time when comparing SW, GW and Cooling towers	Survey	2012	USA	Leskinen et al., 2012
Causes of DW outbreaks are from untreated or improperly treated GW & Legionella	Survey	2010	USA	Craun et al., 2010
Saw an association of WB outbreaks associated with GW from private non-community wells between 2001-2002	Survey	2004	USA/Canada	Blackbum ett al., 2004
Showed that <i>Legionella</i> was found in cold and hot GW samples around the United States	Survey	2004	USA	Brooks et al., 2004

CHAPTER TWO

ENUMERATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF FIVE PATHOGENIC LEGIONELLA SPECIES FROM LARGE RESEARCH AND EDUCATIONAL BUILDINGS

2.1 Abstract

A study on the occurrence of five Legionella species in five different large buildings (BPS, ERC, F, FH, and M) was undertaken during two seasons (late summer (August-September) and early winter (January)). A total of 37 large-volume samples (influents to the buildings and exposure sites (taps)) were collected and analyzed using droplet digitalTM PCR (ddPCRTM). Legionella spp. (23S rRNA) were present in all water samples during both seasons. The majority (66%) of the exposure sites (bathroom taps) over the two seasons were positive for at least one target Legionella species (L. pneumophila, L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii, or L. *longbeachae*). During the summer season, the percent positives for the target *Legionella* species, found in the influents of the ERC and BPS buildings were 80 and 40%, respectively, while 20% of the pathogenic species were positive at exposure sites in three buildings (F, FH, and ERC). During the winter season, the percent positives for any one of the pathogenic *Legionella* species at the hot-water taps was 80% in building F and 40% in BPS, M, FH, and ERC. In the cold-water taps, the percentage of pathogenic Legionella positive samples were 40% in F, BPS, M, and 20% in FH. In the hot-water taps, the percentage of pathogenic *Legionella* positive samples were 40% in all five buildings. Legionella pneumophila and L. longbeachae were found in the highest concentrations (2.0 Log10 Gene Copies (GC)/100 mL) at the hot-water taps in buildings F and ERC, respectively. General *Legionella* spp. concentrations increased in the winter season suggested that lower water usage (lower occupancy and no use of cooling towers, lead to more water stagnation or time in the system) played a role in the occurrence of *Legionella* spp. in the various buildings. Exposure to Legionella spp. at the tap (cold and hot) warrants further exploration through a quantitative microbial risk assessment for different pathogenic Legionella species.

2.2 Significance of Importance

Legionella pneumophila is the causative agent responsible for Legionnaires' disease (LD) —a severe life-threatening respiratory infection. Reports of LD cases and outbreaks have been linked to drinking water systems of large, complex buildings. Drinking water systems are an important amplifier source for general *Legionella* species—some key factors that affect the amplification in the water column in a building are low disinfectant residuals, low water use, and increased water age. However, due to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2019) sampling strategy (collecting 1-L of sample and using the culture method), low levels of Legionella from building water systems may go undetected. A large volume sample (10-L) was collected from the buildings' influents and at the points of use (e.g., taps) from five large buildings; this study evaluated five pathogenic Legionella species: L. pneumophila, L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii, and L. longbeachae along with a general Legionella spp. target (23s rRNA) using ddPCR. Legionella pneumophila, L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii, and L. longbeachae were identified in the buildings' water system (taps) at concentrations that ranged from 1.4 to 2.0 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL. These results demonstrate that non-pneumophila Legionella spp. are present in the water column of the buildings' water systems and can be detected at low concentrations (101 Log10 GC/100 mL) using ddPCR. Overall, examining the building's points of use for each floor (collecting 10-L composite sample) instead of individual points of use (collecting 1-L per tap) allows for the detection of pathogenic Legionella spp. in buildings' water systems.

2.3 Introduction

Legionella spp. are gram-negative, opportunistic waterborne pathogens that reside in premise plumbing (i.e., building) as well as other engineered water systems. *Legionella*

pneumophila is the etiologic agent responsible for most LD with other species identified less frequently causing severe pneumonia and the less-studied Pontiac Fever (an acute, but generally milder set of cold-like signs and symptoms (as reviewed by Pierre et al., 2017). *Legionella* naturally colonizes freshwater and groundwater environments, as well as engineered systems including cooling towers, air conditioners, hot tubs, taps, and showers (Farhat et al., 2012; Donohue et al., 2014). *Legionella* infections are acquired via inhalation of aerosols and air droplets generated from these structures containing the bacteria (as reviewed by Prussin et al., 2017). The first recognized outbreak of LD, caused by *Legionella pneumophila*, occurred in 1976 (Fraser et al., 1977). In the United States (US), LD prevalence has increased significantly since 2000, and in 2018 there were approximately 10,000 reported cases (CDC, 2018). *Legionella* species are difficult to assess and control in the drinking water system because they survive in the biofilm on the surface of the pipes and within amoebae hosts (Nishida et al., 2019; Gomes et al., 2020). The difficulty in assessing and controlling *Legionella* species makes these bacteria and their associated diseases a paramount public health concern.

Many outbreaks of LD occur at the community level, as was the case in Flint, Michigan between 2014 and 2015 when Michigan saw a 375% increase in cases, most of which were part of the Flint outbreak (Smith et al., 2019; Michigan Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). During the 2014-2015 Flint outbreak, it was suggested that there were multiple sources of exposure, including the hospital water system, water at home (showers or taps), and residential proximity to cooling towers (Smith et al., 2019). Although the LD outbreak during the water crisis in Flint, Michigan, was the largest in the state, there has been an increased number of cases statewide from 2000 to 2016 (Michigan Department of Health and Human Services, 2018).

Legionella pneumophila, serogroup 1 is the most often diagnosed agent accounting for 90% of identified LD pneumonia cases, perhaps due to the restriction of the urinary antigen test (Beer et al., 2015; Shachor-Meyouhas et al., 2010; Cheng et al., 2012; Haupt et al., 2012; Jarraud et al., 2013). In recent years, other Legionella species found in drinking water have also been identified in about 10% of cases (Foissac et al., 2019; Chakeri et al., 2019; Dilger et al., 2017; Stallworth et al., 2012; Svarrer and Uldam, 2012; Cameron et al., 2016; Isenman et al., 2016; Vaccaro et al., 2016). Legionella micdadei, L. bozmanii, L. longbeachae, and L. anisa have been isolated from human patients (Yu et al., 2002; Beaute et al., 2013). There have been five drinking water outbreaks caused by L. micdadei, (Craun et al., 2010; Best et al., 1983; Knirsch et al., 2000; Doebbeling et al., 1989; Harrington et al., 1996; Pasculle et al., 1980; Myerowitz et al., 1979; Rogers et al., 1979), one by L. bozemanii (Parry et al., 1985) and two by L. anisa (Craun et al., 2010) in the US. To date, there have not been any reports of L. longbeachae related infections associated with building water systems in the US, but there have been outbreaks in Australia (Broadbent, 1996; Grove et al., 2002). In Australia, Legionella infections are commonly caused by *L. longbeachae*, and one of the exposure pathways is from potting mixes and compost (Steele et al., 1990).

The majority of reported LD outbreaks have occurred in large complex plumbing systems, which are used in hospitals and healthcare facilities (Garrison et al., 2016). However, 97% of LD cases are sporadic infections (Hilborn et al., 2013), for which the environmental source of exposure is usually unknown. The National Academies report on "Management of *Legionella* in Water Systems" (2019) stated that for every one outbreak case, there are nine more sporadic cases (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2020). Despite a substantial amount of research on the molecular virulence mechanisms and ecology of

Legionella, annual incidence rates of the disease continue to rise along with great uncertainty on how to control the colonization of water systems.

Currently, only a few studies have simultaneously characterized multiple pathogenic Legionella species (L. anisa, L.micdadei, L. bozemanii, and L. longbeachae) in utility drinking water systems (Wullings et al., 2011, Wullings and van der Kooij, 2006) and in drinking water systems (Fleres et al., 2018; Dilger et al., 2017; Fiume et al., 2005; Lesnik et al., 2016). Legionella bozemani, L. dumoffii, L. longbeachae, L. anisa, L. moravica, L. parisiensis, L.brunensis, L. londinensis, and L. hackeliae, among many others, have been detected in water samples collected from hospitals in Italy (Fiume et al., 2005), warm water systems in Germany (Dilger et al., 2017), and in utility drinking water systems in the Netherlands (Wullings et al., 2011, Wullings and van der Kooij, 2006). In 2016, Lesnik et al. found L. pneumophila, L. longbeachae, L. worsleiensis, L. anisa, and L. dumoffii, (among many others) from source water to the cold- and hot-water taps in Germany using genus-specific PCR amplicons (16S rRNA) and single-strand conformation polymorphism fingerprint analyses. Legionella anisa was detected in the Netherlands in three of four dental care units (75%) at a concentration of 1×102 CFU/mL using the Dutch Legionella standard culture technique and was identified by whole-genome sequencing (MALDI-TOF) (Fleres et al., 2018).

The goals of this study were to quantify the concentrations of general *Legionella* spp., *L. pneumophila, L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii, and L. longbeachae* in a drinking water system in the premise plumbing system of five large research, classroom, and office buildings (all utilizing the same water source) at the influent and taps. Utilizing droplet digital PCR, this study addressed the following objectives (i) characterization and quantification of *L. pneumophila, L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii,* and *L. longbeachae* in the drinking water

along with changes in chemical/physical water quality parameters in the influent and points of use of each building, (ii) exploration of the associations of *Legionella* species with respect to temperature, chlorine, conductivity, pH, and heterotrophic plate count (HPC), and (iii) assessment of whether there were differences between two sampling periods of the year (August and September, and January) for five pathogenic *Legionella* species. The quantitative data presented in this study should improve quantitative risk assessment of various specific pathogenic *Legionella* species within a drinking water system.

2.4 Materials and Methods

2.4.1 Site Location and Sampling

Water samples were collected during two seasons (Summer 2018 and Winter 2019) from five buildings (F, BPS, M, FH, and ERC) on a large research institution of higher education. Sample collection was conducted on August 13th and 27th, September 4th, 2018, and January 7th-9th, 14th, and 15th, 2019. This included research buildings F, ERC, and BPS, as well as buildings FH and M containing offices and classrooms. Building age, water use, and distance from the reservoir are shown in Table 2.4.1. The buildings are listed based on its pipe mileage from the effluent reservoir. Each influent sample was collected at the most accessible sampling port on each building's influent pipe with the exception of ERC. The ERC influent sampling port was inaccessible; thus, it was decided to sample the nearest valve to the influent pipe, which was an eye-wash station in the mechanical room where the influent pipe entered the building. Point of use sampling locations for each building included cold- and hot-water taps (sink faucets and showerheads) located in bathrooms, locker rooms, and breakrooms. All sinks described below were used for sample collection. Building F had two floors, with two sinks on the first floor and three sinks on the second floor; BPS had six floors, with 20 sinks on the first floor and four sinks on the sixth floor; M had two floors, with four sinks on the first floor and two sinks on the second floor; FH had two floors, with 17 sinks on the first floor and ten sinks on the second floor; ERC had one floor, with 11 sinks and two showers.

For influent samples, 10 L were collected from each building's influent sampling location. For tap samples, a large-volume (10 L) composite sample was collected to evaluate the water quality of each building's taps rather than the quality of individual taps. The first flush with equal total volumes from each tap was collected and composited into 10 L for the first floor and top floor, respectively. For the summer approach, a cold- and hot-water composite sample was collected to evaluate and compare the water quality on the first and top floors, separately. During the summer sampling, a total of three 10-L samples were collected from each building (influent, first floor taps, and top floor taps). For the winter approach, the cold- and hot-water taps were collected as separate samples to evaluate and compare the water quality of the coldwater taps and the hot-water taps on the first and top floor, respectively. For the winter sampling event, a total of five 10-L samples were collected per building, one influent, one cold- and one hot-water sample from the first and top floor, respectively. The one exception was building ERC, which only had one floor, where three 10-L samples were collected. The volume collected from each tap that was composited was determined by the number of taps on each floor. Table 2.4.1 shows the number of taps and the volume collected to construct the composite samples during the summer and winter. All samples were collected in carboys (influent and tap samples) with 10% sodium thiosulfate to neutralize residual chlorine. Temperature and chlorine were recorded from each tap to examine the variation by tap and by floor.

Table 2.4.1. Building and Sampling Site Information for Summer (August 13th and 27th and September 4th, 2018) and Winter (January 7th, 8th ,9th ,14th and 15th, 2019). The Buildings are Listed Based on Their Increasing of Distance from the Water Source

Buildinga (Construction Year) and Pipe Material	Volume of Water Used Geomean per Month (5-year Average) Consumption (KGAL)	Distance from Reservoir (Km)	Building Size (m2)	Floors Sampled (# of Floors)	# of Taps	Volumeb of Water Collected from each Tap (L) (Summer) Winterc
F (1948) 75% Galvanized 25% Copper	45.7	4.7	7,118	First Second	4 6	(2.5) 5 (1.67) 3.33
BPS (2001) 50% Galvanized 50 % Copper	1,634	6.8	35,045	First Sixth	40 8	(0.5) 0.25 (2.5)1.2
M (1940) 90% Galvanized 10% Copper	75.3	9.6	5,926	First Second	8 4	(2.5) 1.25 (5) 2.5
FH (1964) 50% Galvanized 50% Copper	86.5	10.2	36,057	First Second	34 20	(0.5) 0.29 (1) 0.5
ERC (1986) 50% Galvanized 50% Copper	195.1	19.4	11,896	First	26	(0.77) 0.38

^a10-L composite sample were collected from all buildings; the volume of water from each tap was dependent upon the number of taps per floor per building. ^b For the summer event, hot and cold composite samples were collected as one 10-L sample from each building per floor. ^c Single faucet fixtures with two taps (¹/₂ were cold and the other ¹/₂ were hot water pipes). For the winter event, hot and cold composite samples were separated so that two 10-L samples were collected per floor.

2.4.2 Chemical-Physical Analysis

A 100-mL sample was collected for conductivity, pH, and turbidity analyses. Temperature and residual chlorine (total and free) were measured onsite. Chlorine was measured using the Test Kit Pocket Colorimeter II (HACH®, CO, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Conductivity, pH, and turbidity were measured offsite at the laboratory according to the manufacturers' instructions using a Russell RL060C Portable Conductivity Meter (Thermo Scientific, MA, USA), UltraBasic pH meter (Denver Instrument, NY, USA), and a Turbidity Meter code 1970-EPA (LaMottee Company, MD, USA).

2.4.3 Microbiological Analysis

All samples were transported on ice to the laboratory and preserved at 4°C until processed. While the on-campus water utility tests for coliform bacteria on a routine basis, all samples collected for this study were tested according to the standard methods for coliform bacteria and *E. coli* using Colilert (IDEXX Laboratories, ME, USA) as well as with heterotrophic plate count (HPC) analyses using membrane filters (47 mm diameter, 0.45 µm pore size) (PALL Corporation, NY, USA) on m-HPC agar (Becton, Dickinson and Company, Difcotm, MI, USA), incubated for 48 ± 2 h at 35-37_oC, then enumerated for colony-forming units (CFU) (Clescerl et al., 1998). Total coliforms were assayed for the summer and winter sampling events, while the HPC analyses were performed only for the summer.

2.4.4 Water Sample Processing and DNA Extraction

The 10-L water samples were processed using a single-use Asahi REXEED-25S dialysis filter (Dial Medical Supply, PA, USA), which was pretreated with 0.01% of sodium hexametaphosphate and utilized in a dead-end mode. A high-pressure single-use elution fluid canister (Innovaprep LLC, MO, USA) was used to concentrate the 10 L to ~50 mL.

2.4.5 Molecular Analysis

Each ultrafiltration concentrate was split into 10-mL subsamples. One 10-mL subsample was further filtered through a 47-mm, 0.45-µm polycarbonate filter (Whatman, Kent, UK) for DNA extraction and analyzed by ddPCR. The remaining subsamples were stored at -80°C.

2.4.6 DNA Extraction and Quantitative Detection of Legionella Droplet DigitalTM PCR

Each 10-mL subsample was filtered on a polycarbonate filter (described above) using a sterilized 0.47-mm magnetic filter funnel (PALL Corporation, NY, USA). Immediately afterward, the polycarbonate filter was folded into a 1/8 shape with contents of filter folded to the inside. The filter was then transferred to a 2.0-mL polypropylene screw cap tube (VWR, PA, USA) containing 0.3 g of 212-300 μ m acid-washed glass beads (Sigma, MO, USA). DNA extraction was performed by adding 590 μ L of AE buffer (Qiagen, Hilden, EUR) to the samples then bead milling using a FastPrep-24TM 5G Instrument MP Biomedicals (VWR, PA, USA). Samples were milled at 6,000 rpm for one minute, followed by centrifugation at 12,000 x g for one minute. The supernatant (~400 μ L) was transferred to a new clean microcentrifuge tube and centrifuged at 12,000 x g for an additional three minutes to pellet any remaining debris. Extracted nucleic acid was eluted (~ 350 μ L) into a final clean microcentrifuge tube. The eluted volume was then aliquoted (~60 μ L) into several microcentrifuge tubes for storage at -80°C— to reduce the need for several freeze/thaw cycles. One aliquot per water sample was later used for PCR analysis.

Droplet digital PCR (Bio-Rad Laboratories CA, USA) technology was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions to analyze each sample for general *Legionella* spp. (23S rRNA), *L. pneumophila*, *L. anisa*, *L. micdadei*, *L. bozemanii*, and *L. longbeachae*. The primers and probes used in this study are listed in Table 2.4.6. Duplex reactions were performed

for three separate assays: the first assay consisted of *Legionella* spp. and *L. pneumophila*, the second assay comprised of *L. micdadei*, and *L. anisa*, and the third assay consisted of *L. bozemanii*, and *L. longbeachae* (Table 2.4.6).

For each reaction mixture, 2X supermix (no dUTP) (Bio-Rad Laboratories CA, USA) was mixed with a final concentration of 900nM of forward and reverse primers, 250nM for each probe (Eurofins Genomics Co., AL, USA), and DNA template (up to 330 ng) to a final volume of 20 µL, as recommended by Bio-Rad. The 20 µL samples were loaded into a DG8 cartridge (Bio-Rad Laboratories, CA, USA), followed by 70 µl of droplet generator oil (Bio-Rad Laboratories, CA, USA). The samples were then loaded into the QX200 Droplet Generator, and droplets were generated. The droplet emulsion (~40 µl) was then transferred into a 96-well plate using a multichannel pipet. The plate was then heat sealed with pierceable foil heat seals using a PX1TM PCR Plate Sealer (Bio-Rad, Laboratories, CA USA). The sample reaction mixture was amplified using a Benchmark TC9639 thermal cycler (Benchmark Scientific Inc, NJ, USA) with the following thermocycling parameters: 95°C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles of 94°C for 30 sec and 57°C for 1 min, with a final 10 min cycle at 98°C for 10 min. Droplets were then read using a QX200 droplet reader (Bio-Rad QX200TM Droplet DigitalTM PCR System, CA, USA).

Two negative controls, a filtration blank (phosphate-buffered water) and a non-template control (molecular grade water) were run with each ddPCR plate. Positive controls using DNA from *L. pneumophila, L. micdadei, L. anisa, L. bozemanii,* and *L. longbeachae* for each assay target were run with each ddPCR plate. Sample results were only considered for analysis when the reader accepted 10,000 or more droplets as part of the quality control. Sample reactions with three or more positive droplets per well were identified as positive for their assay target. Three

technical replicates were run for each sample to determine the reproducibility of the assay results.

Target Species	Primer/Probe Name	Primer/Probe Sequence	Reference
<i>Legionella</i> species	23SF 23SR 23SP probe	5'-CCCATGAAGCCCGTTGAA-3' 5'- ACAATCAGCCAATTAGTACGAGTTAGC- 3' 5'-HEXa- TCCACACCTCGCCTATCAACGTCGTAGT- BHQ1b-3'	Nazarian et
L. pneumophila (mip gene)	mipF mipR LmipP	5'-AAAGGCATGCAAGACGCTATG-3' 5'- GAAACTTGTTAAGAACGTCTTTCATTTG- 3' 5'-FAMa- TGGCGCTCAATTGGCTTTAACCGA- BHQ1-3'	al., 2008
L. micdadei L. anisa L. bozemanii L. longbeachae	Pan- <i>Legionella</i> F Pan- <i>Legionella</i> R LmicdadeiP LanisaP LbozemaniiP LlongbeachaeP	5'- GTACTAATTGGCTGATTGTCTTG-3' 5'- TTCACTTCTGAGTTCGAGATGG-3' 5'-FAM- AGCTGATTGGTTAATAGCCCAATCGG- BHQ1-3' 5'-HEX- CTCAACCTACGCAGAACTACTTGAGG- BHQ1-3' 5'-FAM- TACGCCCATTCATCATGCAAAACCAGnT- BHQ1-3' 5'-HEX- CTGAGTATCATGCCAATAATGCGCGC- BHQ1-3'	Cross et al., 2016

 Table 2.4.6. Primers and Probes for Target Legionella Species

^aHexachlorofluorescein (HEX), and Fluorescein amidites (FAM), reporter dyes that are added to the 5' end of an oligonucleotide. ^bBlack Hole Quencher (BHQ1), dark quenchers that does not absorb or emit light and are added to the 3' end of an oligonucleotide
2.4.7 Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were conducted in GraphPad Prism 8 software (GraphPad Software, CA, USA). Sample concentrations were transformed from gene copies (GC)/100 mL into Log₁₀ GC/100 mL for statistical analysis. A geometric mean for each sample was calculated using only the technical replicates that had \geq three positive droplets. If one technical replicate was positive, only that value was used. The biological data were expressed as geometric means with standard deviations (SD). Correlation analysis was performed between the concentrations of *Legionella* species (23S rRNA) present in samples and water quality parameters tested (temperature, chlorine, turbidity, pH, and conductivity). One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was also performed to compare each variable (building influents, taps on the first and top floor (if any), cold- and hot-water taps, and among both sampling events). Statistical results were interpreted at the level of significance p<0.05.

2.5 Results

2.5.1 Characterization and Concentrations of *Legionella* 23S rRNA and Five Pathogenic *Legionella* Species

Overall, a total of 37 samples were analyzed during this study: 14 from the summer sampling event, and 23 from the winter sampling period (Table 2.5.1). *Legionella* species (23S rRNA) were found in all water samples at concentrations ranging from 1.4 to 4.5 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL (Table 2.5.1), and 54% of the samples were positive for at least one of the target species: *L. pneumophila* (2/37), *L. anisa* (5/37), *L. micdadei*, (1/37), *L. bozemanii*, (16/37), and *L. longbeachae* (11/37) at average geomean concentrations of 1.7, 1.6, 1.7, 1.6, and 1.6 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL, respectively.

Table 2.5.1. Presence and Concentrations of Five Pathogenic *Legionella* Strains in 37 Water Samples Collected in Five Buildings During Summer (August 13 & 27 and September 04, 2018) and Winter (January 7th, 8th ,9th ,14th and 15th, 2019)

Sample Location	General Legionellaa spp. (Log10 GC/100 ml)	Legionellab Species (Log10 GC/100 ml)	General₄ <i>Legionella</i> spp. (Log10 GC/100 ml)	<i>Legionella</i> ь Species (Log10 GC/100 ml)			
	Sum	imer	Winter				
	ſ	Building F	Γ	ſ			
Influent	4.0	NDc	3.6	ND			
1st Floor	3.5	L. anisa 1.5	Cold: 1.7 Hot: 1.6	Cold: ND Hot: L. pneumophila 2.0, L. anisa 1.7			
2nd Floor	1.7	ND	Cold: 1.7 Hot: 1.5	Cold: L. anisa 1.7, L. bozemanii 1.8 Hot: L. bozemanii 1.5, L. longbeachae 1.8			
		Building BPS	5	<u> </u>			
Influent	2.3	L. bozemanii 1.6, L. longbeachae 1.5	4.5	ND			
1st Floor	4.5	ND	Cold: 1.7 Hot: 1.6	Cold: L. bozemanii 1.7, L. longbeachae 1.7 Hot: L. bozemanii 1.8, L. longbeachae 1.9			
6th Floor	2.4	ND	Cold: 1.4 Hot: 1.8	Cold: L. bozemanii 1.4 Hot: L. bozemanii 1.8, L. longbeachae 1.7			

	Building M								
Influent	2.4	ND	3.7	ND					
1st Floor	2.6	ND	Cold: 3.6 Hot: 2.5	Cold: ND Hot: L. bozemanii 1.7, L. longbeachae 1.5					
2nd Floor	3.2	ND	Cold : 3.2 Hot: 2.9	Cold: L. bozemanii 1.7, L. longbeachae 1.7 Hot: L. bozemanii 1.4, L. longbeachae 1.4					
Building FH									
Influent	1.9	ND	2.1	ND					
1st Floor	3.5	L. anisa 1.6	Cold: 3.7 Hot: 2.9	Cold: L. longbeachae 1.4 Hot: L. bozemanii 1.7					
2nd Floor	3.1	ND	Cold: 3.3 Hot: 2.8	Cold: L. bozemanii 1.4 Hot: L. anisa 1.7, L. bozemanii 1.7					
		Building ERC							
Influent	4.1	L. pneumophila, 1.5, L. micdadei 1.7, L. bozemanii 1.8, L. longbeachae 1.5	1.4	ND					
1st Floor	4.1	L. bozemanii 1.5	Cold: 4.2 Hot: 4.1	Cold: ND Hot: L. bozemanii 1.8, L. longbeachae 2.0					

Table 2.5.1. (cont'd)

a Value applies to General Legionella species (23S rRNA) detected in both tap (cold- and hot-

water) listed. b Specific Legionella species. c Non-Detect (ND).

2.5.2 Five *Legionella* Species Detected in the Influent and Tap Water Samples in Five Different Buildings

Pathogenic *Legionella* species were detected in influent pipes only during the summer sampling event. *Legionella bozemanii* and *L. longbeachae* were detected in the influent of the BPS building at a concentration of 1.6 and 1.5 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL, respectively. *Legionella pneumophila, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii,* and *L. longbeachae* were detected in the influent (eyewash site) of the ERC building at concentrations of 1.5, 1.7, 1.8, 1.5 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL, respectively (Table 2.5.1).

Below specific *Legionella* species detected in the taps during the summer and winter season in all five buildings are presented. *Legionella pneumophila* was detected in the hot water tap in the F building (winter sample) at a concentration of 2.0 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL. *Legionella anisa* was present in the composite sample (cold- and hot-water sample) on the first floor in the F and FH buildings (summer samples) at concentrations of 1.5 and 1.6 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL, respectively. *Legionella anisa* was also present in both the cold- and hot-water taps in the building F and hot water tap in the FH building (winter samples) at concentrations ranging from 1.4 to 1.7 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL. During the winter sampling event, *L. bozemanii* and *L. longbeachae* were found in 56.5% (13/23) and 39.1% (9/23) of cold- and hot-water taps of all five buildings, respectively with concentrations ranging from 1.4 to 2.0 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL (Table 2.5.1).

Overall, the results showed that building M contained the least number of samples (n=3) with detectable pathogenic *Legionella* species, and building BPS contained the most number of samples (n=5) with detectable pathogenic *Legionella* species. Interestingly, four out of five *Legionella* species tested for (except for *L. anisa*) were found in the eyewash influent sample of the ERC building (Table 2.5.1).

2.5.3 Legionella Species in Cold Compared to Hot Taps

Figure 2.5.3 compares the Log¹⁰ gene copies of the most prevalent species, *L. bozemanii* and *L. longbeachae* in the cold- and hot-water taps. *Legionella bozemanii* concentrations were higher in the hot-water samples (geomean of 1.7) than in the cold-water samples in BPS, M, FH, and ERC. *Legionella longbeachae* concentrations were higher in the hot-water samples (geomean of 1.8) than in the cold-water samples in F, BPS, and ERC buildings. Overall, the five target *Legionella* species were more prevalent in hot-water samples (39% positive, 9/23) compared to the cold-water samples (26% positive, 6/23) (Table 2.5.1). Within the hot-water samples, there appeared to be more diversity of the target *Legionella* species (*L. pneumophila*, *L. anisa L. bozemanii*, or *L. longbeachae*) present, compared to the cold-water tap samples, where *L. pneumophila* was not detected (Table 2.5.1).

Figure 2.5.3. Presence of *L. bozemanii* and *L. longbeachae* in Cold- and Hot-water Taps in the Five Buildings in the Winter Samples. Bars Reflect All Measurements Collected at Each Tap. Dashed Line Represents the Detection Limit (1.3 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL). Samples With No Signal are Reported as the Detection Limit.



^a F building, positive for *L. pneumophila* in the hot tap; F building, positive for *L. anisa* in the cold- and hot-water taps. FH building, positive for *L. anisa* in the hot tap. *L. micdadei* was not detected in the winter.^b Results without a standard deviation correspond to samples with no signal.

2.5.4 Comparison of Five Target Legionella Species in Summer and Winter

In the summer, there was a greater diversity of *Legionella* species but with lower concentrations relative to the winter. For example, all five specific *Legionella* spp. (*L*.

pneumophila, L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii and *L. longbeachae*) were detected in the summer, but *L. micdadei* was not positive in any water sample in the winter. Interestingly, the detection rates for *L. bozemanii* and *L. longbeachae* increased two-fold in the winter samples compared to the summer. Overall, *L. bozemanii* (43%, 16/37) and *L. longbeachae* (29.7%, 11/37) accounted for the majority of the *Legionella* positive samples detected in both seasons (Table 2.5.1 and Figure 2.5.4).

Table 2.5.1 and Figure 2.5.4 compares the presence and absence of the pathogens in tap water samples from the summer and winter seasons. *Legionella pneumophila, L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii, and L. longbeachae* were present in low quantities (near the detection limit, 1.3 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL) throughout the buildings drinking water system (Table 2.5.1). The concentrations ranged from 1.5 to 1.8 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL in the summer samples, and from 1.4 to 2.0 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL in the winter samples. More specifically, during the summer, 7% (1/14) of the samples were positive for *L. pneumophila* and *L. micdadei*, 14% (2/14) for *L. anisa*, and *L. longbeachae*, and 21% (3/14) for *L. bozemanii* (Figure 2.5.4). Collectively, five target *Legionella* species were detected in 36% (5/14) of the summer samples. During the winter, 65% (15/23) samples were positive with one or more of the target *Legionella* species. *Legionella bozemanii* had the highest occurrence at 57% (13/23), followed by *L. longbeachae* at 39% (9/23), *L. anisa* at 13% (3/23), and *L. pneumophila* at 4% (1/23) (Figure 2.5.4). *Legionella micdadei* was not detected in any of the winter samples (Table 2.5.1 and Figure 2.5.4).

Figure 2.5.4. *Legionella* Species in All Water Samples Collected During Summer and Winter Sampling Events. For the Summer and Winter, the N Values are the Number of Samples in Which the Species were Detected.



2.5.5 Chemical-Physical Water Quality

For the summer event, the cold- and hot-water taps were composite samples; thus, the chemical-physical parameters are reflective of this as the interest was determining the difference of water quality by floors. In the summer, water temperatures in the influent of all buildings ranged from 12.6 to 20.2 °C, with an average of 16.5 °C (Table 2.5.2). The temperatures of the composite cold- and hot-water samples were similar in range among both floors but slightly different across buildings. The water temperature across the buildings ranged from 25.8 to 34.2 °C and 27.1 to 36.7 °C on the first floor and top floor, respectively. Free chlorine ranged from 0.04 mg/L to 0.52 mg/L, with an average of 0.3 mg/L in the influents. The buildings' average free chlorine on the first floor was 0.09 mg/L and increased on the top floor to 0.21 mg/ (Table 2.5.2). The conductivity ranged from 750 to 867 μ S/cm, with an average of 802 μ S/cm in the buildings' influent. The buildings' average conductivity was 915.8 μ S/cm on the first floor and then decreased on the top floor (827.8 μ S/cm). Turbidity ranged from 1.3 to 66.2 NTU, with an

average of 19.5 NTU in the buildings' influent. The buildings' average turbidity dropped to 3.2 NTU on the first floor and slightly increased on the top floor (5.9 NTU). The mean pH was 7.4 in the influents, first floors, and the top floors.

	Cor	nposite Ta	ıp			
	F	BPS	М	FH	ERCa	Buildin g Averag e
	l	Influent				L
Temperature (°C)	15.7	12.6	18.3	15.9	20.2	16.5
Conductivity (µS)	750	867	755	780	858	802
Turbidity (NTU)	24.5	3.58	1.3	1.89	66.2	19.5
рН	7.3	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.6	7.48
Total (Free) Chlorine Residual (mg/L)	0.58 (0.52)	0.52 (0.32)	0.39 (0.3)	0.53 (0.43)	0.04 (0.04)	0.4 (0.3)
HPCs (CFU/100 mL)	5.00	10.5	96.0	1.60 x104	4.50 x106	9.03 x105
Coliforms (MPN/ 100mL)	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
<i>E. coli</i> (MPN/100ml)	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
1	lst Floor c	omposite s	samples b			
Temperature (°C)	33.4	29.2	34.2	31.9	25.8	30.9
Conductivity (µS)	814	857	807	1256	845	915.8
Turbidity (NTU)	0.55	0.98	6.36	3.44	4.43	3.2
рН	7.3	7.4	7.5	7.2	7.6	7.4
Total (Free) Chlorine Residual (Mg/L)b	0.16 (0.13)	0.16 (0.02)	0.12 (0.03)	0.24 (0.17)	0.17 (0.1)	0.17 (0.09)
HPCs (CFU/100 mL)	5.00 x104	4.20 x104	1.45 x104	1.27 x104	3.20 x105	8.78 x104
Coliforms (MPN/100 mL)	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
<i>E. coli</i> (MPN/100 mL)	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1

Table 2.5.2. Chemical-Physical and Microbial Data for Influents and Composite Tap WaterSamples August 13th, 27th and September 4th, 2018.

Table 2.5.2. (cont'd)

Тор Floor ь									
Temperature (°C)ь	32	27.1	36.7	35	N/ A	32.7			
Conductivity (µS)	794	904	794	819	N/ A	827.8			
Turbidity (NTU)	2.06	5.07	13.1	3.46	N/ A	5.9			
рН	7.3	7.5	7.5	7.4	N/ A	7.4			
Total (Free) Chlorine Residual	0.29	0.33	0.1	0.1	N/	0.2			
(mg/L)ь	(0.22)	(0.21)	(0.05)	(0.04)	Α	(0.21)			
	6.58	2.75	1.07	3.29	N/	3.42			
HPCS (CFU/100 IIIL)	x104	x104	x104	x104	Α	x104			
Coliforms (MPN/100 mL)	<1	<1	<1	<1	N/ A	<1			
<i>E. coli</i> (MPN/100 mL)	<1	<1	<1	<1	N/ A	<1			

^a ERC, has one floor. ^b Composite cold and hot taps.

For the winter event, the cold- and hot-water taps were collected as separate samples; thus, the chemical-physical parameters are reflective of this as the interest was determining the difference of water quality by taps. In the winter, building influent water temperature ranged from 11.2 to 26.9°C, with an average of 17.9 $_{\circ}$ C (Table 2.5.3). The average (21.4 $_{\circ}$ C for the first floor and 22.4 $_{\circ}$ C on the top floor) cold-water temperature for the buildings did not differ between floors; however, the buildings' hot-water was slightly warmer, on average, on the top floor (36.1 $_{\circ}$ C) compared to the first floor (31.6 $_{\circ}$ C). Free chlorine ranged from 0.17 to 1.46 mg/L (influent of FH Hall to influent of BPS) with an average of 0.6 mg/L. The buildings' mean for free chlorine (first and top floors) differed between the cold- (0.07 mg/L) and hot-water taps (0.04 mg/L) (Table 2.5.3). The buildings' average conductivity in winter ranged from 794 to 931 μ S/cm in the influent with an average of 847 μ S/cm. The conductivity of the cold- (947 μ S/cm) and hot-water taps (931 μ S/cm) on the first floor of the buildings were only slightly different. The conductivity on the top floors varied more between the cold- (890 μ S/cm) and hot-water taps (918 μ S/cm). Turbidity ranged from 4.6 to 155 NTU (influent of FH Hall to influent of BPS) with an average of 58.3 NTU. The mean turbidity for the cold-water taps was 7.6, and 2.4 for the hot-water taps on the buildings' first floors. However, the mean turbidity slightly increased on the top floor for both taps, 20.6 NTU (cold-water tap), and 2.81 NTU (hot-water tap). The pH was approximately the same as the summer sampling, ranging from 7.3 (influent) to 7.6 (first-floor hot-water tap) and 7.5 (top-floor hot-water taps).

FBPSMFHERCaBuildin g Averag eTemperature °C14.523.613.311.226.917.9Conductivity μS914794931799797847Turbidity NTU18.61556.334.6106.958.3pH7.37.57.37.37.37.3Total (Free) Chlorine Residual Mg/L0.24(0.1.16(1.0.09(0.0.05(0.1.19(1. 33)0.5(0.6)Coliforms MPN/100ml<1<1<1<1<1<1<1<1E. coli MPN/100ml<1<1<1<1<1<1<1<1<1	Composite Tap Table									
F BPS M FH ERCa g Averag e Influent Temperature °C 14.5 23.6 13.3 11.2 26.9 17.9 Conductivity μS 914 794 931 799 797 847 Turbidity NTU 18.6 155 6.33 4.6 106.9 58.3 pH 7.3 7.5 7.3 7.3 7.3 7.3 Total (Free) Chlorine Residual Mg/L 0.24(0. 1.16(1. 0.09(0. 0.05(0. 1.19(1. 0.5(0.6) Coliforms MPN/100ml <1							Buildin			
Image: Conductivity μS Photo Matrix Photo Matrix Average e Imfluent Imfluent Imfluent Photo Matrix Average e Conductivity μS 914 794 931 799 797 847 Turbidity NTU 18.6 155 6.33 4.6 106.9 58.3 pH 7.3 7.5 7.3 7.3 7.3 7.3 Total (Free) Chlorine Residual Mg/L 0.24(0. 1.16(1. 0.09(0. 0.05(0. 1.19(1. 0.5(0.6) Coliforms MPN/100ml <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <t< td=""><td></td><td>F</td><td>BPS</td><td>М</td><td>FH</td><td>ERCa</td><td>g</td></t<>		F	BPS	М	FH	ERCa	g			
Influent e Temperature °C 14.5 23.6 13.3 11.2 26.9 17.9 Conductivity μS 914 794 931 799 797 847 Turbidity NTU 18.6 155 6.33 4.6 106.9 58.3 pH 7.3 7.5 7.3 7.3 7.3 7.3 Total (Free) Chlorine 0.24(0. 1.16(1. 0.09(0. 0.05(0. 1.19(1. 0.5(0.6) Residual Mg/L 23) 46) 18) 17) 33) 0.5(0.6) Coliforms MPN/100ml <1		-	210			Litter	Averag			
Temperature °C 14.5 23.6 13.3 11.2 26.9 17.9 Conductivity μS 914 794 931 799 797 847 Turbidity NTU 18.6 155 6.33 4.6 106.9 58.3 pH 7.3 7.5 7.3 7.3 7.3 7.3 Total (Free) Chlorine 0.24(0. 1.16(1. 0.09(0. 0.05(0. 1.19(1. 0.5(0.6) Residual Mg/L 23) 46) 18) 17) 33) 0.5(0.6) Coliforms MPN/100ml <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1			T Cl				e			
Temperature °C 14.5 23.6 13.3 11.2 26.9 17.9 Conductivity μS 914 794 931 799 797 847 Turbidity NTU 18.6 155 6.33 4.6 106.9 58.3 pH 7.3 7.5 7.3 7.3 7.3 7.3 Total (Free) Chlorine 0.24(0. 1.16(1. 0.09(0. 0.05(0. 1.19(1. 0.5(0.6) Residual Mg/L 23) 46) 18) 17) 33) 0.5(0.6) Coliforms MPN/100ml <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 E. coli MPN/100ml <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1			Influent	10.0			1 - 0			
Conductivity μS 914 794 931 799 797 847 Turbidity NTU 18.6 155 6.33 4.6 106.9 58.3 pH 7.3 7.5 7.3 7.3 7.3 7.3 Total (Free) Chlorine 0.24(0. 1.16(1. 0.09(0. 0.05(0. 1.19(1. 0.5(0.6) Residual Mg/L 23) 46) 18) 17) 33) 0.5(0.6) Coliforms MPN/100ml <1	Temperature °C	14.5	23.6	13.3	11.2	26.9	17.9			
Turbidity NTU 18.6 155 6.33 4.6 106.9 58.3 pH 7.3 7.5 7.3 7.3 7.3 7.3 Total (Free) Chlorine 0.24(0. 1.16(1. 0.09(0. 0.05(0. 1.19(1. 0.5(0.6) Residual Mg/L 23) 46) 18) 17) 33) 0.5(0.6) Coliforms MPN/100ml <1	Conductivity µS	914	794	931	799	797	847			
pH 7.3 7.5 7.3 7.3 7.3 7.3 Total (Free) Chlorine Residual Mg/L 0.24(0. 1.16(1. 0.09(0. 0.05(0. 1.19(1. 0.5(0.6) Coliforms MPN/100ml <1	Turbidity NTU	18.6	155	6.33	4.6	106.9	58.3			
Total (Free) Chlorine Residual Mg/L 0.24(0. 23) 1.16(1. 46) 0.09(0. 18) 0.05(0. 17) 1.19(1. 33) 0.5(0.6) Coliforms MPN/100ml <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1<	рН	7.3	7.5	7.3	7.3	7.3	7.3			
Residual Mg/L 23) 46) 18) 17) 33) 0.5(0.6) Coliforms MPN/100ml <1	Total (Free) Chlorine	0.24(0.	1.16(1.	0.09(0.	0.05(0.	1.19(1.	0.5(0.6)			
Coliforms MPN/100ml <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <td>Residual Mg/L</td> <td>23)</td> <td>46)</td> <td>18)</td> <td>17)</td> <td>33)</td> <td>0.3(0.0)</td>	Residual Mg/L	23)	46)	18)	17)	33)	0.3(0.0)			
E. coli MPN/100ml <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1	Coliforms MPN/100ml	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1			
	<i>E. coli</i> MPN/100ml	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1			
1st Floor from composite samples										
Temperature °C (Cold and 17.8 22.8 23.3 21.8 21.1 21.4	Temperature °C (Cold and	17.8	22.8	23.3	21.8	21.1	21.4			
Hot taps) 37.6 31.3 36.3 28.2 24.7 31.6	Hot taps)	37.6	31.3	36.3	28.2	24.7	31.6			
Conductivity μS (Cold and 793 1161 913 865 924 931	Conductivity µS (Cold and	793	1161	913	865	924	931			
Hot taps) 801 1220 904 895 914 947	Hot taps)	801	1220	904	895	914	947			
Turbidity NTU (Cold and Hot 2.4 6.44 16.4 4.22 8.55 7.6	Turbidity NTU (Cold and Hot	2.4	6.44	16.4	4.22	8.55	7.6			
taps) 0.1 1.44 2.39 4.36 3.78 2.4	taps)	0.1	1.44	2.39	4.36	3.78	2.4			
pH (Cold and Hot taps) 7.4 7.3 7.6 7.6 7.7 7.5	pH (Cold and Hot taps)	7.4	7.3	7.6	7.6	7.7	7.5			
7.7 7.4 7.7 7.8 7.6 7.6		7.7	7.4	7.7	7.8	7.6	7.6			
Total (Free) Chlorine $0.04(0, 0.14(0, 0.14(0, 0.05(0, 0.07(0, 0.09(0, 0, 0)))))))))))))))$	Total (Free) Chlorine	0.04(0.	0.14(0.	0.14(0.	0.05(0.	0.07(0.	0.09(0.			
Residual Mg/L (03) (1) (13) (16) (09) (1)	Residual Mg/L	03)	1)	13)	16)	09)	1)			
(Cold and Hot taps) $0.03(0)$ $0.03(0.$ $0.03(0.$ $0.03(0.$ $0.08(0.$ $0.09(0.$ $0.05(0.$	(Cold and Hot taps)	0.03(0)	0.03(0.	0.03(0.	0.08(0.	0.09(0.	0.05(0.			
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	California MDN/100ml	1	05)	02)	12)	11)	(1)			
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1			
$E. \ coli \ MIPN/100ml \ <1 \ <1 \ <1 \ <1 \ <1 \ <1$	E. coli MPN/100ml	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1			
Top Floor		Тор F	loor	Γ	Γ					
Temperature (°C) (Cold and 19.9 22 24.2 23.3 N/A 22.4	Temperature (°C) (Cold and	19.9	22	24.2	23.3	N/A	22.4			
Hot taps) 38.9 31.1 44.9 29.6 36.1	Hot taps)	38.9	31.1	44.9	29.6	1	36.1			
Conductivity μS (Cold and 786 977 882 916 N/A 890	Conductivity µS (Cold and	786	977	882	916	N/A	890			
Hot taps) 802 1062 895 914 918	Hot taps)	802	1062	895	914		918			
Turbidity NTU (Cold and Hot 4.04 3.73 71 3.64 N/A 20.6	Turbidity NTU (Cold and Hot	4.04	3.73		3.64	N/A	20.6			
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	taps)	0.32	1.62	/.14	2.10		2.81			
pH (Cold and Hot taps) 7.6 7.2 7.8 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6	pH (Cold and Hot taps)	7.5	7.2	7.8	7.6	N/A	7.5			

Table 2.5.3. Chemical-Physical and Microbial Data for Influents and Composite Tap WaterSamples January 7th, 8th, 9th 14th and 15th, 2019.

Total (Free) Chlorine Residual Mg/L (Cold and Hot taps)	0.05(0.0 7) 0.07(0.0 3)	0.05(0.0 5) 0.02(0.0 1)	0.4(0.4) 0.09(0.0 9)	0.03(0.0 5) 0.02(0.0 4)	N/ A	0.13(0.1 4) 0.05(0.0 4)
Coliforms MPN/100ml	<1	<1	<1	<1	N/ A	<1
<i>E. coli</i> MPN/100ml	<1	<1	<1	<1	N/ A	<1

Table 2.5.3. (cont'd)

aERC, only has one floor.

2.5.6 Relationship Between the Presence of Legionella and Water Quality Parameters

To determine which water quality parameters were associated with the detection and concentrations of general *Legionella* spp., *L. pneumophila*, *L. anisa*, *L. micdadei*, *L. bozemanii*, and *L. longbeachae* in the different locations (influent, cold- and hot-water taps), a correlation analysis was performed. During the summer, there was not a relationship (positive or negative) between temperature, HPCs, chlorine, turbidity, pH, or conductivity with respect to general *Legionella* spp. (23S rRNA). Figure 2.5.5 shows the correlation between *Legionella* spp. 23S rRNA and three water quality parameters (free residual chlorine concentration, conductivity, and turbidity) during the winter, which were not significant. The positive trend between *L. anisa*, *L. bozemanii*, *L. micdadei*, *L. pneumophila*, *and L. longbeachae* (combined) positive samples (occurred in F, BPS and ERC influent, and FH and ERC first floor) and turbidity, pH, and HPCs, conductivity, and turbidity, during the winter, were not significant (*p*=0.6).

There were insufficient data to develop statistically significant relationships between the five targeted *Legionella* species and the water quality parameters. Observations found that *L*. *pneumophila* and *L. anisa* were both detected in the hot-water taps on the first floor of building F, and within this positive sample, no residual chlorine was detected, the conductivity was 801 μ S/cm, and the turbidity was 0.1 NTU. In the *L. anisa* positive sample (in the hot-water tap on the second floor on building FH), the residual chlorine was 0.04 mg/L, the conductivity was 914

 μ S/cm, and the turbidity was 0.1 NTU. *Legionella bozemanii*, and *L. longbeachae* occurred in hot-water taps on both floors (except ERC) of all five buildings; in the positive samples, the conductivity, turbidity, and free residual chlorine ranged from 786 to 1220 μ S/cm, 0.1 to 7.1 NTU, and 0 to 0.4 mg/L, respectively. It is interesting to note that free residual chlorine was below the minimal 0.2mg/L threshold (CDC, 2014) in all *Legionella*-positive samples, with the exception of the BPS influent sample.

Figure 2.5.5. Correlation Between Three Water Quality Parameters (Chlorine, Conductivity, and Turbidity) and *Legionella* spp. 23S rRNA During January 7th, 8th ,9th ,14th and 15th, 2019 Sampling Event. The Color Coding for Each Building is as Follows: Green: F; Red: BPS; Orange: M; Blue: FH; Purple: ERC



2.6 Discussion

This study reveals information about the distribution of general *Legionella* and five pathogenic species in buildings on a community drinking water system. This study has systematically evaluated the quantitative occurrence of *Legionella* spp. (23S rRNA), *L*.

pneumophila, L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii, and *L. longbeachae* in the influent water pipe that enters into buildings and at distal points of use. The water quality in the influents of the buildings and at the points of use differ between buildings. The assays for specific species highlighted differences between cold- and hot-water taps as well as between summer and winter samplings likely due to water residence time (water age). But it is interesting to note that in general, the inconsistency detection of *Legionella* species is driven by water quality in the building such as, the differences in water temperature, the concentration of disinfectant residual, variable water usage patterns that lead to stagnation and the water age (as observed in all five buildings).

Increased water age in the distribution system has adverse downstream effects within the building water system (Masters et al., 2015). For example, the impact of increased water age increases water temperature and a loss of chemical residual (Ambrose et al., 2020). These changes combined (described previously) influences the occurrence and diversity of *Legionella* species (Wang et al., 2012; Rhoads et al., 2016; Lu et al., 2016). In this study, the influent of the ERC building had the greatest variety of *Legionella* species (*L. pneumophila*, *L. micdadei*, *L. bozemanii*, and *L. longbeachae*). This may be due to the ERC building having increased water age as its influent water pipe is the furthest away from the water source (reservoir) at 19.4 km. This suggests that water age plays a role in the occurrence of *Legionella* species and warrants further exploration.

Legionella species can survive in cold-water taps (Donohue et al., 2014), but hot-water taps are known to be a source for their amplification (Bollin et al., 1985). This study detected the presence of specific *Legionella* species in both cold-water and hot-water taps with slightly higher concentrations seen in hot-water; this is in agreement with previous studies (Donohue et al.,

109

2014; Peter and Routledge et al., 2018; Totaro et al., 2017; Rhoads et al., 2016; Toyosada et al., 2017; Proctor et al., 2017). Recently, Donohue et al. (2019) found a difference in concentrations for *L. pneumophila* in hot-water taps compared to cold-water taps. The concentrations were higher (median concentrations: 4,201 CE/L) for *L. pneumophila* in the hot-water taps than in the cold-water taps (median concentrations: 341 CE/L). In this study, *L. pneumophila* was only detected in the hot-water tap at a concentration of 2.0 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL.

When specific species were examined, the hot-water systems were more often found to be positive for both *L. bozemanii* and *L. longbeachae*, which may be due to the premise plumbing recirculation loops —creating a conducive environment for *Legionella* growth (Rhoads et al., 2016). *Legionella pneumophila* was detected in 82% of samples from a hot-water system at a university hospital located in Sherbrooke, Canada, by culture and qPCR (Bédard et al., 2016). In 2019, Bédard et al. found *L. pneumophila* SG1 positive in 41%, and *L. pneumophila* serogroups 4 and 10 in 91% of the water samples in hot-water taps and connecting pipes in an undisclosed Canadian hospital by culture and sequence-based typing.

Several studies have shown that the concentrations of general *Legionella* spp. (23S rRNA) and *L. pneumophila* increases during the summer season (Whiley et al., 2015; Kao et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2019). While our study observed the opposite, it was not due to environmental conditions. The building water use data show that water use was higher in BPS followed by ERC, FH, M and, F; and that water use was higher in the summer than in winter for BPS and ERC. This seasonal variation in water use is likely due to increased use of the building cooling towers in the summer and possibly to seasonal variations in occupancy. Because water temperatures were not different between the two seasons, these data suggest that the water quality was affected more by water stagnation (low water use) than by other water quality

110

parameters. It is thought that water stagnation affects *Legionella* colonization in buildings' plumbing as the water sits in the pipes longer during times of low water use. The water temperature averages on the first and top floors for all the buildings sampled were close to the *Legionella*'s optimal growth temperatures (25 to 45°C, [Katz and Hammel, 1987]).

The potential amplification of *Legionella* (23S and target species) at the taps was seen during the winter sampling event and is further discussed. Higher *Legionella* (23S rRNA) concentrations seen in the exposure sites (taps) compared to influent samples of buildings FH and ERC suggest that *Legionella* spp. were potentially amplifying within the premise plumbing systems (Figure 2.6). When the five specific *Legionella* species were examined, three buildings (BPS, M and ERC) showed suspected amplification for two specific species, *L. bozemanii*, and *L. longbeachae*. Building F (20% of the buildings) showed potential amplification of *L. pneumophila*, *L. anisa*, *L. bozemanii*, and *L. longbeachae*, and FH showed suspected amplification for *L. anisa*, *L. bozemanii* and *L. longbeachae* (Table 2.6).

The points of use serve as an ideal environment for amplification and aerosolization of *Legionella*. Amplification of *Legionella* in premise plumbing occurs due to a variety of factors, such as a change in water temperatures (cold and hot) (Ohno et al., 2003; García Montero et al., 2019), reduced residual chlorine (Wang et al., 2012), increased number of free-living amoebae (Wang et al., 2015), and altered microbial community composition (Dai et al., 2018, Lautenschlager et al., 2010). Once amplified, *Legionella* can transmit from water to air from aerosol-generating features, such as the hot-water faucets, showers, decorative fountains, and building cooling towers. Since federal authority is restricted to the public water system in the US, there are no EPA requirements directly regulating *Legionella* in premise plumbing systems (EPA, 2020). However, *Legionella* water-related outbreaks and sporadic cases occur at the

premise plumbing level (office buildings or hospitals and cooling towers) even when residual chlorine concentrations are well maintained (Demirjian et al., 2015).

Health departments should consider the role of other *Legionella* species (L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii, and L. longbeachae) in the presentation of pneumonia as they may pose a greater risk than L. pneumophila as they are widely distributed in the environment (Vaccaro et al., 2016; Mee-Marquet et al., 2006; Fleres et al., 2018; Dilger et al., 2017; Wullings et al., 2011; Wullings and van der Kooij, 2006; Fiume et al., 2005; Lesnik et al., 2016; Muder and Victor, 2002). The aging population and those with underlying conditions such as cancer, diabetes, or cardiac disease also increase the risk of LD (Boe et al., 2017; del Castillo et al., 2016; Viasus et al., 2013). Thus, individuals who are at greater risk (>55 or older, or immunocompromised) are driving the need for a rapid, quantitative approach to monitor and manage the risk from other Legionella species to better protect public health. Digital droplet PCR can be used to target lowcopy DNA from highly contaminated environmental samples whereas the sample dilution requirements (standard curve) for qPCR may not detect the low target DNA in environmental samples (Rački et al., 2014; Verhaegen et al., 2016). Digital droplet PCR also overcomes the time delay from sampling to quantitative results (Baume et al., 2019), as seen with the "gold standard" culture method for Legionella detection and LD diagnosis (as reviewed by Mercante and Winchell, 2015). In this study, digital droplet PCR enumerated L. pneumophila, L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii, and L. longbeachae in water samples duplex assays. Thus, it is crucial to utilize a method for the detection of *Legionella* in the environment and perform different assays to determine which species are causing LD.

Figure 2.6. *Legionella* spp. (23S rRNA) Concentrations at the Influent and the Tap During Both Seasons. A) Summer, Influent N=1 (error bars are indicative of technical replicate), Taps N=2. B) Winter, Influent N=1 (error bars are indicative of technical replicate), Taps N=2. The Asterisks (***) Below Represent the Significance for F Tap vs FH Tap; P=0.0001



Table 2.6. Presence of Pathogenic Legionella Species at the Taps.

Duilding	August	January
Dununig	Amplification at Tap	Amplification at Tap
F	<i>L. anisa</i> (1st Floor)	L. pneumophila, L. anisa, L. bozemanii & L. longbeachae (1st Floor Hot Tap, 2nd Floor Cold & Hot Taps)
BPS	NAa	<i>L. bozemanii & L. longbeachae</i> (1st Floor Cold and Hot Taps, 6th Floor Cold and Hot Taps
М	NA	<i>L. bozemanii & L. longbeachae</i> (1st Floor Hot Tap, 2nd Floor Cold & Hot Taps)
FH	L. anisa (1st Floor)	L. anisa, L. bozemanii & L. longbeachae (1st Floor Cold & Hot Taps, 2nd Floor Cold & Hot Taps)
ERC	NAa	L. bozemanii & L. longbeachae (1st Floor Hot Tap)

a NA: Not applicable

2.7 Conclusions

This study focused on the occurrence and quantification of *L. pneumophila, L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii,* and *L. longbeachae* in a community drinking water system in the US. Our results from the winter sampling event provide evidence that four out of five targeted *Legionella* species showed signs of amplification between the influent and the points of use in various large educational buildings. The amplification of *Legionella* species was observed in conditions with water stagnation (low water use) and potentially increased water age. This suggests that the amplification of these species in a drinking water system is multifactorial. For example, *L. pneumophila, L. anisa, L. bozemanii,* and *L. longbeachae* potentially amplified in buildings with varying water usage (dependent on occupancy), and water age. Because each building has different risks at different times of the year, there needs to be a water management plan for various building types to reach optimization.

The examination of large volume (10-L) water samples using ultrafiltration within five large building water systems allowed for the detection of five individual *Legionella* species. The increased presence of specific *Legionella* species present downstream from the influent pipe, suggests that the bacteria are amplifying within the building water system. A monitoring scheme that includes composite, large-volume sampling, and rapid assessment by ddPCR could lead to better control of *Legionella* in building drinking water systems. Decreases in water flows that could lead to increased colonization and amplification within plumbing should be monitored beyond building influents. *Legionella* is part of the water microbiome and was found 100% of the time when sampling cold-and hot-water taps; thus, the monitoring of specific *Legionella* species using a large volume sample may be more appropriate when examining risk.

114

CHAPTER THREE

THE OCCURRENCE OF 5 PATHOGENIC *LEGIONELLA* SPECIES FROM SOURCE (GROUNDWATER) TO EXPOSURE (TAPS AND COOLING TOWERS) IN A COMPLEX WATER SYSTEM

3.1 Abstract

In this study, droplet digital PCRTM (ddPCRTM) was used to characterize Legionella species from source (groundwater) to exposure sites (taps and cooling towers). A total of 42 samples were analyzed during this study: 12 from the reservoir, 24 from two buildings, and six from the cooling towers. Results demonstrated that gene copies of *Legionella* spp. (23S rRNA) was significantly higher in the cooling towers, relative to the reservoir and building Fa (closest to reservoir). Legionella spp. were found in 100% (42/42) of water samples at concentrations from 2.2 to 4.5 Log10 GC/100 mL. More specifically, Legionella pneumophila was found in 57% (24/42) of the water samples, followed by L. bozemanii 52% (22/42), L. longbeachae 36% (15/42), L. micdadei 23% (10/42), L. anisa 21% (9/42) at geomean concentrations of 1.4, 1.5, 1.3, 1.5 and 1.5 Log10 GC/100 mL respectively. Average gene copy numbers of Legionella spp. in the influent and the taps of the building furthest away from the reservoir (ERC) were higher than in the influent and taps of the building closest to the reservoir (Fa), and the difference was significant (p < 0.05). Positive Pearson correlations between pH, and HPCs and the gene copy number of Legionella spp. (23S rRNA) were observed (pH, R = 0.67, p = 0.0482; HPCs, R = 0.9, p=0.0005). Based on this study, this data shows that water age in the distribution system and the premise-plumbing plays a major role in the increase of Legionella spp., as seen in the influent, and at the taps in the ERC building. Buildings furthest away from water utilities may face challenges in water quality, such as a loss of disinfectant residual, lower (<55) hot water temperatures, and higher (>20) cold-water temperatures.

3.2 Introduction

Legionella was first described and classified over 40 years ago (Fraser et al., 1977 and Brenner et al., 1979). Since its discovery, there have been 61 identified *Legionella* species (Zeng et al., 2019), of which 28 have been isolated from human specimens (as reviewed by Zeng et al., 2019). *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 1 is the most well-known and studied *Legionella* species, as it is most often identified as the etiologic agent of Legionnaires' Disease (LD). *Legionella pneumophila* accounts for more than 90% of pneumonia cases (Brady and Sundareshan, 2018; Waldron et al., 2015), followed by *L. micdadei, L. bozemanii, L. longbeachae* and other species such as *L. anisa* are rare (Sanchez et al., 2013, Lachant and Prasad, 2015, Miller et al., 2007).

Currently, in the United States (US), the incidence rate of LD is rapidly increasing with a rate of 300%, corresponding to a range of 0.4 to 1.6 reported cases per 100,000 population (Hicks et al., 2012; Adams et al., 2016). *Legionella pneumophila* is primarily responsible for drinking water disease outbreaks in the US (Brunkard et al., 2011).

A large percentage of the US population gets it's drinking water from groundwater (USGS, 2015). In the US, groundwater withdrawal for public supply accounts for approximately 39% of the total (USGS, 2015). Even in Michigan surrounded by the Great Lakes, total groundwater usage is about 700 million gallons per day (DEQ, 2018). Moreover, there is an estimation of 1.7 million people in Michigan that rely on municipal water supplies utilizing groundwater as their primary drinking water source (DEQ, 2018).

In groundwater, *Legionella* has been shown to range in concentrations from 10² to 10⁵ CFU/L (Brooks et al., 2010). Groundwater sources are notorious for having iron concentrations, and this may be considered problematic (Johnson et al., 2018) as iron is a micronutrient for the growth of *Legionella* (Cianciotto et al., 2015). Because iron, however, is a secondary, EPA standard there is no maximum contaminant level (EPA, 2018).

117

Legionella bacteria are known to colonize engineered water systems such as premise plumbing, and cooling towers (Logan-Jackson et al., 2020, Donohue et al., 2014, Hamilton et al., 2018, Llewellyn et al., 2017). In these environments, *Legionella* can be aerosolized and potentially inhaled from showers, faucets, hot tubs/swimming pools, and cooling towers (as reviewed by Prussin et al., 2017).

There are a few limited studies on specific pathogenic *Legionella* species other than *L*. *pneumophila* in drinking water supply systems and cooling towers. For example, there has been a characterization study of pathogenic *Legionella* species in hot water systems by MALDI-TOF (Dilger et al., 2017), in tap water at hospitals by nested PCR assays (Fiume et al., 2005), and from kitchen sinks in private residences and restroom sinks in public buildings by PCR amplification, and sequencing (Richards et al., 2015). Lesnik et al., 2016 evaluated pathogenic *Legionella* species in a drinking water supply system by single-stranded conformation polymorphism. Pereira et al., 2017 evaluated *Legionella* species in cooling towers using universal primers 16S rRNA (PCR) and genus-specific deep sequencing (next-generation sequencing). Recently, Tsao et al., 2019 also evaluated *Legionella* species in cooling towers; using 16 and 18S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing. Although there has been an environmental surveillance of pathogenic *Legionella* species in a building water system and cooling towers, none of these six studies (mentioned above) have collectively investigated pathogenic *Legionella* spp. from source (groundwater) to exposure sites (taps and cooling towers).

The goal of this study was to detect and quantify five pathogenic *Legionella* species from groundwater to exposure sites (taps and cooling towers). Thus, this study examined the ecology of disease-relevant strains of *Legionella* in a whole water supply system. The following objectives was pursued: (i) characterization of total *Legionella* spp. (23S rRNA), *L.pneumophila*,

L.anisa, L. longbeachae, L. micdadei, and *L. bozemanii* in groundwater coming into the reservoir (untreated water), the reservoir (treated chlorinated water), the influent pipe within two buildings, the hot and cold-water taps and cooling towers and (ii) exploration of the associations of *Legionella* species with respect to, temperature, chlorine, conductivity, pH, HPCs, and water age.

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Site Location and Sampling

Water samples were collected during the summer of 2019 from the reservoir (influent and effluent pipes), two research buildings (Fa, and ERC), and ten cooling towers on Michigan State University campus in East Lansing, Michigan. Sample collection was conducted in July, August, and September. The description of building age, water use, and distance from the reservoir are detailed previously (Logan-Jackson et al., 2020).

A large-volume composite sample was collected from each location to obtain water that was coming directly from the groundwater, storage tank, and the buildings. Ten liters were collected from the influent and effluent of the reservoir, both building's influent, cold- and hotwater taps, and cooling towers. Each carboy contained 10% sodium thiosulfate.

The first flush with equal total volumes from each tap was collected and composited into 10L for the first floor (cold and hot water taps, separately) and top floor (cold and hot water taps, separately). A total of 42 large-volume samples were collected: 12 from the reservoir (six influent and six effluent), 15 from building Fa, nine from building ERC, and 6 from the cooling towers. Three samples were collected from the influent, three hot and three cold from the first floor and top floor for building Fa. Building ERC only has one floor; thus, three samples were

119

collected from the influent, three hot and three cold from the first floor. Details on the number of taps on each floor are described in an earlier publication (Logan-Jackson et al., 2020).

3.3.2 Chemical-Physical and Microbiological Analysis

A 300ml sample was collected for physiochemical parameters. During sampling, the temperature and chlorine residuals (total and free) were measured using calibrated thermometers and the Test Kit Pocket Colorimeter II (HACH®, CO, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. After sampling, conductivity, pH, and turbidity were measured at the laboratory according to the manufacturers' instructions using a Russell RL060C Portable Conductivity Meter (Thermo Scientific, MA, USA), UltraBasic pH meter (Denver Instrument, NY, USA), and a Turbidity Meter code 1970-EPA (LaMottee Company, MD, USA).

After collecting the water samples, all samples were placed on ice and transported to the laboratory and immediately processed for heterotrophic plate count.

3.3.3 Water Sample Processing, DNA Extraction, and Molecular Analysis

The details for water processing, DNA extraction, and molecular analysis are detailed in a preceding article (Logan-Jackson et al., 2020). In brief, a high-pressure single-use elution fluid canister (INNOVAPREP LLC, MO, USA) was used to concentrate the 10L to ~50ml, and each ultrafiltration concentrate was split into several 10ml subsamples.

3.3.4 DNA Extraction and Quantitative Detection of *Legionella* Droplet Digital PCR

This study followed the procedure described by Logan-Jackson et al., 2020. In brief, a 10ml subsample was filtered on to a polycarbonate filter inside of a sterilized 0.47mm magnetic filter funnel (PALL Corporation, MI, USA), and one aliquot per water sample was later used for ddPCR analysis.

Droplet digital PCR technology was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions to analyze each sample for total *Legionella* spp. (23S rRNA), and five pathogenic species (*L.pneumophila*, *L. anisa*, *L. micdadei*, *L. bozemanii*, and *L. longbeachae*). The primers and probes used in this study are described in detail in a previous publication (Logan-Jackson et al., 2020).

Each amplification ddPCR reaction mixture consisted of 2X supermix (no dUTP) (Bio-Rad Laboratories CA, USA), mixed with a final concentration of 900nM forward and reverse primers and 250nM probes (Eurofins Genomics Co., AL, USA), and up to 330 ng of DNA template in a final volume of 20 µL. Droplets were generated by a QX200 Droplet Generator, and endpoint PCR was performed in a T100 Thermal Cycler (Bio-Rad Laboratories). Thermal cycle conditions are detailed previously (Logan-Jackson et al., 2020). The plate was cooled for at least 30 minutes, and droplets were then read using a QX200 droplet reader (Bio-Rad QX200TM Droplet Digital PCR System, CA, USA). For each assay: water without template served as a notemplate control to detect environmental contamination; phosphate-buffer water served as a filtration blank; and there were five positive controls: *L. pneumophila, L. micdadei, L. anisa, L. bozemanii,* and *L. longbeachae*, were used to verify the assay performance.

Sample results were only considered for analysis when the reader accepted 10,000 or more droplets as part of the quality control, and unknown samples with three or more positive droplets per well were considered a true positive. All samples were performed in triplicate.

3.3.5 Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were conducted in GraphPad Prism 8 software (GraphPad Software, CA, USA). Statistical analysis, including One-way ANOVA, Pearson Correlation, and simple linear regression, were used to determine the significance of the findings. Sample concentrations

121

were transformed from gene copies (GC)/100 mL into log₁₀ GC/100 mL for statistical analysis. The biological data were expressed as the geometric mean, and chemical data were shown as arithmetic means with standard deviation. A geometric mean for each sample was calculated using all values from technical and biological replicates. Statistical results were interpreted at the level of significance p<0.05.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Characterization and Concentrations of *Legionella* 23S rRNA and Five Pathogenic *Legionella* Species

A total of 42 samples were analyzed during this study: 12 from the reservoir, 24 from the buildings, and six from the cooling towers (Table 3.4.2). *Legionella* spp. (23S rRNA) was found in 100% (42/42) of water samples at concentrations from 2.2 to 4.5 Log₁₀ GC/100ml. *Legionella pneumophila* was found in 57% (24/42) of the water samples, followed by *L. bozemanii* 52% (22/42), *L. longbeachae* 36% (15/42), *L. micdadei* 23% (10/42), *L. anisa* 21% (9/42) at geomean concentrations of 1.6, 1.8, 1.4, 1.7 and 1.6 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL respectively (Figure 3.4.1 and Table 3.4.2).





Total=42

3.4.2. Detection of 23S rRNA and Five *Legionella* Species from Groundwater Source to the taps in the Buildings, to the Cooling Towers

Total *Legionella* spp. were found in all sampling sites at concentrations that ranged from 2.2.6 to 4.5 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL. The concentration of total *Legionella* spp. in the influent of the reservoir was 3.2 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL but when the water was treated with chlorine the concentration of *Legionella* in the effluent of the reservoir decreased to 2.7 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL. The Log₁₀ GC/100 mL of total *Legionella* spp. in the influent water pipe (2.4), the cold- (2.6), and hot-water taps (2.2) of building Fa (closest to the reservoir) was about the same as effluent of the reservoir (2.7). The ERC building had a water age of 20.8 hours, and the concentration of total *Legionella* spp. significantly increased. Building ERC is furthest away from the reservoir, and the concentrations in the influent water pipe, cold- and hot water taps were 4.0, 4.5, and 4.3 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL, respectively. And as the water travel from the reservoir effluent to the

cooling towers, the concentrations of total *Legionella* spp. significantly (0.0003,) increased to 4.5 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL.

Overall, the average concentrations of total *Legionella* spp. (23S rRNA) in the cooling towers and in the ERC building (both influent, hot and cold water taps) were statistically and significantly higher than what was found in the influent and effluent of the reservoir, influent, cold- and hot-water taps of building Fa. (Figure 3.4.2). The *p* values were as follows: CT vs Res_In, (0.0156); CT vs Res_EF (0.0003); CT vs Fa_In (0.0006); CT Vs Fa_H (<0.0001); CT vs Fa_C (0.0001); ERC_C vs Res_EF (0.0043); ERC_C vs Fa_In (0.0036); ERC_C vs Fa_H (0.0002); ERC_C vs Fa_C (0.0020); ERC_H vs Res_EF (0.0152); ERC_H vs Fa_In (0.0107); ERC_H vs Fa_H (0.0007); ERC_H vs Fa_C (0.0074); ERC_In vs Fa_H (0.0091) (Figure 3.4.2).

Figure 3.4.2. Comparison of *Legionella* spp. (23S rRNA) in the Reservoir (Influent and Effluent), Buildings: F and ERC, and the Cooling Towers. The Water Age (hrs) in Res_In (4.5), Res_EF (3.4), Fa (9.2), ERC (20.8), and CT (?)



The geometric means presented in the paragraphs below are for each species. Pathogenic *Legionella* species were detected in the reservoir (influent and effluent), the buildings, and the cooling towers. *Legionella bozemanii, L. micdadei,* and *L. pneumophila* 1.3 were detected in the influent of the reservoir (Res_IN) at concentrations of 1.7, 1.5, 1.6 Log₁₀ GC/100mL, respectively. *Legionella pneumophila* and *L. bozemanii* were detected in the effluent of the reservoir at concentrations of 1.6 and 1.5 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL. *Legionella longbeachae, L. pneumophila,* and *L. micdadei* were detected in the influent water pipes of buildings Fa at a concentration of 1.7, 1.6, and 1.6 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL, respectively. *Legionella micdadei, L. bozemanii, L. pneumophila,* and *L. longbeachae,* and were detected in the influent water pipes of buildings ERC at a concentration

of 1.6, 1.4, 1.4, and 1.2 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL. *Legionella anisa* was not detected in the influents of either building (Table 3.4.2).

In building Fa, *L. pneumophila, L. bozemanii, L. longbeachae, L. micdadei,* and *L. anisa* were detected in the cold-water taps at a concentration of 1.4, 1.4, 1.2, 1.1, and 1.1 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL, respectively. *Legionella bozemanii, L. pneumophila, L. longbeachae,* and *L. anisa* were detected in the hot-water taps in building Fa at concentrations of 1.8, 1.6, 1.6, and 1.6 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL, respectively. In building ERC, *L. pneumophila,* was only detected in the cold-water taps at a concentration of 1.4 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL. *Legionella micdadei, L. bozemanii,* and *L. longbeachae* were detected in the hot-water taps in building ERC at a concentration of 2.2, 1.8, 1.7 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL (Table 3.4.2).

Pathogenic *Legionella* species were detected in the cooling towers and the water concentrations were higher than the detectable *Legionella* species in the building water system. In the cooling towers, *L. bozemanii* had the highest concentration at 3.0 followed by *L. pneumophila* (2.8), *L. micdadei* (2.4), *L. anisa* (2.1), and *L. longbeachae* at 1.5 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL (Table 3.4.2).

Depending on the location, pathogenic *Legionella* species were 10 to 1000-fold lower in concentration than total *Legionella* spp. (23S rRNA) in all water samples. For example, in the influent of the reservoir, *L. bozemanii, L. micdadei,* and *L. pneumophila* were 100-fold lower than total *Legionella* (23S rRNA). In the effluent of the reservoir, *L. pneumophila* and *L. bozemanii* were 10-fold lower than total *Legionella* (23S rRNA). The species were 10-fold lower in building Fa at any sampling site. In the ERC building, *L. pneumophila, L. bozemanii and L. longbeachae* were 1000-fold lower and *L. micdadei* was 100-fold lower than total *Legionella* (23S rRNA) spp. However, in the cooling towers, the five pathogenic species concentrations varied. For example, *L. longbeachae* were 1000-fold lower, *L. pneumophila, L. anisa,* and *L. micdadei,* were 100-fold

lower, and *L. bozemanii* 10-fold lower than total *Legionella* (23S rRNA) spp. Overall, five specific *Legionella* species does not account for the total *Legionella* spp. (23S rRNA) in either of the water samples (Table 3.4.2).

Legionella Species	CT (N=6)	ERC Hot Taps (N=3)	ERC Cold Taps (N=3)	ERC_IN (N=3)	Fa_Hot Taps (N=6)	Fa_Cold Taps (N=6)	Fa_IN (N=3)	Res_EF (N=6)	Res_In (N=6)
Legionella spp. (23S rRNA) (%+)	100% (6/6)	100% (3/3)	100% (3/3)	100% (3/3)	100% (6/6)	100% (6/6)	100% (3/3)	100% (6/6)	100% (6/6)
<i>Legionella</i> spp. (238 rRNA) Geomean (Log ₁₀ GC/100ml)	4.5	4.3	4.5	4.0	2.2	2.6	2.4	2.7	3.2
L. pneumophila (%+)	83% (5/6)	0% (0/6)	66% (2/3)	33% (1/3)	33% (2/6)	33% (2/6)	66% (2/3)	83% (5/6)	83% (5/6)
<i>L. pneumophila</i> Geomean (Log ₁₀ GC/100ml)	2.8	ND	1.4	1.4	1.680oj9	1.4	1.6	1.6	1.3
L. micdadei (%+)	33% (2/6)	66% (2/3)	0% (0/3)	66% (2/3)	0% (0/6)	16% (1/6)	66% (2/3)	0% (0/6)	16% (1/6)
<i>L. micdadei</i> Geomean (Log ₁₀ GC/100ml)	2.4	2.2	ND	1.6	ND	1.1	1.6	ND	1.5
L. bozemanii (%+)	100% (6/6)	33% (1/3)	0% (0/3)	100% (3/3)	16% (1/6)	16% (1/6)	0% (0/3)	100% (6/6)	66% (4/6)
<i>L. bozemanii</i> Geomean (Log ₁₀ GC/100ml)	3.0	1.8	ND	1.4	1.8	1.4	ND	1.5	1.7

Table 3.4.2 *Legionella* Species in the Reservoir (Influent and Effluent), Influent, Cold- and Hot-water Taps of Buildings Fa, ERC, and the Cooling Towers (CT)

Table 3.4.2 (cont'd)

L. longbeachae	50%	33%	0%	100%	50%	66%	33%	0%	0%
(%+)	(3/6)	(1/3)	(0/3)	(3/3)	(3/6)	(4/6)	(1/3)	(0/6)	(0/6)
<i>L. longbeachae</i> Geomean (Log ₁₀ GC/100ml)	1.5	1.7	ND	1.2	1.6	1.2	1.7	ND	ND
L. anisa	66%	0%	0%	0%	66%	16%	0%	0%	0%
(%+)	(4/6)	(0/3)	(0/3)	(0/3)	(4/6)	(1/6)	(0/3)	(0/6)	(0/6)
<i>L. anisa</i> Geomean (Log ₁₀ GC/100ml)	2.1	ND	ND	ND	1.6	1.1	ND	ND	ND
3.4.3 Water Quality Parameters

The water quality characteristics of the reservoir, the buildings, and the cooling towers are presented in Table 3.4.3. Water temperature in the reservoir (influent and effluent) ranged from 11.6 to 12.3°C; the free chlorine residual in the reservoir influent was 0, and in the reservoir effluent, it ranged from 0.04 to 0.64. The conductivity ranged from 620 to 1032 μ S/cm and the turbidity ranged from 1.08 to 9.55; the pH ranged from 7.1 to 7.4. The HPCs in the reservoir influent ranged from 1.50 X 101 to 7.80 X 101 CFU/100ml, and decreased in the reservoir effluent, and ranged from 1.0 X 100 to 6.0 X 100 CFU/100ml. The water quality parameters between the building influents of F and ERC were statistically different from each other. The water temperatures, turbidity, pH, and HPC (cold and hot) on both floors in building ERC were statistically different from building Fa (Table 3.6.3). A higher variance of the all water quality parameters was noted in the cooling towers. Interestingly, total coliforms and *E. coli* were seen in the cooling towers at 17.3 and 666.6 MPN/100 mL, respectively (Table 3.4.3).

Table 3.4.3. Water Quality Parameters of the Reservoir (Influent and Effluent), the Buildings (Fa and ERC), and the Cooling Towers

Temperature (°C)	Total Chlorine (mg/L)	Free Chlorine (mg/L)	Turbidity NTU	рН	Conductivity (mS)	Composite CT1-2 HPC (CFU/100 mL)	Composite CT1-2 Total Coliforms (MPN/100 mL)	Composite CT1-2 E. <i>coli</i> (MPN/100 mL)
			Reservo	oir In	fluent (N=6)			
12.1	0	0	4.1	7.2	851	3.52 X 101	<1	<1
			Reservo	ir Ef	fluent (N=6)			
11.9	0.64	0.33	3.85	7.2	855	2.10 X 100	<1	<1
Building F Influent (N=3)								
26.8	0.41	0.35	8.4	7.3	897	8.57 X 104	<1	<1
	I	Building I	Fa 1st Floo	r Co	ld and (Hot T	(N=6)		
26.7	0.16	0.14	3.06	7.2	867	1.02 X 104	<1	<1
(28.6)	(0.04)	(0.02)	(0.53)	(7.1)	(815)	(7.3 X 10 ₃)	(<1)	(<1)
	B	uilding F	Ta 2nd Floo	or Co	old and (Hot '	Гарs) (N=6)	
26.8 (28.8)	0.05 (0.02)	0.03 (0)	3.37 (0.67)	7.0 (6.9)	856 (822)	2.00 X 104 (3.15 X 103)	<1 (<1)	<1 (<1)
		•	Building H	ERC	Influent (N=3	3)		
31.5	0.31	0.20	12.5	7.4	883	4.32 X 105	<1	<1
Building ERC 1st Floor Cold and (Hot Taps) (N=6)								
23.5	0.09	0.03	5.97	7.6	866	4.38 X 105 (6.80 X	<1	<1
(24.5)	(0.04)	(0)	(6.27)	(7.5)	(847)	105)	(<1)	(<1)
Cooling Towers								
25.3	0.49	0.08	1.94	8.2	2564	2.35 X 107	666.6	17.3

3.4.4 Relationship of *Legionella* 23S to Water Quality Parameters

Figure 3.4.4 shows the Pearson correlation between *Legionella* 23S rRNA and four water quality parameters (HPCs, pH, water temperature, and turbidity). In the hot-water taps in the premises of Fa and ERC, there was a strong positive correlation between *Legionella* 23S rRNA and HPCs (R=0.9), and turbidity (R=0.9). There was a moderate positive and a strong negative correlation between *Legionella* 23S rRNA and pH (R=0.67), and water temperature (R=-0.7), respectively. The relationship between *Legionella* 23S rRNA and four water quality parameters (HPCs, pH, water temperature, and turbidity) was statistically significant (Figure 3.4.4).

Figure 3.4.4. Correlation Between 4 Water Quality Parameters (HPCs, pH, temperature and turbidity) and *Legionella spp.* 23S rRNA. The Color Coding for Each Building is as Follows: Green: Fa; Purple: ERC



3.5 Discussion

3.5.1 Identification and Quantification of Total *Legionella* (23S rRNA) and Five Pathogenic Species from Source to Exposure Sites

Legionella spp. are a consistent part of the water microbiome and have been previously described in groundwater (Brooks et al., 2004; Costa et al., 2005; Wullings and van der Kooij, 2006), influent water pipes (Peter and Routledge, 2018,;Wang et al., 2015; Pierre et al., 2019; Buse et al., 2017), cold- (Donuhue et al., 2014; Lu et al., 2017; Lesnik et al., 2016), and hot-water taps (Totaro et al., 2017; Lu et al., 2017; Lesnik et al., 2016), and cooling towers (Li et al.,

2015; Zhang et al., 2017; Hamiliton et al., 2018). The concentrations of Legionella spp. delivered to the taps from the water source may be due in part to the difference in disinfection used by the water utility (Hull et al., 2017), after delivery, there are key factors that have been suggested to influence the bacteria occurrence and concentrations in building water systems, such as water temperatures (Rhoads et al., 2015; Dilger et al., 2017), lower water usage (Rhoads et al., 2015) and water stagnation (Ji et al., 2015). Legionella spp. concentrations in groundwater (Costa et al., 2005; Riffard et al., 2001), and in building water systems (Pierre et al., 2019, Rodríguez-Martínez et al., 2015) have been described previously as high as 103 CFU/L. In contrast, Legionella concentration in cooling towers identified by the colony-forming unit has been shown to be 8.8 X 104 CFU/L (Li et al., 2015), but when identified by molecular analysis, Legionella densities reached up to 106 GU/L (Farhat et al., 2018). In this study, the concentrations (102 - 104Log10 GC/100 mL) of total Legionella spp. (23S rRNA) in groundwater, building water systems, and cooling towers by molecular analysis were similar to Lagana et al., 2019; Valcina et al., 2019; Farhat et al., 2018; Wullings et al., 2011 and Wullings and van der Kooij, 2006). Rivera et al., 2007 found higher occurrence and concentrations of *Legionella* spp. in cooling towers 23.8% (112/373) relative to tap water 2.2% (2/373) but with little difference in concentrations of 3.60 X 103 and 3.17 X 103 Log10 CFU/mL. However, this study found a higher occurrence and concentration of *Legionella* species in the cooling towers compared to the building water system (reservoir and the taps).

While there have been some studies to reveal the differences of total *Legionella* spp. from finished water in a drinking water treatment plant (Ma et al., 2020), source water to taps (Hull et al., 2017; Lesnik et al., 2016), there are only a couple of studies to enumerate pathogenic *Legionella* spp. from groundwater (Wullings et al., 2011; Wullings and van der Kooij, 2006),

tap water (Lagana et al., 2019; Dilger et al., 2017; Leoni et al., 2005), cooling towers (Fragou et al., 2012), or a complete water supply chain (Lesnik et al., 2016) (Table 3.5.1).

The studies described below detected a variety of specific *Legionella* spp.; however, the present focus is on the species that are mostly associated with human disease, L. pneumophila, L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii, and L. longbeachae. Legionella anisa, L. micdadei, and L. *bozemanii*, were detected in water utilities that were supplied by surface water and groundwater; these species were identified by cloning and sequencing of *Legionella* specific 16S rRNA gene; however, the concentrations were not given (Wullings et al., 2011; Wullings and van der Kooij, 2006). In disagreement with this study, L. pneumophila was not detected in the water utility that was served by groundwater (Wullings et al., 2011; Wullings and van der Kooij, 2006), but its concentration in another utility supplied by surface water ranged from 1.0 X 103 to 2.0 X 104 (Wullings and van der Kooij, 2006). Legionella pneumophila. L. bozemanii, and L. micdadei were detected in tap water and identified by serology; the species consolidated concentrations ranged from 102 - 105 CFU/L-1 (Lagana et al., 2019). The Bruker MALDI Biotyper System was used to identify L. pneumophila, L. anisa, and L. bozemanii in tap water, but the individual concentrations were not given (Dilger et al., 2017). Legionella pneumophila, L. anisa, L. bozemanii, and L. micdadei were detected in tap water in apartments, hotels, and hospitals, by a serological test, and the concentrations were grouped into one category (Leoni et al., 2005). In apartments with a centralized water system, hotels, and hospitals, the concentration of nonpneumophila spp. was 400 – 3.3 X 103, 103 – 4.7 X 104, and 25 – 2.7 X 103 CFU/L-1, respectively. Since non-Legionella pneumophila spp. account for a low percentage (~10%) of community-acquired LD, the majority of studies only focus on L. pneumophila, the etiological agent responsible for LD. Even when studies detect non-Legionella pneumophila spp. (as

described above) there isn't specific information on individual species percent positive or its concentrations, and the identified non-*Legionella pneumophila* spp. are consolidated into a single category (Table 3.5.1).

Similar to this study, Fragou et al., 2012 examined the occurrence and concentration of pathogenic *Legionella* spp. in taps of large buildings (hospitals and hotels) and cooling towers. *Legionella pneumophila, L. anisa, L. bozemanii,* and *L. longbeachae,* were detected in tap water, and cooling towers by an agglutination test and DNA sequencing (Fragou et al., 2012). *L. pneumophila* concentration ranged from $10_2 - 10_3$ CFU/ L-1 in hot and cold water, and interestingly the concentration was 10_2 CFU/ L- in the cooling towers. The data on the concentration of *L. anisa, L. bozemanii,* and *L. longbeachae* was not shown; these species were analyzed for phylogenetic purposes to determine the relationship between environmental species, thus there was less focus on specific species concentration (Fragou et al., 2012).

Lesnik et al., 2016 examined pathogenic *Legionella* species from source to taps in the premise. *Legionella longbeachae*, *L. pneumophila*, and *L. anisa* were detected in the raw water (untreated), treated water, and tap water (Lesnik et al., 2016). However, the average concentration of *L. longbeachae* (cold: 3.44 X 10s; hot: 1.36 X 10₆), *L. pneumophila* (hot: 8.87 X 10s), and *L. anisa* (cold: 2.11 X 10s) were only given for the tap water (cold and/or hot). The concentrations of *L. longbeachae*, *L. pneumophila* and *L. anisa* are inconsistent with the present study; *L. pneumophila*, *L. anisa*, *L. micdadei*, *L. bozemanii* and *L. longbeachae* were near the detection limit (1.3 Log₁₀ GC/100 ml) in the reservoir, and within the buildings influent and tap samples, but the concentrations were higher in the cooling towers, ranging from 1.5 to 3.0 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL (Table 3.5.1).

Table 3.5.1. Legionella spp. in Raw Water, Treated Water, Tap Water, and Cooling Towers.Labeled Source Acronyms (*) Indicate Concentration Data Not Shown

Source	Water type	Concentrations	Reference:
Surface water	Finished water from four drinking water treatment plant	2.85, 4.35, 2.39, 3.01 Log GC/ mL	Ma et al., 2020
Surface water	Raw water*, finished water*, tap water*	Data not shown	Hull et al., 2017
Surface water	Raw water*, treated water*, cold and hot drinking water	3.44 X 105 1.36 X 106 cells liter-1	Lesnik et al., 2016
Groundwater	Raw water Treated water	2.9 X 10 ₂ 2.5 X 10 ₃ cells liter-1	Wullings et al., 2011
Surface and Groundwater	Raw water (surface and ground water), Treated water (surface and groundwater)	2.5 X 106, 2.5 X 104 cells liter-1 7.8 X 105, 9.8 X 104 cells liter-1	Wullings and van der Kooij, 2006
Groundwater	Tap water	Range: 102 - 105 CFU/ L-1	Lagana et al., 2019
Information not given	Tap water	Range: 102-104 CFU/100 mL	Dilger et al., 2017
Information not given	Tap water Cooling towers	Range: 102 - 104 CFU/ L-1	Fragou et al., 2012
Surface water	Tap water	Range: 25–97,500 CFU/ L-1	Leoni et al., 2005

3.5.2 Legionella spp. (23S rRNA) and water age

Previous studies (Hull et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2015; Rhoads et al., 2020) have shown how water age influences *Legionella* spp. on an experimental laboratory scale; however, there are only a couple of studies that demonstrated this observation in a natural system (Nguyen et al., 2012 and Rhoads et al., 2016). In contrast to this study, Nguyen et al., 2012 and Rhoads et al., 2014 determined water age by water usage patterns within premise plumbing systems. Nguyen et al., 2012 compared four sites and three out of four sites had toilets. Nguyen et al., 2012 did a flushing test (flushing the taps). Since one site lacked a toilet (demand of heavy water use from toilets is decreased), it was suggested lower water usage pattern (from the lack of toilet flushing) was directly related to higher water age. Legionella species were not detected in any water samples despite the water usage patterns (Nguyen et al., 2012). Rhoads et al., 2016 surveyed four buildings that were different in terms of water age. Each building had different estimates on water age; the hydraulic retention time for each house is as follows: one conventional house with no conservation features (~ one day), a healthcare facility (~8 days), a net-zero energy house (~2.7 days), and a net-zero water office building (30 to 180 days). Three buildings are green except for the conventional house. Quantitative PCR (qPCR) data showed that Legionella spp. were detected in all three green buildings, whereas it was not in the conventional building (Rhoads et al., 2016). Having a lower water age is consistent with no detection or a lower concentration of Legionella spp. in plumbing systems. The study described herein evaluated the water age as it relates to pipe mileage from the reservoir to the premise for buildings Fa and ERC, which are closer and furthest from the reservoir, respectively. Building ERC had an increase in Legionella 23S rRNA from the closest building (Fa). Interestingly, building ERC has a cooling tower (heavy water demand), and building Fa lacks a cooling tower,

(lack of heavy water demand), thus the increase in *Legionella* spp. observed in building ERC is not directly related to water usage, it related to the water age in the distribution and the premise plumbing system.

3.5.3 Correlation Between Legionella spp. and Water Quality Parameters

The results of the relationships between the bacteria and other water quality variables are mixed. Some reports also showed a statistically significant correlation between HPCs (De Filippis et al., 2018), turbidity (Valster et al., 2011), pH (Walczak et al., 2016), and water temperature (De Giglio et al., 2019) with Legionella spp. However, others found no correlations between Legionella spp. and HPCs, pH, and water temperature (Pierre et al., 2017), and turbidity (Liu et al., 2019). Like this study, Lesnik et al., 2016 did not observe a correlation between specific Legionella species (L. pneumophila, L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii, and L. *longbeachae*) and water temperature; this null finding suggests the need for further exploration with larger data sets. There is not a correlation within buildings, but between buildings; thus, it is recommended that one examine the buildings' water quality with large volume composite sampling to begin to define further what characteristics are important to risk. Although there was not a correlation between *Legionella* spp. and physiochemical parameters in the cooling towers, this water type is a significant reservoir for the growth of *Legionella* due to the warm water temperatures. The concentrations of Legionella spp. (23S rRNA) were relatively abundant in the cooling towers (4.5 Log10 GC/ 100 mL), which is higher than the safety levels established in ASHRAE 2018-188. Legionella species associated with human disease have been detected in cooling towers (Bacigalupe et al., 2017; Thornley et al., 2017). Legionella spp. aerosolizing from cooling towers may be more likely to reach deep into the lungs; thus, a monitoring scheme is vital to assess whether a system is over the recommended threshold. Moreover, a monitoring

scheme could result in improved control measures for species (*L. pneumophila, L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii,* and *L. longbeachae*) that are associated with human disease.

3.6 Conclusions

Overall, these data demonstrate that water age likely plays the most major role in the increase of *Legionella* spp., as seen in the ERC building. Buildings furthest away from water utilities may face challenges in water quality, such as a loss of disinfectant residual, lower (<55) hot water temperatures, and higher (>20) cold-water temperatures. The reduce chlorine and changes in water temperature over time consequently creates an optimal environment for the growth of *Legionella* spp. in a drinking water system. Thus, there needs to be strategies for monitoring drinking water systems to evaluate whether the distribution and premise plumbing systems are at risk for an increase of *Legionella*. Additionally, a routine monitoring scheme is critical to assess and verify the safety in drinking water as it relates to water-related pathogens, such as *Legionella*.

Since 2009, *L. pneumophila* has been on the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) Candidate Contaminant List (CCL); thus, there are reasons to believe that there should be federal regulations for monitoring and controlling this primary water-related bacterium. Ultimately, a routine monitoring scheme would decrease the morbidity and mortality rate of LD—caused by *L. pneumophila*, *L. anisa*, *L. bozemanii*, *L. micdadei*, *and L. longbeachae* in common exposure sites (taps and cooling towers) where conditions are favorable for their proliferation, and where *Legionella*-containing aerosols are generated.

CHAPTER FOUR

CO-OCCURRENCE OF FIVE PATHOGENIC *LEGIONELLA* SPP. AND TWO AMOEBAE SPP. IN A COMPLETE DRINKING WATER SYSTEM AND COOLING TOWERS

4.1 Abstract

Pathogenic Legionella species grow optimally inside free-living amoebae to concentrations that increase risks to those who are exposed. The aim of this study was to screen a complete drinking water system and cooling towers for the occurrence of *Acanthamoeba* spp., and *Naegleria fowleri* and their cooccurrence with general *Legionella* spp. (23S rRNA), L. pneumophila, L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii, and L. longbeachae. A total of 42 largevolume water samples, including 12 from the reservoir (water source), 24 from two buildings (influents to the buildings and exposure sites (taps)), and six cooling towers were collected and analyzed using droplet digitalTM PCR (ddPCRTM). Altogether, 47% (20/42) of the water samples were positive for free-living amoebae, and Naegleria *fowleri* was the most detected species 40% (17/42) followed by Acanthamoeba spp. 19% (8/42). In 69% (29/42) of the samples (both positive and negative), L. micdadei and L. bozemanii cooccurred with Naegleria fowleri. In the building water system, the concentrations of L. micdadei, L. bozemanii and Naegleria fowleri ranged from 1.5 to 1.6 Log10 Gene Copies (GC)/100 mL, but and the concentrations of species in the cooling towers were higher. For instance, L. bozemanii and Naegleria fowleri was found at the highest concentrations, which was the same concentration for both species, 3.0 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL. The data obtained in this study illustrates the ecology of pathogenic Legionella species in two exposure sites. Investigating *Legionella*'s ecology within exposure sites (taps and cooling towers) will hopefully lead to better control of these pathogenic species in the drinking water supply system and cooling towers.

4.2 Introduction

Free-living amoebae species are found in various natural and engineered water systems, such as surface water, groundwater, drinking water supply systems, hot springs, and cooling

towers (Armand et al., 2016; Lares-García et al., 2018; Baquero et al., 2014; Delafont et al., 2013; Retana-Moreira et al., 2014; Canals et al., 2015; Ren et al., 2018). *Acanthamoeba* and *Naegleria* are the two most common genera that are frequently isolated from aquatic environments (Liu et al., 2006; Thomas et al., 2006; Thomas et al., 2008; Rohr et al., 1998; Buse et al., 2013). Similarly, to free-living amoebae, *Legionella* spp. are found in natural water bodies (surface water, groundwater, and hot springs) (De Giglio et al., 2019; Shen et al., 2015; Ishizaki et al., 2016) and human-made systems (swimming pools, drinking water supply systems, and cooling towers) (as reviewed by Leoni et al., 2018).

Free-living amoebae play an important role in harboring *Legionella* in aquatic systems (Shaheen et al., 2019; Gomes et al., 2020). For example, the growth and survival habitat of Legionella in the environment is within free-living amoebae (Hsu et al., 2015; Abu Kwaik et al. 1998; Marciano-Cabral 2004). The symbiotic relationship confers protection from disinfectants at concentrations that kill Legionella spp. but not amoebae spp. in treated water supply systems (Kilvington and Price 1990; Thomas et al. 2004; Molmeret et al. 2005; Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010). Amoebae cysts are resistant to harsh environments due to the process of encystment; this process makes amoebae able to survive and proliferate in treated water supplies (Neff et al., 1964; De Jonckheere and van de Voorde 1976; Sarkar and Gerba, 2012; Coulon et al., 2010; Cursons et al., 1980; Greub et al., 2003; Marciano-Cabral et al., 2003; Majid et al., 2017). Particularly, Acanthamoeba spp. and Naegleria fowleri are suitable hosts for Legionella spp. because their cysts are resistant against disinfectants, changes in pH, temperature, osmolarity, and UV (Kilvington and Price 1990; Cervero-Aragó et al., 2014; Shaheen et al., 2019). For instance, the effect of UV irradiation on free-living Legionella and Legionella associated Acanthamoeba were examined to determine its effectiveness in controlling both pathogens

(Cervero-Aragó et al., 2014). UV treatment was effective against free-living *Legionella* and the trophozoite form of amoebae. Still, the results showed that the association of *L. pneumophila* with cyst-formed-*Acanthamoeba* decreases the effectiveness of UV irradiation (Cervero-Aragó et al., 2014). Another study shows a similar trend but with a different environmental condition. *Legionella* and *A. polyphaga* were inoculated together to determine the effect of temperature on both species (Shaheen et al., 2019). High temperatures of 40 °C induced the cyst form of *Legionella* associated *A. polyphaga* (Shaheen et al., 2019). Indeed, the cyst form serves as a protection for *Legionella*.

Several lines of evidence suggest that Acanthamoeba spp. are low-temperature amoebae while Naegleria fowleri is a thermotolerant amoeba (Kang et al., 2020; Lam et al., 2019; Xue et al., 2018; Nielsen et al., 2014; Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010). Temperature tolerance of the genera Acanthamoeba and Naegleria species was conducted using a temperature gradient block, which ranged from 29 to 48°C (Griffin et al., 1972). Two species of Naegleria (N. fowleri and N. gruberi), and six species of Acanthamoeba (A. culbertsoni, A. rhysodes, A. polyphaga, A.castellanii, A.astronyxis, and A.palestinensis) were tested (Griffin et al., 1972). Acanthamoeba species, except A. culbertsoni, did not grow pass 37°C and Naegleria fowleri was able to grow at 45°C (Griffin et al., 1972). Another study showed a similar trend by comparing clinical and environmental strains of free-living amoebae. Four clinical and two environmental strains of A. castellanii were examined for its growth rate and temperature tolerance by applying a temperature gradient that ranged between 22 to 36 (Nielsen et al., 2014). The optimal growth temperature for all six strains of Acanthamoeba species ranged between 30 to 33°C, and the generation time was ranged from 7-12 hours (Nielsen et al., 2014). Because *N. fowleri* actively grows at 42°C with a generation time of 3hr, there is

evidence to believe that this organism has a high optimal temperature for its growth (Goudout et al., 2012). Thus, temperature influences growth of *Acanthamoeba* and *Naegleria* (Nielsen et al., 2014; Goudout et al., 2012).

Water temperatures in man-made environments may also affect the detection of freeliving amoebae. One study suggested that water temperatures via environmentally (seasonal influence) affected the dynamics of free-living amoebae species within a distribution system (Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010). Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010 surveyed tap water from a community drinking water system in March and September from two different geographical areas in the United States. Surface water supplied both water utilities, and the temperature in the distribution system ranged from 4 to 28°C (Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010). But the temperature of the tap water was undisclosed (Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010). Nevertheless, in both sampling events (March and September), *Legionella*, and free-living amoebae were detected. Interestingly, Acanthamoeba spp. was detected in the spring water samples, whereas Naegleria was detected in the autumn samples by PCR. Another study surveyed two chlormianted drinking water distribution systems in Virginia and Florida during the warmer months. The Virginia water utility supplying the water in the city uses surface water, and the Florida water utility uses a blend of surface, ground, and desalinated water. Water samples were collected from residential houses with various water ages (Wang et al., 2012). Wang et al., 2012 showed that Acanthamoeba spp. and Legionella pneumophila were less abundant from both sampling locations (Virginia and Florida), indicating that its low abundance may be relative to higher ambient temperature, humidity, and water chemistry (Wang et al., 2012). While both of these studies demonstrate that the difference in detection of free-living amoebae and *Legionella* may be seasonally influenced via water temperature, there was not any

comparison on their detection in a groundwater source (which would not be affected by ambient temperatures). Interestingly, either study did not determine whether or not the detection of free-living amoebae and *Legionella* cooccurred in the same water sample.

There are limited studies examining their cooccurrence in a complete drinking water system and cooling towers, collectively. The cooccurrence of *Legionella* spp. and free-living amoebae have been examined solely in a drinking water supply system (Valcina et al., 2019), a hospital water network (Muchesa et al., 2018), and cooling towers (Scheikl et al., 2014). Each study described below collected a small volume of the water sample, which ranged from 100 mL to 1000 mL (Valcina et al., 2019; Muchesa et al., 2018; Scheikl et al., 2014). In one study, a total of 268 water samples were collected, and Legionella and free-living amoebae were detected by culture and PCR methods (Valcina et al., 2019). Out of 268 drinking water supply samples, Legionella and amoebae spp. (Acanthamoeba, Vermaoeba, and Naegleria) cooccurred in 114, and both species were negative in 61 samples (Valcina et al., 2019). Valcina et al., 2019 also detected other Legionella species, such as Legionella rubrilucens (observed in seven samples, 6.1%), and Legionella anisa (found in two samples 1.8%). However, this study grouped all the Legionella species together and did not show the specific cooccurrence between Legionella and free-living amoebae. Nevertheless, there were no *Legionella* spp. positive samples in the absence of free-living amoebae (Valcina et al., 2019). A total of 98 water and biofilm samples were collected from the sterilization unit, theatres, neonatal ward, and intensive care units and analyzed by culture and PCR methods (Muchesa et al., 2018). Amoebae species were isolated from 71 of the 98 samples. More specifically, Vermamoeba vermiformis (n=68) and Acanthamoeba (n=30) were isolated from 69.4, and 30.6% of the bulk water and biofilm samples, respectively (Muchesa et al., 2018). Interestingly, Legionella pneumophila cooccurred

in 9.9% (7/71) of the amoebae positive samples by qPCR (Muchesa et al., 2018). Another study collected a total of 201 water samples from cooling towers, paper machines, and sewage plants (Scheikl et al., 2014). By cultivation, serology, and PCR methods, only 57 samples were positive for both *Legionella* and free-living amoebae (*Acanthamoeba*, *Vermaoeba*, and *Naegleria*). *Legionella* spp. cooccurred with *Acanthamoeba* (n= 19), *Vermaoeba* (n=16), and *Naegleria* (n=1) in 33.3, 28.1, and 1.75%, respectively (Scheikl et al., 2014). Among 57 cooccurrence samples, 70.1% (n=40) were specifically positive for *L. pneumophila*. Among the 40 samples, *L. pneumophila* cooccurred with *V. vermiformis* in 12.5% (n=5), and *Acanthamoeba* cooccurred with *L. pneumophila*, in 27.5% (n=11). Each study above focused mainly on the cooccurrence of *Legionella pneumophila* and various amoebae species by collecting a small volume (1L or less) of the sample. The differences in the cooccurrence of amoebae and *Legionella* species in the studies described above could potentially be due to a sampling bias. Thus, sampling a small volume of water may not represent the true distribution of pathogenic amoebae and coexisting *Legionella* spp. in the environment.

The present paper is aimed at filling in the knowledge gaps in the distribution of pathogenic amoebae spp. and *Legionella* spp. by collecting a large volume of bulk water from a drinking water source, building water system, and cooling towers, all served by a groundwater source. Utilizing ddPCR, this study addressed the following objectives (i) identify the cooccurrence of pathogenic *Legionella* spp. (*L. pneumophila*, *L. anisa*, *L. longbeachae*, *L. bozemanii*, and *L. micdadei*) and virulent amoebae spp. (*Naegleria fowleri* and *Acanthamoeba* pathogenic spp.) in a complete water supply chain and cooling towers, (ii) examine the difference in occurrence and concentration of *Naegleria fowleri* and *Acanthamoeba* pathogenic spp. in a groundwater source, building water system, and cooling towers.

4.3 Materials and Methods

4.3.1 Sampling

Details on the sample collection are described in an earlier publication (Logan-Jackson et al., 2020). In brief, a total of 42 large-volume samples were collected from the reservoir (influent and effluent pipes), two research buildings (F, and ERC), and ten cooling towers on Michigan State University campus in East Lansing, Michigan from July to August 2019. Ten liters were collected from each site location (reservoir, building, and cooling towers) in a carboy containing 10% sodium thiosulfate. There were six samples collected from the influent and effluent of the reservoir, 24 from the buildings (15 from building F, nine from building ERC), and six from the cooling towers. Each water sample was processed immediately after collection.

4.3.2 Chemical and Physical Analyses

A 300ml sample was collected separately from the large volume (mentioned above) for chemical and physical parameters. The water samples were analyzed for temperature and chlorine residuals (total and free) onsite using calibrated thermometers and the Test Kit Pocket Colorimeter II (HACH, CO, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. After sampling, conductivity, pH, and turbidity were measured offsite according to the manufacturers' instructions using a Russell RL060C Portable Conductivity Meter (Thermo Scientific, MA, USA), UltraBasic pH meter (Denver Instrument, NY, USA), and a Turbidity Meter code 1970-EPA (LaMotte Company, MD, USA).

4.3.3 Molecular Analysis of Acanthamoeba spp., Naegleria fowleri, and Legionella spp.

Water sample processing and DNA extraction were done using a protocol previously described (Logan-Jackson et al., 2020). Genomic DNA from *Acanthamoeba* castellani strain

Neff (ATCC® 30010тм) and *Naegleria fowleri* (ATCC® 30174тм) was obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Va, USA).

Droplet digital PCR technology was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions to analyze each water sample for five *Legionella* pathogenic species (*L. pneumophila, L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii, and L. longbeachae*), and two free-living amoebae species (*Acanthamoeba* spp. and *Naegleria fowleri*). The primers and probes used in this study are listed in Table 4.3.3. Duplex reactions for *Legionella* are detailed in a preceding article (Logan-Jackson et al., 2020). The description of the duplex reactions for free-living amoebae are listed in Table 4.3.3.

In brief, the reaction mixture consisted of 2X supermix (no dUTP), (Bio-Rad Laboratories CA, USA), 900nM forward and reverse primers and 250nM for each probe ((Eurofins Genomics Co., AL, USA), and up to 330 ng of DNA template, to a final volume of 20 ul. Droplets were generated using the QX200TM Droplet Generator Bio-Rad) and transfer of emulsified samples to a ddPCR 96-well plate (semi-skirted) was performed according to manufacturer's instructions (Instruction Manual, QX200TM Droplet Generator – Bio-Rad). The ddPCRTM plate was sealed with a pierceable foil heat seals using a PX1TM PCR Plate Sealer (Bio-Rad, Laboratories, CA USA). The plate was amplified using a Benchmark TC9639 thermal cycler (Benchmark Scientific Inc, NJ, USA). The cycling protocol was as follows: 95°C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles of 94°C for 30 sec and 57°C for 1 min with a final 10 min cycle at 98°C for 10 min. After endpoint amplification, droplets were read using a QX200 droplet reader (Bio-Rad QX200TM Droplet DigitalTM PCR System, CA, USA). Negative and positive controls were used to determine contamination (if any) and the efficiency of the assay.

Target Species	Primer/Probe name	Primer/Probe Sequence	Reference
Acanthamoeba spp.	18S rRNAF 18S rRNAR 18S rRNAP	5'-CGACCAGCGATTAGGAGACG-3' 5'-CCGACGCCAAGGACGAC-3' 5'-FAM- TGAATACAAAACACCACCATCGGCGC- BHQ1-3'	Riviere et al., 2006;
Naegleri fowleri	ITSF ITSR ITSP	5'-GTGAAAACCTTTTTTCCATTTACA-3' 5'-AAATAAAAGATTGACCATTTGAAA- 3' 5'-HEX-GTGGCCCACGACAGCTTT- BHQ1-3'	Pélandakis et al., 2000

 Table 4.3.3.
 Free-living Amoebae Primers and Probes.

4.3.4 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed in GraphPad Prism 8 software (GraphPad Software, CA, USA). Principal component analyses, contingency tables, chi-squared tests, Pearson correlation, and regression analysis were used to evaluate the associations between the occurrence of *Legionella* spp. and free-living amoebae. Additionally, the principal component analysis was also conducted to assess the associations between the cooccurrence and water quality parameters.

Sample concentrations were transformed from gene copies (GC)/100 mL into Log₁₀ GC/100mL. Biological data were expressed as geometric means, and chemical data were shown as arithmetic means with standard deviation. Statistical results were interpreted at the level of significance p<0.05.

4.4 Results

Free-living amoebae were detected in 47% (20/42) of the water samples. *Naegleria fowleri* occurrence rate was higher 40% (17/42) than detectable *Acanthamoeba* spp. 19% (8/42).

In the drinking water system (Fa, ERC, and RES_IN, and RES_EF), *Acanthamoeba* spp. only occurred in 8% (3/36), while *Naegleria fowleri* occurred in 33% (12/36). The concentrations of *Acanthamoeba* spp. in building F ranged from 1.1 to 1.4 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL. The concentrations of *Naegleria fowleri* in the reservoir, and building ERC ranged from 1.3 to 1.7 and 1.1 to 1.8 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL, respectively (Table 4.4.1). Water samples collected from the cooling towers were higher in percentage positives for *Acanthamoeba* spp. 83% (5/6) and *Naegleria fowleri* 83% (5/6) than the drinking water system (Fa, ERC, and RES_IN, and RES_EF). The concentrations of *Acanthamoeba* spp. and *Naegleria fowleri* in the cooling towers, ranged from 2.0 to 2.5 and 1.3 to 2.4 Log₁₀ GC/100 mL, respectively (Table 4.4.1).

Table 4.4.1. The Occurrence of Two Amoebae spp. in 42 Water Samples Collected from the Reservoir, Buildings, and Cooling Towers. The Water Age in Res_In (4.5), Res_EF (3.4), Fa (9.2), ERC (20.8), and CT (?)

	Site Location				
Free-living amoebae	Res_I	n Res	_EF	Fa	ERC
			СТ		
Acanthamoeba spp.	0/6	0/6	3/15	0/9	5/6
(%+)	(0%)	(0%)	(20%)	(0%)	(83%)
Acanthamoeba spp. Min, and Max Geomean (Log10 GC/100ml)	ND	ND	1.1, 1.4	ND	2.0, 2.5
Naegleria fowleri (%+)	5/6 (83%)	1/6 (16%)	0/15 (0%)	6/9 (66%)	5/6 (83%)
Naegleria fowleri Min, and Max Geomean (Log10 GC/100ml)	1.3, 1.7	1.5a	ND	1.1, 1.8	2.3, 3.4

aOnly value detected.

Figure 4.4.1. Principal Component Analysis (PCA) Biplot Showing the Clustering of the Data According to the Water Sampling Sites. Each Data Point Represents Each Species from a Particular Sampling Site (the observation). Samples from Five Sampling Locations, Color-coded Based on Sampling Location



The abundance represents the presence of *Legionella* and amoebae species in each sampling site. According to Figure 4.4.1, a clear separation was observed between water samples collected from the cooling towers (CT) and those collected from the drinking water system (Fa, ERC, and RES_IN, and RES_EF). The cooling towers are different from Fa, ERC, and the reservoir (RES_IN, and RES_EF). For instance, the cooling towers are associated with higher abundance, pH, conductivity, HPC, and lower turbidity, and free chlorine. Building Fa and ERC are characterized by free chlorine and turbidity, while the reservoir clustering (RES_IN and RES_EF) are associated with lower temperature, abundance, pH, HPC, and conductivity.

The Chi-squared test of independence showed a weak association between two amoebae spp. and four pathogenic *Legionella* spp. in all 42 water samples; *Acanthamoeba* spp. and *L. anisa* ($\chi^2 = 4.791$, p=0.0286), *Naegleri fowleri* and *L. micdadei* ($\chi^2 = 4.748$, p=0.0293), *Naegleri fowleri* and *L. pneumophila* ($\chi^2 = 4.356$, p=0.0369), *Naegleri fowleri* and *L. bozemanii* $(\chi^2 = 6.645, p=0.0099)$. *Legionella anisa* positive samples were observed in the presence or absence of *Acanthamoeba* spp. *Legionella micdadei*, *Legionella pneumophila*, *and Legionella bozemanii* positive samples were also observed in the presence or absence of *Naegleria fowleri* (Table 4.4.2 to 4.4.5).

The concordance percentage between the presence of *Acanthamoeba* spp. and *L. anisa* was 9.52%. The absence percentage of *Acanthamoeba* spp. and *L. anisa* was higher (69.05%) than the presence percentage (9.52%) (Table 4.4.2). *Naegleria fowleri* and three *Legionella* spp. (*L. micdadei, L. pneumophila,* and *L. bozemanii*) concordance positive percentage was 16.67, 30.95, and 30.95%, respectively. The absence percentage of *Naegleria fowleri* and *L. micdadei, L. pneumophila,* and *L. bozemanii* were higher (52.38, 38.10, 33.33%, respectively) than the positive percentage (Table 4.4.3 to 4.4.5). Thus, the relationship that is observed between these two amoebae and *Legionella* species are driven by the absence percentage of both species (Table 4.4.2 to 4.4.5).

p value= 0.0286*	L. anisa Present	L. anisa Absent	Total
<i>Acanthamoeba</i> spp. Present	4 (9.52%)	4 (9.52%)	8
Acanthamoeba spp. Absent	5 (11.90%)	29 (69.05%)	34
Total	9 (21.42%)	33 (78.57%)	42

Table 4.4.2. Chi-squared Test Between Acanthamoeba spp. and Legionella anisa in 42 Water

 Samples

Table 4.4.3. Chi-squared Test Between Naegleria fowleri and Legionella micdadei in 42 WaterSamples

^a p value= 0.0293*	L. micdadei Present	L. micdadei Absent	Total
Naegleria fowleri Present	7 (16.67%)	10 (23.81%)	17
Naegleria fowleri Absent	3 (7.14%)	22 (52.38%)	25
Total	10 (23.8%)	32 (76.19%)	42

Table 4.4.4. Chi-squared Test Between Naegleria fowleri and Legionella bozemanii in 42 WaterSamples

p value= 0.0099**	L. bozemanii Present	L. bozemanii Absent	Total
Naegleria fowleri Present	13 (30.95%)	4 (9.52%)	17
Naegleria fowleri Absent	9 (21.43%)	16 (38.10%)	25
Total	22 (52.38%)	20 (47.61%)	42

Table 4.4.5. Chi-squared Test Between Naegleria fowleri and Legionella pneumophila in 42Water Samples

ap value= 0.0369*	L. pneumophila Present	L. pneumophila Absent	Total
Naegleria fowleri Present	13 (30.95%)	4 (9.52%)	17
Naegleria fowleri Absent	11 (26.19%)	14 (33.33%)	25
Total	24 (57.14%)	18 (42.85%)	42

aWeak p value is <0.05 but >0.01

Correlation analysis revealed a weak positive correlation (r = 0.43, p = 0.0045) between *Acanthamoeba* spp. and *L. anisa* in all water samples (Figure 4.4.2). There was also a weak positive correlation observed between *Naegleria fowleri* and *L. micdadei* (r = 0.45 p = 0.0027) *L. pneumophila* (r = 0.46, p = 0.0020), and *L. bozemanii* (r = 0.44, p = 0.0034) in all 42 water samples (Figure 4.4.2).





A Pearson correlation matrix was only observed for the building water system (Fa, ERC) and cooling tower samples, separately. Figure 4.4.3 shows a significant correlation between *Naegleria fowleri* and two *Legionella* spp. (*Legionella micdadei and Legionella bozemanii*) in buildings Fa and ERC. Correlation analysis revealed weak positive correlation in the building water system between *Naegleria fowleri and Legionella micdadei* (r = 0.61, p = 0.002) and *Naegleria fowleri and Legionella bozemanii* (r = 0.59, p = 0.003) (Figure 4.4.3a).In addition, correlation analysis revealed weak positive correlation between *Legionella bozemanii* and *Legionella longbeachae* (r = 0.60, p = 0.002) (Figure 4.4.3a). Correlation analysis revealed a positive correlation in the cooling towers between *Naegleria fowleri* and three *Legionella* spp. (*L. pneumophila, Legionella anisa, and L. micdadei*), which were not significant (Figure 4.4.3b).

In the building water system and cooling towers, *Acanthamoeba* spp. was observed in three and five water samples, respectively (Table 4.4.1), and this genus did not show a

statistically significant impact on the occurrence of *Legionella* spp. in either system (Figure 4.4.3). Out of three water samples in the building Fa, *Acanthamoeba* spp. and *Legionella* anisa only cooccurred in one sample (data not shown). And out of five cooling tower samples, *Acanthamoeba* spp. and *L*. anisa only cooccurred in three water samples. Thus, the relationship between *Acanthamoeba* spp. and *L*. anisa that was seen in Table 4.4.2 was driven by the absence of both species in the reservoir and building water samples, and the presence of both species in the reservoir and building water samples, and the presence of both species in the cooling towers.

Figure 4.4.3. Pearson Correlation Matrix of Amoebae and *Legionella* spp. in Buildings Fa and ERC and Cooling Towers, Separately



There was a small dataset to develop statistically significant relationships between any of the five targeted *Legionella* species and amoebae species in the cooling towers. Thus, the rest of the paragraph will focus on *Legionella* species and amoebae species in the building water system (Fa and ERC). Simple linear regression analysis revealed a weak significant positive relationship ($R_2 = 0.37$, p = 0.0016) between *Naegleria fowleri* and *Legionella micdadei* and in the building water system (F and ERC) (Figure 4.4.4). Simple linear regression analysis also revealed a weak significant positive relationship ($R_2 = 0.34$, p = 0.0025) between *Naegleria fowleri* and

L.bozemanii. As *Naegleria fowleri* was undetected in building F, these two relationships (listed above) were driven by the ERC building (Table 4.4.1 and Figure 4.4.4). *Naegleria fowleri* affected *L. micdadei* in the influent pipe and hot-water taps of building ERC (Data not shown). There was not an inverse relationship observed between *Naegleria fowleri* and two *Legionella* spp. (*L. micdadei* and *L. bozemanii*) in the building water system (Figure 4.4.4).

Figure 4.4.4. Two *Legionella* spp. (*L. micdadei* and *L. bozemanii*) May Be Dependent on *Naegleria fowleri* in Buildings Fa and ERC



4.5 Discussion

Acanthamoeba spp. and *Naegleria* spp. are common in drinking water (Lu et al., 2017, Muchesa et al., 2017; Valcina et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2019; Üstüntürk-Onan et al., 2018) and cooling towers (Scheikl et al., 2014; Scheikl et al., 2016). Previous reports have shown that *Acanthamoeba* spp. were more frequently detected in drinking water supplies relative to *Naegleria fowleri* by molecular methods (Kim et al., 2018; Yousuf et al., 2013; Mahmoudi et al., 2012; Mahmoudi et al., 2015; Valcina et al., 2019; Scheikl et al., 2014; Üstüntürk-Onan et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2019). For example, *Acanthamoeba* spp. and *N. fowleri* were detected in 75% (39/52), 5.8%, respectively (3/52) of tap water samples by qPCR. Interestingly, *Acanthamoeba* spp. was detected in 88.5% (23/26) of water samples from cooling towers, while *N. fowleri* was detected in 3.8% (1/26) by qPCR (Scheikl et al., 2014). Consistent with this study, *Naegleria* *fowleri* was frequently detected relative to *Acanthamoeba* spp. by culture and PCR molecular technique in untreated and treated water (Abdul Majid et al., 2017), tap water (Gabriel et al., 2019), and from municipal drinking waters and recreational water sources (Javanmard et al., 2017).

Previous studies have examined the cooccurrence of *Legionella* spp. with free-living amoebae in a drinking water supply system (Valcina et al., 2019) and cooling towers (Scheikl et al., 2014). A total of 268 water samples (1L each) were collected from different water sources (surface or ground) and cold and hot water taps located in apartments, hotels, and public buildings (Valcina et al., 2019). Culture and qPCR methods were used to quantify Legionella, Acanthamoebae spp. and Naegleria fowleri and different primer sets were used relative to this study (Valcina et al., 2019; Scheikl et al., 2014). The concordance rate between the presence of FLA and *Legionella* spp. were 55.1% (n=114), and correlation analysis revealed a weak positive correlation (r = 0.467, p < 0.01) (Valcina et al., 2019). Legionella and free-living amoebae negative samples reached a concordance rate of 100% (n=61) (Valcina et al., 2019). Valcina et al., 2019, examined the cooccurrence of several Legionella spp. such as Legionella pneumophila, Legionella anisa, and Legionella rubrilucens, and several free-living amoebae (Acanthamoeba, Vermaoeba, and Naegleria); however, there was no mention of what Legionella spp. mostly cooccurred with specific amoeba. A total of 201 water samples (129 cooling waters and 72 process waters, and 30 cooling lubricants) were collected. Thirty-four percent (70/201) of the water samples were positive for Legionella spp. And by culture method, Legionella cooccurred with Acanthamoeba spp. in 27.1% (19/70) of water samples collected, while Naegleria fowleri concordance rate was 0.38% (1/70) (Scheikl et al., 2014). Unfortunately, this study did not mention the concordance rate of amoebae and Legionella species (Scheikl et al., 2014).

Several studies have shown that the concentrations of *Naegleria fowleri*, general *Legionella* spp. (23S rRNA) and *L. pneumophila* amplification in a distribution system may be seasonally influence via water temperature (Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2012). This study observed the opposite, it was not due to environmental conditions. For example, pathogenic L. *micdadei*, L. *bozemanii* and *Naegleria fowleri* were detected more in a drinking water supply system that was supplied by a groundwater source, which is not affected by ambient temperatures like surface waters. However, the occurrence of free-living amoeba and Legionella spp. may be affected by the built environment. For example, water age has been observed to affect the detection of *Legionella* and amoebae species in a distribution system (Ambrose et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2012). Wang et al., 2012 evaluated two simulated water distribution systems with different water ages ranging from three to 12 days. Water age affected Legionella and Acanthamoeba in a simulated water distribution system with a water age greater than three days (Wang et al., 2012). However, the water age in each water distribution system and within systems is different (EPA, 2002). As observed in this study, the increase in water age in the distribution system, correlates with an increase in *Legionella* and amoebae species. Thus, water age may play a role in the occurrence of *Legionella* and amoebae species in a building with an increased water age, as seen in the ERC building (water age of 20.8 hours). Also, the regression analysis revealed that *Naegleria fowleri* affects the occurrence of *L. micdadei* and *L. bozemanii* in the ERC building, which is furthest away from the reservoir. However, the weak regression suggests that this observation will need to be further elucidated with a more extensive data set.

Since amoebae promote the growth of *Legionella* post-treatment in water systems, it is critical to gain an understanding of microbial-amoebae ecological relationships in large, complicated plumbing. Overall, this study found a greater association between *Naegleria fowleri*

and two *Legionella* species. Two lines of evidence revealed that *Naegleria fowleri* strongly associated with *L. bozemanii*, and *L. micdadei* in the building water system (Fa and ERC).

4.6 Conclusion

Most of the public health agencies and guidance documents have water management programs that are focused on the risk of *Legionella*, without considering their particular host, *Naegleria*, and *Acanthamoeba* spp. Utilizing ddPCR, *Naegleria fowleri* were detected more often in a drinking water supply system and cooling towers. The Chi-squared test showed that *Naegleria fowleri* significantly cooccurred with two pathogenic *Legionella* spp. (*L. micdadei*, and *L. bozemanii*) in a drinking water supply system and cooling towers. Moreover, regression analysis revealed that *Naegleria fowleri* may affect *Legionella micdadei* and *L. bozemanii* in a building water system. In this study, *Naegleria fowleri*, *L. micdadei*, and *L. bozemanii* are the most important species. Thus, by examining large volume (10-L) water ultrafiltrate concentrates from the groundwater source to exposure sites (taps and cooling towers) utilizing ddPCR, allowed for the detection of individual-specific *Legionella*, and *Naegleria fowleri*. Most importantly, the widespread of *Naegleria fowleri*, and *Legionella* species in the taps and cooling towers indicates an important health concern.

CHAPTER FIVE

CONCLUSION

5.1 Limitations and Future Directions

Federal, state and local regulatory approaches to manage the risk of *Legionella* rely on maintaining the water supply system including a disinfection residual throughout the distributed water and minimizing exposure routes where possible (eg., fountains in hospitals). The literature and papers described here assessed the risk by examining the exposure at the point of use in the water supply system. The occurrence of *Legionella* bacteria and the probability of infection cannot be directly equated from one location to another within a water supply system or building. The literature lacks a detailed exposure assessment in the complete water supply chain from the source through the distribution system to the building taps or cooling towers. Understanding the wholistic view of the water supply system (reservoir tank, the distribution system, and the premise plumbing) may add insight in how to mitigate some of the uncertainties that go into the risk management plans (Figure 5.1).

There is also a lack of knowledge about how to manage the risk from the various other pathogenic *Legionella* species besides *L. pneumophila*. There has been a suggestion that *L. anisa* have a unique relationship with *L. pneumophila* such that both spp. co-occurred together in the environment (Mee-Marquet et al., 2006). *Legionella anisa* has caused LD (Vaccaro et al., 2016), but there is a detection limitation on other non-*pneumophila* spp., the diagnosis has been on *L. pneumophila* (the urinary antigen test is specific for *L. pneumophila* sg 1, as described above). Thus, there is a risk of LD caused by other *Legionella* spp. However, little is known about the concentrations in the complete drinking water supply system for *L. anisa, L. micdadei, L. bozemanii,* and *L. longbeachae*. Moreover, there should be a routine (monthly) sampling to highlight the occurrence and concentrations of other pathogenic *Legionella* species; this will give a building owner the ability to prevent *Legionella* growth in a drinking water supply system.

Primary prevention (proactive instead of reactive) starts with understanding the factors that encourages the growth of *Legionella* in a drinking water system. Factors that are associated with *Legionella* spp. in large, complex buildings are increased water age in the distribution system, water stagnation in the premise plumbing system, and the ability to live inside free-living amoebae throughout the whole water network. In such environments (listed above), water temperatures are warm and there's little to no disinfectant residuals available, these conditions create a conducive niche for the proliferation of *Legionella* intracellularly within free-living amoebae throughout the water network. The risks associated with an increase water age, and water stagnation (low water usage) could be reduced by implementing, for example, manual flushes. Thus, there is a critical need for a water management plan to implement strategies to better assess and manage water quality parameters (for ex: temperature, disinfection residuals, pH) and microbiological parameters (different *Legionella* spp., listed above).



Figure 5.1. A Schematic Linking Point of Use to Human Exposure
BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Abdel-Nour, M., Duncan, C., Low, D. E., & Guyard, C. (2013). Biofilms: The Stronghold of *Legionella pneumophila*. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *14*(11), 21660–21675. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms141121660
- Abdul Majid, M. A., Mahboob, T., Mong, B. G., Jaturas, N., Richard, R. L., Tian-Chye, T., Phimphila, A., Mahaphonh, P., Aye, K. N., Aung, W. L., Chuah, J., Ziegler, A. D., Yasiri, A., Sawangjaroen, N., Lim, Y. A., & Nissapatorn, V. (2017). Pathogenic waterborne free-living amoebae: An update from selected Southeast Asian countries. *PloS one*, *12*(2), e0169448. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0169448
- Abernathy-Carver, K. J., Fan, L. L., Boguniewicz, M., Larsen, G. L., & Leung, D. Y. M. (1994). *Legionella* and Pneumocystis pneumonias in asthmatic children on high doses of systemic steroids. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, *18*(3), 135–138.
 a. https://doi.org/10.1002/ppul.1950180303
- 4. Abraham, S. N., & Lawande, R. V. (1982). Incidence of free-living amoebae in the nasal passages of local population in Zaria, Nigeria. *The Journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, 85(5), 217–222.
- 5. Abu Khweek, A., & Amer, A. O. (2018). Factors Mediating Environmental Biofilm Formation by *Legionella pneumophila*. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2018.00038
- 6. Abu Kwaik, Y., Eisenstein, B. I., & Engleberg, N. C. (1993). Phenotypic modulation by *Legionella pneumophila* upon infection of macrophages. *Infection and Immunity*, *61*(4), 1320–1329.
- Abu Kwaik, Y., Gao, L. Y., Stone, B. J., Venkataraman, C., & Harb, O. S. (1998). Invasion of protozoa by *Legionella pneumophila* and its role in bacterial ecology and pathogenesis. Applied and environmental microbiology, 64(9), 3127–3133.
- Adams, D. A., Thomas, K. R., Jajosky, R. A., Foster, L., Sharp, P., Onweh, D. H., Schley, A. W., Anderson, W. J., & Nationally Notifiable Infectious Conditions Group. (2016). Summary of Notifiable Infectious Diseases and Conditions—United States, 2014. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 63(54), 1–152. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6354a1
- Agudelo-Vera, C., Avvedimento, S., Boxall, J., Creaco, E., de Kater, H., Di Nardo, A., ... & Jacimovic, N. (2020). Drinking Water Temperature around the Globe: Understanding, Policies, Challenges and Opportunities. Water, 12(4), 1049.

- Ahmed, W., Vieritz, A., Goonetilleke, A., & Gardner, T. (2010). Health Risk from the Use of Roof-Harvested Rainwater in Southeast Queensland, Australia, as Potable or Nonpotable Water, Determined Using Quantitative Microbial Risk Assessment. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 76(22), 7382–7391. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00944-10
- Al Sulami, A. A., Al Taee, A. M. R., & Yehyazarian, A. A. (2013). Isolation and identification of *Legionella pneumophila* from drinking water in Basra governorate, Iraq. *Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal*, 19(11), 936–941. https://doi.org/10.26719/2013.19.11.936
- 12. Al-Jasser, A. O. (2007). Chlorine decay in drinking-water transmission and distribution systems: Pipe service age effect. *Water Research*, *41*(2), 387–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2006.08.032
- Al-Matawah, Q., Al-Zenki, S., Al-Azmi, A., Al-Waalan, T., Al-Salameen, F., & Hejji, A. B. (2015). *Legionella* detection and subgrouping in water air-conditioning cooling tower systems in Kuwait. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 22(13), 10235– 10241. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-4226-z
- Ambrose, M., Kralovic, S. M., Roselle, G. A., Kowalskyj, O., Rizzo, V., Wainwright, D. L., & Gamage, S. D. (2020). Implementation of *Legionella* Prevention Policy in Health Care Facilities: The United States Veterans Health Administration Experience. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice: JPHMP*, 26(2), E1–E11. https://doi.org/10.1097/PHH.000000000000986
- 15. Amsden, G. W. (2005). Treatment of Legionnaires' disease. *Drugs*, 65(5), 605–614. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003495-200565050-00003
- 16. Anand, C. M., Skinner, A. R., Malic, A., & Kurtz, J. B. (1983). Interaction of *L*. pneumophila and a free living amoeba (*Acanthamoeba palestinensis*). *Epidemiology & Infection*, *91*(2), 167–178. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022172400060174
- 17. Anwar, H., Dasgupta, M. K., & Costerton, J. W. (1990). Testing the susceptibility of bacteria in biofilms to antibacterial agents. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, *34*(11), 2043–2046. https://doi.org/10.1128/aac.34.11.2043
- 18. Armand, B., Motazedian, M. H., & Asgari, Q. (2016). Isolation and identification of pathogenic free-living amoeba from surface and tap water of Shiraz City using morphological and molecular methods. *Parasitology research*, *115*(1), 63–68. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-015-4721-7
- 19. Armstrong, T. W., & Haas, C. N. (2007). A quantitative microbial risk assessment model for Legionnaires' disease: Animal model selection and dose-response modeling. *Risk Analysis: An Official Publication of the Society for Risk Analysis*, 27(6), 1581–1596. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6924.2007.00990.x

- 20. Arvand, M., Jungkind, K., & Hack, A. (2011). Contamination of the cold water distribution system of health care facilities by *Legionella pneumophila*: Do we know the true dimension? *Euro Surveillance: Bulletin Europeen Sur Les Maladies Transmissibles European Communicable Disease Bulletin*, 16(16).
- 21. Ashbolt, N. J. (2015). Environmental (Saprozoic) Pathogens of Engineered Water Systems: Understanding Their Ecology for Risk Assessment and Management. *Pathogens*, 4(2), 390–405. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens4020390
- 22. Ashbolt, N. J. (2015). Microbial Contamination of Drinking Water and Human Health from Community Water Systems. *Current Environmental Health Reports*, 2(1), 95–106. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40572-014-0037-5
- 23. ASHRAE Standing Standard Project Committee 188. Legionellosis: Risk Management for Building Water Systems. https://www.ashrae.org/File%20Library/Technical%20Resources/Bookstore/86611_188-2018preview.pdf
- Aurell, H., Catala, P., Farge, P., Wallet, F., Le Brun, M., Helbig, J. H., Jarraud, S., & Lebaron, P. (2004). Rapid Detection and Enumeration of *Legionella pneumophila* in Hot Water Systems by Solid-Phase Cytometry. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 70(3), 1651–1657. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.3.1651-1657.2004
- Aurell, H., Etienne, J., Forey, F., Reyrolle, M., Girardo, P., Farge, P., Decludt, B., Campese, C., Vandenesch, F., & Jarraud, S. (2003). *Legionella pneumophila* Serogroup 1 Strain Paris: Endemic Distribution throughout France. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *41*(7), 3320–3322. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.41.7.3320-3322.2003
- Azuma, K., Uchiyama, I., & Okumura, J. (2013). Assessing the risk of Legionnaires' disease: The inhalation exposure model and the estimated risk in residential bathrooms. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 65(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yrtph.2012.11.003
- 27. Badoux, P., Kracht-Kosten, L., Herpers, B., & Euser, S. (2020). Method Comparison of the ImmuView *L. pneumophila* and *L. longbeachae* Urinary Antigen Test with the BinaxNOW *Legionella* Urinary Antigen Card for Detection of *Legionella pneumophila* Serogroup 1 Antigen in Urine. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 58(3). https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01429-19
- 28. Bagaitkar, J., Demuth, D. R., & Scott, D. A. (2008). Tobacco use increases susceptibility to bacterial infection. *Tobacco Induced Diseases*, 4(1), 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1617-9625-4-12
- 29. Bagh, L., Albrechtsen, H.-J., Arvin, E., & Ovesen, K. (2004). Distribution of bacteria in a domestic hot water system in a Danish apartment building. *Water Research*, *38*, 225–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2003.08.026

- 30. Bahl, S., Wali, J. P., Handa, R., Rattan, A., Aggarwal, P., & Kindo, A. J. (1997). *Legionella* as a lower respiratory pathogen in north India. *The Indian Journal of Chest Diseases & Allied Sciences*, 39(2), 81–86.
- Ballard, A. L., Fry, N. K., Chan, L., Surman, S. B., Lee, J. V., Harrison, T. G., & Towner, K. J. (2000). Detection of *Legionella pneumophila* using a real-time PCR hybridization assay. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 38(11), 4215–4218.
- Baquero, R. A., Reyes-Batlle, M., Nicola, G. G., Martín-Navarro, C. M., López-Arencibia, A., Guillermo Esteban, J., Valladares, B., Martínez-Carretero, E., Piñero, J. E., & Lorenzo-Morales, J. (2014). Presence of potentially pathogenic free-living amoebae strains from well water samples in Guinea-Bissau. *Pathogens and global health*, 108(4), 206–211. https://doi.org/10.1179/2047773214Y.0000000143
- 33. Barker, J., Lambert, P. A., & Brown, M. R. (1993). Influence of intra-amoebic and other growth conditions on the surface properties of *Legionella pneumophila*. *Infection and Immunity*, *61*(8), 3503–3510.
- 34. Barker, J., Scaife, H., & Brown, M. R. (1995). Intraphagocytic growth induces an antibiotic-resistant phenotype of *Legionella pneumophila*. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, *39*(12), 2684–2688. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.39.12.2684
- 35. Barna, Z., Kádár, M., Kálmán, E., Scheirich Szax, A., & Vargha, M. (2016). Prevalence of *Legionella* in premise plumbing in Hungary. *Water Research*, *90*, 71–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.12.004
- 36. Baron, J. L., Peters, T., Shafer, R., MacMurray, B., & Stout, J. E. (2014). Field evaluation of a new point-of-use faucet filter for preventing exposure to *Legionella* and other waterborne pathogens in health care facilities. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 42(11), 1193–1196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2014.08.002
- 37. Bartlett, J. G. (2011). Diagnostic tests for agents of community-acquired pneumonia. *Clinical Infectious Diseases: An Official Publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America*, 52 Suppl 4, S296-304. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cir045
- 38. Barton, M., McKelvie, B., Campigotto, A., & Mullowney, T. (2017). Legionellosis following water birth in a hot tub in a Canadian neonate. *CMAJ*, *189*(42), E1311–E1313. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.170711
- 39. Bates, M. N., Maas, E., Martin, T., Harte, D., Grubner, M., & Margolin, T. (2000). Investigation of the prevalence of *Legionella* species in domestic hot water systems. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, 113(1111), 218–220.
- 40. Baudart, J., Guillaume, C., Mercier, A., Lebaron, P., & Binet, M. (2015). Rapid quantification of viable *Legionella* in nuclear cooling tower waters using filter

cultivation, fluorescent in situ hybridization and solid-phase cytometry. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *118*(5), 1238–1249. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12783

- 41. Baume, M., Cariou, A., Leveau, A., Fessy, N., Pastori, F., Jarraud, S., & Pierre, S. (2019). Quantification of *Legionella* DNA certified reference material by digital droplet PCR. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, *157*, 50–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2018.12.019
- 42. Beauté, J., & Network, on behalf of the E. L. D. S. (2017). Legionnaires' disease in Europe, 2011 to 2015. *Eurosurveillance*, 22(27), 30566. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.27.30566
- 43. Beauté, J., Robesyn, E., & Jong, B. de. (2013). Legionnaires' disease in Europe: All quiet on the eastern front? *European Respiratory Journal*, *42*(6), 1454–1458. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.00089113
- 44. Beauté, J., Sandin, S., de Jong, B., Hallström, L. P., Robesyn, E., Giesecke, J., & Sparén, P. (2019). Factors associated with Legionnaires' disease recurrence in hotel and holiday rental accommodation sites. *Eurosurveillance*, 24(20). https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2019.24.20.1800295
- 45. Bédard, E., Laferrière, C., Déziel, E., & Prévost, M. (2018). Impact of stagnation and sampling volume on water microbial quality monitoring in large buildings. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(6), e0199429. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0199429
- 46. Bédard, E., Paranjape, K., Lalancette, C., Villion, M., Quach, C., Laferrière, C., Faucher, S. P., & Prévost, M. (2019). *Legionella pneumophila* levels and sequence-type distribution in hospital hot water samples from faucets to connecting pipes. *Water Research*, *156*, 277–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.03.019
- 47. Beer, K. D., Gargano, J. W., Roberts, V. A., Hill, V. R., Garrison, L. E., Kutty, P. K., ... Yoder, J. S. (2015). Surveillance for Waterborne Disease Outbreaks Associated with Drinking Water — United States, 2011–2012. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 64(31), 842–848.
- 48. Behets, J., Declerck, P., Delaedt, Y., Creemers, B., & Ollevier, F. (2007). Development and evaluation of a Taqman duplex real-time PCR quantification method for reliable enumeration of *Legionella pneumophila* in water samples. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 68(1), 137–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2006.07.002
- 49. Benedict, K. M. (2017). Surveillance for Waterborne Disease Outbreaks Associated with Drinking Water United States, 2013–2014. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 66. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6644a3
- 50. Benin, A. L., Benson, R. F., & Besser, R. E. (2002). Trends in legionnaires disease, 1980-1998: Declining mortality and new patterns of diagnosis. *Clinical Infectious Diseases: An*

Official Publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America, *35*(9), 1039–1046. https://doi.org/10.1086/342903

- 51. Benitez, A. J., & Winchell, J. M. (2013). Clinical application of a multiplex real-time PCR assay for simultaneous detection of *Legionella* species, *Legionella pneumophila*, and *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 1. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *51*(1), 348–351. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.02510-12
- Bennett, E., Ashton, M., Calvert, N., Chaloner, J., Cheesbrough, J., Egan, J., Farrell, I., Hall, I., Harrison, T. G., Naik, F. C., Partridge, S., Syed, Q., & Gent, R. N. (2014). Barrow-in-Furness: A large community legionellosis outbreak in the UK. *Epidemiology* & *Infection*, 142(8), 1763–1777. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268813002483
- 53. Benson, R. F., Thacker, W. L., Wilkinson, H. W., Fallon, R. J., & Brenner, D. J. (1988). *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 14 isolated from patients with fatal pneumonia. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 26(2), 382.
- 54. Bentham, R. H. (1993). Environmental factors affecting the colonization of cooling towers by *Legionella* spp. In South Australia. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation*, *31*(1), 55–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/0964-8305(93)90014-S
- 55. Bentham, R., & Whiley, H. (2018). Quantitative Microbial Risk Assessment and Opportunist Waterborne Infections–Are There Too Many Gaps to Fill? *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15061150
- 56. Benz-Lemoine, E., Delwail, V., Castel, O., Guilhot, F., Robert, R., Grollier, G., Roblot-Casenave, F., Giraud, C., & Tanzer, J. (1991). Nosocomial legionnaires' disease in a bone marrow transplant unit. *Bone Marrow Transplantation*, 7(1), 61–63.
- 57. Berendt RF, Young HW, Allen RG, Knutsen GL. (1980). Dose-response of guinea pigs experimentally infected with aerosol of *Legionella pneumophila*. J Infect Dis. 141(2):186-192.
- 58. Bergeron, S., Boopathy, R., Nathaniel, R., Corbin, A., & LaFleur, G. (2015). Presence of antibiotic resistant bacteria and antibiotic resistance genes in raw source water and treated drinking water. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation*, *102*, 370–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2015.04.017
- 59. Bergeron, S., Raj, B., Nathaniel, R., Corbin, A., & LaFleur, G. (2017). Presence of antibiotic resistance genes in raw source water of a drinking water treatment plant in a rural community of USA. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation*, *124*, 3–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2017.05.024

- 60. Berjeaud, J.-M., Chevalier, S., Schlusselhuber, M., Portier, E., Loiseau, C., Aucher, W., Lesouhaitier, O., & Verdon, J. (2016). *Legionella pneumophila*: The Paradox of a Highly Sensitive Opportunistic Waterborne Pathogen Able to Persist in the Environment. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00486
- 61. Bertelli, C., Courtois, S., Rosikiewicz, M., Piriou, P., Aeby, S., Robert, S., Loret, J.-F., & Greub, G. (2018). Reduced Chlorine in Drinking Water Distribution Systems Impacts Bacterial Biodiversity in Biofilms. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *9*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02520
- 62. Besic, A., Obradovic, Z., Dautbegovic, A., & Obradovic, A. (2017). The effect of temperature and chlorine residual on the presence of Legionella spp. In water systems of public and tourist facilities. *Journal of Health Sciences*, 7(1), 50–58. https://doi.org/10.17532/jhsci.2017.413
- 63. Bhopal, R. S., Fallon, R. J., Buist, E. C., Black, R. J., & Urquhart, J. D. (1991). Proximity of the home to a cooling tower and risk of non-outbreak Legionnaires' disease. *British Medical Journal*, *302*(6773), 378–383. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.302.6773.378
- 64. Bibb, W. F., Arnow, P. M., Thacker, L., & McKinney, R. M. (1984). Detection of soluble *Legionella pneumophila* antigens in serum and urine specimens by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay with monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 20(3), 478–482.
- Bibb, W. F., Sorg, R. J., Thomason, B. M., Hicklin, M. D., Steigerwalt, A. G., Brenner, D. J., & Wulf, M. R. (1981). Recognition of a second serogroup of *Legionella longbeachae*. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *14*(6), 674–677.
- 66. Birks, R., Colbourne, J., Hills, S., & Hobson, R. (2004). Microbiological water quality in a large in-building, water recycling facility. *Water Science and Technology: A Journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research*, *50*(2), 165–172.
- 67. Bissett, M. L., & Lindquist, D. S. (1983). New Serogroup of *Legionella pneumophila*, Serogroup 8. J. CLIN. MICROBIOL., 17, 5.
- 68. Blackburn, B. G., Craun, G. F., Yoder, J. S., Hill, V., Calderon, R. L., Chen, N., ... Beach, M. J. (2004). Surveillance for waterborne-disease outbreaks associated with drinking water--United States, 2001-2002. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. Surveillance Summaries (Washington, D.C.: 2002)*, 53(8), 23–45.
- 69. Blanc, D. S., Carrara, P., Zanetti, G., & Francioli, P. (2005). Water disinfection with ozone, copper and silver ions, and temperature increase to control *Legionella*: Seven years of experience in a university teaching hospital. *The Journal of Hospital Infection*, 60(1), 69–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2004.10.016

- 70. Blanky, M., Sharaby, Y., Rodríguez-Martínez, S., Halpern, M., & Friedler, E. (2017). Greywater reuse—Assessment of the health risk induced by *Legionella pneumophila*. *Water Research*, *125*, 410–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.08.068
- Blatt, S. P., Parkinson, M. D., Pace, E., Hoffman, P., Dolan, D., Lauderdale, P., Zajac, R. A., & Melcher, G. P. (1993). Nosocomial legionnaires' disease: Aspiration as a primary mode of disease acquisition. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 95(1), 16–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9343(93)90227-G
- 72. Bollin, G. E., Plouffe, J. F., Para, M. F., & Hackman, B. (1985). Aerosols containing *Legionella pneumophila* generated by shower heads and hot-water faucets. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *50*(5), 1128–1131.
- 73. Bopp, C. A., Sumner, J. W., Morris, G. K., & Wells, J. G. (1981). Isolation of *Legionella* spp. From environmental water samples by low-pH treatment and use of a selective medium. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *13*(4), 714–719.
- 74. Borella, P., Montagna, M. T., Romano-Spica, V., Stampi, S., Stancanelli, G., Triassi, M., Neglia, R., Marchesi, I., Fantuzzi, G., Tatò, D., Napoli, C., Quaranta, G., Laurenti, P., Leoni, E., De Luca, G., Ossi, C., Moro, M., & D'Alcalà, G. R. (2004). *Legionella* Infection Risk from Domestic Hot Water. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 10(3), 457–464. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1003.020707
- 75. Bornstein, N., Marmet, D., Surgot, M., Nowicki, M., Meugnier, H., Fleurette, J., Ageron, E., Grimont, F., Grimont, P. A., & Thacker, W. L. (1989). *Legionella gratiana* sp. Nov. Isolated from French spa water. *Research in Microbiology*, 140(8), 541–552. https://doi.org/10.1016/0923-2508(89)90086-7
- 76. Boss, R., Baumgartner, A., Kroos, S., Blattner, M., Fretz, R., & Moor, D. (2018). Rapid detection of viable *Legionella pneumophila* in tap water by a qPCR and RT-PCR-based method. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *125*(4), 1216–1225. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.13932
- 77. Botelho-Nevers, E., Grattard, F., Viallon, A., Allegra, S., Jarraud, S., Verhoeven, P., Marcuccilli, A., Lucht, F., Pozzetto, B., & Berthelot, P. (2016). Prospective evaluation of RT-PCR on sputum versus culture, urinary antigens and serology for Legionnaire's disease diagnosis. *The Journal of Infection*, 73(2), 123–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2016.04.039
- 78. Bozeman, F. M., Humphries, J. W., & Campbell, J. M. (1968). A new group of rickettsialike agents recovered from guinea pigs. *Acta Virologica*, *12*(1), 87–93.
- 79. Brady, M. F., & Sundareshan, V. (2019). Legionnaires' Disease (*Legionella* Infection). In *StatPearls*. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK430807/

- 80. Brazeau, R. H., & Edwards, M. A. (2013). Role of Hot Water System Design on Factors Influential to Pathogen Regrowth: Temperature, Chlorine Residual, Hydrogen Evolution, and Sediment. *Environmental Engineering Science*, *30*(10), 617–627. https://doi.org/10.1089/ees.2012.0514
- 81. Breiman, R. F., Cozen, W., Fields, Mastro, T. D., Carr, S. J., Spika, J. S., & Mascola, L. (1990). Role of Air Sampling in Investigation of an Outbreak of Legionnaires' Disease Associated with Exposure to Aerosols from an Evaporative Condenser. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *161*(6), 1257–1261. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/161.6.1257
- 82. Brenner, D. J., Steigerwalt, A. G., Epple, P., Bibb, W. F., McKinney, R. M., Starnes, R. W., Colville, J. M., Selander, R. K., Edelstein, P. H., & Moss, C. W. (1988). *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup Lansing 3 isolated from a patient with fatal pneumonia, and descriptions of *L. pneumophila* subsp. *pneumophila* subsp. Nov., *L. pneumophila* subsp. Fraseri subsp. Nov., and *L. pneumophila* subsp. Pascullei subsp. Nov. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 26(9), 1695–1703.
- 83. Brenner, D. J., Steigerwalt, A. G., Gorman, G. W., Weaver, R. E., Feeley, J. C., Cordes, L. G., Wilkinson, H. W., Patton, C., Thomason, B. M., & Sasseville, K. R. L. (1980). *Legionella bozemanii* sp. nov. and *Legionella dumoffii* sp. nov.: Classification of two additional species of *Legionella* associated with human pneumonia. *Current Microbiology*, 4(2), 111–116. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02602903
- 84. Brenner, D. J., Steigerwalt, A. G., Gorman, G. W., Wilkinson, H. W., Bibb, W. F., Hackel, M., ... Corcoran, L. K. (1985). Ten New Species of Legionella. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 35(1), 50–59. https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-35-1-50
- Brooks, T., Osicki, R., Springthorpe, V., Sattar, S., Filion, L., Abrial, D., & Riffard, S. (2004). Detection and identification of *Legionella* species from groundwaters. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health. Part A*, 67(20–22), 1845–1859. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287390490492449
- 86. Brown, M. R., Collier, P. J., & Gilbert, P. (1990). Influence of growth rate on susceptibility to antimicrobial agents: Modification of the cell envelope and batch and continuous culture studies. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, *34*(9), 1623–1628.
- Brunkard, J. M., Ailes, E., Roberts, V. A., Hill, V., Hilborn, E. D., Craun, G. F., Rajasingham, A., Kahler, A., Garrison, L., Hicks, L., Carpenter, J., Wade, T. J., Beach, M. J., Yoder Msw, J. S., & CDC. (2011). Surveillance for waterborne disease outbreaks associated with drinking water—United States, 2007—2008. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. Surveillance Summaries (Washington, D.C.: 2002)*, 60(12), 38–68.
- 88. Buchbinder, S., Leitritz, L., Trebesius, K., Banas, B., & Heesemann, J. (2004). Mixed Lung Infection by *Legionella pneumophila* and *Legionella gormanii* Detected by

Fluorescent in Situ Hybridization. *Infection*, *32*(4), 242–245. https://doi.org/10.1007/s15010-004-2127-z

- 89. Bukh, A. S., & Roslev, P. (2014). Mycobacterium avium complex in day care hot water systems, and persistence of live cells and DNA in hot water pipes. *Current Microbiology*, 68(4), 428–439. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-013-0493-4
- 90. Burillo, A., Pedro-Botet, M. L., & Bouza, E. (2017). Microbiology and Epidemiology of Legionnaire's Disease. *Infectious Disease Clinics of North America*, 31(1), 7–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.idc.2016.10.002
- 91. Buse, H. Y., & Ashbolt, N. J. (2011). Differential growth of *Legionella pneumophila* strains within a range of amoebae at various temperatures associated with in-premise plumbing. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, *53*(2), 217–224. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2011.03094.x
- 92. Buse, H. Y., Ji, P., Gomez-Alvarez, V., Pruden, A., Edwards, M. A., & Ashbolt, N. J. (2017). Effect of temperature and colonization of *Legionella pneumophila* and *Vermamoeba vermiformis* on bacterial community composition of copper drinking water biofilms. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 10(4), 773–788. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.12457
- 93. Buse, H. Y., Lu, J., Struewing, I. T., & Ashbolt, N. J. (2013). Eukaryotic diversity in premise drinking water using 18S rDNA sequencing: Implications for health risks. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 20(9), 6351–6366. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-013-1646-5
- 94. Buse, H. Y., Morris, B. J., Struewing, I. T., & Szabo, J. G. (2019). Chlorine and Monochloramine Disinfection of *Legionella pneumophila* Colonizing Copper and Polyvinyl Chloride Drinking Water Biofilms. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 85(7). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02956-18
- 95. Byrne, B. G., McColm, S., McElmurry, S. P., Kilgore, P. E., Sobeck, J., Sadler, R., Love, N. G., & Swanson, M. S. (2018). Prevalence of Infection-Competent Serogroup 6 *Legionella pneumophila* within Premise Plumbing in Southeast Michigan. *MBio*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00016-18
- 96. Campese, C., Bitar, D., Jarraud, S., Maine, C., Forey, F., Etienne, J., Desenclos, J. C., Saura, C., & Che, D. (2011). Progress in the surveillance and control of *Legionella* infection in France, 1998-2008. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases: IJID: Official Publication of the International Society for Infectious Diseases*, 15(1), e30-37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2010.09.007
- 97. Campocasso, A., Boughalmi, M., Fournous, G., Raoult, D., & La Scola, B. (2012). *Legionella tunisiensis* sp. Nov. And *Legionella massiliensis* sp. Nov., isolated from

environmental water samples. *International Journal Of Systematic And Evolutionary Microbiology*, 62(Pt 12), 3003–3006. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.037853-0

- 98. Canals, O., Serrano-Suárez, A., Salvadó, H., Méndez, J., Cervero-Aragó, S., Ruiz de Porras, V., Dellundé, J., & Araujo, R. (2015). Effect of chlorine and temperature on freeliving protozoa in operational man-made water systems (cooling towers and hot sanitary water systems) in Catalonia. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, 22(9), 6610–6618. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-3839-y
- 99. Carducci, A., Verani, M., & Battistini, R. (2010). *Legionella* in industrial cooling towers: Monitoring and control strategies. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, *50*(1), 24–29. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2009.02750.x
- Casati, S., Gioria-Martinoni, A., & Gaia, V. (2009). Commercial potting soils as an alternative infection source of *Legionella pneumophila* and other *Legionella* species in Switzerland. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, 15(6), 571–575. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2009.02742.x
- 101. Casini, B., Baggiani, A., Totaro, M., Mansi, A., Costa, A. L., Aquino, F., Miccoli, M., Valentini, P., Bruschi, F., Lopalco, P. L., & Privitera, G. (2018). Detection of viable but non-culturable legionella in hospital water network following monochloramine disinfection. *The Journal of Hospital Infection*, 98(1), 46–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2017.09.006
- 102. Cassell, K., Gacek, P., Rabatsky-Ehr, T., Petit, S., Cartter, M., & Weinberger, D. M. (2019). Estimating the True Burden of Legionnaires' Disease. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 188(9), 1686–1694. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwz142
- 103. Castilla, J., Barricarte, A., Aldaz, J., Cenoz, M. G., Ferrer, T., Pelaz, C., Pineda, S., Baladrón, B., Martín, I., Goñi, B., Aratajo, P., Chamorro, J., Lameiro, F., Torroba, L., Dorronsoro, I., Martínez-Artola, V., Esparza, M. J., Gastaminza, M. A., Fraile, P., & Aldaz, P. (2008). A large Legionnaires' disease outbreak in Pamplona, Spain: Early detection, rapid control and no case fatality. *Epidemiology & Infection*, *136*(6), 823–832. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268807009077
- 104. Cazalet, C., Jarraud, S., Ghavi-Helm, Y., Kunst, F., Glaser, P., Etienne, J., & Buchrieser, C. (2008). Multigenome analysis identifies a worldwide distributed epidemic *Legionella pneumophila* clone that emerged within a highly diverse species. *Genome Research*, 18(3), 431–441. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.7229808
- 105. Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Safe Water System. Accessed April 27, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/safewater/chlorine-residual-testing.html
- 106. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Notifiable Diseases Surveillance System, 2016 Annual Tables of Infectious Disease Data. Atlanta, GA. CDC Division of

Health Informatics and Surveillance, 2017. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/nndss/infectious-tables.html.Centers for Disease Control. 2016

- 107. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Surveillance Report 2014-2015. National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, Division of Bacterial Diseases. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/legionella/health-depts/surv-reporting/2014-15-reporttables/index.html
- Cercenado, E. (1987). Legionella micdadei and Legionella dumoffi Monoclonal Antibodies for Laboratory Diagnosis of Legionella Infections. J. CLIN. MICROBIOL., 25, 5.
- 109. Cervero-Aragó, S., Rodríguez-Martínez, S., Puertas-Bennasar, A., & Araujo, R. M. (2015). Effect of Common Drinking Water Disinfectants, Chlorine and Heat, on Free *Legionella* and Amoebae-Associated *Legionella*. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(8), e0134726. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0134726
- Cervero-Aragó, S., Schrammel, B., Dietersdorfer, E., Sommer, R., Lück, C., Walochnik, J., & Kirschner, A. (2019). Viability and infectivity of viable but nonculturable Legionella pneumophila strains induced at high temperatures. *Water Research*, 158, 268– 279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.04.009
- 111. Cervero-Aragó, S., Sommer, R., & Araujo, R. M. (2014). Effect of UV irradiation (253.7 nm) on free Legionella and Legionella associated with its amoebae hosts. *Water Research*, 67, 299–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.09.023
- Chang, B., Taguri, T., Sugiyama, K., Amemura-Maekawa, J., Kura, F., & Watanabe, H. (2010). Comparison of ethidium monoazide and propidium monoazide for the selective detection of viable *Legionella* cells. *Japanese Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 63(2), 119–123.
- 113. Chang, C.-W., Hwang, Y.-H., Cheng, W.-Y., & Chang, C.-P. (2007). Effects of chlorination and heat disinfection on long-term starved *Legionella pneumophila* in warm water. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *102*(6), 1636–1644. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2006.03195.x
- 114. Charron, D., Bédard, E., Lalancette, C., Laferrière, C., & Prévost, M. (2015). Impact of Electronic Faucets and Water Quality on the Occurrence of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in Water: A Multi-Hospital Study. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 36(3), 311– 319. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2014.46
- 115. Che, D., Campese, C., Santa-Olalla, P., Jacquier, G., Bitar, D., Bernillon, P., & Desenclos, J.-C. (2008). Sporadic community-acquired Legionnaires' disease in France: A 2-year national matched case-control study. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 136(12), 1684–1690. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268807000283

- 116. Chen, D. J., Procop, G. W., Vogel, S., Yen-Lieberman, B., & Richter, S. S. (2015). Utility of PCR, Culture, and Antigen Detection Methods for Diagnosis of Legionellosis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 53(11), 3474–3477. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01808-15
- 117. Chen, J., Shi, Y., Cheng, D., Jin, Y., Hutchins, W., & Liu, J. (2019). Survey of pathogenic bacteria of biofilms in a metropolitan drinking water distribution system. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, *366*(20). https://doi.org/10.1093/femsle/fnz225
- 118. Cheng, V. C., Wong, S. S., Chen, J. H., Chan, J. F., To, K. K., Poon, R. W., ... Yuen, K. (2012). An unprecedented outbreak investigation for nosocomial and community-acquired legionellosis in Hong Kong. *Chinese Medical Journal*, 125(23), 4283. https://doi.org/10.3760/cma.j.issn.0366-6999.2012.23.022
- 119. Chiao, T.-H., Clancy, T. M., Pinto, A., Xi, C., & Raskin, L. (2014). Differential Resistance of Drinking Water Bacterial Populations to Monochloramine Disinfection. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48(7), 4038–4047. https://doi.org/10.1021/es4055725
- 120. Chochlakis, D., Sandalakis, V., Panoulis, C., Goniotakis, I., Makridaki, E., Tselentis, Y., & Psaroulaki, A. (2013). Typing of *Legionella* strains isolated from environmental samples in Crete, Greece, during the period 2004–2011. *Journal of Water and Health*, *11*(4), 762–771. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2013.015
- 121. Ciesielski, C. A., Blaser, M. J., & Wang, W. L. (1984). Role of stagnation and obstruction of water flow in isolation of *Legionella pneumophila* from hospital plumbing. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *48*(5), 984–987.
- 122. Cirillo, J. D., Falkow, S., & Tompkins, L. S. (1994). Growth of *Legionella pneumophila* in *Acanthamoeba castellanii* enhances invasion. *Infection and Immunity*, 62(8), 3254–3261.
- 123. Cloud, J. L., Carroll, K. C., Pixton, P., Erali, M., & Hillyard, D. R. (2000). Detection of *Legionella* Species in Respiratory Specimens Using PCR with Sequencing Confirmation. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 38(5), 1709–1712. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.38.5.1709-1712.2000
- 124. Cohn, P. D., Gleason, J. A., Rudowski, E., Tsai, S. M., Genese, C. A., & Fagliano, J. A. (2015a). Community outbreak of legionellosis and an environmental investigation into a community water system. *Epidemiology & Infection*, 143(6), 1322–1331. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268814001964
- 125. Colbourne, J. S., Pratt, D. J., Smith, M. G., Fisher-Hoch, S. P., & Harper, D. (1984).
 Water Fittings as Sources of *Legionella pneumophila* in a Hospital Plumbing System -*The Lancet*, 323(8370), 210–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(84)92126-3

- 126. Collier, S. A., Stockman, L. J., Hicks, L. A., Garrison, L. E., Zhou, F. J., & Beach, M. J. (2012). Direct healthcare costs of selected diseases primarily or partially transmitted by water. *Epidemiology & Infection*, 140(11), 2003–2013. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268811002858
- 127. Collins, S., Jorgensen, F., Willis, C., & Walker, J. (2015). Real-time PCR to supplement gold-standard culture-based detection of *Legionella* in environmental samples. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *119*(4), 1158–1169. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12911
- 128. Collins, S., Stevenson, D., Bennett, A., & Walker, J. (2017). Occurrence of *Legionella* in UK household showers. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 220(2), 401–406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2016.12.001
- 129. Committee, N. R. C. (US) S. D. W. (1980). The Disinfection of Drinking Water. In *Drinking Water and Health: Volume 2*. National Academies Press (US). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK234590/
- 130. Como, J., Moffa, M. A., Bhanot, N., Min, Z., Cole, K. S., Kuzyck, J., & Walsh, T. L. (2019). Potential false-positive urine *Legionella* enzyme immunoassay test results. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases: Official Publication* of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology, 38(7), 1377–1382. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-019-03575-2
- Conte, J., Potoczniak, M. J., & Tobe, S. S. (2018). Using synthetic oligonucleotides as standards in probe-based qPCR. *BioTechniques*, 64(4), 177–179. https://doi.org/10.2144/btn-2018-2000
- 132. Cooper, I. R., & Hanlon, G. W. (2010). Resistance of *Legionella pneumophila* serotype 1 biofilms to chlorine-based disinfection. *The Journal of Hospital Infection*, 74(2), 152–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2009.07.005
- 133. Cordes, L. G., Myerowitz, R. L., Pasculle, A. W., Corcoran, L., Thompson, T. A., Gorman, G. W., & Patton, C. M. (1981). *Legionella micdadei* (Pittsburgh pneumonia agent): Direct fluoresent-antibody examination of infected human lung tissue and characterization of clinical isolates. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *13*(4), 720–722.
- 134. Coşkun, K. A., Özçelik, S., Tutar, L., Elaldı, N., & Tutar, Y. (2013). *Isolation and Identification of Free-Living Amoebae from Tap Water in Sivas, Turkey* [Research article]. BioMed Research International. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/675145
- 135. Costa, J., da Costa, M. S., & Veríssimo, A. (2010). Colonization of a therapeutic spa with *Legionella spp*: a public health issue. *Research in Microbiology*, *161*(1), 18–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2009.10.005
- Costa, J., Tiago, I., da Costa, M. S., & Veríssimo, A. (2005). Presence and persistence of Legionella spp. in groundwater. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 71(2), 663– 671. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.2.663-671.2005

- 137. Coulon, C., Collignon, A., McDonnell, G., & Thomas, V. (2010). Resistance of Acanthamoeba cysts to disinfection treatments used in health care settings. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *48*(8), 2689–2697. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00309-10
- 138. Couturier, M. R., Graf, E. H., & Griffin, A. T. (2014). Urine Antigen Tests for the Diagnosis of Respiratory Infections. *Clinics in Laboratory Medicine*, *34*(2), 219–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cll.2014.02.002
- Cramp, G. J., Harte, D., Douglas, N. M., Graham, F., Schousboe, M., & Sykes, K. (2010). An outbreak of Pontiac fever due to *Legionella longbeachae* serogroup 2 found in potting mix in a horticultural nursery in New Zealand. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 138(1), 15–20. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268809990835
- 140. Craun, G. F. (2012). The importance of waterborne disease outbreak surveillance in the United States. *Annali Dell'Istituto Superiore Di Sanita*, 48(4), 447–459. https://doi.org/10.4415/ANN_12_04_11
- 141. Craun, G. F., Brunkard, J. M., Yoder, J. S., Roberts, V. A., Carpenter, J., Wade, T., ... Roy, S. L. (2010). Causes of Outbreaks Associated with Drinking Water in the United States from 1971 to 2006. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 23(3), 507–528. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00077-09
- 142. Craun, Gunther Franz. (2012). The importance of waterborne disease outbreak surveillance in the United States. *Annali Dell'Istituto Superiore Di Sanita*, 48(4), 447–459. https://doi.org/10.4415/ANN_12_04_11
- 143. Cunha, B. A., & Cunha, C. B. (2017). Legionnaire's Disease: A Clinical Diagnostic Approach. *Infectious Disease Clinics of North America*, 31(1), 81–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.idc.2016.10.007
- Cursons, R. T., Brown, T. J., & Keys, E. A. (1980). Effect of disinfectants on pathogenic free-living amoebae: In axenic conditions. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 40(1), 62–66.
- 145. Daley, K., Truelstrup Hansen, L., Jamieson, R. C., Hayward, J. L., Piorkowski, G. S., Krkosek, W., Gagnon, G. A., Castleden, H., MacNeil, K., Poltarowicz, J., Corriveau, E., Jackson, A., Lywood, J., & Huang, Y. (2018). Chemical and microbial characteristics of municipal drinking water supply systems in the Canadian Arctic. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, 25(33), 32926–32937. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-9423-5
- 146. Darelid, J., Löfgren, S., & Malmvall, B.-E. (2002). Control of nosocomial Legionnaires' disease by keeping the circulating hot water temperature above 55 degrees C: Experience

from a 10-year surveillance programme in a district general hospital. *The Journal of Hospital Infection*, *50*(3), 213–219. https://doi.org/10.1053/jhin.2002.1185

- 147. David, S., Mentasti, M., Lai, S., Vaghji, L., Ready, D., Chalker, V. J., & Parkhill, J. (2018). Spatial structuring of a *Legionella pneumophila* population within the water system of a large occupational building. *Microbial Genomics*, 4(10). https://doi.org/10.1099/mgen.0.000226
- 148. David, S., Sánchez-Busó, L., Harris, S. R., Marttinen, P., Rusniok, C., Buchrieser, C., Harrison, T. G., & Parkhill, J. (2017). Correction: Dynamics and impact of homologous recombination on the evolution of *Legionella pneumophila*. *PLoS Genetics*, 13(12), e1007116. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1007116
- 149. Davis, G. S., Winn, W. C., Gump, D. W., Craighead, J. E., & Beaty, H. N. (1982). Legionnaires' Pneumonia after Aerosol Exposure in Guinea Pigs and Rats. *American Review of Respiratory Disease*, *126*(6), 1050–1057. https://doi.org/10.1164/arrd.1982.126.6.1050
- 150. De Battisti, A., Formaglio, P., Ferro, S., Al Aukidy, M., & Verlicchi, P. (2018). Electrochemical disinfection of groundwater for civil use - An example of an effective endogenous advanced oxidation process. *Chemosphere*, 207, 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.05.062
- 151. De Bruin, L., Timmerman, C. P., Huisman, P. M., & Heidt, J. (2018). Legionella longbeachae; don't miss it! *The Netherlands Journal of Medicine*, *76*(6), 4.
- 152. De Filippis, P., Mozzetti, C., Amicosante, M., D'Alò, G. L., Messina, A., Varrenti, D., ... Gabrieli, R. (2017). Occurrence of *Legionella* in showers at recreational facilities. *Journal of Water and Health*, *15*(3), 402–409. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2017.296
- 153. De Filippis, P., Mozzetti, C., Messina, A., & D'Alò, G. L. (2018). Prevalence of *Legionella* in retirement homes and group homes water distribution systems. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 643, 715–724. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.216
- 154. De Giglio, O., Napoli, C., Apollonio, F., Brigida, S., Marzella, A., Diella, G., ... Montagna, M. T. (2019). Occurrence of *Legionella* in groundwater used for sprinkler irrigation in Southern Italy. *Environmental Research*, 170, 215–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.12.041
- 155. De Jonckheere, J., & van de Voorde, H. (1976). Differences in destruction of cysts of pathogenic and nonpathogenic Naegleria and Acanthamoeba by chlorine. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *31*(2), 294–297.
- 156. De Sotto, R., Tang, R., & Bae, S. (2020). Biofilms in premise plumbing systems as a double-edged sword: Microbial community composition and functional profiling of

biofilms in a tropical region. *Journal of Water and Health*, *18*(2), 172–185. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2020.182

- 157. Declerck, P. (2010). Biofilms: The environmental playground of *Legionella pneumophila*. *Environmental Microbiology*, *12*(3), 557–566. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2009.02025.x
- 158. Deines, P., Sekar, R., Husband, P. S., Boxall, J. B., Osborn, A. M., & Biggs, C. A. (2010). A new coupon design for simultaneous analysis of in situ microbial biofilm formation and community structure in drinking water distribution systems. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 87(2), 749–756. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-010-2510-x
- 159. Delafont, V., Brouke, A., Bouchon, D., Moulin, L., & Héchard, Y. (2013). Microbiome of free-living amoebae isolated from drinking water. *Water Research*, *47*(19), 6958–6965. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.07.047
- 160. Delgado-Viscogliosi, P., Solignac, L., & Delattre, J.-M. (2009). Viability PCR, a Culture-Independent Method for Rapid and Selective Quantification of Viable *Legionella pneumophila* Cells in Environmental Water Samples. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 75(11), 3502–3512. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02878-08
- 161. Demirjian, A., Lucas, C. E., Garrison, L. E., Kozak-Muiznieks, N. A., States, S., Brown, E. W., Wortham, J. M., Beaudoin, A., Casey, M. L., Marriott, C., Ludwig, A. M., Sonel, A. F., Muder, R. R., & Hicks, L. A. (2015). The importance of clinical surveillance in detecting legionnaires' disease outbreaks: A large outbreak in a hospital with a *Legionella* disinfection system-Pennsylvania, 2011-2012. *Clinical Infectious Diseases:* An Official Publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America, 60(11), 1596–1602. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/civ153
- 162. Department of Environmental Quality. Groundwater Statisitcs. Accessed May 18, 2020. Available at: https://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/deq-wd-gws-wcugroundwaterstatistics_270606_7.pdf
- 163. Diederen, B. M. W., & Peeters, M. F. (2007). Evaluation of the SAS *Legionella* Test, a new immunochromatographic assay for the detection of *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 1 antigen in urine. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, *13*(1), 86–88. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2006.01587.x
- 164. Dieter, C. A., Maupin, M. A., Caldwell, R. R., Harris, M. A., Ivahnenko, T. I., Lovelace, J. K., ... Linsey, K. S. (2018). *Estimated use of water in the United States in 2015* (USGS Numbered Series No. 1441) (p. 76). Reston, VA: U.S. Geological Survey. Retrieved from http://pubs.er.usgs.gov/publication/cir1441

- 165. Dilger, T., Melzl, H., & Gessner, A. (2017). *Legionella* contamination in warm water systems: A species-level survey. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2017.10.011
- 166. Ditommaso, S., Giacomuzzi, M., Gentile, M., & Zotti, C. M. (2008). Antibody detection and cross-reactivity among species and serogroups of *Legionella* by indirect immunofluorescence test. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 75(2), 350–353. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2008.06.002
- 167. Ditommaso, S., Giacomuzzi, M., Gentile, M., Moiraghi, A. R., & Zotti, C. M. (2010). Effective environmental sampling strategies for monitoring *Legionella* spp. contamination in hot water systems. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 38(5), 344– 349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2009.09.016
- 168. Ditommaso, S., Giacomuzzi, M., Ricciardi, E., & Zotti, C. M. (2015). Viability-qPCR for detecting *Legionella*: Comparison of two assays based on different amplicon lengths. *Molecular and Cellular Probes*, 29(4), 237–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcp.2015.05.011
- 169. Ditommaso, S., Giacomuzzi, M., Ricciardi, E., & Zotti, C. M. (2016). Cultural and Molecular Evidence of *Legionella* spp. Colonization in Dental Unit Waterlines: Which Is the Best Method for Risk Assessment? *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *13*(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13020211
- 170. Ditommaso, S., Giacomuzzi, M., Rivera, S. R. A., Raso, R., Ferrero, P., & Zotti, C. M. (2014). Virulence of *Legionella pneumophila* strains isolated from hospital water system and healthcare-associated Legionnaires' disease in Northern Italy between 2004 and 2009. *BMC Infectious Diseases, 14*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-14-483
- 171. Dobrowsky, P. H., Khan, S., Cloete, T. E., & Khan, W. (2016). Molecular detection of *Acanthamoeba* spp., *Naegleria fowleri and Vermamoeba (Hartmannella) vermiformis* as vectors for *Legionella* spp. In untreated and solar pasteurized harvested rainwater. *Parasites & Vectors*, 9(1), 539. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-016-1829-2
- 172. Doebbeling, B., Ishak, M. A., Wade, B. H., Pasquale, M. A., Gerszten, R. E., Gröschel, D. H. M., Kadner, R. J., & Wenzel, R. P. (1989). Nosocomial *Legionella micdadei* pneumonia: 10 years experience and a case-control study. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, *13*(3), 289–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/0195-6701(89)90010-8
- 173. Doi, H., Uchii, K., Takahara, T., Matsuhashi, S., Yamanaka, H., & Minamoto, T. (2015). Use of Droplet Digital PCR for Estimation of Fish Abundance and Biomass in Environmental DNA Surveys. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(3), e0122763. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0122763
- 174. Dominguez, A., Alvarez, J., Sabria, M., Carmona, G., Torner, N., Oviedo, M., ... & Godoy, P. (2009). Factors influencing the case-fatality rate of Legionnaires' disease. *The International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, *13*(3), 407-412.

- 175. Domínguez, J., Galí, N., Matas, L., Pedroso, P., Hernández, A., Padilla, E., & Ausina, V. (1999). Evaluation of a rapid immunochromatographic assay for the detection of *Legionella* antigen in urine samples. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases: Official Publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology*, 18(12), 896–898. https://doi.org/10.1007/s100960050427
- 176. Donohue, M. J., O'Connell, K., Vesper, S. J., Mistry, J. H., King, D., Kostich, M., & Pfaller, S. (2014). Widespread Molecular Detection of *Legionella pneumophila* Serogroup 1 in Cold Water Taps across the United States. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48(6), 3145–3152. https://doi.org/10.1021/es4055115
- 177. Dooling, K. L., Toews, K.-A., Hicks, L. A., Garrison, L. E., Bachaus, B., Zansky, S., ... Langley, G. E. (2015). Active Bacterial Core Surveillance for Legionellosis — United States, 2011–2013. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 64(42), 1190–1193.
- 178. Dournon, E., Bibb, W. F., Rajagopalan, P., Desplaces, N., & McKinney, R. M. (1988). Monoclonal antibody reactivity as a virulence marker for *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 1 strains. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 157(3), 496–501. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/157.3.496
- 179. Douterelo, I., Sharpe, R. L., & Boxall, J. B. (2013). Influence of hydraulic regimes on bacterial community structure and composition in an experimental drinking water distribution system. *Water Research*, 47(2), 503–516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2012.09.053
- 180. Duda, S., Kandiah, S., Stout, J. E., Baron, J. L., Yassin, M., Fabrizio, M., ... Rogers, D. (2014). Evaluation of a new monochloramine generation system for controlling *Legionella* in building hot water systems. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology*, 35(11), 1356–1363. https://doi.org/10.1086/678418
- 181. Dupuy, M., Mazoua, S., Berne, F., Bodet, C., Garrec, N., Herbelin, P., Ménard-Szczebara, F., Oberti, S., Rodier, M.-H., Soreau, S., Wallet, F., & Héchard, Y. (2011). Efficiency of water disinfectants against *Legionella pneumophila* and *Acanthamoeba*. *Water Research*, 45(3), 1087–1094. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.10.025
- 182. Dusserre, E., Ginevra, C., Hallier-Soulier, S., Vandenesch, F., Festoc, G., Etienne, J., Jarraud, S., & Molmeret, M. (2008). A PCR-Based Method for Monitoring *Legionella pneumophila* in Water Samples Detects Viable but Noncultivable Legionellae That Can Recover Their Cultivability. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 74(15), 4817– 4824. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02899-07
- 183. Dutil, S., Veillette, M., Mériaux, A., Lazure, L., Barbeau, J., & Duchaine, C. (2007). Aerosolization of mycobacteria and legionellae during dental treatment: Low exposure despite dental unit contamination. *Environmental Microbiology*, 9(11), 2836–2843. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2007.01395.x

- 184. Edelstein, P. H. (1981). Improved semiselective medium for isolation of *Legionella pneumophila* from contaminated clinical and environmental specimens. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *14*(3), 298–303.
- 185. Edelstein, P. H., & Edelstein, M. A. (1989). Evaluation of the Merifluor-*Legionella* immunofluorescent reagent for identifying and detecting 21 *Legionella* species. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 27(11), 2455–2458.
- 186. Edelstein, P. H., Bibb, W. F., Gorman, G. W., Thacker, W. L., Brenner, D. J., Wilkinson, H. W., Moss, C. W., Buddington, R. S., Dunn, C. J., & Roos, P. J. (1984). *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 9: A cause of human pneumonia. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 101(2), 196–198. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-101-2-196
- 187. Edelstein, P. H., Bryan, R. N., Enns, R. K., Kohne, D. E., & Kacian, D. L. (1987). Retrospective study of Gen-Probe rapid diagnostic system for detection of legionellae in frozen clinical respiratory tract samples. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 25(6), 1022– 1026.
- 188. Edelstein, P. H., Meyer, R. D., & Finegold, S. M. (1980). Laboratory diagnosis of Legionnaires' disease. *The American Review of Respiratory Disease*, 121(2), 317–327. https://doi.org/10.1164/arrd.1980.121.2.317
- 189. England, A. C. (1980). A Fifth Serogroup of *Legionella pneumophila*. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 93(1_Part_1), 58. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-93-1-58
- Environmental Protection Agency. Effects of Water Age on Distribution System Water Quality https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-09/documents/2007_05_18_disinfection_tcr_whitepaper_tcr_waterdistribution.pdf. Accessed Nov 12, 2019.
- 191. Environmental Protection Agency. Drinking Water Contaminant Candidate List (CCL) and Regulatory Determination. Accessed March 28, 2020. https://www.epa.gov/ccl
- 192. Epping, G., van der Valk, P. D. L. P. M., & Hendrix, R. (2010). Legionella pneumophila pneumonia in a pregnant woman treated with anti-TNF-α antibodies for Crohn's disease: A case report. Journal of Crohn's and Colitis, 4(6), 687–689. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crohns.2010.08.006
- 193. Erdoğan, H., & Arslan, H. (2013). Evaluation of a *Legionella* outbreak emerged in a recently opening hotel. *Mikrobiyoloji Bulteni*, 47(2), 240–249.
- 194. Ernst, A., Gordon, F. D., Hayek, J., Silvestri, R. C., & Koziel, H. (1998). Lung abcess complicating *Legionella micdadei* pneumonia in an adult liver transplant recipient: Case

report and review. *Transplantation*, 65(1), 130–134. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007890-199801150-00025

- 195. F.K.T. Van and Kuypers, G. August 1916. Improved Construction of Cooling Towers of Reinforced Concrete. UK Patent 108, 863
- 196. Falconi, T. M. A., Cruz, M. S., & Naumova, e. n. (2018). The Shift in Seasonality of Legionellosis in the U.S. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 146(14), 1824–1833. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268818002182
- 197. Falkinham, J. O., Hilborn, E. D., Arduino, M. J., Pruden, A., & Edwards, M. A. (2015). Epidemiology and Ecology of Opportunistic Premise Plumbing Pathogens: *Legionella pneumophila, Mycobacterium avium,* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Environmental Health Perspectives, 123*(8), 749–758. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1408692
- 198. Fallon, R. J., & Stack, B. H. R. (1990). Legionnaires' disease due to *Legionella anisa*. *Journal of Infection*, 20(3), 227–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/0163-4453(90)91144-3
- 199. Farhat, M., Moletta-Denat, M., Frère, J., Onillon, S., Trouilhé, M.-C., & Robine, E. (2012). Effects of Disinfection on *Legionella* spp., Eukarya, and Biofilms in a Hot Water System. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78(19), 6850–6858. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00831-12
- 200. Farhat, M., Shaheed, R. A., Al-Ali, H. H., Al-Ghamdi, A. S., Al-Hamaqi, G. M., Maan, H. S., Al-Mahfoodh, Z. A., & Al-Seba, H. Z. (2018). *Legionella* confirmation in cooling tower water. Comparison of culture, real-time PCR and next generation sequencing. *Saudi Medical Journal*, 39(2), 137–141. https://doi.org/10.15537/smj.2018.2.21587
- 201. Farnham, A., Alleyne, L., Cimini, D., & Balter, S. (2014). Legionnaires' Disease Incidence and Risk Factors, New York, New York, USA, 2002–2011. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 20(11), 1795–1802. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2011.131872
- 202. Feeley, J. C., Gibson, R. J., Gorman, G. W., Langford, N. C., Rasheed, J. K., Mackel, D. C., & Baine, W. B. (1979). Charcoal-yeast extract agar: Primary isolation medium for *Legionella pneumophila. Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 10(4), 437–441.
- 203. Fernandez-Moreira, E., Helbig, J. H., & Swanson, M. S. (2006). Membrane vesicles shed by *Legionella pneumophila* inhibit fusion of phagosomes with lysosomes. *Infection and Immunity*, 74(6), 3285–3295. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAL01382-05
- 204. Ferré, M. R. S., Arias, C., Oliva, J. M., Pedrol, A., García, M., Pellicer, T., Roura, P., & Domínguez, A. (2009). A community outbreak of Legionnaires' disease associated with a cooling tower in Vic and Gurb, Catalonia (Spain) in 2005. European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases: Official Publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology, 28(2), 153–159. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-008-0603-6

- 205. Fields, B. S., Benson, R. F., & Besser, R. E. (2002). *Legionella* and Legionnaires' Disease: 25 Years of Investigation. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, *15*(3), 506–526. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.15.3.506-526.2002
- 206. Finkelstein, R., Brown, P., Palutke, W. A., Wentworth, B. B., Geiger, J. G., Bostic, G. D., & Sobel, J. D. (1993). Diagnostic efficacy of a DNA probe in pneumonia caused by *Legionella* species. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, *38*(3), 183–186. https://doi.org/10.1099/00222615-38-3-183
- 207. Fischer-Hoch, S. P., Smith, M. G., & Colbourne, J. S. (1982). *Legionella pneumophila* in hospital hot water cylinders. *Lancet* (*London, England*), *1*(8280), 1073. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(82)92127-4
- 208. Fish, K., Osborn, A. M., & Boxall, J. B. (2017). Biofilm structures (EPS and bacterial communities) in drinking water distribution systems are conditioned by hydraulics and influence discolouration. *Science of The Total Environment*, *593–594*, 571–580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.03.176
- 209. Fittipaldi, M., Codony, F., Adrados, B., Camper, A. K., & Morató, J. (2011). Viable Real-Time PCR in Environmental Samples: Can All Data Be Interpreted Directly? *Microbial Ecology*, 61(1), 7–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-010-9719-1
- 210. Fitzhenry, R., Weiss, D., Cimini, D., Balter, S., Boyd, C., Alleyne, L., ... Varma, J. K. (2017). Legionnaires' Disease Outbreaks and Cooling Towers, New York City, New York, USA. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 23(11), 1769–1776. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2311.161584
- 211. Flekna, G., Schneeweiss, W., Smulders, F. J. M., Wagner, M., & Hein, I. (2007). Realtime PCR method with statistical analysis to compare the potential of DNA isolation methods to remove PCR inhibitors from samples for diagnostic PCR. *Molecular and Cellular Probes*, 21(4), 282–287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcp.2007.02.001
- Fliermans, C. B., Cherry, W. B., Orrison, L. H., Smith, S. J., Tison, D. L., & Pope, D. H. (1981). Ecological distribution of Legionella pneumophila. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 41(1), 9–16.
- 213. Fragou, K., Kokkinos, P., Gogos, C., Alamanos, Y., & Vantarakis, A. (2012). Prevalence of *Legionella* spp. In water systems of hospitals and hotels in South Western Greece. *International Journal of Environmental Health Research*, 22(4), 340–354. https://doi.org/10.1080/09603123.2011.643229
- 214. Francois Watkins, L. K., Toews, K.-A. E., Harris, A. M., Davidson, S., Ayers-Millsap, S., Lucas, C. E., ... Kutty, P. K. (2017). Lessons From an Outbreak of Legionnaires' Disease on a Hematology-Oncology Unit. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology*, 38(3), 306–313. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2016.281

- 215. Fraser, D. W., Tsai, T. R., Orenstein, W., Parkin, W. E., Beecham, H. J., Sharrar, R. G., ... & Shepard, C. C. (1977). Legionnaires' disease: description of an epidemic of pneumonia. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 297(22), 1189-1197.
- 216. Friedman, S., Spitalny, K., Barbaree, J., Faur, Y., & McKinney, R. (1987). Pontiac fever outbreak associated with a cooling tower. *American Journal of Public Health*, 77(5), 568–572.
- 217. Füchslin, H. P., Kötzsch, S., Keserue, H.-A., & Egli, T. (2010). Rapid and quantitative detection of *Legionella pneumophila* applying immunomagnetic separation and flow cytometry. *Cytometry. Part A: The Journal of the International Society for Analytical Cytology*, 77(3), 264–274. https://doi.org/10.1002/cyto.a.20858
- 218. Fukuta, Y., Yildiz-Aktas, I. Z., William Pasculle, A., & Veldkamp, P. J. (2012). *Legionella micdadei* prosthetic valve endocarditis complicated by brain abscess: Case report and review of the literature. *Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 44(6), 414–418. https://doi.org/10.3109/00365548.2011.645506
- 219. Gabay, J. E., & Horwitz, M. A. (1985). Isolation and characterization of the cytoplasmic and outer membranes of the Legionnaires' disease bacterium (*Legionella pneumophila*). *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 161(2), 409–422. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.161.2.409
- 220. Gabriel, S., Khan, N. A., & Siddiqui, R. (2019). Occurrence of free-living amoebae (Acanthamoeba, Balamuthia, Naegleria) in water samples in Peninsular Malaysia. *Journal of water and health*, 17(1), 160–171. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2018.164
- 221. Galli, M. G., Bianchi, A., Raimondi, A., Tesauro, M., & Consonni, M. (2008). Use of three molecular methods for investigations of Legionnaires' disease in a hospital in Milan. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, 69(4), 403–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2008.04.004
- García-Fulgueiras, A., Navarro, C., Fenoll, D., García, J., González-Diego, P., Jiménez-Buñuales, T., Rodriguez, M., Lopez, R., Pacheco, F., Ruiz, J., Segovia, M., Balandrón, B., & Pelaz, C. (2003). Legionnaires' disease outbreak in Murcia, Spain. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 9(8), 915–921. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid0908.030337
- 223. Garcia-Vidal, C., Sanchez-Rodriguez, I., Simonetti, A. F., Burgos, J., Viasus, D., Martin, M. T., Falco, V., & Carratalà, J. (2017). Levofloxacin versus azithromycin for treating *Legionella* pneumonia: A propensity score analysis. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection: The Official Publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*, 23(9), 653–658. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2017.02.030
- 224. Garcia, A., Goñi, P., Cieloszyk, J., Fernandez, M. T., Calvo-Beguería, L., Rubio, E., Fillat, M. F., Peleato, M. L., & Clavel, A. (2013). Identification of Free-Living Amoebae

and Amoeba-Associated Bacteria from Reservoirs and Water Treatment Plants by Molecular Techniques. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47(7), 3132–3140. https://doi.org/10.1021/es400160k

- 225. Gargano, J. W., Adam, E. A., Collier, S. A., Fullerton, K. E., Feinman, S. J., & Beach, M. J. (2017). Mortality from selected diseases that can be transmitted by water—United States, 2003-2009. *Journal of Water and Health*, 15(3), 438–450. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2017.301
- 226. Garner, E., Inyang, M., Garvey, E., Parks, J., Glover, C., Grimaldi, A., Dickenson, E., Sutherland, J., Salveson, A., Edwards, M. A., & Pruden, A. (2019). Impact of blending for direct potable reuse on premise plumbing microbial ecology and regrowth of opportunistic pathogens and antibiotic resistant bacteria. *Water Research*, 151, 75–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.12.003
- 227. Garner, E., McLain, J., Bowers, J., Engelthaler, D. M., Edwards, M. A., & Pruden, A. (2018). Microbial Ecology and Water Chemistry Impact Regrowth of Opportunistic Pathogens in Full-Scale Reclaimed Water Distribution Systems. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 52(16), 9056–9068. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b02818
- 228. Garrison, L. E. (2016). Vital Signs: Deficiencies in Environmental Control Identified in Outbreaks of Legionnaires' Disease North America, 2000–2014. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 65. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6522e1
- 229. Garrison, L. E., Shaw, K. M. S., McCollum, J. T., Dexter, C., Vagnone, P. M. S., Thompson, J. H., Giambrone, G., White, B., Thomas, S., Carpenter, L. R., Nichols, M., Parker, E., Petit, S., Hicks, L. A., & Langley, G. E. (2014). On-site availability of *Legionella* testing in acute care hospitals, United States. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology*, 35(7), 898–900. https://doi.org/10.1086/676871
- 230. Garrity GM, Bell JA, Lilburn T. (2005a) Class III. Gammaproteobacteria class. nov. In: Brenner DJ, Krieg NR, Staley JT, Garrity GM (eds), Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology, 2nd edn, vol. 2 (The Proteobacteria), part B (The Gammaproteobacteria), Springer, New York, 2005, p. 1.
- 231. Gavaldà, L., Garcia-Nuñez, M., Quero, S., Gutierrez-Milla, C., & Sabrià, M. (2019). Role of hot water temperature and water system use on *Legionella* control in a tertiary hospital: An 8-year longitudinal study. *Water Research*, 149, 460–466. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.11.032
- Gião, M. S., Wilks, S. A., & Keevil, C. W. (2015). Influence of copper surfaces on biofilm formation by *Legionella pneumophila* in potable water. *BioMetals*, 28(2), 329–339. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10534-015-9835-y
- 233. Gião, M. S., Wilks, S. A., Azevedo, N. F., Vieira, M. J., & Keevil, C. W. (2009). Comparison between standard culture and peptide nucleic acid 16S rRNA hybridization quantification to study the influence of physico-chemical parameters on *Legionella*

pneumophila survival in drinking water biofilms. *Biofouling*, 25(4), 343–351. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927010902802232

- 234. Gleason, J., Kratz, N., Greeley, R., & Fagliano, J. (2016). Under the Weather: Legionellosis and Meteorological Factors. *EcoHealth*, *13*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-016-1115-y
- 235. Glick, T. H., Gregg, M. B., Berman, B., Mallison, G., Rhodes, W. W., & Kassanoff, I. (1978). Pontiac fever. An epidemic of unknown etiology in a health department: I. Clinical and epidemiologic aspects. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 107(2), 149–160.
- 236. Gobert, G., Cotillard, A., Fourmestraux, C., Pruvost, L., Miguet, J., & Boyer, M. (2018). Droplet digital PCR improves absolute quantification of viable lactic acid bacteria in faecal samples. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 148, 64–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2018.03.004
- 237. Gobin, I., Newton, P. R., Hartland, E. L., & Newton, H. J. (2009). Infections caused by nonpneumophila species of *Legionella*. *Reviews in Medical Microbiology*, 20(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1097/MRM.0b013e32832e82da
- 238. Goldberg, D. J., Wrench, J. G., Collier, P. W., Emslie, J. A., Fallon, R. J., Forbes, G. I., ... Reid, D. (1989). Lochgoilhead fever: outbreak of non-pneumonic legionellosis due to *Legionella micdadei*. *Lancet* (*London*, *England*), 1(8633), 316–318.
- 239. Gomes, T. S., Vaccaro, L., Magnet, A., Izquierdo, F., Ollero, D., Martínez-Fernández, C., Mayo, L., Moran, M., Pozuelo, M. J., Fenoy, S., Hurtado, C., & Del Águila, C. (2020). Presence and interaction of free-living amoebae and amoeba-resisting bacteria in water from drinking water treatment plants. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 719, 137080. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137080
- 240. Gomez-Alvarez, V., Humrighouse, B. W., Revetta, R. P., & Santo Domingo, J. W. (2015). Bacterial composition in a metropolitan drinking water distribution system utilizing different source waters. *Journal of Water and Health*, *13*(1), 140–151. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2014.057
- 241. Gong, X., Li, J., Zhang, Y., Hou, S., Qu, P., Yang, Z., & Chen, S. (2017). Molecular typing of *Legionella pneumophila* from air-conditioning cooling waters using mip gene, SBT, and FAFLP methods. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, *139*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2017.04.002
- 242. Gorman, G. W., Feeley, J. C., Steigerwalt, A., Edelstein, P. H., Moss, C. W., & Brenner, D. J. (1985). *Legionella anisa*: a new species of *Legionella* isolated from potable waters and a cooling tower. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *49*(2), 305–309.
- 243. Gosselin, F., Duval, J. F. L., Simonet, J., Ginevra, C., Gaboriaud, F., Jarraud, S., & Mathieu, L. (2011). Impact of the virulence-associated MAb3/1 epitope on the

physicochemical surface properties of *Legionella pneumophila* sg1: An issue to explain infection potential? *Colloids and Surfaces. B, Biointerfaces*, 82(2), 283–290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2010.08.040

- 244. Graells, T., Hernández-García, M., Pérez-Jové, J., Guy, L., & Padilla, E. (2018). *Legionella pneumophila* recurrently isolated in a Spanish hospital: Two years of antimicrobial resistance surveillance. *Environmental Research*, *166*, 638–646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.06.045
- 245. Graells, T., Ishak, H., Larsson, M., & Guy, L. (2018). The all-intracellular order Legionellales is unexpectedly diverse, globally distributed and lowly abundant. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 94(12). https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiy185
- 246. Grau, S., Antonio, J. M., Ribes, E., Salvadó, M., Garcés, J. M., & Garau, J. (2006). Impact of rifampicin addition to clarithromycin in *Legionella pneumophila* pneumonia. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, 28(3), 249–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2006.03.029
- 247. Green, M. R., & Sambrook, J. (2018). Constructing a Standard Curve for Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) Experiments. *Cold Spring Harbor Protocols*, 2018(10). https://doi.org/10.1101/pdb.prot095026
- 248. Greub, G., & Raoult, D. (2003). Biocides currently used for bronchoscope decontamination are poorly effective against free-living amoebae. *Infection control and hospital epidemiology*, 24(10), 784–786. https://doi.org/10.1086/502137
- 249. Griffin, J. L. (1972). Temperature Tolerance of Pathogenic and Nonpathogenic Free-Living Amoebas. *Science*, 178(4063), 869–870. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.178.4063.869
- 250. Griffin, A. T., Peyrani, P., Wiemken, T., & Arnold, F. (2010). Macrolides versus quinolones in *Legionella* pneumonia: Results from the Community-Acquired Pneumonia Organization international study. *The International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease: The Official Journal of the International Union Against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, 14(4), 495–499.
- 251. Greub, G., & Raoult, D. (2003). Biocides currently used for bronchoscope decontamination are poorly effective against free-living amoebae. *Infection control and hospital epidemiology*, 24(10), 784–786. https://doi.org/10.1086/502137
- 252. Grúas, C., Llambi, S., & Arruga, M. V. (2014). Detection of *Legionella* spp. And *Legionella pneumophila* in water samples of Spain by specific real-time PCR. *Archives of Microbiology*, *196*(1), 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-013-0934-2
- 253. Guan, W., Xu, Y., Chen, D., Xu, J., Tian, Y., & Chen, J. (2012). Application of multilocus sequence analysis (MLSA) for accurate identification of *Legionella* spp.

Isolated from municipal fountains in Chengdu, China, based on 16S rRNA, mip, and rpoB genes. *The Journal of Microbiology*, *50*(1), 127–136. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12275-012-1243-1

- 254. Guerrieri, E., Bondi, M., Sabia, C., de Niederhäusern, S., Borella, P., & Messi, P. (2008). Effect of bacterial interference on biofilm development by *Legionella pneumophila*. *Current Microbiology*, *57*(6), 532–536. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-008-9237-2
- 255. Gupta, A., & Sharma, V. K. (2015). Using the taxon-specific genes for the taxonomic classification of bacterial genomes. *BMC Genomics*, *16*(1), 396. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-015-1542-0
- 256. Hackman, B. A., Plouffe, J. F., Benson, R. F., Fields, B. S., & Breiman, R. F. (1996). Comparison of Binax *Legionella* Urinary Antigen EIA kit with Binax RIA Urinary Antigen kit for detection of *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 1 antigen. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 34(6), 1579–1580.
- 257. Halabi, M., Wiesholzer-Pittl, M., Schöberl, J., & Mittermayer, H. (2001). Non-touch fittings in hospitals: A possible source of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Legionella* spp. *The Journal of Hospital Infection*, 49(2), 117–121. https://doi.org/10.1053/jhin.2001.1060
- 258. Halberstam, M., Isenberg, H. D., & Hilton, E. (1992). Abscess and empyema caused by *Legionella micdadei. Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *30*(2), 512–513.
- 259. Hamilton, K. A., & Haas, C. N. (2016). Critical review of mathematical approaches for quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) of *Legionella* in engineered water systems: Research gaps and a new framework. *Environmental Science: Water Research & Technology*, 2(4), 599–613. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6EW00023A
- 260. Hamilton, K. A., Ahmed, W., Toze, S., & Haas, C. N. (2017). Human health risks for *Legionella* and *Mycobacterium avium* complex (MAC) from potable and non-potable uses of roof-harvested rainwater. *Water Research*, 119, 288–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.04.004
- 261. Hamilton, K. A., Hamilton, M. T., Johnson, W., Jjemba, P., Bukhari, Z., LeChevallier, M., & Haas, C. N. (2018). Health risks from exposure to *Legionella* in reclaimed water aerosols: Toilet flushing, spray irrigation, and cooling towers. *Water Research*, 134, 261– 279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.12.022
- 262. Hamilton, K. A., Hamilton, M. T., Johnson, W., Jjemba, P., Bukhari, Z., LeChevallier, M., ... Gurian, P. L. (2019). Risk-Based Critical Concentrations of *Legionella pneumophila* for Indoor Residential Water Uses. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 53(8), 4528–4541. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b03000

- 263. Hampton, L. M., Garrison, L., Kattan, J., Brown, E., Kozak-Muiznieks, N. A., Lucas, C., Fields, B., Fitzpatrick, N., Sapian, L., Martin-Escobar, T., Waterman, S., Hicks, L. A., Alpuche-Aranda, C., & Lopez-Gatell, H. (2016). Legionnaires' Disease Outbreak at a Resort in Cozumel, Mexico. *Open Forum Infectious Diseases*, 3(3). https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofw170
- 264. Harrington, R. D., Woolfrey, A. E., Bowden, R., McDowell, M. G., & Hackman, R. C. (1996). Legionellosis in a bone marrow transplant center. *Bone Marrow Transplantation*, *18*(2), 361–368.
- 265. Harris, A., Lally, M., & Albrecht, M. (1998). *Legionella bozemanii* Pneumonia in Three Patients with AIDS. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 27(1), 97–99.
- 266. Harrison, T. G., Dournon, E., & Taylor, A. G. (1987). Evaluation of sensitivity of two serological tests for diagnosing pneumonia caused by *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 1. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 40(1), 77–82. https://doi.org/10.1136/jcp.40.1.77
- 267. Haupt, T. E., Heffernan, R. T., Kazmierczak, J. J., Nehls-Lowe, H., Rheineck, B., Powell, C., ... Davis, J. P. (2012). An Outbreak of Legionnaires Disease Associated with a Decorative Water Wall Fountain in a Hospital. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 33(2), 185–191. https://doi.org/10.1086/663711
- 268. Hayden, R. T., Uhl, J. R., Qian, X., Hopkins, M. K., Aubry, M. C., Limper, A. H., Lloyd, R. V., & Cockerill, F. R. (2001). Direct Detection of *Legionella* Species from Bronchoalveolar Lavage and Open Lung Biopsy Specimens: Comparison of LightCycler PCR, In Situ Hybridization, Direct Fluorescence Antigen Detection, and Culture. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *39*(7), 2618–2626. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.39.7.2618-2626.2001
- 269. Heijnsbergen, E. van, Husman, A. M. de R., Lodder, W. J., Bouwknegt, M., Leeuwen, A. E. D. van, Bruin, J. P., Euser, S. M., Boer, J. W. den, & Schalk, J. a. C. (2014). Viable *Legionella pneumophila* bacteria in natural soil and rainwater puddles. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 117(3), 882–890. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12559
- 270. Helbig, J. H., Kurtz, J. B., Pastoris, M. C., Pelaz, C., & Lück, P. C. (1997). Antigenic lipopolysaccharide components of *Legionella pneumophila* recognized by monoclonal antibodies: Possibilities and limitations for division of the species into serogroups. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *35*(11), 2841–2845.
- 271. Helbig, J. H., Ludwig, B., Lück, P. C., Groh, A., Witzleb, W., & Hacker, J. (1995). Monoclonal antibodies to *Legionella* Mip proteins recognize genus- and species-specific epitopes. *Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology*, 2(2), 160–165.
- 272. Helbig, J. H., Uldum, S. A., Lück, P. C., & Harrison, T. G. (2001). Detection of *Legionella pneumophila* antigen in urine samples by the BinaxNOW immunochromatographic assay and comparison with both Binax *Legionella* Urinary

Enzyme Immunoassay (EIA) and Biotest *Legionella* Urin Antigen EIA. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 50(6), 509–516. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-50-6-509

- 273. Helbig, J., Bernander, S., Castellani Pastoris, M., Etienne, J., Gaia, V., Lauwers, S., Lindsay, D., Lück, P., Marques, T., Mentula, S., Peeters, M., Pelaz, C., Struelens, M., Uldum, S., Wewalka, G., & Harrison, T. (2002). Pan-European Study on Culture-Proven Legionnaires' Disease: Distribution of *Legionella pneumophila* Serogroups and Monoclonal Subgroups. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*, 21(10), 710–716. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-002-0820-3
- 274. Herpers, B. L., de Jongh, B. M., van der Zwaluw, K., & van Hannen, E. J. (2003). Real-Time PCR Assay Targets the 23S-5S Spacer for Direct Detection and Differentiation of Legionella spp. And Legionella pneumophila. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 41(10), 4815–4816. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.41.10.4815-4816.2003
- 275. Hicks, L. A., & Garrison, L. E. (2012). Legionellosis—United States, 2000-2009. *Legionellosis—United States, 2000-2009, 12*(1), 250–254.
- 276. Hindahl, M. S., & Iglewski, B. H. (1986). Outer membrane proteins from *Legionella pneumophila* serogroups and other Legionella species. *Infection and Immunity*, *51*(1), 94–101.
- 277. Hines, S. A., Chappie, D. J., Lordo, R. A., Miller, B. D., Janke, R. J., Lindquist, H. A., Fox, K. R., Ernst, H. S., & Taft, S. C. (2014). Assessment of relative potential for *Legionella* species or surrogates inhalation exposure from common water uses. *Water Research*, 56, 203–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.02.013
- Hlavsa, M. C., Cikesh, B. L., Roberts, V. A., Kahler, A. M., Vigar, M., Hilborn, E. D., Wade, T. J., Roellig, D. M., Murphy, J. L., Xiao, L., Yates, K. M., Kunz, J. M., Arduino, M. J., Reddy, S. C., Fullerton, K. E., Cooley, L. A., Beach, M. J., Hill, V. R., & Yoder, J. S. (2018). Outbreaks Associated with Treated Recreational Water—United States, 2000-2014. *MMWR*. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 67(19), 547–551. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6719a3
- 279. Holinger, E. P., Ross, K. A., Robertson, C. E., Stevens, M. J., Harris, J. K., & Pace, N. R. (2014). Molecular analysis of point-of-use municipal drinking water microbiology. *Water Research*, 49, 225–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.11.027
- 280. Hosein, I. K., Hill, D. W., Tan, T. Y., Butchart, E. G., Wilson, K., Finlay, G., Burge, S., & Ribeiro, C. D. (2005). Point-of-care controls for nosocomial legionellosis combined with chlorine dioxide potable water decontamination: A two-year survey at a Welsh teaching hospital. *The Journal of Hospital Infection*, 61(2), 100–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2005.02.008
- 281. Hou, L., Zhou, Q., Wu, Q., Gu, Q., Sun, M., & Zhang, J. (2018). Spatiotemporal changes in bacterial community and microbial activity in a full-scale drinking water treatment

plant. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 625, 449–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.12.301

- 282. Hrubá, L. (2009). The colonization of hot water systems by *Legionella*. Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine: AAEM, 16(1), 115–119.
- 283. Hsu, T.-K., Wu, S.-F., Hsu, B.-M., Kao, P.-M., Tao, C.-W., Shen, S.-M., Ji, W.-T., Huang, W.-C., & Fan, C.-W. (2015). Surveillance of parasitic *Legionella* in surface waters by using immunomagnetic separation and amoebae enrichment. *Pathogens and Global Health*, 109(7), 328–335. https://doi.org/10.1179/2047773215Y.0000000034
- 284. Hull, N. M., Holinger, E. P., Ross, K. A., Robertson, C. E., Harris, J. K., Stevens, M. J., & Pace, N. R. (2017). Longitudinal and Source-to-Tap New Orleans, LA, U.S.A. Drinking Water Microbiology. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 51(8), 4220–4229. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b06064
- 285. Ingerson-Mahar, M., & Reid, A. (2013, January 15). Microbes in Pipes: The Microbiology of the Water Distribution System [Text]. https://www.asmscience.org/content/report/colloquia/colloquia.23
- 286. Inoue, D., Hinoura, T., Suzuki, N., Pang, J., Malla, R., Shrestha, S., ... Sei, K. (2015). High-throughput DNA microarray detection of pathogenic bacteria in shallow well groundwater in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal. *Current Microbiology*, 70(1), 43–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-014-0681-x
- 287. Ishimatsu, S., Miyamoto, H., Hori, H., Tanaka, I., & Yoshida, S. (2001). Sampling and detection of Legionella pneumophila aerosols generated from an industrial cooling tower. *The Annals of Occupational Hygiene*, *45*(6), 421–427.
- 288. Ishizaki, N., Sogawa, K., Inoue, H., Agata, K., Edagawa, A., Miyamoto, H., Fukuyama, M., & Furuhata, K. (2016). *Legionella thermalis* sp. Nov., isolated from hot spring water in Tokyo, Japan. *Microbiology and Immunology*, 60(3), 203–208. https://doi.org/10.1111/1348-0421.12366
- 289. Jaeger, T. M., Atkinson, P. P., Adams, B. A., Wright, A. J., & Hurt, R. D. (1988). *Legionella bozemanii* Pneumonia in an Immunocompromised Patient. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 63(1), 72–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-6196(12)62667-6
- 290. Janssen, W. A., & Kedlund, K. W. (1981). Giemsa stain for *Legionella pneumophila* and TATLOCK bacterium. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *94*(3), 413–414. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-94-3-413_2
- 291. Jarraud, S., Descours, G., Ginevra, C., Lina, G., & Etienne, J. (2013). Identification of *Legionella* in clinical samples. *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.)*, 954, 27–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-62703-161-5_2

- 292. Javanmard, E., Niyyati, M., Lorenzo-Morales, J., Lasjerdi, Z., Behniafar, H., & Mirjalali, H. (2017). Molecular identification of waterborne free living amoebae (Acanthamoeba, Naegleria and Vermamoeba) isolated from municipal drinking water and environmental sources, Semnan province, north half of Iran. Experimental parasitology, 183, 240-244.
- 293. Ji, P., Parks, J., Edwards, M. A., & Pruden, A. (2015). Impact of Water Chemistry, Pipe Material and Stagnation on the Building Plumbing Microbiome. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0141087
- 294. Jia, X., Ren, H., Nie, X., Li, Y., Li, J., & Qin, T. (2019). Antibiotic Resistance and Azithromycin Resistance Mechanism of *Legionella pneumophila* Serogroup 1 in China. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 63(10). https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00768-19
- 295. Jjemba, P. K., Johnson, W., Bukhari, Z., & LeChevallier, M. W. (2015). Occurrence and Control of *Legionella* in Recycled Water Systems. *Pathogens*, *4*(3), 470–502. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens4030470
- 296. Jjemba, P. K., Weinrich, L. A., Cheng, W., Giraldo, E., & Lechevallier, M. W. (2010). Regrowth of potential opportunistic pathogens and algae in reclaimed-water distribution systems. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 76(13), 4169–4178. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03147-09
- 297. Johnson, K. M., & Huseby, J. S. (1997). Lung abscess caused by *Legionella micdadei*. *Chest*, *111*(1), 252–253. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.111.1.252
- 298. Joly, P., Falconnet, P.-A., André, J., Weill, N., Reyrolle, M., Vandenesch, F., ... Jarraud, S. (2006). Quantitative Real-Time *Legionella* PCR for Environmental Water Samples: Data Interpretation. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(4), 2801–2808. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.72.4.2801-2808.2006
- 299. Jonas, D., Rosenbaum, A., Weyrich, S., & Bhakdi, S. (1995). Enzyme-linked immunoassay for detection of PCR-amplified DNA of legionellae in bronchoalveolar fluid. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *33*(5), 1247–1252.
- 300. Joung, Y. S., Ge, Z., & Buie, C. R. (2017). Bioaerosol generation by raindrops on soil. *Nature Communications*, 8(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14668
- 301. Kadlec, V., Skvárová, J., Cerva, L., & Nebáznivá, D. (1980). Virulent Naegleria fowleri in indoor swimming pool. *Folia Parasitologica*, 27(1), 11–17.
- 302. Kanatani, J., Isobe, J., Kimata, K., Shima, T., Shimizu, M., Kura, F., ... Watahiki, M. (2013). Close Genetic Relationship between *Legionella pneumophila* Serogroup 1 Isolates from Sputum Specimens and Puddles on Roads, as Determined by Sequence-Based Typing. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 79(13), 3959–3966. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00637-13

- 303. Kang, H., Sohn, H.-J., Seo, G.-E., Seong, G.-S., Ham, A.-J., Park, A.-Y., Jung, S.-Y., Lee, S.-E., Cho, S.-H., & Shin, H.-J. (2020). Molecular detection of free-living amoebae from Namhangang (southern Han River) in Korea. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-57347-1
- 304. Katsiaflaka, A., Pournaras, S., Kristo, I., Mouchtouri, V. A., Kyritsi, M., Velonakis, E., Vatopoulos, A. C., & Hadjichristodoulou, C. (2016). Epidemiological Investigation of *Legionella pneumophila* Serogroup 2 to 14 Isolates from Water Samples by Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism and Sequence-Based Typing and Detection of Virulence Traits. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 82(20), 6102–6108. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01672-16
- 305. Katz, S. M., & Hammel, J. M. (1987). The effect of drying, heat, and pH on the survival of *Legionella pneumophila*. *Annals of Clinical and Laboratory Science*, *17*(3), 150–156.
- 306. Katz, S. M., and S. Hashemi. (1982). Electron microscopic examination of the inflammatory response to *Legionella pneumophila* in guinea pigs. Lab. Invest. 46:24-32.
- 307. Kaufmann, A. F., McDade, J. E., Patton, C. M., Bennett, J. V., Skaliy, P., Feeley, J. C., ... Brachman, P. S. (1981). Pontiac fever: isolation of the etiologic agent (*Legionella pneumophilia*) and demonstration of its mode of transmission. American Journal of Epidemiology, 114(3), 337–347.
- 308. Kazandjian, D., Chiew, R., & Gilbert, G. L. (1997). Rapid diagnosis of *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 1 infection with the Binax enzyme immunoassay urinary antigen test. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *35*(4), 954–956.
- 309. Kersters, K., Devos, P., Gillis, M., Swings, J., Vandamme, P. & Stackebrandt, E. (2006). Introduction to the Proteobacteria. In The Prokaryotes: A Handbook on the Biology of Bacteria, pp. 3–37. Edited by M. Dworkin, S. Falkow, E. Rosenberg, K. H. Schleifer & E. Stackebrandt. New York: Springer.
- 310. Keserue, H.-A., Baumgartner, A., Felleisen, R., & Egli, T. (2012). Rapid detection of total and viable *Legionella pneumophila* in tap water by immunomagnetic separation, double fluorescent staining and flow cytometry. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 5(6), 753–763. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-7915.2012.00366.x
- 311. Kessler, H. H., Reinthaler, F. F., Pschaid, A., Pierer, K., Kleinhappl, B., Eber, E., & Marth, E. (1993). Rapid detection of *Legionella* species in bronchoalveolar lavage fluids with the EnviroAmp *Legionella* PCR amplification and detection kit. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 31(12), 3325–3328.
- 312. Khan, M. A., Knox, N., Prashar, A., Alexander, D., Abdel-Nour, M., Duncan, C., Tang, P., Amatullah, H., Dos Santos, C. C., Tijet, N., Low, D. E., Pourcel, C., Van Domselaar,

G., Terebiznik, M., Ensminger, A. W., & Guyard, C. (2013). Comparative Genomics Reveal That Host-Innate Immune Responses Influence the Clinical Prevalence of *Legionella pneumophila* Serogroups. *PloS One*, *8*(6), e67298. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0067298

- 313. Khodr, A., Kay, E., Gomez-Valero, L., Ginevra, C., Doublet, P., Buchrieser, C., & Jarraud, S. (2016). Molecular epidemiology, phylogeny and evolution of *Legionella*. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution: Journal of Molecular Epidemiology and Evolutionary Genetics in Infectious Diseases*, 43, 108–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2016.04.033
- 314. Kilvington, S., & Price, J. (1990). Survival of Legionella pneumophila within cysts of Acanthamoeba polyphaga following chlorine exposure. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology*, 68(5), 519–525. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.1990.tb02904.x
- 315. Kim, M. J., Lee, G. C., Kim, K., Lee, H., Kim, M. Y., Seo, D. K., ... & Cho, Y. C. (2018). Surveillance of viable Acanthamoeba spp. and Naegleria fowlersignificantmajor water sources for tap water in Korea §. *The Microbiological Society of Korea*, *54*(3), 237-243.
- 316. King, D. N., Donohue, M. J., Vesper, S. J., Villegas, E. N., Ware, M. W., Vogel, M. E., Furlong, E. F., Kolpin, D. W., Glassmeyer, S. T., & Pfaller, S. (2016). Microbial pathogens in source and treated waters from drinking water treatment plants in the United States and implications for human health. *Science of The Total Environment*, 562, 987– 995. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.03.214
- 317. Kleinberg, K. A., & Antony, S. J. (2019). *Legionella* pneumonia in pregnancy: A case report and review of the literature. *Infectious Disorders Drug Targets*. https://doi.org/10.2174/1871526519666190119110657
- 318. Knirsch, C. A., Jakob, K., Schoonmaker, D., Kiehlbauch, J. A., Wong, S. J., Della-Latta, P., ... Scully, B. (2000). An outbreak of *Legionella micdadei* pneumonia in transplant patients: Evaluation, molecular epidemiology, and control. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 108(4), 290–295. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0002-9343(99)00459-3
- 319. Kobayashi, H., Oethinger, M., Tuohy, M. J., Hall, G. S., & Bauer, T. W. (2009). Unsuitable distinction between viable and dead *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Staphylococcus epidermidis* by ethidium bromide monoazide. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 48(5), 633–638. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2009.02585.x
- 320. Koch, C. A., Robyn, J. A., & Coccia, M. R. (1997). Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: A Risk Factor for Pneumonia Caused by *Legionella micdadei? Archives of Internal Medicine*, *157*(22), 2670–2671. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.1997.00440430152032
- 321. Koide, M., Kamino, T., Tsukahara, Y., Maejima, K., & Saitoh, A. (1991). [Isolation of *Legionella* spp. From cooling tower water in Kinki District, Japan]. *Kansenshogaku*

Zasshi. The Journal of the Japanese Association for Infectious Diseases, 65(12), 1578–1582. https://doi.org/10.11150/kansenshogakuzasshi1970.65.1578

- 322. Koide, M., Saito, A., Ishimine, T., Yamashiro, Y., Higa, F., Fukuhara, H., Kawakami, K., & Kusano, N. (1995). [Identification of *Legionella pneumophila* strains by polymerase chain reaction method which isolated from cooling tower water]. *Kansenshogaku Zasshi*. *The Journal of the Japanese Association for Infectious Diseases*, 69(1), 79–84. https://doi.org/10.11150/kansenshogakuzasshi1970.69.79
- 323. Konishi, T., Yamashiro, T., Koide, M., & Nishizono, A. (2006). Influence of temperature on growth of *Legionella pneumophila* biofilm determined by precise temperature gradient incubator. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, *101*(6), 478–484. https://doi.org/10.1263/jbb.101.478
- 324. Kooij, D. van der, Veenendaal, H. R., Slaats, N. P. G., & Vonk, D. (2002). Biofilm Formation and Multiplication of *Legionella* on Synthetic Pipe Materials in Contact with Treated Water under Static and Dynamic Conditions. *Legionella*, 176–180. https://doi.org/10.1128/9781555817985.ch31
- 325. Kozak-Muiznieks, N. A., Lucas, C. E., Brown, E., Pondo, T., Taylor, T. H., Frace, M., Miskowski, D., & Winchell, J. M. (2014). Prevalence of Sequence Types among Clinical and Environmental Isolates of *Legionella pneumophila* Serogroup 1 in the United States from 1982 to 2012. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 52(1), 201–211. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01973-13
- 326. Kozak, N. A., Benson, R. F., Brown, E., Alexander, N. T., Taylor, T. H., Shelton, B. G., & Fields, B. S. (2009). Distribution of lag-1 Alleles and Sequence-Based Types among *Legionella pneumophila* Serogroup 1 Clinical and Environmental Isolates in the United States. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 47(8), 2525–2535. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.02410-08
- 327. Kuiper, M. W., Wullings, B. A., Akkermans, A. D., Beumer, R. R., & van der Kooij, D. (2004). Intracellular proliferation of *Legionella pneumophila* in *Hartmannella vermiformis* in aquatic biofilms grown on plasticized polyvinyl chloride. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 70(11), 6826–6833.
- 328. Kuypers, J., & Jerome, K. R. (2017). Applications of Digital PCR for Clinical Microbiology. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *55*(6), 1621–1628. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00211-17
- 329. Kwaik, Y. A., Gao, L.-Y., Stone, B. J., Venkataraman, C., & Harb, O. S. (1998). Invasion of Protozoa by *Legionella pneumophila* and Its Role in Bacterial Ecology and Pathogenesis. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *64*(9), 3127–3133.

- 330. Lachant, D., & Prasad, P. (2015). Legionella micdadei: A Forgotten Etiology of Growing Cavitary Nodules: A Case Report and Literature Review. Case Reports in Pulmonology, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/535012
- 331. Lai, C.-C., Tan, C.-K., Chou, C.-H., Hsu, H.-L., Huang, Y.-T., Liao, C.-H., & Hsueh, P.-R. (2010). Hospital-Acquired Pneumonia and Bacteremia Caused by *Legionella pneumophila* in an Immunocompromised Patient. *Infection*, 38(2), 135–137. https://doi.org/10.1007/s15010-009-9253-1
- 332. Lam, C., He, L., & Marciano-Cabral, F. (2019). The Effect of Different Environmental Conditions on the Viability of Naegleria fowleri Amoebae. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology*, 66(5), 752–756. https://doi.org/10.1111/jeu.12719
- 333. Lares-García, C., Otero-Ruiz, A., Gonzalez-Galaviz, J. R., Ibarra-Gámez, J. C., & Lares-Villa, F. (2018). Potentially pathogenic genera of free-living amoebae coexisting in a thermal spring. *Experimental parasitology*, 195, 54–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exppara.2018.10.006
- 334. Lasheras, A., Boulestreau, H., Rogues, A.-M., Ohayon-Courtes, C., Labadie, J.-C., & Gachie, J.-P. (2006). Influence of amoebae and physical and chemical characteristics of water on presence and proliferation of *Legionella* species in hospital water systems. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 34(8), 520–525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2006.03.007
- 335. Lau, H. Y., & Ashbolt, N. J. (2009). The role of biofilms and protozoa in *Legionella* pathogenesis: implications for drinking water. *Journal of applied microbiology*, *107*(2), 368–378. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2009.04208.x
- 336. Learbuch, K. L. G., Lut, M. C., Liu, G., Smidt, H., & van der Wielen, P. W. J. J. (2019). *Legionella* growth potential of drinking water produced by a reverse osmosis pilot plant. *Water Research*, 157, 55–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.03.037
- 337. Lebrun, L., Tram, C., d'Azambuja, S., & Pillot, J. (1986). Immunofluorescence characterization of *Legionella*: Narrow specificity of polyclonal immunsera to various serogroups and species. *Acta Microbiologica Hungarica*, *33*(1), 43–49.
- 338. Lee, T. C., Vickers, R. M., Yu, V. L., & Wagener, M. M. (1993). Growth of 28 *Legionella* species on selective culture media: A comparative study. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *31*(10), 2764–2768.
- 339. Lehtola, M. J., Miettinen, I. T., Lampola, T., Hirvonen, A., Vartiainen, T., & Martikainen, P. J. (2005). Pipeline materials modify the effectiveness of disinfectants in drinking water distribution systems. *Water Research*, 39(10), 1962–1971. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.03.009
- 340. Leoni, E., De Luca, G., Legnani, P. P., Sacchetti, R., Stampi, S., & Zanetti, F. (2005). *Legionella* waterline colonization: Detection of *Legionella* species in domestic, hotel and hospital hot water systems. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *98*(2), 373–379. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2004.02458.x
- 341. Leoni, E., Legnani, P. P., Bucci Sabattini, M. A., & Righi, F. (2001). Prevalence of Legionella spp. In swimming pool environment. Water Research, 35(15), 3749–3753. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0043-1354(01)00075-6
- 342. Leoni, E., Catalani, F., Marini, S., & Dallolio, L. (2018). Legionellosis Associated with Recreational Waters: A Systematic Review of Cases and Outbreaks in Swimming Pools, Spa Pools, and Similar Environments. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *15*(8), 1612. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15081612
- 343. Leskinen, S. D., Kearns, E. A., Jones, W. L., Miller, R. S., Bevitas, C. R., Kingsley, M. T., ... Lim, D. V. (2012). Automated dead-end ultrafiltration of large volume water samples to enable detection of low-level targets and reduce sample variability. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 113(2), 351–360. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2012.05345.x
- 344. Lesnik, R., Brettar, I., & Höfle, M. G. (2016). *Legionella* species diversity and dynamics from surface reservoir to tap water: From cold adaptation to thermophily. *The ISME Journal*, *10*(5), 1064–1080. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2015.199
- 345. Lévesque, S., Lalancette, C., Bernard, K., Pacheco, A. L., Dion, R., Longtin, J., & Tremblay, C. (2016). Molecular Typing of *Legionella pneumophila* Isolates in the Province of Quebec from 2005 to 2015. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(10), e0163818. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0163818
- 346. Lévesque, S., Plante, P.-L., Mendis, N., Cantin, P., Marchand, G., Charest, H., Raymond, F., Huot, C., Goupil-Sormany, I., Desbiens, F., Faucher, S. P., Corbeil, J., & Tremblay, C. (2014). Genomic Characterization of a Large Outbreak of *Legionella pneumophila* Serogroup 1 Strains in Quebec City, 2012. *PLoS ONE*, 9(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0103852
- 347. Li, H., Bai, R., Zhao, Z., Tao, L., Ma, M., Ji, Z., Jian, M., Ding, Z., Dai, X., Bao, F., & Liu, A. (2018). Application of droplet digital PCR to detect the pathogens of infectious diseases. *Bioscience Reports*, *38*(6). https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20181170
- 348. Li, L., Qin, T., Li, Y., Zhou, H., Song, H., Ren, H., Li, L., Li, Y., & Zhao, D. (2015). Prevalence and Molecular Characteristics of Waterborne Pathogen Legionella in Industrial Cooling Tower Environments. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 12(10), 12605–12617. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph121012605
- 349. Li, Q., Yu, S., Li, L., Liu, G., Gu, Z., Liu, M., Liu, Z., Ye, Y., Xia, Q., & Ren, L. (2017). Microbial Communities Shaped by Treatment Processes in a Drinking Water Treatment

Plant and Their Contribution and Threat to Drinking Water Safety. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *8*, 2465. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.02465

- 350. Lieberman, R. J., Shadix, L. C., Newport, B. S., Crout, S. R., Buescher, S. E., Safferman, R. S., ... & Dahling, D. R. (1994, October). Source water microbial quality of some vulnerable public ground water supplies. In Proceedings, Water Quality Technology Conference, San Francisco, CA.
- 351. Lin, W., Yu, Z., Zhang, H., & Thompson, I. P. (2014). Diversity and dynamics of microbial communities at each step of treatment plant for potable water generation. *Water Research*, *52*, 218–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.10.071
- 352. Lindquist, D. S., Nygaard, G., Thacker, W. L., Benson, R. F., Brenner, D. J., & Wilkinson, H. W. (1988). Thirteenth serogroup of *Legionella pneumophila* isolated from patients with pneumonia. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *26*(3), 586–587.
- 353. Lindsay, D. S. J., Abraham, W. H., Findlay, W., Christie, P., Johnston, F., & Edwards, G. F. S. (2004). Laboratory diagnosis of legionnaires' disease due to *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 1: Comparison of phenotypic and genotypic methods. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 53(3), 183–187. https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.05464-0
- 354. Lindsay, D. S. J., Brown, A. W., Brown, D. J., Pravinkumar, S. J., Anderson, E., & Edwards, G. F. S. (2012). *Legionella longbeachae* serogroup 1 infections linked to potting compost. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, *61*(Pt 2), 218–222. https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.035857-0
- 355. Lipphaus, P., Hammes, F., Kötzsch, S., Green, J., Gillespie, S., & Nocker, A. (2014). Microbiological tap water profile of a medium-sized building and effect of water stagnation. *Environmental Technology*, 35(5), 620–628. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2013.839748
- 356. Liu, C., von Gunten, U., & Croué, J.-P. (2013). Enhanced chlorine dioxide decay in the presence of metal oxides: Relevance to drinking water distribution systems. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47(15), 8365–8372. https://doi.org/10.1021/es4015103
- 357. Liu, L., Xing, X., Hu, C., & Wang, H. (2019). One-year survey of opportunistic premise plumbing pathogens and free-living amoebae in the tap-water of one northern city of China. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 77, 20–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jes.2018.04.020
- 358. Liu, R., Zhu, J., Yu, Z., Joshi, D., Zhang, H., Lin, W., & Yang, M. (2014). Molecular analysis of long-term biofilm formation on PVC and cast iron surfaces in drinking water distribution system. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 26(4), 865–874. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1001-0742(13)60481-7

- 359. Liu, Z., Lin, Y. E., Stout, J. E., Hwang, C. C., Vidic, R. D., & Yu, V. L. (2006). Effect of flow regimes on the presence of *Legionella* within the biofilm of a model plumbing system. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 101(2), 437–442. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2006.02970.x
- 360. Llewellyn, A. C., Lucas, C. E., Roberts, S. E., Brown, E. W., Nayak, B. S., Raphael, B. H., & Winchell, J. M. (2017). Distribution of *Legionella* and bacterial community composition among regionally diverse US cooling towers. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0189937
- 361. Lu, J., Buse, H. Y., Gomez-Alvarez, V., Struewing, I., Santo Domingo, J., & Ashbolt, N. J. (2014). Impact of drinking water conditions and copper materials on downstream biofilm microbial communities and *Legionella pneumophila* colonization. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 117(3), 905–918. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12578
- 362. Lu, J., Buse, H., Struewing, I., Zhao, A., Lytle, D., & Ashbolt, N. (2017). Annual variations and effects of temperature on *Legionella* spp. And other potential opportunistic pathogens in a bathroom. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, 24(3), 2326–2336. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-7921-5
- 363. Lu, J., Struewing, I., Vereen, E., Kirby, A. E., Levy, K., Moe, C., & Ashbolt, N. (2016). Molecular Detection of *Legionella* spp. And their associations with *Mycobacterium* spp., *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and amoeba hosts in a drinking water distribution system. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 120(2), 509–521. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12996
- 364. Lu, J., Struewing, I., Yelton, S., & Ashbolt, N. (2015). Molecular survey of occurrence and quantity of *Legionella* spp., *Mycobacterium* spp., *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and amoeba hosts in municipal drinking water storage tank sediments. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *119*(1), 278–288. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12831
- 365. Lucas, C. E., Taylor, T. H., & Fields, B. S. (2011). Accuracy and precision of *Legionella* isolation by US laboratories in the ELITE program pilot study. *Water Research*, 45(15), 4428–4436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.05.030
- 366. Lucas, K. D., Wheeler, C., McLendon, P., Leistikow, B. N., & Mohle-Boetani, J. C. (2018). Outbreak of Legionnaires' disease associated with cooling towers at a California state prison, 2015. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 146(3), 297–302. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268818000110
- 367. Lück, P. C., Freier, T., Steudel, C., Knirel, Y. A., Lüneberg, E., Zähringer, U., & Helbig, J. H. (2001). A point mutation in the active site of *Legionella pneumophila* O-acetyltransferase results in modified lipopolysaccharide but does not influence virulence. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 291(5), 345–352. https://doi.org/10.1078/1438-4221-00140

- 368. Magnet, A., Peralta, R. H., Gomes, T. S., Izquierdo, F., Fernandez-Vadillo, C., Galvan, A. L., Pozuelo, M. J., Pelaz, C., Fenoy, S., & Del Águila, C. (2015). Vectorial role of Acanthamoeba in *Legionella* propagation in water for human use. *The Science of the total environment*, 505, 889–895.
- 369. Mahmoudi, M. R., Berenji, F., Fata, A., Najafzadeh, M. J., Asadian, A., & Salehi, M. (2015). Morphological Characterization of Potentially Pathogenic Thermophilic Amoebae Isolated From Surface Water in Mashhad, Iran. *Jundishapur Journal of Microbiology*, 8(4). https://doi.org/10.5812/jjm.8(4)2015.25944
- 370. Mahmoudi, M. R., Taghipour, N., Eftekhar, M., Haghighi, A., & Karanis, P. (2012). Isolation of Acanthamoeba species in surface waters of Gilan province-north of Iran. Parasitology research, 110(1), 473-477.
- 371. Mahapatra, A., Padhi, N., Mahapatra, D., Bhatt, M., Sahoo, D., Jena, S., Dash, D., & Chayani, N. (2015). Study of Biofilm in Bacteria from Water Pipelines. *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research : JCDR*, 9(3), DC09-DC11. https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2015/12415.5715
- 372. Maiwald, M., Helbig, J. H., & Lück, P. C. (1998). Laboratory methods for the diagnosis of *Legionella* infections. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, *33*(1), 59–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-7012(98)00041-4
- 373. Makris, K., Andra, S., & Botsaris, G. (2013). Pipe Scales and Biofilms in Drinking-Water Distribution Systems: Undermining Finished Water Quality. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 44. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2013.790746
- 374. Mampel, J., Spirig, T., Weber, S. S., Haagensen, J. A. J., Molin, S., & Hilbi, H. (2006). Planktonic Replication Is Essential for Biofilm Formation by *Legionella pneumophila* in a Complex Medium under Static and Dynamic Flow Conditions. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(4), 2885–2895. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.72.4.2885-2895.2006
- 375. Mapili, K., Pieper, K. J., Dai, D., Pruden, A., Edwards, M. A., Tang, M., & Rhoads, W. J. (2020). Legionella pneumophila occurrence in drinking water supplied by private wells. Letters in Applied Microbiology, 70(4), 232–240. https://doi.org/10.1111/lam.13273
- 376. Marchesi, I., Ferranti, G., Mansi, A., Marcelloni, A. M., Proietto, A. R., Saini, N., Borella, P., & Bargellini, A. (2016). Control of *Legionella* Contamination and Risk of Corrosion in Hospital Water Networks following Various Disinfection Procedures. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 82(10), 2959–2965. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03873-15
- 377. Marciano-Cabral, F., Puffenbarger, R., & Cabral, G. A. (2000). The increasing importance of Acanthamoeba infections. *The Journal of eukaryotic microbiology*, 47(1), 29–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1550-7408.2000.tb00007.x

- 378. Marciano-Cabral F. (2004). Introductory remarks: bacterial endosymbionts or pathogens of free-living amebae1. *The Journal of eukaryotic microbiology*, *51*(5), 497–501. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1550-7408.2004.tb00276.x
- 379. Marciano-Cabral, F., & Cabral, G. (2003). Acanthamoeba spp. As agents of disease in humans. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 16(2), 273–307. https://doi.org/10.1128/cmr.16.2.273-307.2003
- 380. Marciano-Cabral, F., & Cabral, G. A. (2007). The immune response to Naegleria fowleri amebae and pathogenesis of infection. *FEMS immunology and medical microbiology*, *51*(2), 243–259.
- 381. Marciano-Cabral, F., Jamerson, M., & Kaneshiro, E. S. (2010). Free-living amoebae, Legionella and Mycobacterium in tap water supplied by a municipal drinking water utility in the USA. *Journal of Water and Health*, 8(1), 71–82. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2009.129
- 382. Marrão, G., Veríssimo, A., Bowker, R. G., & da Costa, M. S. (1993). Biofilms as major sources of *Legionella* spp. In hydrothermal areas and their dispersion into stream water. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 12(1), 25–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.1993.tb00013.x
- 383. Marrie, T. J., Haldane, D., Macdonald, S., Clarke, K., Fanning, C., Fort-Jost, S. L., Bezanson, G., & Joly, J. (1991). Control of endemic nosocomial Legionnaires' disease by using sterile potable water for high risk patients. *Epidemiology & Infection*, 107(3), 591– 605. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268800049293
- 384. Marston, B. J., Lipman, H. B., & Breiman, R. F. (1994). Surveillance for Legionnaires' disease. Risk factors for morbidity and mortality. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *154*(21), 2417–2422.
- 385. Mathys, W., Stanke, J., Harmuth, M., & Junge-Mathys, E. (2008). Occurrence of Legionella in hot water systems of single-family residences in suburbs of two German cities with special reference to solar and district heating. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 211(1), 179–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2007.02.004
- 386. McBurnett, L. R., Holt, N. T., Alum, A., & Abbaszadegan, M. (2018). *Legionella* A threat to groundwater: Pathogen transport in recharge basin. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 621, 1485–1490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.10.080
- 387. McClung, R. P. (2017). Waterborne Disease Outbreaks Associated With Environmental and Undetermined Exposures to Water—United States, 2013–2014. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 66. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6644a4

- 388. McDade, J. E. (1979). Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium Isolated in 1947. Annals of Internal Medicine, 90(4), 659. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-90-4-659
- 389. McDade, J. E., Shepard, C. C., Fraser, D. W., Tsai, T. R., Redus, M. A., & Dowdle, W. R. (1977). Legionnaires' disease: Isolation of a bacterium and demonstration of its role in other respiratory disease. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 297(22), 1197–1203. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM197712012972202
- 390. McKinney, R. M., Porschen, R. K., Edelstein, P. H., Bissett, M. L., Harris, P. P., Bondell, S. P., ... Brenner, D. J. (1981). *Legionella longbeachae* species nova, another etiologic agent of human pneumonia. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 94(6), 739–743.
- 391. McKinney, R. M., Wilkinson, H. W., Sommers, H. M., Fikes, B. J., Sasseville, K. R., Yungbluth, M. M., & Wolf, J. S. (1980). *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup six: Isolation from cases of legionellosis, identification by immunofluorescence staining, and immunological response to infection. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *12*(3), 395–401.
- 392. McNally, C., Hackman, B., Fields, B. S., & Plouffe, J. F. (2000). Potential importance of *Legionella* Species as etiologies in community acquired pneumonia (CAP)11Informed consent was obtained from all patients and guidelines for human experimentation of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services were followed in the conduct of this clinical research. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease*, *38*(2), 79–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0732-8893(00)00181-4
- 393. Mee-Marquet, N. van der, Domelier, A.-S., Arnault, L., Bloc, D., Laudat, P., Hartemann, P., & Quentin, R. (2006). *Legionella anisa*, a Possible Indicator of Water Contamination by *Legionella pneumophila*. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *44*(1), 56–59. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.44.1.56-59.2006
- 394. Meenhorst, P. L., Reingold, A. L., Groothuis, D. G., Gorman, G. W., Wilkinson, H. W., McKinney, R. M., Feeley, J. C., Brenner, D. J., & van Furth, R. (1985). Water-related nosocomial pneumonia caused by *Legionella pneumophila* serogroups 1 and 10. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 152(2), 356–364. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/152.2.356
- 395. Mentasti, M., Cassier, P., David, S., Ginevra, C., Gomez-Valero, L., Underwood, A., Afshar, B., Etienne, J., Parkhill, J., Chalker, V., Buchrieser, C., Harrison, T. G., & Jarraud, S. (2017). Rapid detection and evolutionary analysis of *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 1 sequence type 47. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, 23(4), 264.e1-264.e9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2016.11.019
- 396. Mentasti, M., Kese, D., Echahidi, F., Uldum, S. A., Afshar, B., David, S., Mrazek, J., De Mendonça, R., Harrison, T. G., & Chalker, V. J. (2015). Design and validation of a qPCR assay for accurate detection and initial serogrouping of *Legionella pneumophila* in clinical specimens by the ESCMID Study Group for Legionella Infections (ESGLI). *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases*, 34(7), 1387–1393. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-015-2363-4

- 397. Mérault, N., Rusniok, C., Jarraud, S., Gomez-Valero, L., Cazalet, C., Marin, M., Brachet, E., Aegerter, P., Gaillard, J. L., Etienne, J., Herrmann, J. L., DELPH-I Study Group, Lawrence, C., & Buchrieser, C. (2011). Specific real-time PCR for simultaneous detection and identification of *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 1 in water and clinical samples. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 77(5), 1708–1717. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02261-10
- 398. Mercante, J. W., & Winchell, J. M. (2015). Current and Emerging Legionella Diagnostics for Laboratory and Outbreak Investigations. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 28(1), 95– 133. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00029-14
- 399. Mercante, J. W., Morrison, S. S., Raphael, B. H., & Winchell, J. M. (2016). Complete Genome Sequences of the Historical *Legionella pneumophila* Strains OLDA and Pontiac. *Genome Announcements*, 4(4). https://doi.org/10.1128/genomeA.00866-16
- 400. Messi, P., Anacarso, I., Bargellini, A., Bondi, M., Marchesi, I., Niederhäusern, S. de, & Borella, P. (2011). Ecological behaviour of three serogroups of *Legionella pneumophila* within a model plumbing system. *Biofouling*, 27(2), 165–172. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927014.2010.551190
- 401. Michigan Department of Human and Health Services. Michigan Urges Continued *Legionella* Precaution. https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/0,5885,7-339--385676--,00.html. Accessed June 29, 2019.
- 402. Miller, M. L., Hayden, R., & Gaur, A. (2007). *Legionella Bozemanii* Pulmonary Abscess In A Pediatric Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplant Recipient. *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal*, 26(8), 760. https://doi.org/10.1097/INF.0b013e318054e338
- 403. Mizrahi, H., Peretz, A., Lesnik, R., Aizenberg-Gershtein, Y., Rodríguez-Martínez, S., Sharaby, Y., Pastukh, N., Brettar, I., Höfle, M. G., & Halpern, M. (2017). Comparison of sputum microbiome of legionellosis-associated patients and other pneumonia patients: Indications for polybacterial infections. *Scientific Reports*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep40114
- 404. Moerman, A., Blokker, M., Vreeburg, J., & van der Hoek, J. P. (2014). Drinking Water Temperature Modelling in Domestic Systems. *Procedia Engineering*, *89*, 143–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2014.11.170
- 405. Mojtahedi, S.-Y., Rahbarimanesh, A., Noorbakhsh, S., Shokri, H., Jamali-Moghadam-Siyahkali, S., & Izadi, A. (2019). Urinary antigene and PCR can both be used to detect *Legionella pneumophila* in children's hospital-acquired pneumonia. *European Journal of Translational Myology*, 29(2), 8120. https://doi.org/10.4081/ejtm.2019.8120
- 406. Molmeret, M., Horn, M., Wagner, M., Santic, M., & Kwaik, Y. A. (2005). Amoebae as Training Grounds for Intracellular Bacterial Pathogens. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(1), 20–28. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.1.20-28.2005

- 407. Monforte, R., Estruch, R., Vidal, J., Mensa, J., Marco, F., Cervera, R., Tarrero, I., Jiménez de Anta, M. T., & Urbano-Márquez, A. (1989). [A community outbreak of Legionnaires' disease in Barcelona: Clinical and microbiological study]. *Medicina Clinica*, *93*(14), 521–525.
- 408. Montagna, M. T., Cristina, M. L., De Giglio, O., Spagnolo, A. M., Napoli, C., Cannova, L., ... Pasquarella, C. (2016). Serological and molecular identification of *Legionella* spp. isolated from water and surrounding air samples in Italian healthcare facilities. *Environmental Research*, 146, 47–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2015.12.015
- 409. Moritz, M., Flemming, H.-C., & Wingender, J. (2010). Integration of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Legionella pneumophila* in drinking water biofilms grown on domestic plumbing materials. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2010.05.003
- 410. Morrill, W. E., Barbaree, J. M., Fields, B. S., Sanden, G. N., & Martin, W. T. (1990). Increased recovery of *Legionella micdadei* and *Legionella bozemanii* on buffered charcoal yeast extract agar supplemented with albumin. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 28(3), 616–618.
- 411. Morris, G. K. (n.d.). Legionella Bacteria in Environmental Samples: Hazard Analysis and Suggested Remedial Actions. 2.
- 412. Morvay, A. A., Decun, M., Scurtu, M., Sala, C., Morar, A., & Sarandan, M. (2011). Biofilm formation on materials commonly used in household drinking water systems. *Water Supply*, *11*(2), 252–257. https://doi.org/10.2166/ws.2011.053
- 413. Muchesa, P., Leifels, M., Jurzik, L., Hoorzook, K. B., Barnard, T. G., & Bartie, C. (2017). Coexistence of free-living amoebae and bacteria in selected South African hospital water distribution systems. *Parasitology Research*, *116*(1), 155–165. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-016-5271-3
- 414. Muchesa, P., Leifels, M., Jurzik, L., Barnard, T. G., & Bartie, C. (2018). Detection of amoeba-associated Legionella pneumophila in hospital water networks of Johannesburg. *Southern African Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *33*(3), 72–75. https://doi.org/10.1080/23120053.2018.1434060
- 415. Muder, R. R., & Victor, L. Y. (2002). Infection Due to *Legionella* Species Other Than *L. pneumophila*. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *35*(8), 990–998. https://doi.org/10.1086/342884
- 416. Murdoch, D. R., & Chambers, S. T. (2000). Detection of *Legionella* DNA in Peripheral Leukocytes, Serum, and Urine from a Patient with Pneumonia Caused by Legionella dumoffii. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *30*(2), 382–383. https://doi.org/10.1086/313656

- 417. Murdoch, D. R., Anderson, T. P., Beynon, K. A., Chua, A., Fleming, A. M., Laing, R. T. R., Town, G. I., Mills, G. D., Chambers, S. T., & Jennings, L. C. (2003). Evaluation of a PCR Assay for Detection of Streptococcus pneumoniae in Respiratory and Nonrespiratory Samples from Adults with Community-Acquired Pneumonia. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 41(1), 63–66. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.41.1.63-66.2003
- 418. Murdoch, D. R., Walford, E. J., Jennings, L. C., Light, G. J., Schousboe, M. I., Chereshsky, A. Y., Chambers, S. T., & Town, G. I. (1996). Use of the Polymerase Chain Reaction to Detect *Legionella* DNA in Urine and Serum Samples from Patients with Pneumonia. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 23(3), 475–480. https://doi.org/10.1093/clinids/23.3.475
- 419. Muyldermans, A., Descheemaeker, P., Boel, A., Desmet, S., Van Gasse, N., Reynders, M., & National Expert Committee on Infectious Serology. (2020). What is the risk of missing legionellosis relying on urinary antigen testing solely? A retrospective Belgian multicenter study. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases: Official Publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology*, 39(4), 729–734. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-019-03785-8
- Myerowitz, R. L., Pasculle, A. W., Dowling, J. N., Pazin, G. J., Puerzer, M., Yee, R. B., ... Hakala, T. R. (1979). Opportunistic Lung Infection Due to Pittsburgh Pneumonia Agent. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 301(18), 953–958. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM197911013011801
- 421. Nakanishi, N., Nomoto, R., Tanaka, S., Arikawa, K., & Iwamoto, T. (2019). Analysis of Genetic Characterization and Clonality of *Legionella pneumophila* Isolated from Cooling Towers in Japan. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16091664
- 422. Nazarian, E. J., Bopp, D. J., Saylors, A., Limberger, R. J., & Musser, K. A. (2008). Design and implementation of a protocol for the detection of *Legionella* in clinical and environmental samples. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease*, 62(2), 125– 132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2008.05.004
- 423. Neff, R. J., Ray, S. A., Benton, W. F., & Wilborn, M. (1964). Chapter 4 Induction of Synchronous Encystment (Differentiation) in Acanthamoeba sp. In D. M. Prescott (Ed.), *Methods in Cell Biology* (Vol. 1, pp. 55–83). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0091-679X(08)62086-5
- 424. Negrón-Alvíra, A., Pérez-Suarez, I., & Hazen, T. C. (1988). *Legionella* spp. In Puerto Rico cooling towers. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *54*(10), 2331–2334.
- 425. Neiderud, C.-J., Vidh, A. L., & Salaneck, E. (2013). Soft tissue infection caused by *Legionella bozemanii* in a patient with ongoing immunosuppressive treatment. *Infection Ecology & Epidemiology*, *3*. https://doi.org/10.3402/iee.v3i0.20739

- 426. Ng, D. L. K., Koh, B. B., Tay, L., & Heng, B. H. (1997). Comparison of polymerase chain reaction and conventional culture for the detection of legionellae in cooling tower waters in Singapore. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, *24*(3), 214–216. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1472-765X.1997.00382.x
- 427. Nguyen, C., Elfland, C., & Edwards, M. (2012). Impact of advanced water conservation features and new copper pipe on rapid chloramine decay and microbial regrowth. *Water Research*, *46*(3), 611–621. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.11.006
- 428. Nhu Nguyen, T. M., Ilef, D., Jarraud, S., Rouil, L., Campese, C., Che, D., Haeghebaert, S., Ganiayre, F., Marcel, F., Etienne, J., & Desenclos, J.-C. (2006). A Community-Wide Outbreak of Legionnaires Disease Linked to Industrial Cooling Towers—How Far Can Contaminated Aerosols Spread? *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *193*(1), 102–111. https://doi.org/10.1086/498575
- 429. Niedeveld, C. J., Pet, F. M., & Meenhorst, P. L. (1986). Effect of rubbers and their constituents on proliferation of *Legionella pneumophila* in naturally contaminated hot water. *Lancet (London, England)*, 2(8500), 180–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(86)92486-4
- 430. Nielsen, M. K., Nielsen, K., Hjortdal, J., & Sørensen, U. B. S. (2014). Temperature limitation may explain the containment of the trophozoites in the cornea during Acanthamoeba castellanii keratitis. *Parasitology Research*, *113*(12), 4349–4353. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-014-4109-0
- 431. Nocker, A., Cheung, C.-Y., & Camper, A. K. (2006). Comparison of propidium monoazide with ethidium monoazide for differentiation of live vs. Dead bacteria by selective removal of DNA from dead cells. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 67(2), 310–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2006.04.015
- 432. Nzerue, C., & Gowda, A. (2001). *Legionella micdadei* lung abscess in a patient with HIV-associated nephropathy. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, *93*(6), 220–223.
- 433. O'connor, B. A., Carman, J., Eckert, K., Tucker, G., Givney, R., & Cameron, S. (2007). Does using potting mix make you sick? Results from a *Legionella longbeachae* casecontrol study in South Australia. *Epidemiology & Infection*, 135(1), 34–39. https://doi.org/10.1017/S095026880600656X
- 434. Oliverio, M. J., Fisher, M. A., Vickers, R. M., Yu, V. L., & Menon, A. (1991). Diagnosis of Legionnaires' Disease by Radioimmunoassay of *Legionella* Antigen in Pleural Fluid. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 29(12), 2893–2894.
- 435. Olsen, J. S., Aarskaug, T., Thrane, I., Pourcel, C., Ask, E., Johansen, G., Waagen, V., & Blatny, J. M. (2010). Alternative routes for dissemination of *Legionella pneumophila* causing three outbreaks in Norway. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(22), 8712–8717. https://doi.org/10.1021/es1007774

- Palmer, C. J., Tsai, Y. L., Paszko-Kolva, C., Mayer, C., & Sangermano, L. R. (1993). Detection of *Legionella* species in sewage and ocean water by polymerase chain reaction, direct fluorescent-antibody, and plate culture methods. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 59(11), 3618–3624. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.59.11.3618-3624.1993
- 437. Pandey, P. K., Kass, P. H., Soupir, M. L., Biswas, S., & Singh, V. P. (2014). Contamination of water resources by pathogenic bacteria. *AMB Express*, 4(1), 51. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13568-014-0051-x
- 438. Paniagua, A. T., Paranjape, K., Hu, M., Bédard, E., & Faucher, S. P. (2020). Impact of temperature on *Legionella pneumophila*, its protozoan host cells, and the microbial diversity of the biofilm community of a pilot cooling tower. *The Science of the Total Environment*, *712*, 136131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.136131
- Papadakis, A., Chochlakis, D., Sandalakis, V., Keramarou, M., Tselentis, Y., & Psaroulaki, A. (2018). *Legionella* spp. Risk Assessment in Recreational and Garden Areas of Hotels. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15040598
- 440. Parr, A., Whitney, E. A., & Berkelman, R. L. (2015). Legionellosis on the Rise: A Review of Guidelines for Prevention in the United States. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, 21(5), E17–E26. https://doi.org/10.1097/PHH.00000000000123
- 441. Parry, M. F. (1985). Waterborne *Legionella bozemanii* and Nosocomial Pneumonia in Immunosuppressed Patients. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *103*(2), 205. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-103-2-205
- 442. Parte, A. C. (2014). LPSN—list of prokaryotic names with standing in nomenclature. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *42*(Database issue), D613–D616. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkt1111
- 443. Pasculle, A. W., Feeley, J. C., Gibson, R. J., Cordes, L. G., Myerowitz, R. L., Patton, C. M., ... Dowling, J. N. (1980). Pittsburgh pneumonia agent: Direct isolation from human lung tissue. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 141(6), 727–732. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/141.6.727
- 444. Pasculle, A. W., Myerowitz, R., & Rinaldo, C. (1979). New Bacterial Agent of Pneumonia Isolated from Renal-Transplant Recipients. *The Lancet*, *314*(8133), 58–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(79)90117-X
- 445. Patterson, W. J., Hay, J., Seal, D. V., & McLuckie, J. C. (1997). Colonization of transplant unit water supplies with *Legionella* and protozoa: Precautions required to reduce the risk of legionellosis. *The Journal of Hospital Infection*, *37*(1), 7–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0195-6701(97)90068-2

- 446. Payment, P. & Robertson, W. (2004). The microbiology of piped distribution systems and public health, In: Safe piped water: Managing Microbial Water Quality in Piped
- 447. Pedro-Botet, M. L., Stout, J. E., & Yu, V. L. (2002). Legionnaires' disease contracted from patient homes: The coming of the third plague? *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases: Official Publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology*, 21(10), 699–705. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-002-0813-2
- 448. Pendland, S. L., Martin, S. J., Chen, C., Schreckenberger, P. C., & Danziger, L. H. (1997). Comparison of charcoal- and starch-based media for testing susceptibilities of *Legionella* species to macrolides, azalides, and fluoroquinolones. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 35(11), 3004–3006.
- 449. Perinel, S., Forest, V., Landraud, M., Pourchez, J., Girardot, F., Riffard, S., Stauffert, M., Vergnon, J.-M., & Allegra, S. (2018). Deposition pattern of aerosolized *Legionella* using an ex vivo human-porcine respiratory model. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 221(2), 252–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbeh.2017.11.002
- 450. Perkins, S. D., Mayfield, J., Fraser, V., & Angenent, L. T. (2009). Potentially Pathogenic Bacteria in Shower Water and Air of a Stem Cell Transplant Unit. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 75(16), 5363–5372. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00658-09
- 451. Perrin, Y., Bouchon, D., Héchard, Y., & Moulin, L. (2019). Spatio-temporal survey of opportunistic premise plumbing pathogens in the Paris drinking water distribution system. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 222(4), 687–694. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2019.04.010
- 452. Peter, A., & Routledge, E. (2018). Present-day monitoring underestimates the risk of exposure to pathogenic bacteria from cold water storage tanks. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0195635
- 453. Petzold, M., Prior, K., Moran-Gilad, J., Harmsen, D., & Lück, C. (2017). Epidemiological information is key when interpreting whole genome sequence data – lessons learned from a large *Legionella pneumophila* outbreak in Warstein, Germany, 2013. *Eurosurveillance*, 22(45). https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.45.17-00137
- 454. Phin, N. F., Parry-Ford, F., Harrison, T. G., Stagg, H. R., Zhang, N., Kumar, K., Lortholary, O., Zumla, A., & Abubakar, I. (2014). Epidemiology and clinical management of Legionnaires' disease. *The Lancet. Infectious Diseases*, *14*(10), 1011– 1021. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1473-3099(14)70713-3

- 455. Pierre, D. M., Baron, J., Yu, V. L., & Stout, J. E. (2017). Diagnostic testing for Legionnaires' disease. *Annals of Clinical Microbiology and Antimicrobials*, *16*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12941-017-0229-6
- 456. Pierre, D., Baron, J. L., Ma, X., Sidari, F. P., Wagener, M. M., & Stout, J. E. (2019).
 Water Quality as a Predictor of *Legionella* Positivity of Building Water Systems. *Pathogens*, 8(4), 295. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens8040295
- 457. Pine, L., George, J. R., Reeves, M. W., & Harrell, W. K. (1979). Development of a chemically defined liquid medium for growth of *Legionella pneumophila*. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *9*(5), 615–626.
- 458. Pinto, A. J., Xi, C., & Raskin, L. (2012). Bacterial Community Structure in the Drinking Water Microbiome Is Governed by Filtration Processes. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(16), 8851–8859. https://doi.org/10.1021/es302042t
- 459. Plouffe, J. F., Para, M. F., Fuller, K. A., & Bollin, G. E. (1986). Oral ingestion of *Legionella pneumophila. Journal of Clinical & Laboratory Immunology*, 20(3), 113–117.
- 460. Postel, M., Roosen, A., Laurent-Puig, P., Taly, V., & Wang-Renault, S.-F. (2018). Droplet-based digital PCR and next generation sequencing for monitoring circulating tumor DNA: A cancer diagnostic perspective. *Expert Review of Molecular Diagnostics*, 18(1), 7–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/14737159.2018.1400384
- 461. Postma, D. F., van Werkhoven, C. H., van Elden, L. J. R., Thijsen, S. F. T., Hoepelman, A. I. M., Kluytmans, J. A. J. W., Boersma, W. G., Compaijen, C. J., van der Wall, E., Prins, J. M., Oosterheert, J. J., & Bonten, M. J. M. (2015). Antibiotic Treatment Strategies for Community-Acquired Pneumonia in Adults. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 372(14), 1312–1323. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1406330
- 462. Potts, A., Donaghy, M., Marley, M., Othieno, R., Stevenson, J., Hyland, J., ... Helgason, K. O. (2013). Cluster of Legionnaires disease cases caused by *Legionella longbeachae* serogroup 1, Scotland, August to September 2013. *Euro Surveillance: Bulletin Europeen* Sur Les Maladies Transmissibles = European Communicable Disease Bulletin, 18(50), 20656. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.es2013.18.50.20656
- 463. Pourchez, J., Leclerc, L., Girardot, F., Riffard, S., Prevot, N., & Allegra, S. (2017). Experimental human-like model to assess the part of viable *Legionella* reaching the thoracic region after nebulization. *PloS One*, *12*(10), e0186042. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0186042
- 464. Prasad, B., Hamilton, K. A., & Haas, C. N. (2017). Incorporating Time-Dose-Response into *Legionella* Outbreak Models. *Risk Analysis: An Official Publication of the Society for Risk Analysis*, *37*(2), 291–304. https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12630

- 465. Prévost, M., Rompré, A., Baribeau, H., Coallier, J., & Lafrance, P. (1997). Service lines: Their effect on microbiological quality. *Journal - AWWA*, 89(7), 78–92. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1551-8833.1997.tb08261.x
- 466. Priest, P. C., Slow, S., Chambers, S. T., Cameron, C. M., Balm, M. N., Beale, M. W., Blackmore, T. K., Burns, A. D., Drinković, D., Elvy, J. A., Everts, R. J., Hammer, D. A., Huggan, P. J., Mansell, C. J., Raeder, V. M., Roberts, S. A., Robinson, M. C., Sathyendran, V., Taylor, S. L., ... Murdoch, D. R. (2019). The burden of Legionnaires' disease in New Zealand (LegiNZ): A national surveillance study. *The Lancet. Infectious Diseases*, 19(7), 770–777. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(19)30113-6
- 467. Proctor, C. R., Dai, D., Edwards, M. A., & Pruden, A. (2017). Interactive effects of temperature, organic carbon, and pipe material on microbiota composition and *Legionella pneumophila* in hot water plumbing systems. *Microbiome*, 5(1), 130. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-017-0348-5
- 468. Proctor, C. R., Reimann, M., Vriens, B., & Hammes, F. (2018). Biofilms in shower hoses. *Water Research*, *131*, 274–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.12.027
- 469. Prussin, A. J., Schwake, D. O., & Marr, L. C. (2017). Ten Questions Concerning the Aerosolization and Transmission of Legionella in the Built Environment. *Building and Environment*, *123*, 684–695. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2017.06.024
- 470. Qin, K., Struewing, I., Domingo, J. S., Lytle, D., & Lu, J. (2017). Opportunistic Pathogens and Microbial Communities and Their Associations with Sediment Physical Parameters in Drinking Water Storage Tank Sediments. *Pathogens (Basel, Switzerland)*, 6(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens6040054
- 471. Qin, T., Zhou, H., Ren, H., Guan, H., Li, M., Zhu, B., & Shao, Z. (2014). Distribution of Sequence-Based Types of *Legionella pneumophila* Serogroup 1 Strains Isolated from Cooling Towers, Hot Springs, and Potable Water Systems in China. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 80(7), 2150–2157. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03844-13
- 472. Quinn, C., Demirjian, A., Watkins, L. F., Tomczyk, S., Lucas, C., Brown, E., Kozak-Muiznieks, N., Benitez, A., Garrison, L. E., Kunz, J., Brewer, S., Eitniear, S., & DiOrio, M. (2015). Legionnaires' Disease Outbreak at a Long-Term Care Facility Caused by a Cooling Tower Using an Automated Disinfection System—Ohio, 2013. *Journal of Environmental Health*, 78(5), 8–13.
- 473. Rafiee, M., Mesdaghinia, A., Hajjaran, H., Hajaghazadeh, M., Miahipour, A., & Jahangiri-Rad, M. (2014). The Efficacy of Residual Chlorine Content on the Control of *Legionella* Spp. In Hospital Water Systems. *Iranian Journal of Public Health*, 43(5), 637–644.

- 474. Rahimi, B., & Vesal, A. (2017). Antimicrobial Resistance Properties of Legionella Pneumophila Isolated from the Cases of Lower Respiratory tract Infections. *Biomedical and Pharmacology Journal*, *10*(1), 59–65.
- 475. Rakić, A., Perić, J., & Foglar, L. (2012). Influence of temperature, chlorine residual and heavy metals on the presence of *Legionella pneumophila* in hot water distribution systems. *Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine*, *19*(3), 431–436
- 476. Ramirez, J. A., & Summersgill, J. T. (1994). Rapid tests for the diagnosis of *Legionella* infections. *The Journal of the Kentucky Medical Association*, 92(2), 62–65.
- 477. Rantakokko-Jalava, K., & Jalava, J. (2001). Development of Conventional and Real-Time PCR Assays for Detection of *Legionella* DNA in Respiratory Specimens. *Journal* of Clinical Microbiology, 39(8), 2904–2910. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.39.8.2904-2910.2001
- 478. Rasch, J., Krüger, S., Fontvieille, D., Ünal, C. M., Michel, R., Labrosse, A., & Steinert, M. (2016). *Legionella*-protozoa-nematode interactions in aquatic biofilms and influence of Mip on Caenorhabditis elegans colonization. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology: IJMM*, 306(6), 443–451. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmm.2016.05.012
- 479. Ratcliff, R. M., Lanser, J. A., Manning, P. A., & Heuzenroeder, M. W. (1998). Sequence-Based Classification Scheme for the Genus *Legionella* Targeting the mip Gene. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *36*(6), 1560–1567.
- 480. Reeves, M. W., Pine, L., Hutner, S. H., George, J. R., & Harrell, W. K. (1981). Metal requirements of *Legionella pneumophila*. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *13*(4), 688–695.
- 481. Reischl, U., Linde, H.-J., Lehn, N., Landt, O., Barratt, K., & Wellinghausen, N. (2002). Direct detection and differentiation of *Legionella* spp. And *Legionella pneumophila* in clinical specimens by dual-color real-time PCR and melting curve analysis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 40(10), 3814–3817. https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.40.10.3814-3817.2002
- 482. Reller, L. B., Weinstein, M. P., & Murdoch, D. R. (2003). Diagnosis of *Legionella* Infection. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *36*(1), 64–69. https://doi.org/10.1086/345529
- 483. Ren, K., Xue, Y., Rønn, R., Liu, L., Chen, H., Rensing, C., & Yang, J. (2018). Dynamics and determinants of amoeba community, occurrence, and abundance in subtropical reservoirs and rivers. *Water research*, 146, 177–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.09.011
- 484. Retana-Moreira, L., Abrahams-Sandí, E., Cabello-Vílchez, A. M., Reyes-Batlle, M.,
 Valladares, B., Martínez-Carretero, E., Piñero, J. E., & Lorenzo-Morales, J. (2014).
 Isolation and molecular characterization of Acanthamoeba and Balamuthia mandrillaris

from combination shower units in Costa Rica. *Parasitology research*, *113*(11), 4117–4122. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-014-4083-6

- 485. Rhoads, W. J., Bradley, T. N., Mantha, A., Buttling, L., Keane, T., Pruden, A., & Edwards, M. A. (2020). Residential water heater cleaning and occurrence of *Legionella* in Flint, MI. *Water Research*, *171*, 115439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.115439
- 486. Rhoads, W. J., Garner, E., Ji, P., Zhu, N., Parks, J., Schwake, D. O., Pruden, A., & Edwards, M. A. (2017). Distribution System Operational Deficiencies Coincide with Reported Legionnaires' Disease Clusters in Flint, Michigan. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 51(20), 11986–11995. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b01589
- 487. Rhoads, W. J., Ji, P., Pruden, A., & Edwards, M. A. (2015). Water heater temperature set point and water use patterns influence *Legionella pneumophila* and associated microorganisms at the tap. *Microbiome*, *3*(1), 67. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-015-0134-1
- Rhoads, W. J., Pruden, A., & Edwards, M. A. (2016). Convective Mixing in Distal Pipes Exacerbates *Legionella pneumophila* Growth in Hot Water Plumbing. *Pathogens*, 5(1), 29. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens5010029
- 489. Rhoads, W. J., Pruden, A., & Edwards, M. A. (2016). Survey of green building water systems reveals elevated water age and water quality concerns. *Environmental Science: Water Research & Technology*, 2(1), 164–173. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5EW00221D
- 490. Ricci, M. L., Grottola, A., Fregni Serpini, G., Bella, A., Rota, M. C., Frascaro, F., Pegoraro, E., Meacci, M., Fabio, A., Vecchi, E., Girolamo, A., Rumpianesi, F., Pecorari, M., & Scaturro, M. (2018). Improvement of Legionnaires' disease diagnosis using real-time PCR assay: A retrospective analysis, Italy, 2010 to 2015. *Eurosurveillance*, 23(50). https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2018.23.50.1800032
- 491. Richards, A. M., Von Dwingelo, J. E., Price, C. T., & Abu Kwaik, Y. (2013). Cellular microbiology and molecular ecology of *Legionella*–amoeba interaction. *Virulence*, 4(4), 307–314. https://doi.org/10.4161/viru.24290
- 492. Richards, C. L., Broadaway, S. C., Eggers, M. J., Doyle, J., Pyle, B. H., Camper, A. K., & Ford, T. E. (2018). Detection of Pathogenic and Non-pathogenic Bacteria in Drinking Water and Associated Biofilms on the Crow Reservation, Montana, USA. *Microbial Ecology*, 76(1), 52–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-015-0595-6
- 493. Riffard, S., Douglass, S., Brooks, T., Springthorpe, S., Filion, L. G., & Sattar, S. A. (2001). Occurrence of *Legionella* in groundwater: an ecological study. *Water Science and Technology: A Journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research*, 43(12), 99–102.

- 494. Roberts, K. P., August, C. M., & Nelson, J. D. (1987). Relative sensitivities of environmental legionellae to selective isolation procedures. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *53*(12), 2704–2707.
- 495. Robinson, P. N., Heidrich, B., Tiecke, F., Fehrenbach, F. J., & Rolfs, A. (1996). Speciesspecific detection of *Legionella* using polymerase chain reaction and reverse dot-blotting. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 140(2–3), 111–119. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1996.tb08323.x
- 496. Root, P. (2018.). COLUMN IEQ APPLICATIONS. 3.
- 497. Sabrià, M., Pedro-Botet, M. L., Gómez, J., Roig, J., Vilaseca, B., Sopena, N., Baños, V., & Legionnaires Disease Therapy Group. (2005). Fluoroquinolones vs macrolides in the treatment of Legionnaires disease. *Chest*, *128*(3), 1401–1405. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.128.3.1401
- 498. Saint, C. P., & Ho, L. (1999). A PCR test for the identification and discrimination of Legionella longbeachae serogroups 1 and 2. Journal of Microbiological Methods, 37(3), 245–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-7012(99)00070-6
- 499. Sánchez-Busó, L., Guiral, S., Crespi, S., Moya, V., Camaró, M. L., Olmos, M. P., Adrián, F., Morera, V., González-Morán, F., Vanaclocha, H., & González-Candelas, F. (2015). Genomic Investigation of a Legionellosis Outbreak in a Persistently Colonized Hotel. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *6*, 1556. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.01556
- 500. Sanchez, M. C., Sebti, R., Hassoun, P., Mannion, C., Goy, A. H., Feldman, T., ... Hong, T. (2013). Osteomyelitis of the patella caused by Legionella anisa. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 51(8), 2791–2793. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.03190-12
- 501. Sarkar, P., & Gerba, C. P. (2012). Inactivation of Naegleria Fowleri by chlorine and ultraviolet light. *Journal AWWA*, *104*(3), E173–E180. https://doi.org/10.5942/jawwa.2012.104.0041
- 502. Schalk, J. A. C., Euser, S. M., van Heijnsbergen, E., Bruin, J. P., den Boer, J. W., & de Roda Husman, A. M. (2014). Soil as a source of *Legionella pneumophila* sequence type 47. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 27, 18–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2014.05.009
- 503. Scheikl, U., Sommer, R., Kirschner, A., Rameder, A., Schrammel, B., Zweimüller, I., Wesner, W., Hinker, M., & Walochnik, J. (2014). Free-living amoebae (FLA) cooccurring with legionellae in industrial waters. *European Journal of Protistology*, 50(4), 422–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejop.2014.04.002
- 504. Scheikl, U., Tsao, H.-F., Horn, M., Indra, A., & Walochnik, J. (2016). Free-living amoebae and their associated bacteria in Austrian cooling towers: A 1-year routine

screening. *Parasitology Research*, *115*(9), 3365–3374. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-016-5097-z

- 505. Schoen, M. E., & Ashbolt, N. J. (2011). An in-premise model for *Legionella* exposure during showering events. *Water Research*, 45(18), 5826–5836. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.08.031
- 506. Schoenen, D., Schulze-Röbbecke, R., & Schirdewahn, N. (1988). [Microbial contamination of water by pipe and tubing material. 2. Growth of *Legionella pneumophila*]. Zentralblatt Fur Bakteriologie, Mikrobiologie Und Hygiene. Serie B, Umwelthygiene, Krankenhaushygiene, Arbeitshygiene, Praventive Medizin, 186(4), 326–332.
- 507. Schumacher, A., Kocharian, A., Koch, A., & Marx, J. (2020). Fatal Case of Legionnaires' Disease After Home Exposure to Legionella pneumophila Serogroup 3— Wisconsin, 2018. MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 69(8), 207–211. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6908a2
- 508. Schwake, D. O., Garner, E., Strom, O. R., Pruden, A., & Edwards, M. A. (2016). Legionella DNA Markers in Tap Water Coincident with a Spike in Legionnaires' Disease in Flint, MI. Environmental Science & Technology Letters, 3(9), 311–315. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.6b00192
- 509. Schwartz, T., Hoffmann, S., & Obst, U. (2003). Formation of natural biofilms during chlorine dioxide and u.v. Disinfection in a public drinking water distribution system. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 95(3), 591–601. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2672.2003.02019.x
- 510. Schwebke, J. R., Hackman, R., & Bowden, R. (1990). Pneumonia due to Legionella micdadei in bone marrow transplant recipients. *Reviews of Infectious Diseases*, 12(5), 824–828. https://doi.org/10.1093/clinids/12.5.824
- 511. September, S. M., Brözel, V. S., & Venter, S. N. (2004). Diversity of Nontuberculoid Mycobacterium Species in Biofilms of Urban and Semiurban Drinking Water Distribution Systems. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 70(12), 7571–7573. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.12.7571-7573.2004
- 512. Shachor-Meyouhas, Y., Kassis, I., Bamberger, E., Nativ, T., Sprecher, H., Levy, I., & Srugo, I. (2010). Fatal hospital-acquired *Legionella pneumonia* in a neonate. *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal*, 29(3), 280–281. https://doi.org/10.1097/INF.0b013e3181c176c9
- 513. Shah, P., A. Barskey, A. Binder, C. Edens, S. Lee, J. Smith, S. Schrag, C. Whitney, and L. Cooley. 2018. Legionnaires' disease surveillance summary report, United States: 2014–2015. Atlanta, GA: CDC Division of Bacterial Diseases, National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases.

- 514. Shaheen, M., Scott, C., & Ashbolt, N. J. (2019). Long-term persistence of infectious Legionella with free-living amoebae in drinking water biofilms. International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, 222(4), 678–686. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2019.04.007
- 515. Sharaby, Y., Nitzan, O., Brettar, I., Höfle, M. G., Peretz, A., & Halpern, M. (2019). Antimicrobial agent susceptibilities of *Legionella pneumophila* MLVA-8 genotypes. *Scientific Reports*, 9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-42425-1
- 516. Sharaby, Y., Rodríguez-Martínez, S., Höfle, M. G., Brettar, I., & Halpern, M. (2019). Quantitative microbial risk assessment of *Legionella pneumophila* in a drinking water supply system in Israel. *Science of The Total Environment*, 671, 404–410. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.03.287
- 517. She, R. C., Billetdeaux, E., Phansalkar, A. R., & Petti, C. A. (2007). Limited applicability of direct fluorescent-antibody testing for Bordetella sp. And *Legionella* sp. Specimens for the clinical microbiology laboratory. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 45(7), 2212– 2214. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00548-07
- 518. Sheihi, R., Alimohammadi, M., Askari, M., & Moghaddasian, M. S. (2014). Decay of Free Residual Chlorine in Drinking Water at the Point of Use. *Iranian Journal of Public Health*, *43*(4), 535–536.
- 519. Shen, S.-M., Chou, M.-Y., Hsu, B.-M., Ji, W.-T., Hsu, T.-K., Tsai, H.-F., Huang, Y.-L., Chiu, Y.-C., Kao, E.-S., Kao, P.-M., & Fan, C.-W. (2015). Assessment of *Legionella pneumophila* in recreational spring water with quantitative PCR (Taqman) assay. *Pathogens and Global Health*, 109(5), 236–241. https://doi.org/10.1179/2047773215Y.0000000023
- 520. Shih, H.-Y., & Lin, Y. E. (2006). Caution on Interpretation of *Legionella* Results Obtained Using Real-Time PCR for Environmental Water Samples. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(10), 6859. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00968-06
- 521. Shivaji, T., Pinto, C. S., San-Bento, A., Serra, L. A. O., Valente, J., Machado, J., Marques, T., Carvalho, L., Nogueira, P. J., Nunes, B., & Vasconcelos, P. (2014). A large community outbreak of Legionnaires' disease in Vila Franca de Xira, Portugal, October to November 2014. *Eurosurveillance*, 19(50), 20991. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES2014.19.50.20991
- 522. Siddiqui, R., & Khan, N. A. (2012). Biology and pathogenesis of Acanthamoeba. Parasites & vectors, 5, 6. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-3305-5-6
- 523. Siegel, M. O., Fedorko, D. P., Drake, S. K., Calhoun, L. B., & Holland, S. M. (2010). Legionella feeleii Serotype 2 Pneumonia in a Man with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: A Challenging Diagnosis. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 48(6), 2294–2297. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00176-10

- 524. Sikora, A., Gładysz, I., Kozioł-Montewka, M., Wójtowicz-Bobin, M., Stańczak, T., Matuszewska, R., & Krogulska, B. (2017). Assessment of antibiotic susceptibility of *Legionella pneumophila* isolated from water systems in Poland. *Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine: AAEM*, 24(1), 66–69. https://doi.org/10.5604/12321966.1234048
- 525. Silk, B. J., Moore, M. R., Bergtholdt, M., Gorwitz, R. J., Kozak, N. A., Tha, M. M., ... Hicks, L. A. (2012). Eight years of Legionnaires' disease transmission in travelers to a condominium complex in Las Vegas, Nevada. *Epidemiology & Infection*, 140(11), 1993– 2002. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268811002779
- 526. Simmering, J. E., Polgreen, L. A., Hornick, D. B., Sewell, D. K., & Polgreen, P. M. (2017). Weather-Dependent Risk for Legionnaires' Disease, United States. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 23(11), 1843–1851. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2311.170137
- 527. Simonsen, Ø., Wedege, E., Kanestrøm, A., Bolstad, K., Aaberge, I. S., Ragnhildstveit, E., & Ringstad, J. (2015). Characterization of the extent of a large outbreak of Legionnaires' disease by serological assays. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 15(1), 163. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-015-0903-2
- 528. Singh, T., & Coogan, M. M. (2005). Isolation of pathogenic *Legionella* species and *Legionella*-laden amoebae in dental unit waterlines. *The Journal of Hospital Infection*, 61(3), 257–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2005.05.001
- 529. Smith, A. F., Huss, A., Dorevitch, S., Heijnen, L., Arntzen, V. H., Davies, M., Robert-Du Ry van Beest Holle, M., Fujita, Y., Verschoor, A. M., Raterman, B., Oesterholt, F., Heederik, D., & Medema, G. (2019). Multiple Sources of the Outbreak of Legionnaires' Disease in Genesee County, Michigan, in 2014 and 2015. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 127(12), 127001. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP5663
- 530. Smith, S. S., Ritger, K., Samala, U., Black, S. R., Okodua, M., Miller, L., Kozak-Muiznieks, N. A., Hicks, L. A., Steinheimer, C., Ewaidah, S., Presser, L., & Siston, A. M. (2015). Legionellosis Outbreak Associated With a Hotel Fountain. *Open Forum Infectious Diseases*, 2(4), ofv164. https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofv164
- 531. Soda, E. A. (2017). Vital Signs: Health Care–Associated Legionnaires' Disease Surveillance Data from 20 States and a Large Metropolitan Area — United States, 2015. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 66. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6622e1
- 532. Söderberg, M. A., & Cianciotto, N. P. (2010). Mediators of Lipid A Modification, RNA Degradation, and Central Intermediary Metabolism Facilitate the Growth of *Legionella pneumophila* at Low Temperatures. *Current Microbiology*, *60*(1), 59–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-009-9502-z

- 533. Sopena, N., Force, L., Pedro-Botet, M. L., Barrufet, P., Sauca, G., García-Núñez, M., Tolchinsky, G., Capdevila, J. A., & Sabrià, M. (2007). Sporadic and epidemic community legionellosis: Two faces of the same illness. *The European Respiratory Journal*, 29(1), 138–142. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.00077206
- 534. Souche, A., Descours, G., Ranc, A.-G., Lina, G., Jarraud, S., & Beraud, L. (2020). Comparison of Legionella K-set® and BinaxNOW® Legionella for diagnosing Legionnaires' disease on concentrated urine samples. European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases: Official Publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-020-03892-x
- 535. Spiegelman, J., Pedutem, T., & Francisco, M. J. (2020). Legionnaires' Disease Cases at a Large Community Hospital—Common and Underdiagnosed. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17010332
- 536. Springston, J. P., & Yocavitch, L. (2017). Existence and control of *Legionella* bacteria in building water systems: A review. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Hygiene*, 14(2), 124–134. https://doi.org/10.1080/15459624.2016.1229481
- 537. Squier, C., Yu, V. L., & Stout, J. E. (2000). Waterborne nosocomial infections. *Current Infectious Disease Reports*, 2(6), 490–496. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11908-000-0049-1
- 538. St-Martin, G., Uldum, S., & Mølbak, K. (2013). *Incidence and Prognostic Factors for Legionnaires' Disease in Denmark 1993–2006* [Research Article]. ISRN Epidemiology; Hindawi. https://doi.org/10.5402/2013/847283
- 539. Steele, T. W., Moore, C. V., & Sangster, N. (1990). Distribution of *Legionella longbeachae* serogroup 1 and other legionellae in potting soils in Australia. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 56(10), 2984–2988. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.56.10.2984-2988.1990
- 540. Steinmetz, I., Rheinheimer, C., & Bitter-Suermann, D. (1992). Rapid identification of legionellae by a colony blot assay based on a genus-specific monoclonal antibody. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *30*(4), 1016–1018.
- 541. Stewart, C. R., Muthye, V., & Cianciotto, N. P. (2012). *Legionella pneumophila* Persists within Biofilms Formed by Klebsiella pneumoniae, Flavobacterium sp., and Pseudomonas fluorescens under Dynamic Flow Conditions. *PLOS ONE*, *7*(11), e50560. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0050560
- 542. Storey, M. V., Ashbolt, J., & Stenström, T. A. (2004). Biofilms, thermophilic amoebae and *Legionella pneumophila*--a quantitative risk assessment for distributed water. *Water Science and Technology: A Journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research*, 50(1), 77–82.

- 543. Stout, J. E., Lin, Y.-S. E., Goetz, A. M., & Muder, R. R. (1998). Controlling *Legionella* in Hospital Water Systems: Experience With the Superheat-and-Flush Method and Copper-Silver Ionization. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, *19*(12), 911–914. https://doi.org/10.2307/30142016
- 544. Stout, J. E., Yu, V. L., & Best, M. G. (1985). Ecology of *Legionella pneumophila* within water distribution systems. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 49(1), 221–228.
- 545. Stout, J. E., Yu, V. L., & Muraca, P. (1985). Isolation of *Legionella pneumophila* from the cold water of hospital ice machines: Implications for origin and transmission of the organism. *Infection Control: IC*, *6*(4), 141–146. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0195941700062937
- 546. Stout, J. E., Yu, V. L., Muraca, P., Joly, J., Troup, N., & Tompkins, L. S. (1992). Potable Water as a Cause of Sporadic Cases of Community-Acquired Legionnaires' Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *326*(3), 151–155. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199201163260302
- 547. Straus, W. L., Plouffe, J. F., File, T. M., Lipman, H. B., Hackman, B. H., Salstrom, S.-J., Benson, R. F., & Breiman, R. F. (1996). Risk Factors for Domestic Acquisition of Legionnaires Disease. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 156(15), 1685–1692. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.1996.00440140115011
- 548. Subbaram, K., Kannan, H., & Masadeh, M. M. A. (2017). Isolation, identification, characterization and antibiotic sensitivity profile of pathogenic *Legionella pneumophila* isolates from different water sources. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine*, 7(5), 411–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apjtb.2016.12.023
- 549. Swanson, M. S., & Hammer, B. K. (2000). *Legionella pneumophila* pathogesesis: A fateful journey from amoebae to macrophages. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, *54*, 567–613. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.54.1.567
- 550. Ta, A. C., Stout, J. E., Yu, V. L., & Wagener, M. M. (1995). Comparison of culture methods for monitoring *Legionella* species in hospital potable water systems and recommendations for standardization of such methods. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *33*(8), 2118–2123.
- 551. Tachibana, M., Nakamoto, M., Kimura, Y., Shimizu, T., & Watarai, M. (2013). Characterization of *Legionella pneumophila* Isolated from Environmental Water and Ashiyu Foot Spa [Research Article]. BioMed Research International; Hindawi. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/514395
- 552. Tang, P. W., Toma, S., Moss, C. W., Steigerwalt, A. G., Cooligan, T. G., & Brenner, D. J. (1984). Legionella bozemanii serogroup 2: A new etiological agent. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 19(1), 30–33.

- 553. Taylor, T. H., & Albrecht, M. A. (1995). *Legionella bozemanii* cavitary pneumonia poorly responsive to erythromycin: Case report and review. *Clinical Infectious Diseases: An Official Publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America*, 20(2), 329–334. https://doi.org/10.1093/clinids/20.2.329
- 554. Templeton, K. E., Scheltinga, S. A., Sillekens, P., Crielaard, J. W., van Dam, A. P., Goossens, H., & Claas, E. C. J. (2003). Development and Clinical Evaluation of an Internally Controlled, Single-Tube Multiplex Real-Time PCR Assay for Detection of *Legionella pneumophila* and Other *Legionella* Species. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 41(9), 4016–4021. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.41.9.4016-4021.2003
- 555. Tesauro, M., Bianchi, A., Consonni, M., Pregliasco, F., & Galli, M. G. (2010). Environmental surveillance of *Legionella pneumophila* in two Italian hospitals. *Annali Dell'Istituto Superiore Di Sanita*, 46(3), 274–278. https://doi.org/10.4415/ANN_10_03_08
- 556. Thacker, W. L., Benson, R. F., Hawes, L., Mayberry, W. R., & Brenner, D. J. (1990). Characterization of a *Legionella anisa* strain isolated from a patient with pneumonia. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 28(1), 122–123.
- 557. Thacker, W. L., Benson, R. F., Wilkinson, H. W., Ampel, N. M., Wing, E. J., Steigerwalt, A. G., & Brenner, D. J. (1986). 11th serogroup of *Legionella pneumophila* isolated from a patient with fatal pneumonia. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 23(6), 1146–1147.
- 558. Thacker, W. L., Plikaytis, B. B., & Wilkinson, H. W. (1985). Identification of 22 *Legionella* species and 33 serogroups with the slide agglutination test. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *21*(5), 779–782.
- 559. Thacker, W. L., Wilkinson, H. W., Benson, R. F., & Brenner, D. J. (1987). *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 12 isolated from human and environmental sources. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *25*(3), 569–570.
- 560. Thomas, V., Herrera-Rimann, K., Blanc, D. S., & Greub, G. (2006). Biodiversity of amoebae and amoeba-resisting bacteria in a hospital water network. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 72(4), 2428–2438. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.72.4.2428-2438.2006
- 561. Tho Majid, M. A. A., Mahboob, T., Mong, B. G. J., Jaturas, N., Richard, R. L., Tian-Chye, T., Phimphila, A., Mahaphonh, P., Aye, K. N., Aung, W. L., Chuah, J., Ziegler, A. D., Yasiri, A., Sawangjaroen, N., Lim, Y. A. L., & Nissapatorn, V. (2017). Pathogenic waterborne free-living amoebae: An update from selected Southeast Asian countries. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(2), e0169448. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0169448
- 562. Rohr, U., Weber, S., Michel, R., Selenka, F., & Wilhelm, M. (1998). Comparison of Free-Living Amoebae in Hot Water Systems of Hospitals with Isolates from Moist Sanitary Areas by Identifying Genera and Determining Temperature Tolerance. *Applied*

and Environmental Microbiology, *64*(5), 1822–1824. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.64.5.1822-1824.1998

- 563. Thomas, V., Loret, J.-F., Jousset, M., & Greub, G. (2008). Biodiversity of amoebae and amoebae-resisting bacteria in a drinking water treatment plant. *Environmental Microbiology*, *10*(10), 2728–2745. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2008.01693.x
- 564. Thomas, J. M., & Ashbolt, N. J. (2011). Do free-living amoebae in treated drinking water systems present an emerging health risk? *Environmental Science & Technology*, 45(3), 860–869. https://doi.org/10.1021/es102876y
- 565. Thomas, J. M., Thomas, T., Stuetz, R. M., & Ashbolt, N. J. (2014). Your garden hose: A potential health risk due to *Legionella* spp. growth facilitated by free-living amoebae. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48(17), 10456–10464. https://doi.org/10.1021/es502652n
- 566. Thomas, V., Bouchez, T., Nicolas, V., Robert, S., Loret, J. F., & Lévi, Y. (2004). Amoebae in domestic water systems: Resistance to disinfection treatments and implication in *Legionella* persistence. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 97(5), 950–963. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2004.02391.x
- 567. Thornley, C. N., Harte, D. J., Weir, R. P., Allen, L. J., Knightbridge, K. J., & Wood, P. R. T. (2017). Legionella longbeachae detected in an industrial cooling tower linked to a legionellosis outbreak, New Zealand, 2015; possible waterborne transmission? Epidemiology and Infection, 145(11), 2382–2389. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268817001170
- 568. Tinker, S. C., Moe, C. L., Klein, M., Flanders, W. D., Uber, J., Amirtharajah, A., Singer, P., & Tolbert, P. E. (2009). Drinking Water Residence Time in Distribution Networks and Emergency Department Visits for Gastrointestinal Illness in Metro Atlanta, Georgia. *Journal of Water and Health*, 7(2), 332–343. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2009.022
- 569. Tobin, J. O., Bartlett, C. L., Waitkins, S. A., Barrow, G. I., Macrae, A. D., Taylor, A. G., Fallon, R. J., & Lynch, F. R. (1981). Legionnaires' disease: Further evidence to implicate water storage and distribution systems as sources. *British Medical Journal (Clinical Research Ed.)*, 282(6263), 573. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.282.6263.573
- 570. Toplitsch, D., Platzer, S., Pfeifer, B., Hautz, J., Mascher, F., & Kittinger, C. (2018). *Legionella* Detection in Environmental Samples as an Example for Successful Implementation of qPCR. *Water*, *10*(8), 1012. https://doi.org/10.3390/w10081012
- 571. Totaro, M., Valentini, P., Costa, A. L., Frendo, L., Cappello, A., Casini, B., Miccoli, M., Privitera, G., & Baggiani, A. (2017). Presence of *Legionella* spp. in Hot Water Networks of Different Italian Residential Buildings: A Three-Year Survey. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 14(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14111296

- 572. Travis, T. C., Brown, E. W., Peruski, L. F., Siludjai, D., Jorakate, P., Salika, P., Yang, G., Kozak, N. A., Kodani, M., Warner, A. K., Lucas, C. E., Thurman, K. A., Winchell, J. M., Thamthitiwat, S., & Fields, B. S. (2012). Survey of *Legionella* species found in thai soil. *International Journal of Microbiology*, 2012, 218791. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/218791
- 573. Tsao, H.-F., Scheikl, U., Herbold, C., Indra, A., Walochnik, J., & Horn, M. (2019). The cooling tower water microbiota: Seasonal dynamics and co-occurrence of bacterial and protist phylotypes. *Water Research*, *159*, 464–479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.04.028
- 574. Tsvetanova, Z. (2019). Quantification of the bacterial community of drinking waterassociated biofilms under different flow velocities and changing chlorination regimes. *Applied Water Science*, *10*(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-019-1086-6
- 575. Türetgen, I., Sungur, E. I., & Cotuk, A. (2005). Enumeration of *Legionella pneumophila* in cooling tower water systems. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 100(1), 53. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-005-7058-3
- 576. Tyndall, R. L., Ironside, K. S., Metler, P. L., Tan, E. L., Hazen, T. C., & Fliermans, C. B. (1989). Effect of thermal additions on the density and distribution of thermophilic amoebae and pathogenic *Naegleria fowleri* in a newly created cooling lake. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 55(3), 722–732.
- 577. Tyndall, R. L., Lehman, E. S., Bowman, E. K., Milton, D. K., & Barbaree, J. M. (1995). Home Humidifiers as a Potential Source of Exposure to Microbial Pathogens, Endotoxins, and Allergens. *Indoor Air*, 5(3), 171–178. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0668.1995.t01-1-00003.x
- 578. United States Environmental Protection Agency. Ground Water Rule. Accessed June 28, 2019. Available at: https://www.epa.gov/dwreginfo/ground-water-rule.
- 579. United States Environmental Protection Agency. Six Year Review of Drinking Water Standards. Accessed May 1, 2020.Available at: https://www.epa.gov/dwsixyearreview/six-year-review-3-drinking-water-standards
- 580. United States Environmental Protection Agency. Effects of Water Age on Distribution System Water Quality. Accessed May 17, 2020. Available at: https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/201509/documents/2007_05_18_disinfection_ tcr_whitepaper_tcr_waterdistribution.pdf
- 581. United States Geological Survey. Summary of Estimated Water Use in the United States in 2015.Accessed May 18, 2020, Available at: https://pubs.usgs.gov/fs/2018/3035/fs20183035.pdf

- 582. Üstüntürk-Onan, M., & Walochnik, J. (2018). Identification of free-living amoebae isolated from tap water in Istanbul, Turkey. *Experimental parasitology*, *195*, 34–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exppara.2018.10.002
- 583. Vaccaro, L., Izquierdo, F., Magnet, A., Hurtado, C., Salinas, M. A., Gomes, T. S., Angulo, S., Salso, S., Pelaez, J., Tejeda, M. I., Alhambra, A., Gómez, C., Enríquez, A., Estirado, E., Fenoy, S., & del Aguila, C. (2016). First Case of Legionnaire's Disease Caused by *Legionella anisa* in Spain and the Limitations on the Diagnosis of *Legionella* non-*pneumophila* Infections. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159726
- 584. Valciņa, O., Pūle, D., Mališevs, A., Trofimova, J., Makarova, S., Konvisers, G., Bērziņš, A., & Krūmiņa, A. (2019). Co-Occurrence of Free-Living Amoeba and *Legionella* in Drinking Water Supply Systems. *Medicina*, 55(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/medicina55080492
- 585. Valster, R. M., Wullings, B. A., Bakker, G., Smidt, H., & van der Kooij, D. (2009). Freeliving protozoa in two unchlorinated drinking water supplies, identified by phylogenic analysis of 18S rRNA gene sequences. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 75(14), 4736–4746. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02629-08
- 586. Valster, R. M., Wullings, B. A., van den Berg, R., & van der Kooij, D. (2011). Relationships between free-living protozoa, cultivable Legionella spp., and water quality characteristics in three drinking water supplies in the Caribbean. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 77(20), 7321–7328. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.05575-11
- 587. Van der Kooij, D., Bakker, G. L., Italiaander, R., Veenendaal, H. R., & Wullings, B. A. (2017). Biofilm Composition and Threshold Concentration for Growth of *Legionella pneumophila* on Surfaces Exposed to Flowing Warm Tap Water without Disinfectant. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *83*(5). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02737-16
- 588. Van der Kooij, D., Brouwer-Hanzens, A. J., Veenendaal, H. R., & Wullings, B. A. (2016). Multiplication of *Legionella pneumophila* Sequence Types 1, 47, and 62 in Buffered Yeast Extract Broth and Biofilms Exposed to Flowing Tap Water at Temperatures of 38°C to 42°C. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 82(22), 6691–6700. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01107-16
- 589. Van der Kooij, D., Brouwer-Hanzens, A. J., Veenendaal, H. R., & Wullings, B. A. (2016). Erratum for van der Kooij et al., Multiplication of *Legionella pneumophila* Sequence Types 1, 47, and 62 in Buffered Yeast Extract Broth and Biofilms Exposed to Flowing Tap Water at Temperatures of 38°C to 42°C. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 83(1). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03036-16
- 590. Van der Kooij, D., Veenendaal, H. R., & Scheffer, W. J. H. (2005). Biofilm formation and multiplication of *Legionella* in a model warm water system with pipes of copper,

stainless steel and cross-linked polyethylene. *Water Research*, *39*(13), 2789–2798. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.04.075

- 591. Van der Lugt, W., Euser, S. M., Bruin, J. P., Den Boer, J. W., Walker, J. T., & Crespi, S. (2017). Growth of *Legionella anisa* in a model drinking water system to evaluate different shower outlets and the impact of cast iron rust. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 220(8), 1295–1308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2017.08.005
- 592. Van der Zee, A., Peeters, M., de Jong, C., Verbakel, H., Crielaard, J. W., Claas, E. C. J., & Templeton, K. E. (2002). Qiagen DNA Extraction Kits for Sample Preparation for *Legionella* PCR Are Not Suitable for Diagnostic Purposes. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 40(3), 1126. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.40.3.1126.2002
- 593. Van Heijnsbergen, E., van Deursen, A., Bouwknegt, M., Bruin, J. P., de Roda Husman, A. M., & Schalk, J. a. C. (2016). Presence and Persistence of Viable, Clinically Relevant *Legionella pneumophila* Bacteria in Garden Soil in the Netherlands. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 82(17), 5125–5131. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00595-16
- 594. Vandewalle-Capo, M., Massip, C., Descours, G., Charavit, J., Chastang, J., Billy, P. A., Boisset, S., Lina, G., Gilbert, C., Maurin, M., Jarraud, S., & Ginevra, C. (2017). Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) distribution among wild-type strains of *Legionella pneumophila* identifies a subpopulation with reduced susceptibility to macrolides owing to efflux pump genes. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, 50(5), 684–689. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2017.08.001
- 595. Vargas, I. T., Anguita, J. M., Pastén, P. A., & Pizarro, G. E. (2019). Chlorine Reduction Kinetics and its Mass Balance in Copper Premise Plumbing Systems During Corrosion Events. *Materials*, *12*(22), 3676. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma12223676
- 596. Vargo, J., Gerhardstein, B. G., Whitfield, G. P., & Wendel, A. (2015). Bicyclist Deaths Associated with Motor Vehicle Traffic — United States, 1975–2012. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 64(31), 837–841. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6431a1
- 597. Venezia, R. A., Agresta, M. D., Hanley, E. M., Urquhart, K., & Schoonmaker, D. (1994). Nosocomial Legionellosis Associated with Aspiration of Nasogastric Feedings Diluted in Tap Water. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 15(8), 529–533. https://doi.org/10.2307/30148403
- 598. Vervaeren, H., Temmerman, R., Devos, L., Boon, N., & Verstraete, W. (2006). Introduction of a boost of *Legionella pneumophila* into a stagnant-water model by heat treatment. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 58(3), 583–592. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2006.00181.x

- 599. Vickers, R. M., Stout, J. E., & Yu, V. L. (1990). Failure of a diagnostic monoclonal immunofluorescent reagent to detect *Legionella pneumophila* in environmental samples. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 56(9), 2912–2914. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.56.9.2912-2914.1990
- 600. Visvesvara, G. S., Moura, H., & Schuster, F. L. (2007). Pathogenic and opportunistic free-living amoebae: Acanthamoeba spp., Balamuthia mandrillaris, Naegleria fowleri, and Sappinia diploidea. *FEMS Immunology and Medical Microbiology*, *50*(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-695X.2007.00232.x
- 601. Völker, S., Schreiber, C., & Kistemann, T. (2016). Modelling characteristics to predict *Legionella* contamination risk—Surveillance of drinking water plumbing systems and identification of risk areas. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 219(1), 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2015.09.007
- 602. Waak, M. B., LaPara, T. M., Hallé, C., & Hozalski, R. M. (2018). Occurrence of Legionella spp. in Water-Main Biofilms from Two Drinking Water Distribution Systems. Environmental Science & Technology, 52(14), 7630–7639. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b01170
- 603. Waldron, P. R., Martin, B. A., & Ho, D. Y. (2015). Mistaken identity: *Legionella micdadei* appearing as acid fast bacilli on lung biopsy of a hematopoietic stem cell transplant patient. *Transplant Infectious Disease : An Official Journal of the Transplantation Society*, 17(1), 89–93. https://doi.org/10.1111/tid.12334
- 604. Wallis, L., & Robinson, P. (2005). Soil as a source of *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 1 (Lp1). *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 29(6), 518–520.
- 605. Walser, S. M., Gerstner, D. G., Brenner, B., Höller, C., Liebl, B., & Herr, C. E. W. (2014). Assessing the environmental health relevance of cooling towers A systematic review of legionellosis outbreaks. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 217(2), 145–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2013.08.002
- 606. Wang, H., Edwards, M., Falkinham, J. O., & Pruden, A. (2012). Molecular Survey of the Occurrence of *Legionella* spp., *Mycobacterium* spp., *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and Amoeba Hosts in Two Chloraminated Drinking Water Distribution Systems. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78(17), 6285–6294. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01492-12
- 607. Wang, H., Masters, S., Hong, Y., Stallings, J., Falkinham, J. O., Edwards, M. A., & Pruden, A. (2012). Effect of disinfectant, water age, and pipe material on occurrence and persistence of *Legionella*, mycobacteria, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and two amoebas. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(21), 11566–11574. https://doi.org/10.1021/es303212a

- 608. Wang, H., Masters, S., Edwards, M. A., Falkinham, J. O., & Pruden, A. (2014). Effect of Disinfectant, Water Age, and Pipe Materials on Bacterial and Eukaryotic Community Structure in Drinking Water Biofilm. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48(3), 1426– 1435. https://doi.org/10.1021/es402636u
- 609. Wang, H., Masters, S., Joseph O. Falkinham, I. I. I., Edwards, M. A., & Pruden, A. (2015, July 14). Distribution System Water Quality Affects Responses of Opportunistic Pathogen Gene Markers in Household Water Heaters [Research-article]. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b01538
- 610. Wang, H., Xu, J., Tang, W., Li, H., Xia, S., Zhao, J., Zhang, W., & Yang, Y. (2019). Removal Efficacy of Opportunistic Pathogens and Bacterial Community Dynamics in Two Drinking Water Treatment Trains. *Small (Weinheim an Der Bergstrasse, Germany)*, *15*(2), e1804436. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201804436
- 611. Wang, W.-J., Zheng, C.-F., Liu, Z., Tan, Y.-H., Chen, X.-H., Zhao, B.-L., Li, G.-X., Xu, Z.-F., Ren, F.-G., Zhang, Y.-F., Chang, J.-M., & Wang, H.-W. (2018). Droplet digital PCR for BCR/ABL(P210) detection of chronic myeloid leukemia: A high sensitive method of the minimal residual disease and disease progression. *European Journal of Haematology*, 101(3), 291–296. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejh.13084
- 612. Ward, S., Memon, F. A., & Butler, D. (2010). Harvested rainwater quality: The importance of appropriate design. *Water Science and Technology: A Journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research*, *61*(7), 1707–1714. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2010.102
- 613. Warren, W. J., & Miller, R. D. (1979). Growth of Legionnaires disease bacterium (*Legionella pneumophila*) in chemically defined medium. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *10*(1), 50–55.
- 614. Weiss, D., Boyd, C., Rakeman, J. L., Greene, S. K., Fitzhenry, R., McProud, T., Musser, K., Huang, L., Kornblum, J., Nazarian, E. J., Fine, A. D., Braunstein, S. L., Kass, D., Landman, K., Lapierre, P., Hughes, S., Tran, A., Taylor, J., Baker, D., ... South Bronx Legionnaires' Disease Investigation Team. (2017). A Large Community Outbreak of Legionnaires' Disease Associated With a Cooling Tower in New York City, 2015. *Public Health Reports (Washington, D.C.: 1974)*, *132*(2), 241–250. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354916689620
- 615. Wellinghausen, N., Frost, C., & Marre, R. (2001). Detection of Legionellae in Hospital Water Samples by Quantitative Real-Time LightCycler PCR. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67(9), 3985–3993. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.67.9.3985-3993.2001
- 616. Whiley, H., & Bentham, R. (2011). *Legionella longbeachae* and Legionellosis. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *17*(4), 579–583. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1704.100446

- 617. Whiley, H., Keegan, A., Fallowfield, H., & Ross, K. (2014). Uncertainties associated with assessing the public health risk from *Legionella*. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *5*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00501
- 618. Wiedenmann, A., Langhammer, W., & Botzenhart, K. (2001). A case report of false negative *Legionella* test results in a chlorinated public hot water distribution system due to the lack of sodium thiosulfate in sampling bottles. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 204(4), 245–249. https://doi.org/10.1078/1438-4639-00101
- 619. Wilkinson, H. W., & Brake, B. J. (1982). Formalin-killed versus heat-killed *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 1 antigen in the indirect immunofluorescence assay for legionellosis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *16*(5), 979–981.
- 620. Wilkinson, H. W., Cruce, D. D., & Broome, C. V. (1981). Validation of *Legionella pneumophila* indirect immunofluorescence assay with epidemic sera. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *13*(1), 139–146.
- 621. Wilkinson, H. W., Fikes, B. J., & Cruce, D. D. (1979). Indirect immunofluorescence test for serodiagnosis of Legionnaires disease: Evidence for serogroup diversity of Legionnaires disease bacterial antigens and for multiple specificity of human antibodies. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *9*(3), 379–383.
- 622. Wilkinson, H. W., Reingold, A. L., Brake, B. J., McGiboney, D. L., Gorman, G. W., & Broome, C. V. (1983). Reactivity of serum from patients with suspected legionellosis against 29 antigens of legionellaceae and Legionella-like organisms by indirect immunofluorescence assay. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *147*(1), 23–31. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/147.1.23
- Wilkinson, H. W., Thacker, W. L., Benson, R. F., Polt, S. S., Brookings, E., Mayberry, W. R., Brenner, D. J., Gilley, R. G., & Kirklin, J. K. (1987). *Legionella birminghamensis* sp. Nov. Isolated from a cardiac transplant recipient. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 25(11), 2120–2122.
- 624. Wilson, D. A., Yen-Lieberman, B., Reischl, U., Gordon, S. M., & Procop, G. W. (2003). Detection of *Legionella pneumophila* by Real-Time PCR for the mip Gene. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 41(7), 3327–3330. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.41.7.3327-3330.2003
- 625. Wingender, J., & Flemming, H. C. (2004). Contamination potential of drinking water distribution network biofilms. *Water Science and Technology: A Journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research*, 49(11–12), 277–286.
- 626. Woo, A. H., Goetz, A., & Yu, V. L. (1992). Transmission of *Legionella* by Respiratory Equipment and Aerosol Generating Devices. *CHEST*, *102*(5), 1586–1590. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.102.5.1586

- Wood, S. A., Pochon, X., Laroche, O., von Ammon, U., Adamson, J., & Zaiko, A. (2019). A comparison of droplet digital polymerase chain reaction (PCR), quantitative PCR and metabarcoding for species-specific detection in environmental DNA. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 19(6), 1407–1419. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.13055
- 628. Wullings, B. A., & van der Kooij, D. (2006). Occurrence and genetic diversity of uncultured *Legionella* spp. In drinking water treated at temperatures below 15 degrees C. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(1), 157–166. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.72.1.157-166.2006
- 629. Wullings, B. A., Bakker, G., & van der Kooij, D. (2011). Concentration and diversity of uncultured Legionella spp. In two unchlorinated drinking water supplies with different concentrations of natural organic matter. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 77(2), 634–641. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01215-10
- 630. Wunderink, R., & Yin, Y. (2016). Antibiotic Resistance in Community-Acquired Pneumonia Pathogens. *Seminars in Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *37*(06), 829–838. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0036-1593753
- 631. Xi, C., Zhang, Y., Marrs, C. F., Ye, W., Simon, C., Foxman, B., & Nriagu, J. (2009). Prevalence of Antibiotic Resistance in Drinking Water Treatment and Distribution Systems. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 75(17), 5714–5718. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00382-09
- 632. Xiong, L., Yan, H., Shi, L., & Mo, Z. (2016). Antibiotic susceptibility of *Legionella* strains isolated from public water sources in Macau and Guangzhou. *Journal of Water and Health*, *14*(6), 1041–1046. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2016.056
- 633. Xue, J., Caton, K., & Sherchan, S. P. (2018). Comparison of next-generation droplet digital PCR with quantitative PCR for enumeration of *Naegleria fowleri* in environmental water and clinical samples. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 67(4), 322–328. https://doi.org/10.1111/lam.13051
- Kue, J., Lamar, F. G., Zhang, B., Lin, S., Lamori, J. G., & Sherchan, S. P. (2018).
 Quantitative assessment of Naegleria fowleri and fecal indicator bacteria in brackish water of Lake Pontchartrain, Louisiana. *Science of The Total Environment*, 622–623, 8–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.11.308
- 635. Yamamoto, H., Hashimoto, Y., & Ezaki, T. (1993). Comparison of detection methods for *Legionella* species in environmental water by colony isolation, fluorescent antibody staining, and polymerase chain reaction. *Microbiology and Immunology*, 37(8), 617–622. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1348-0421.1993.tb01684.x
- 636. Yang, Q., Xi, J., Chen, X., Hu, S., Chen, N., Qiao, S., Wan, S., & Bao, D. (2017). The development of a sensitive droplet digital PCR for quantitative detection of porcine

reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, *104*(Pt A), 1223–1228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2017.06.115

- 637. Yaradou, D. F., Hallier-Soulier, S., Moreau, S., Poty, F., Hillion, Y., Reyrolle, M., André, J., Festoc, G., Delabre, K., Vandenesch, F., Etienne, J., & Jarraud, S. (2007). Integrated Real-Time PCR for Detection and Monitoring of *Legionella pneumophila* in Water Systems. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 73(5), 1452–1456. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02399-06
- 638. Yong, S. F. Y., Tan, S. H., Wee, J., Tee, J. J., Sansom, F. M., Newton, H. J., & Hartland, E. L. (2010). Molecular Detection of *Legionella*: Moving on From mip. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *1*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2010.00123
- 639. Yousuf, F. A., Siddiqui, R., Subhani, F., & Khan, N. A. (2013). Status of free-living amoebae (Acanthamoeba spp., Naegleria fowleri, Balamuthia mandrillaris) in drinking water supplies in Karachi, Pakistan. *Journal of water and health*, *11*(2), 371–375. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2013.112
- 640. Yu, J., Kim, D., & Lee, T. (2010). Microbial diversity in biofilms on water distribution pipes of different materials. *Water Science and Technology*, *61*(1), 163–171. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2010.813
- 641. Yu, V. L., Plouffe, J. F., Pastoris, M. C., Stout, J. E., Schousboe, M., Widmer, A., ... Chereshsky, A. (2002). Distribution of *Legionella* Species and Serogroups Isolated by Culture in Patients with Sporadic Community-Acquired Legionellosis: An International Collaborative Survey. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *186*(1), 127–128. https://doi.org/10.1086/341087
- 642. Zahran, S., McElmurry, S. P., Kilgore, P. E., Mushinski, D., Press, J., Love, N. G., Sadler, R. C., & Swanson, M. S. (2018). Assessment of the Legionnaires' disease outbreak in Flint, Michigan. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 115(8), E1730–E1739. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1718679115
- 643. Zähringer, U., Knirel, Y. A., Lindner, B., Helbig, J. H., Sonesson, A., Marre, R., & Rietschel, E. T. (1995). The lipopolysaccharide of *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 1 (strain Philadelphia 1): Chemical structure and biological significance. *Progress in Clinical and Biological Research*, *392*, 113–139.
- 644. Zanacic, E., McMartin, D. W., & Stavrinides, J. (2017). From source to filter: Changes in bacterial community composition during potable water treatment. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, *63*(6), 546–558. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjm-2017-0077
- 645. Żbikowska, E., Kletkiewicz, H., Walczak, M., & Burkowska, A. (2014). Coexistence of Legionella pneumophila Bacteria and Free-Living Amoebae in Lakes Serving as a

Cooling System of a Power Plant. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 225(8). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-014-2066-y

- 646. Zeng, L. Z., Liao, H. Y., Luo, L. Z., He, S. S., Qin, T., Zhou, H. J., Li, H. X., Chen, D. L., & Chen, J. P. (2019). An Investigation on the Molecular Characteristics and Intracellular Growth Ability among Environmental and Clinical Isolates of *Legionella pneumophila* in Sichuan Province, China. *Biomedical and Environmental Sciences: BES*, 32(7), 520–530. https://doi.org/10.3967/bes2019.069
- 647. Zhan, X.-Y., & Zhu, Q.-Y. (2018). Molecular typing of *Legionella pneumophila* isolates from environmental water samples and clinical samples using a five-gene sequence typing and standard Sequence-Based Typing. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0190986
- 648. Zhang, J., Li, W., Chen, J., Qi, W., Wang, F., & Zhou, Y. (2018). Impact of biofilm formation and detachment on the transmission of bacterial antibiotic resistance in drinking water distribution systems. *Chemosphere*, 203, 368–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.03.143
- 649. Zhang, Y., & Edwards, M. (2009). Accelerated chloramine decay and microbial growth by nitrification in premise plumbing. *Journal AWWA*, *101*(11), 51–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1551-8833.2009.tb09990.x
- 650. Zhang, Z., Stout, J. E., Yu, V. L., & Vidic, R. (2008). Effect of pipe corrosion scales on chlorine dioxide consumption in drinking water distribution systems. *Water Research*, 42(1–2), 129–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2007.07.054
- 651. Zhao, Y., Xia, Q., Yin, Y., & Wang, Z. (2016). Comparison of Droplet Digital PCR and Quantitative PCR Assays for Quantitative Detection of *Xanthomonas citri* Subsp. Citri. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159004
- 652. Zheng, M., He, C., & He, Q. (2015). Fate of free chlorine in drinking water during distribution in premise plumbing. *Ecotoxicology (London, England)*, 24(10), 2151–2155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-015-1544-3
- 653. Zlatanovic, L., Moerman, A., Hoek, J. P. van der, Vreeburg, J., & Blokker, M. (2017). Development and validation of a drinking water temperature model in domestic drinking water supply systems. *Urban Water Journal*, 14(10), 1031–1037. https://doi.org/10.1080/1573062X.2017.1325501
- 654. Zmirou-Navier, D., Remen, T., Bauer, M., Deloge-Abarkan, M., Tossa, P., & Mathieu, L. (2007). Legionella in Shower Aerosols and Pontiac Fever Among Health Workers and Residents in Nursing Homes. *Epidemiology*, 18(5), S50. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ede.0000276578.64205.09